



NOVEL MECHANISMS IN ANGIOGENESIS: OXIDATIVE STRESS AS A PROMOTER OF MONOCYTE-TO-ENDOTHELIAL CELL DIFFERENTIATION AND ENDOTHELIAL CELL ACTIVATION

FILIPA LOPES COELHO

Tese para obtenção do grau de Doutor em Mecanismos de Doença e Medicina Regenerativa

Doutoramento em associação entre:

Universidade NOVA de Lisboa (Faculdade de Ciências Médicas | NOVA Medical School -FCM | NMS/UNL) Universidade do Algarve (UAlg)

JANEIRO, 2021





NOVEL MECHANISMS IN ANGIOGENESIS: OXIDATIVE STRESS AS A **PROMOTER OF MONOCYTE-TO-ENDOTHELIAL CELL** DIFFERENTIATION AND ENDOTHELIAL CELL ACTIVATION

Filipa Lopes Coelho Orientadores: Jacinta Serpa, Professora Auxiliar da NOVA Medical School - FCM | NMS/UNL Sofia Pereira, Professora Auxiliar da NOVA Medical School - FCM | NMS/UNL António Almeida, Professor Auxiliar da NOVA Medical School - FCM | NMS/UNL

Tese para obtenção do grau de Doutor em Mecanismos de Doença e Medicina Regenerativa

Doutoramento em associação entre:

Universidade NOVA de Lisboa (Faculdade de Ciências Médicas | NOVA Medical School -FCM | NMS/UNL)

Universidade do Algarve (UAlg)



DOUTORAMENTO

JANEIRO, 2021

The experimental data presented in this thesis are part of manuscripts previously published or in preparation for publishing. I hereby state that I have fully participated in the conception, execution and in the validation of the experimental work, interpretation of the collected data and in the manuscripts writing.

The experimental work developed during this PhD thesis was approved by the Ethical Committee of NMS|FCM-UNL (n°75/2019/CEFCM) and by the Ethical Committee IPOLFG (UIC-1137).

Table of contents

Abstract	iv
Resumo	vii
Figure(s) index	xi
Table index	. xiii
Chapter II	. xiii
Agradecimentos	. xiv
List of publications	xviii
List of abbreviations	. xxi
Chapter I	1
1. Cancer Biology	2
2. Angiogenesis: a brief overview	4
2.1. Angiogenic signaling dynamics: the driving force of angiogenesis	6
 2.2. From a quiescent EC to a functional blood vessel: how angiogenesis works? 2.2.1. Reactive oxygen species (ROS) as a mediator of angiogenesis 2.2.2. Endothelial progenitor cells (EPCs): sustainers of angiogenesis 	8 11 12
 2.3. Angiogenesis in cancer: tumor microenvironment (TME) as a promoter of endothelial cell activation 2.3.1. The contribution of EPCs for tumor angiogenesis – partners in crime? 2.3.2. Angiogenesis-like phenomena in cancer: another route to support tumor perfusion. 	14 16 17
2.4. Monocytes as EPCs - an unexplored field	20
3. The use of anti-angiogenic agents in cancer: a disappointing therapeutic strategy.	23
3.1. The future in the use of classical anti-angiogenic agents: is it clear which is th best way to go?	ie 25
4. The potential use of other therapeutic strategies targeting cancer cells and disturb angiogenesis	oing 25
4.1. ROS-related drugs: a double-edge sword	26
4.2. b-adrenergic drugs: repurposing existing drugs for anti-cancer and anti- angiogenic clinical Propranololoses	27
5. Rational, hypothesis, aims and thesis outline	29
Chapter II	32
Abstract	33
Introduction	34
Materials and methods	35
Results	40
Discussion	49
Chapter III	57
Abstract	58
Introduction	59

Materials and methods	61
Results	63
Discussion	65
Chapter IV	68
Abstract	69
Introduction	70
Materials and methods	72
Results	76
Discussion	84
Chapter V	90
Abstract	91
Introduction	.92
Materials and methods	93
Results	96
Discussion	.99
Chapter VI1	03
General discussion1	04
Final remarks1	10
Future perspectives1	12
References1	15

Abstract

Cancer is one of the most burden diseases worldwide and every year millions of people around the world are diagnosed and eventually die from it. In the past 10 years, an increment in the efficacy of cancer treatment reduced the overall mortality from cancer. However, the metastatic disease and resistance to treatments are still largely responsible for cancer patients mortality and morbidity. Advances in cancer research have shed a light on the biology of cancer, pointing out that it cannot be studied only from a cancer cell point of view but the involvement of other non-cancerous cells during tumorigenesis should also be considered. For example, the contribution of endothelial cells (ECs) underlying tumor angiogenesis has revealed to be pivotal for cancer cell survival, tumor growth and metastatic spread.

The formation of tumor neovessels, supporting the delivery of oxygen and nutrients to the tumor is prompted by the generation of a pro-angiogenic and a pro-oxidant tumor microenvironment (TME). However, contrarily to normal vessels, the tumor vasculature is composed by a fragile and permeable vascular network, that enables cancer cell intravasation, tumor metastasis and compromises the delivery of chemotherapeutic agents and consequently their efficacy. For the past years, the development of strategies using anti-angiogenic drugs has tried to hinder tumor growth by disrupting the blood supply to tumors. However, recent evidence shows that instead of destroying tumor neovessels, the restoration of its normalization would increase the penetration of therapeutic agents to the tumor, improving their efficacy. Those evidence allied to the fact that the clinical results of anti-angiogenic agents have been disappointing, indicates that the mechanisms underlying tumor angiogenesis remain to be fully understood. For instance, the contribution of endothelial progenitor cells (EPCs) to tumor angiogenesis may be undervalued in part because, so far, the absence of specific markers to characterize EPCs may lead to the underestimated capacity of other cell subtypes in acting as EPCs.

As mentioned above, the pro-oxidant TME is known as an active player in the activation of the angiogenic switch. Furthermore, the role of reactive oxygen species (ROS)-dependent mechanisms, such as ferroptosis, recently described as a promoter of cellular phenomena beyond cell death; on the regulation of angiogenesis has not been explored so far.

Propranolol, a β -blocker, has shown efficacy in the treatment of vascular tumors, as hemangiomas and cavernomas although, the precise mechanism(s) by which it interferes with angiogenesis remains to be clarified. Recently, Propranolol has been

pointed out has having anti-ferroptotic properties and its use correlates with better prognosis of cancer patients and fewer metastasis.

The present thesis proposed to clarify that monocytes can act as EPCs and that a ferroptosis-like mechanism sustains the EC activation and further angiogenic switch, being possibly reverted by the anti-angiogenic effect of Propranolol.

We disclosed that monocytes are EPCs that upon a pro-angiogenic stimuli, differentiate into ECs and incorporate blood vessels. In a cancer scenario, monocytes contribute to cancer progression, in part by promoting the formation of the tumor neovasculature. As mentioned, and since the generation of a pro-oxidant TME favors angiogenesis, herein we observed that ROS push monocytes to differentiate into ECs, which in turn favor tumor neovasculature formation. The potential of translation of these data into the clinical context can be supported by the effect of Propranolol administration in a child with cerebral cavernous malformation (CCM). In fact, Propranolol administration decreased the levels of circulating cells expressing monocytic and ECs markers (CD14⁺/CD31⁺), and VEGF levels in the peripheral blood, indicating that Propranolol impairs the recruitment of CD14⁺/CD31⁺ monocytes to the vascular lesion.

In addition to the already described relevance of ROS in the promotion of angiogenesis, we describe that ROS-induced lipid peroxides generation induced by Erastin, at a non-lethal level, promotes ECs proliferation and migration and accounts for vessel-like structures formation. The stimulation of these ECs features where accompanied by ferroptosis hallmarks, which includes increased ROS generation, glutathione (GSH) depletion, abrogation of cyst(e)ine import and lipid peroxides accumulation. These alterations were accompanied by the generation of a leakier ECs monolayer, presenting increased intercellular junctional gaps in VE-Cadherin (VE-Cad) adherens junctions that facilitates the transendothelial cancer cells migration. The increased levels of selectins (ICAM and VCAM) were also observed, promoting cancer cells adhesion to ECs. The antioxidant and anti-ferroptotic Propranolol properties, mediated by the generation of hydrogen sulfide (H_2S), reverted the Erastin-induced ECs hyperactivation. Interestingly, since we observed that the antioxidant properties of Propranolol mediated by H₂S generation are EC-specific, we unraveled a putative antitumor and anti-angiogenic strategy using the pro-oxidant dendrimeric nanoparticles loaded with selenium chrysin (SeChry@PURE_{G4}) in combination with Propranolol. This strategy allowed the increase in oxidative stress induced-cancer cells death, potentiated by the action of Propranolol, while its protective effect in ECs avoided the generation of oxidative stress, which in turn impairs the generation of a leakier vascular structure and cancer cells extravasation.

۷

Together, our results indicate that monocytes are EPCs that contribute to tumor angiogenesis and that a ferroptosis-like mechanism promotes the hyperactivation of ECs and the angiogenic switch with leakier vessel-like structures, which recapitulates the formation of the unstable tumor neovasculature that favors cancer cell's dissemination and metastasis. Moreover, a new therapeutic strategy was proposed, joining the anti-angiogenic and anti-tumor effects of Propranolol and the pro-oxidant effect of SeChry@PURE_{G4}, tackling cancer cells and stabilizing tumor neovessels, in order to impair metastasis and improve drug delivery.

Keywords: monocytes, endothelial progenitor cells (EPCs), endothelial cells (ECs), tumor angiogenesis, cerebral cavernous malformation (CCM), reactive oxygen species (ROS), lipid peroxidation, Propranolol, selenium-containing chrysin encapsulated in generation four polyurea dendrimer (SeChry@PURE_{G4})

Resumo

A ocorrência de neoplasias malignas é considerada um dos principais problemas de saúde pública ao nível mundial, sendo a segunda causa de morte em países desenvolvidos. Nos últimos 10 anos, os avanços na terapêutica utilizada no tratamento do cancro veio aumentar a taxa de sobrevivência dos doentes oncológicos. Infelizmente, a doença metastática é ainda a principal responsável pela mortalidade e morbilidade associadas à doença.

Em 2000, Hanahan e Weinberg publicaram a sistematização das principais características da transformação maligna em seis categorias: autossuficiência para a produção de sinais ativadores da proliferação celular, insensibilidade para fatores inibidores da proliferação, capacidade replicativa ilimitada, capacidade de estimulação da angiogénese, capacidade de bloquear mecanismos desencadeadores de processos de morte celular e capacidade de invasão dos tecidos e de metastização noutros órgãos. Uma década mais tarde, surgiram duas novas categorias que vieram a revelar-se essenciais para a progressão tumoral, a reprogramação metabólica das células tumorais e a capacidade de evasão à ação do sistema imunitário. Durante a progressão tumoral, a formação de novos vasos sanguíneos é essencial para a oxigenação e suplementação de nutrientes às células tumorais, que consequentemente impulsiona a sobrevivência das células malignas e o crescimento tumoral, bem como o processo de metastização. Estudos na área da angiogénese tumoral demonstraram que contrariamente ao que acontece com os vasos sanguíneos normais, os vasos tumorais são frágeis e permeáveis, o que por sua vez favorece a extravasão de células tumorais para a corrente sanguínea e posteriormente a metastização, além de comprometer a entrega dos agentes quimioterápicos. Nos últimos anos, o desenvolvimento de estratégias terapêuticas anti-angiogénicas tem vindo a revelar uma baixa eficácia no tratamento de doentes oncológicos, sugerindo que os mecanismos subjacentes à angiogénese tumoral ainda não são totalmente conhecidos. Para além disso, os novos estudos indicam que estratégias que normalizam a vasculatura tumoral, em vez de a destruir, facilitam a chegada dos fármacos ao tumor, aumentando assim a sua eficácia. É de salientar ainda que a contribuição de células progenitoras endoteliais (EPCs) para o sucesso da angiogénese tumoral tem sido desvalorizada, em parte devido à inexistência de marcadores específicos que leva à má caracterização dessas células, o que impede e identificação de subtipos celulares que atuam como EPCs.

Durante a tumorigénese, a remodelação metabólica das células tumorais promove a geração de um microambiente pró-oxidante que atua como um estímulo proangiogénico responsável pela ativação das células endoteliais (ECs), que se traduz na

vii

passagem das ECs de um estado de quiescência para uma fase proliferativa. O microambiente tumoral pró-oxidante também afeta mecanismos que atuam nas células malignas, tais como a ferroptose que tem como mecanismo subjacente a formação de peróxidos lipídicos devido à acumulação de espécies-reativas de oxigénio (ROS). Embora este processo tenha sido inicialmente descrito como um mecanismo de morte celular dependente de ferro, atualmente já é assumido também como responsável pela regulação de processos biológicos e fisiopatológicos. Ao nível molecular a ferroptose pode ser ativada pela angiopoietina 4 (ANGPTL4), uma molécula a jusante da via TAZ-ANGPTL4-NOX2. Por sua vez, a ativação desta via induz ferroptose através da geração de radicais superóxidos. Além da sua relevância na promoção da ferroptose, a ANGPTL4 também é um conhecido estimulador da angiogénese, o que sugere uma conexão entre o a ferroptose e a angiogénese.

Nos últimos anos, o β-bloqueador não seletivo Propranolol que é frequentemente prescrito para o tratamento de doenças cardiovasculares, hipertensão e enxaquecas, foi adaptado para o tratamento de tumores vasculares, como hemangiomas e cavernomas. Ao nível molecular sabe-se que o Propranolol tem a capacidade de interferir com a angiogénese através da diminuição dos níveis do fator de crescimento vascular (VEGF) e do fator de crescimento de fibroblasto (FGF). Recentemente, o Propranolol foi descrito como inibidor da ANGPTL4 em células de hemangioma e como tendo a capacidade inibitória da ferroptose. Porém, atualmente ainda é desconhecido o mecanismo exato pelo qual o Propranolol atua nas ECs e afeta a angiogénese. Alguns estudos retrospetivos em doentes com carcinoma da mama demonstram que a administração de Propranolol para outros fins terapêuticos correlacionam-se com um melhor prognóstico da doença oncológica. Os efeitos anti-angiogénicos do Propranolol em tumores vasculares, aliado aos estudos retrospetivos em doentes oncológicos, levam-nos a acreditar que o benefício da aplicação do Propranolol no tratamento do cancro poderá estar relacionado com a sua interferência com a angiogénese.

Os avanços ao nível dos tratamentos na área da oncologia têm vindo a aumentar a sobrevida dos doentes, porém, o uso destas terapêuticas está associado a toxicidade aguda e crónica. As novas evidências demonstram que a utilização de terapêuticas dirigidas às células tumorais poderão aumentar a especificidade dos tratamentos, diminuindo a toxicidade em células normais. Com os avanços científicos, o desenvolvimento de estratégias focadas em promover simultaneamente a morte celular de células tumorais e a normalização da vasculatura permitirá um aumento da eficácia do tratamento e uma diminuição dos efeitos adversos.

Na presente tese, o principal objetivo é investigar se os monócitos podem atuar como EPCs e se o stress oxidativo promove a ativação das ECs através de um mecanismo

viii

semelhante à ferroptose, que poderá ser revertido pela ação anti-angiogénica do Propranolol. Assim, para avaliar a capacidade dos monócitos em diferenciar em ECs utilizámos monócitos isolados a partir de sangue periférico de dadores de sangue saudáveis e para e o estudo do mecanismo subjacente à ação do Propranolol e da ferroptose utilizámos ECs isoladas da veia do cordão umbilical humano (HUVECs) que foram expostas a Erastina, um ativador da ferroptose, na ausência e na presença de Propranolol.

No 1º capítulo de resultados experimentais desta tese foi demonstrado, em vários contextos biológicos, que os monócitos expostos a um estímulo pro-angiogénico diferenciam em ECs e incorporam os vasos sanguíneos. A angiogénese tumoral foi um dos fenómenos explorados que provou a capacidade de incorporação dos monócitos nos vasos e comprovou-se também que as ROS é um estímulo que promove a diferenciação de monócitos em ECs.

No 2º capítulo de resultados foi verificado que o Propranolol inibe as propriedades angiogénicas das ECs, como a proliferação, migração e capacidade *in vitro* e *ex vivo* de formar estruturas que mimetizam vasos sanguíneos *in vivo*. Numa criança com cavernomas cerebrais, também é responsável pela diminuição dos níveis de células do sangue que apresentam em simultâneo marcadores de monócitos e de ECs (CD14⁺/CD31⁺) e os níveis de VEGF no soro de sangue periférico. Estes resultados sugerem que o Propranolol inibe a ativação de ECs e a mobilização de células CD14⁺/CD31⁺ que promovem a expansão dos cavernomas cerebrais.

No 3º capítulo foi demonstrado que para além do efeito conhecido das ROS na promoção da angiogénese, a ativação não letal da ferroptose pela geração de peróxidos lipídicos, induzidos pela exposição à Erastina, também contribui para a ativação de ECs, com promoção da proliferação, da migração e da formação de estruturas semelhantes a vasos. Durante este processo existe um aumento das ROS, depleção do glutatião (GSH), inibição da importação de cist(e)ína e a acumulação de peróxidos lipídicos, que contribuem para a ferroptose. Além disso, a exposição de ECs a Erastina promove um aumento de lacunas nas junções aderentes da caderina endotelial vascular (VE-Cad) e a adesão de células cancerígenas ao endotélio pelo aumento da expressão de selectinas (ICAM e VCAM), favorecendo também a migração transendotelial de células cancerígenas. A ativação da ferroptose em ECs mimetiza as características dos vasos tumorais, indicando que este mecanismo também pode promover a angiogénese tumoral. Ainda neste contexto, observou-se que as propriedades antioxidantes e antiangiogénicas do Propranolol mediadas pela produção de sulfureto de hidrogénio (H₂S) revertem o efeito do mecanismo semelhante à ferroptose na ativação de ECs, reforçando a sua utilidade como fármaco anti-angiogénico. Por um lado, foi provado que o Propranolol tem a capacidade de inibir a ativação de ECs e a formação de estruturas que mimetizam vasos, características estas potenciadas pelo mecanismo semelhante à ferroptose. Por outro lado, o Propranolol induz a normalização das estruturas vasculares já formadas, eventualmente favorecendo uma maior eficiência na distribuição de agentes quimioterápicos.

No 4º capítulo de resultados, foi explorada uma estratégia terapêutica utilizando as propriedades antioxidantes do Propranolol seletivas para ECs juntamente com a utilização de nanopartículas dendriméricas que encapsuladas com seleno-crisina (SeChry@PURE_{G4}) com propriedades oxidantes. Esta estratégia promoveu a geração de stress oxidativo e consequente morte das células cancerígenas, enquanto que nas ECs o efeito protetor do Propranolol reverteu a geração de ROS e a permeabilidade das estruturas endoteliais pela diminuição de lacunas nas junções aderentes de VE-cad.

De um modo geral este projeto permitiu expandir o conhecimento dos mecanismos envolvidos no controlo da angiogénese tumoral e desvendou a contribuição dos monócitos como EPCs, bem como a sua contribuição para formação da vasculatura tumoral. Além disso, foi reforçada a utilização do Propranolol como um fármaco antiangiogénico e a sua combinação com SeChry@PURE_{G4} no contexto de uma nova estratégia terapêutica duplamente dirigida às células malignas e às ECs.

Palavras-chave: monócitos, célula progenitora endotelial (EPC), célula endotelial (EC), angiogénese tumoral, cavernomas cerebrais, espécies reativas de oxigénio (ROS), peróxidos lipídicos, Propranolol, nano partículas dendriméricas de quarta geração encapsuladas com seleno-crisina (SeChry@PURE_{G4})

Figure(s) índex

Chapter I

Figure I. 1 The vascular and the lymphatic systems.	4
Figure I. 2 Sprouting angiogenesis is mediated by pro-angiogenic stimuli, leading to	the
formation of new blood vessels	9
Figure I. 3 Endothelial progenitor cells (EPCs) participation in angiogenesis	.13
Figure I. 4 Vessels and vessels-like structures in cancer	.19
Figure I. 5 Anti-angiogenic therapy.	24

Chapter II

Figure II. 1 Cultured monocytes undergo an increase in the expression of endothelial
cells (ECs) markers and acquire spindle cell like morphology, indicating EC
differentiation of monocytes41
Figure II. 2 Monocyte-derived cells cultured in the presence of hydrogen peroxide (H_2O_2)
increase the expression of endothelial cell (EC) markers that is abolished by the
presence of cysteine (CYS)43
Figure II. 3 Monocytes exposed to H_2O_2 increases branched chain amino acids (BCAA),
valine and glutamine catabolism while cysteine (Cys) promotes an increase in formate
levels and a decrease in acetate44
Figure II. 4 Monocytes exposed to VEGF are able to form blood vessels in vivo47
Figure II. 5 Monocytes are able to be incorporated in the aorta ex vivo, after endothelial
Lipopolyssacharides/ Lysophosphatidic acid (LPS/LPA)-related injury47
Figure II. 6 Tumors grown in the presence of monocytes have increased tumor volume
and some vessels with human vWF (hvWF) staining48
Figure II. 7 Cysteine supplementation may be involved in the promotion of cell
proliferation
Figure II. 8 Monocytes recruitment into the tumor and endothelial differentiation55
Supplementary Figure II. 156
Supplementary Figure II. 256

Chapter III

Figure III. 1 Dynamics the percentage of CD14 $^{+}$ and CD31 $^{+}$ cells and of VEGF	levels in
peripheral blood (PB) of a child patient with a brain cavernoma before Propranolo	ol (Prop)
therapy and during the follow-up	63

Chapter IV

Chapter V

96
death,
97
es the
Prop
98
ellular
99
Prop)
102
(

Chapter VI

Figure VI. 1 Taking advantage of the differential	oxidative stress response of cancer cells
and endothelial cells (ECs).	

Table index

Chapter II

Table 1 List of	primers used for RQ-PCR	
		•••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••

Agradecimentos

Em primeiro lugar quero agradecer à minha orientadora Jacinta Serpa por todos os ensinamentos, orientações e conselhos que me foi dando ao longo dos anos. Acredito que nem sempre foi fácil, que muitas vezes deve ter sido frustrante e difícil lidar com os meus problemas existências, as minhas dúvidas e minhas faltas de confiança, mas agradeço por nunca ter desistido e ter acreditado mas minhas capacidades, mesmo quando eu não o fazia. Embora a nossa jornada neste PhD só tenha começado há 4 anos, os últimos 8 anos de partilha de conhecimento, "puxões de orelhas" e conselhos acabaram por me tornar uma pessoa mais forte (ou pelo menos quero acreditar que sim), resiliente e diferente da aquela que chegou em 2012. Foram anos felizes, enriquecedores, duros e frustrantes e que de certeza que me ajudarão a lidar com as novas oportunidades e desafios que a vida de me trará. Este será sempre um capítulo que ficará para sempre no meu coração e que deixará saudade e acredito que ainda nos vamos rir de todas as adversidades que passamos ao longos destes anos. Obrigada por ter estado sempre lá!

À Sofia Pereira, minha co-orientadora e rainha dos tióis obrigada por todo o seu entusiasmo, ajuda, partilha de conhecimentos e "brainstorming" ao longos destes anos. Ao António Almeida, meu co-orientator, por ter aceitado embarcar comigo nesta aventura.

A todos os nossos colaboradores o meu muito obrigada. Sem a vossa ajuda não seria possível tornar este PhD ainda mais enriquecedor. À Fernanda Silva por todos os seus ensinamentos no mundo da histologia, por ter estado sempre disponível e pela sua enorme boa disposição, palavras de incentivo, preocupação, apoio e amizade, muito obrigada por tudo! Ao Luís Gonçalves por todos os seus ensinamentos no enorme mundo do NMR e pelas suas palavras de simpatia e motivação. Ao Vasco Bonifácio pela sua amabilidade, disponibilidade e conhecimentos no mundo da "FISH". A todos os outros colaboradores, Duarte Barral, Cristina Casalou, Catarina Brito, Saudade André, João Vicente e Sílvia Conde agradeço a sua pronta disposição em ajudar. Agradeço ainda a todos funcionários dos serviços do IPO de Lisboa com o qual tive que colaborar aos longo destes anos pela sua simpatia e disponibilidade.

Gostaria de agradecer à direção do ProRegeM pelo voto de confiança, que me permitiu desenvolver esta tese de doutoramento ao abrigo da Bolsa (Ref. PD/00117/2012; bolsa individual PD/BD/128337/2017), com o apoio da FCT (Fundação para a Ciência e a Tecnologia), do FSE (Fundo Social Europeu) e do POCH (Programa Operacional Capital Humano).

A todos os meus colegas no CIPM obrigada por tudo! Sem vocês nunca teria sido possível e obrigada por me fazerem acreditar que com trabalho duro e resiliência tudo se consegue (ah... e obrigada por aturarem o meu mau feitio)! Obrigada pelas horas de almoço, pelas risadas, pelos cafés e por todo o apoio ao longos destes anos, serão momentos que guardarei com muito carinho no meu coração!

Agradeço o companheirismo de todos os que passaram pelo laboratório, em especial Sofia Gouveia, Sofia Nunes, Carolina Nunes, Cristiano Ramos, Armanda Rodrigues, Adriana Cruz e Inês Santos. Às minhas atuais "lab partners", Ana Hipólito, Cindy Mendes e Filipa Martins (que será sempre a minha pupila) que durante este percurso se tornaram grandes amigas. Sem vocês, sem a vossa amizade, apoio, suporte, companheirismo nada disto seria possível. Obrigada por me aturarem (sei que às vezes não era fácil), por me fazerem acreditar nas minhas capacidades e por acima de tudo acreditarem em mim! Obrigada por me mostrarem o verdadeiro significado de trabalhar em equipa, de união e porque "what doesn't kill you makes you stronger". Obrigada por todos os momentos, risadas (às 4 da manhã...) e amizade. Não podia pedir melhores colegas (e amigas) para partilhar o fim desta etapa.

À minha turma do ProRegeM, companheiros desta aventura desde janeiro de 2017. Obrigada por nos mantermos unidos estes anos, pelas gargalhadas, pelas tardes de jolas, pelas partilhas de experiências, pelos amigos que ganhei e por tornarem a experiência deste PhD ainda mais especial e enriquecedora.

À Filipa Ferreira, Ana Saramago e Inês Marques pela amizade e pelos extraordinários "after works" passados no YES. À Clara Dias e Nádia Grilo por todas as conversas, conselhos e gargalhadas partilhadas.

Ao Pedro Papotto e Rita Domingues pelos grandes momentos que passamos, pelos fins de semana inesquecíveis e pelos serões de jogos. Fazem falta cá! À Marie Bordone e ao Rui Santos por todos os momentos que me alegraram com a vossa boa disposição contagiante. Obrigada!

E agora um especial agradecimento aos que sempre estiveram lá e vão sempre continuar a estar. Às minhas amigas de sempre (e para sempre), desde o tempo em que erámos apenas crianças inocentes na pré-primária. Obrigada à Ana Gonçalves, Ana Correia, Leila Borralho, Joana Parga e Tânia Catarino por me ensinarem o que significa uma amizade verdadeira e para a vida e que independentemente dos kms ou do tempo que nos separam quando nos juntamos é sempre especial! Partilhamos tanto, conhecemo-nos tanto, rimos tanto, choramos tanto (muitas vezes de tanto rir), mudamos e crescemos tanto juntas. Obrigada por serem parte da minha família, por fazerem parte da minha vida, por estarem sempre lá e por ajudarem a manter o Algarve a minha "casa".

À minha afilhada Margarida Vaz, umas das melhores coisas que Lisboa me deu. Obrigada pela tua amizade genuína, pelas tuas palavras de apoio, por teres estado sempre presente e por partilhares momentos inesquecíveis comigo. Acredita, sem o teu apoio incondicional não teria sido possível. E claro, obrigada por me teres apresentado a pessoa que ia completar a minha vida. Ao Carlos Serra, pelo seu apoio e por fazerme acreditar que o esforço desta etapa vai compensar e trazer recompensas. Obrigada por fazerem parte da minha vida (e família)!

À minha família... Às minhas avós, por terem sempre uma palavra de apoio, pelos sorrisos e carinho que só vocês sabem dar. À minha tia, pelo seu constante interesse, amizade, amor e por me fazer perceber que o dinheiro não é tudo na vida e que a realização dos nossos sonhos também nos enriquece.

À Fernanda, António e João que aumentaram a minha família e que sempre me fizeram sentir parte da vossa. Obrigada por ajudarem a suportar melhor as saudades de "casa" e a tornar Lisboa a minha "nova casa".

Aos meus pais! Obrigada por sempre acreditarem em mim e pelo vosso apoio e amor incondicional. Obrigada por me darem força (muitas vezes à distância) e por me fazerem acreditar que com esforço e dedicação podemos concretizar os nossos sonhos. Obrigada por me ampararem as quedas e por me ensinarem que as coisas que mais nos realizam e nos fazem mais fortes são aquelas que nos dão luta. Obrigada por compreenderem as minhas ausências, por perceberem que estou mal mesmo quando insisto em dizer que não se passa nada, por aturem as minhas frustrações, más disposições e os meus dramas existenciais. Acima de tudo, obrigada por serem o meu porto de abrigo e por me ensinarem o verdadeiro significado da palavra FAMÍLIA (nos bons e nos maus momentos). Sem vocês nunca teria chegado tão longe.

À minha irmã, a minha "cheerleader" incondicional e das melhores amigas que se podia pedir. Obrigada por estares sempre lá, por saber que posso sempre contar contigo, por me desafiares e por seres a minha irmã! Obrigada por acreditares que o que faço é importante (embora não percebas nada), pelas macacadas, pelas risadas, pelas conversas e por me fazeres acreditar que quem tem um irmão tem tudo.

E a ti Pedro, meu futuro marido e meu melhor amigo. A ti tenho tudo a agradecer! Obrigada por me ensinares o que é amar alguém e por tornares a minha vida completa! Obrigada por seres aquele que acredita sempre em mim, que não me deixa desistir, que me ampara as quedas e limpa as lágrimas (eu sei, são muitas), que me faz rir, sorrir e acreditar que o amanhã será sempre melhor! Obrigada por tornares as adversidades e as derrotas suportáveis, sim eu sei... em todas as situações há um lado positivo e enriquecedor. Obrigada por fazeres de mim melhor pessoa, mais calma, menos ansiosa e dramática (vá, estou a fazer um esforço) e por me fazeres ver sempre o melhor das pessoas e que a vida deve ser vivida sem estar sempre a pensar no "e se...". Obrigada por seres a minha rocha!

A todos o meu profundo e sincero obrigada!

List of publications

Book chapter

Lopes-Coelho F, Martins F, Serpa J. Endothelial cells (ECs) metabolism: a valuable piece to disentangle cancer biology. in the scope of the Book: Tumor Microenvironment - The main driver of metabolic adaptation; from Advances in Experimental Medicine and Biology series; Springer Nature; 2019. doi: 10.1007/978-3-030-34025-4_8

Paper(s) in peer-review journals

Lopes-Coelho F, Silva F, Gouveia-Fernandes S, Martins C, Lopes N, Domingues G, Brito C, Almeida AM, Pereira SA, Serpa J. Monocytes as Endothelial Progenitor Cells (EPCs), Another Brick in the Wall to Disentangle Tumor Angiogenesis. Cells. 2020 Jan 1;9(1). pii: E107. doi: 10.3390/cells9010107.

Lopes-Coelho F, Gouveia-Fernandes S, Serpa J. Metabolic cooperation between cancer and non-cancerous stromal cells is pivotal in cancer progression. Tumour Biol. 2018 Feb;40(2):1010428318756203. doi: 10.1177/1010428318756203.

Lopes-Coelho F, Gouveia-Fernandes S, Nunes SC, Serpa J. Metabolic Dynamics in Breast Cancer: Cooperation between Cancer and Stromal Cells. J Clin Breast Cancer Res. 2017; 1(1): 1001.

Paper(s) in preparation or under submission

Lopes-Coelho F, Nunes SG, Gouveia-Fernandes S, Domingues G, Melo BF, Sacramento JF, Conde SV, Pereira SA, Vinhais S, Salgado D*, Serpa J*. Propranolol therapy is an efficient tool in the clinical management of cerebral cavernous malformations (CCM): an infantile case study. * equal contribution

Lopes-Coelho F, Martins F, Hipólito A, Mendes C, Sequeira CO, Pires R, Almeida AM, Bonifácio VDB, Vicente JB, Pereira SA, Serpa J. The activation of endothelial cells relies on a ferroptosis-like mechanism: novel perspectives in management of angiogenesis and cancer therapy.

Lopes-Coelho F, Martins F, Pereira SA, Serpa J. Anti-angiogenic therapy: current challenges and perspectives.

Hipólito A*, Mendes C*, Martins F*, **Lopes-Coelho F**, Serpa J. Metabolic reprogramming: pulling the strings towards tumor metastasis. * equal contribution

Additional paper(s) in peer-review journals

Mendes C, **Lopes-Coelho F**, Ramos C, Martins F, Santos I, Rodrigues A, Silva F, André S, Serpa J. Unraveling FATP1, regulated by ER- β , as a targeted breast cancer innovative therapy. Sci Rep. 2019 Oct 1;9(1):14107. doi: 10.1038/s41598-019-50531-3.

Lopes-Coelho F, Silva F, Hipólito A, Cardoso BA, Serpa J. Acetylation drives hepatocyte nuclear factor 1β stability by blocking proteasome-mediated degradation. J Cell Biochem. 2019 Jun;120(6):9337-9344. doi: 10.1002/jcb.28209. Epub 2018 Dec 7.

Nunes SC, **Lopes-Coelho F**, Gouveia-Fernandes S, Ramos C, Pereira SA, Serpa J. Cysteine boosters the evolutionary adaptation to CoCl2 mimicked hypoxia conditions, favouring carboplatin resistance in ovarian cancer. BMC Evol Biol. 2018, 19;18(1):97. doi: 10.1186/s12862-018-1214-1.

Nunes SC, Ramos C, **Lopes-Coelho F**, Sequeira C, Silva, Gouveia-Fernandes S, Rodrigues A, Guimarães A, Silveira M, Abreu S, Santo VE, Brito C, Félix A, Pereira SA, Serpa J. Cysteine allows ovarian cancer cells to adapt to hypoxia and to escape from carboplatin cytotoxicity. Sci Rep. 2018, 8(1):9513. doi: 10.1038/s41598-018-27753-y.

Lopes-Coelho F, André S, Félix A, Serpa J. Breast cancer metabolic cross-talk: Fibroblasts are hubs and breast cancer cells are gatherers of lipids. Mol Cell Endocrinol. 2018 Feb 15;462(Pt B):93-106. doi: 10.1016/j.mce.2017.01.031. Epub 2017 Jan 22.

Lopes-Coelho F, Nunes C, Gouveia-Fernandes S, Rosas R, Silva F, Gameiro P, Carvalho T, Gomes da Silva M, Cabeçadas J, Dias S, Gonçalves LG, Serpa J. Monocarboxylate transporter 1 (MCT1), a tool to stratify acute myeloid leukemia (AML) patients and a vehicle to kill cancer cells. Oncotarget. 2017 Aug 16;8(47):82803-82823. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.20294. eCollection 2017 Oct 10.

Poster presentation(s)

Lopes-Coelho F, Martins F, Hipólito A, Melo B F, Sacrameto J, Conde S V, Pereira S A, Serpa J. Reactive Oxygen Species (ROS) a motor in Endothelial Cells (ECs)

activation. 6th meeting International society of cancer metabolism - ISCaM (October 2019), Braga, Portugal

Lopes-Coelho F, Silva F, Hipólito A., Cardoso BA, Serpa J. Acetylated HNF1β escapes from ubiquitin-mediated degradation- a way of enhancing HNF1β role in cancer. Unicode annual symposium: druggability of the ubiquitin system. Which road to take?. (February, 2019), Lisbon, Portugal

Félix A, Silva F, Ramos C, **Lopes-Coelho F**, Nunes S, Serpa J. LAMININ332 (α 3; β 3; γ 2) genes and protein expression in cervical carcinomas. 25th Biennial Congress of the European Association for Cancer Research, Amsterdam, The Netherlands, June/July 2018, A414

Dias C, Coelho NR, Correia MJ, **Lopes-Coelho F**, Meneses MJ, Sousa-Lima I, Serpa J, Macedo MP, Soto K, Monteiro EC, Pereira AS. Renal cysteine-disulfide stress is a common feature of cardiometabolic diseases. I NoTes Congress Novel Therapeutic Strategies for Noncommunicable Diseases (June, 2018), Porto, Portugal.

Oral presentation(s)

Lopes-Coelho F (speaker), Silva F, Cardoso BA, Serpa J. HNF1β, an oncogene-like protein, is stabilized by acetylation, preventing its ubiquitination and further degradation. 8th International Conference on Tumor Microenvironment: progression, therapy and prevention (June, 2018), Lisbon, Portugal.

List of abbreviations

- 27HC 27-Hydroxycholesterol
- acLDL Acetylated low-density lipoprotein
- ALDH Aldehyde dehydrogenase
- ALK Activin receptor-like kinase
- ANG Angiopoetin
- ANGPTL4 Angiopoietin-like 4
- AR β-adrenergic receptors
- ATM Ataxia-telangiectasia mutated kinase
- AzMC 7-Azido-4-Methylcoumarin probe
- BCAA Branched chain amino acids
- BSA Bovine serum albumin
- CAA Cancer associated adipocyte
- CAF Cancer associated fibroblast
- CBS Cystathionine beta synthase
- CFU colony-forming unit medium
- Cys Cysteine
- cEPC Circulating endothelial progenitor cell
- CCM Cerebral cavernoma malformation
- CCR2 C-C chemokine receptor type 2
- CECR1 Adenosine deaminase 2
- CSF1 Colony stimulating factor 1
- CHCl₃ Chloroform
- CYP Cytochrome P450
- Cx Connexins
- CXCL Chemokine (C-X-C motif) ligand
- DFO Deferoxamine
- DIG Digoxigenin
- EBM-2 Endothelial basal medium 2
- EC Endothelial cell
- ECM Extracellular matrix
- BHA Butylated hydroxyanisole
- BM Basement membrane
- BMP Bone morphogenic protein
- CTCF Corrected total cell fluorescence
- ECM Extracellular matrix

- EFG Epidermal growth factor
- ELISA Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay
- EMP Erythro-myeloid progenitors
- EMT Epithelial to mesenchymal transition
- eNOS nitric oxide synthase
- EPC endothelial progenitor cell
- Era Erastin
- ETS-1 E26 transformation specific-1
- EV Extracelular vesicle
- c-Src Proto-oncogene tyrosine-protein kinase Src
- DII4 Delta-like-4
- FA Folate
- FBS Fetal bovine serum
- FDA Food and Drug Administration
- FELASA Federation for Laboratory Animal Science Associations
- FGF Fibroblast growth factor
- FGFR Fibroblast growth factor receptor
- FISH Fluorescence In Situ Hybridization
- FN Fibronectin
- GAG glycosaminoglycans
- G-CSF Granulocyte-colony stimulating factor
- GFP Green fluorescent protein
- GM- CSF Granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor
- GPX4 Glutathione peroxidase 4
- GSH Glutathione
- GSSG GSH disulfide (oxidized GSH)
- H₂O₂ Hydrogen peroxide
- H₂S Hydrogen sulfide
- HB-EGF Heparin-binding epidermal growth factor
- HDAC Histone deacetylase
- HGF Hepatocyte growth factor
- HMDB Human metabolome database
- HIF Hypoxia inducible factor
- HRE Hypoxic-response elements
- HUVECs Human umbilical vein endothelial cells
- ICAM Intercellular adhesion molecules
- IHC Immunohistochemistry

- IL Interleukine
- JNK c-Jun N-terminal kinase
- KRIT1 Krev interaction trapped protein 1
- LDL Low-density lipoprotein
- LPA Lysophosphatidic acid
- LPS Lipopolysaccharide
- MAPC Rat multipotent adult progenitor cells
- MAPK Mitogen-activated protein kinase
- MCP1 Monocytes chemoattractant protein 1
- miRNA Micro RNA
- MMP Matrix metalloproteinases
- MVD Microvessel density
- NAC N-acetylcysteine
- NaCl Sodium chloride
- NICD1 Notch1 intracellular domain
- NMR Nuclear magnetic resonance
- NO nitric oxide
- NOX NADPH oxidase
- Nrp Neuropilin
- NSCLC Non-small cell lung carcinoma
- O2^{•-} Superoxide
- OS Overall survival
- PB Peripheral blood
- PBMC Peripheral blood mononuclear cells
- PBS Phosphate buffered saline
- PDC10 Programmed Cell Death 10
- PDGFR Platelet-derived growth factor receptor
- PF4 Platelet factor 4
- PHD HIF proxyl hydroxylases
- PI Propidium iodide
- PI3K Phosphoinositide 3-kinase
- PIGF Placental growth factor
- PPP Pentose phosphate pathway
- Propranolol Propranolol
- PRPP Phosphoribosyl diphosphate pathway
- PTEN Tensin homolog
- PURE Polyurea dendrimers

- RB retinoblastoma protein
- ROS Reactive oxygen species
- RTK Receptor tyrosine kinase inhibitor
- RTKi Receptor tyrosine kinase inhibitor
- SDF1 Stromal cell-derived factor 1
- Se Selenium
- SeChry Selenium-containing chrysin
- SeChry@PURE_{G4} Dendrimeric nanoparticles loaded with Selenium-containing chrysin
- SIGLEC1 Sialic Acid Binding Ig Like Lectin 1
- SMAD Decapentaplegic homologue
- SSC Saline-sodium citrate
- TAM Tumor-associated macrophage
- TASC Tumor associated stromal cell
- TBS Tris buffered saline
- TGFb Transforming growth factor beta
- TLC Thin layer chromatography
- TME Tumor microenvironment
- TNFα Tumor necrosis factor alpha
- TP53 tumor protein p53
- TSP Transsulfuration pathway
- TrxR Thioredoxine reductase
- UEA-1 lectin
- VCAM Vascular cell adhesion molecule
- VE-Cad Vascular endothelial cadherin
- VEGF Vascular endothelial growth factor
- VEGFR Vascular endothelial growth factor receptor
- vWF Von Willebrand factor or VIII factor
- vSMC vascular smooth muscle cells
- xCT sodium-independent cystine/glutamate antiporter System xc-
- ZO Zonula occludens

Chapter I

General introduction

1. Cancer Biology

Cancer is considered as one of the major public health problems worldwide, being the second leading cause of death in developed countries. In US, the estimated cancer incidence in 2020 arounds 1,8006,590 individuals, with the most prevalent types of cancer associated with genital, digestive and respiratory system. Metastatic disease and resistance to treatments accounts for most of the cancer patient mortality and morbidity (Siegel *et al.*, 2019).

In 2000, Hanahan and Weinberg systematized the complexity of malignant transformation of cells into six hallmarks: self-sufficiency in growth signals, insensitivity to anti-growth signals, evading apoptosis, limitless replicative potential, sustained angiogenesis, and tissue invasion and metastasis (Hanahan and Weinberg, 2000). A decade later, two novel emerging hallmarks emerged: reprogramming energy metabolism and evading immune response (Hanahan and Weinberg, 2011).

In normal cells, the balance between the production and the release of growthpromoting signals maintains tissue homeostasis, which is pivotal for the normal tissue architecture and function (Hanahan and Weinberg, 2011). However, cancer cells sustain the proliferative signaling through the overproduction of endogenous growth factors, the stimulation of normal cells within the tumor stroma to release growth factors and through the increased expression of cell surface receptors, which in turn promotes cancer cell hyperresponsiveness to otherwise-limiting amounts of growth factors (Hanahan and Weinberg, 2011; Feitelson *et al.*, 2015; Yadav and Mohite, 2020).

The increased expression or the occurrence of gain-of-function mutations in oncogenes (e.g. phosphoinositide 3-kinase (PI3K), KRAS and BRAF) or the downregulation or loss-of function mutations in canonical tumor suppressor genes, such as retinoblastoma protein (RB) and tumor protein p53 (TP53), increases the mitogenic capacity of cancer cells. Defects on the negative-feedback mechanisms, as the amplification of PI3K signaling as a resulting of phosphatase and tensin homolog (PTEN) loss, can also be responsible for enhancing the proliferative signaling in cancer cells and the escape from anti-growth signals (Jiang and Liu, 2008; Yuan and Cantley, 2008; Douglas Hanahan and Weinberg, 2011;). Those features allied with the escape from senesce and cell death, in part mediated by the telomere maintenance, or with the modulation of programmed cell death mechanisms, such as apoptosis, prompts the unlimited replicative potential of cancer cells (Fernald and Kurokawa, 2013). In which concerns to cell death, when Hanahan and Weinberg updated the cancer hallmarks in 2011, only apoptosis was the well-known programmed cell death, but today necroptosis and ferroptosis were already described as programmed cell death mechanisms, whose abrogation may contribute for tumor growth (Hanson, 2016; Mou et al., 2019).

2

The metabolic remodeling of cancer cells, as a direct or an indirect consequence of oncogenic mutations, is crucial to fulfil a selective advantage to tumor initiation and progression. The cancer cell metabolic rewiring relies on the adjustment of metabolic and signaling pathways that allows tumor cells to consume and metabolize nutrients from a frequently nutrient-poor environment to maintain cell viability and build new biomass (Cairns and Mak, 2016; De Berardinis and Chandel, 2016; Serpa, 2020).

To ensure cancer development, cancer cells try to escape from the immune system through a process known as "cancer immunoediting", mediated by a decrease in immune recognition, an increased resistance to immune cells attack or by the development of an immunosuppressive tumor microenvironment (TME) (Beatty and Gladney, 2015; Muenst *et al.*, 2016). For instance, the elimination of anti-tumoral leucocytes and/or by recruiting immunosuppressive leukocytes promotes the generation of a TME that boosts a pro-tumor immune response (Beatty and Gladney, 2015; Muenst *et al.*, 2016).

The invasive and metastatic cancer cell potential depends on the gain of migratory and invasive abilities of the cancer cells from the primary tumor, relying on epithelial to mesenchymal transition (EMT) or in collective or cluster-based migration and invasion; on their intravasation into the bloodstream and further extravasation into the parenchyma of a distant organ or tissue; and on their survival and proliferation abilities in the metastatic niche (Chaffer and Weinberg, 2011; Lehúede et al., 2016; Jolly et al., 2017; Pastushenko and Blanpain, 2019). The efficient development of cancer metastases encompasses the compatibility between cancer cells and the metastatic microenvironment in which cancer cell seed (Yuneva et al., 2012), however only a small fraction of the circulating cancer cells (0.01%) are capable of forming metastatic lesions (Schafer et al., 2009; Stott et al., 2010). Furthermore, the formation of tumor neovessels supports the delivery of oxygen and nutrients to the tumor, accounting for tumor cell survival, progression and metastatic spread (Chang et al., 2002; Potente et al., 2011; Hongwei Zhang et al., 2020). For the last years, many strategies using anti-angiogenic drugs aim to abolish tumor blood supply to impair tumor growth, however the clinical results of those strategies have been disappointing, indicating that the mechanisms underlying tumor angiogenesis remain to be fully understood (Holohan et al., 2013; Teleanu et al., 2019).

The tumor angiogenesis, invasion and escape from the classical anti-angiogenic therapy has been the subject of a large research in the biomedical sciences field for many decades. A focus on concepts of tumor angiogenesis, how the pro-oxidative cancer metabolic remodeling influences the formation of tumor vessels, and how new therapeutic strategies tackling tumor and endothelial cell (EC) metabolism might improve the anti-cancer therapy, will be methodically presented in the next sections.

3

2. Angiogenesis: a brief overview

Blood vessels assemble into vascular networks that play an essential role in providing oxygen and nutrients for peripheral tissues, being crucial for the embryonic development, tissue renewal and organ physiology (Bergers and Benjamin, 2003; Adams and Alitalo, 2007). Tissue and organ homeostasis rely on the correct function of two hierarchically branched vessel networks, the vascular and the lymphatic systems (Fig I. 1) (Adams and Alitalo, 2007). Blood vasculature is essential for blood circulation, prompted by the heart, and for providing the transport of oxygen, nutrients, gases, metabolites, hormones and paracrine signaling molecules (Potente and Mäkinen, 2017). Lymphatic system is composed by lymphatic vessels, lymph nodes and lymphoid organs and is coupled to the vascular system, recovering extravasated fluid and macromolecules to blood circulation and contributing for immune cell trafficking, cholesterol clearance and fat absorption (Aspelund *et al.*, 2016).



Figure I. 1 The vascular and the lymphatic systems.

A) Schematic representation of vascular network with heart, blood vessels (arterial (red) and venous (blue) circulation) and lymphatic vessels (green); B) The vascular network is hierarchically organized in arteries (red), veins (blue) and interconnected capillaries, as well as blind-ended lymphatic capillaries and collecting lymphatic vessels (green) that drain fluid into the venous circulation (Aspelund *et al.*, 2016; Carmeliet, 2005a; Herbert and Stainier, 2011). In the tree-like tubular network, the microvasculature is the site responsible for the most intercellular communications, being composed by arterioles, capillaries and venules. C) Endothelial cells (ECs) are the major cellular component of the vessels and mural cells (as pericytes) are essential for the stabilization of new connections, for vascular homeostasis and for barrier function (Potente *et al.*, 2011).

Basement membrane (BM) enveloping ECs and mural cells is fundamental for the histological structure of the vessel wall (Rhodes and Simons 2007; Xu and Shi 2014). Adapted from (Potente and Mäkinen, 2017).

During embryogenesis, blood vessels primarily arise from vasculogenesis, a process in which new vessels are formed by coalescence and assembly of angioblasts into functional vessels (Planas-Paz *et al.*, 2012; Domingues *et al.*, 2015b; Potente and Mäkinen, 2017). Angioblasts differentiate from hemangioblasts (multipotent mesodermal cells) and their function is controlled by tissue-derived factors, as fibroblast growth factor (FGF), bone morphogenic protein 4 (BMP4) and vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF; also known as VEGFA). These central molecules are essential for the endothelial cell (EC) commitment, proliferation and survival (Marcelo *et al.*, 2013). Subsequently, this primitive vascular plexus progressively expands and remodels, leading to the formation of a mature and hierarchically organized vascular network, composed by arteries, veins and capillaries, a process defined as angiogenesis (Carmeliet, 2005a; Herbert and Stainier, 2011).

Angiogenesis is crucial during embryonic development, however it is also required in physiological and pathophysiological scenarios along life (Potente and Mäkinen, 2017; Eelen *et al.*, 2018). Physiological and active angiogenesis is associated with reproductive female cycle, tissue repair, wound healing and inflammation (Carmeliet, 2003; Ferrara and Kerbel, 2005; Chung *et al.*, 2010). In a pathophysiological context, angiogenesis is associated with cancer, diabetes, atherosclerosis and chronic inflammation (Carmeliet, 2003).

The formation of new blood vessels from a pre-existing one defines the concept of angiogenesis, however, this process can be mediated by two different and independent mechanisms: non-sprouting and sprouting angiogenesis (Bergers and Benjamin, 2003; Makanya *et al.*, 2009; Heinke *et al.*, 2012). Non-sprouting angiogenesis or intussusceptive angiogenesis involves the formation of transluminal pillars within a vessel, leading to the splitting of the vessel into two or more capillaries (Makanya *et al.*, 2009; Heinke *et al.*, 2012). In sprouting angiogenesis, ECs from a pre-existing vessel are activated in response to pro-angiogenic factors, generating sprouts responsible for the expand of the vascular network (Herbert and Stainier, 2011; Potente and Mäkinen, 2017). Additionally, new vessels can also grow through the recruitment of endothelial progenitor cells (EPCs) from the bone marrow, a process called neovasculogenesis (Hillen and Griffioen, 2007; Jung and Kleinheinz, 2013; Domingues *et al.*, 2015b). After, processes such as blood vessel maturation, extracellular matrix (ECM) deposition in the basement membrane (BM), vessel specialization and vascular quiescence will be

essential for the maintenance of a stable, functional, patterned and hierarchically organized vascular network (Conway *et al.*, 2001; Potente and Mäkinen, 2017).

2.1. Angiogenic signaling dynamics: the driving force of angiogenesis

The balance between pro- and anti-angiogenic stimuli determines the level of ongoing angiogenesis (Hillen and Griffioen, 2007). Among the positive regulators, VEGF is the most well-studied, being observed almost ubiquitously expressed in all active angiogenesis sites (Stacker and Achen, 2013). VEGF family consists of five secreted proteins, VEGFA, VEGFB, VEGFC, VEGFD and placental growth factor (PIGF) (Holmes and Zachary, 2005), being the most well studied the VEGFA, from now on called VEGF. Moreover, VEGF, besides acting on tip cell activation, promotes vascular permeability that leads to the escape of plasma proteins (*e.g.* fibrinogen/fibrin), which are essential for the temporary supportive structure for migrating ECs and inflammatory cells (Conway *et al.*, 2001; J. Li *et al.*, 2003).

During embryonic development, the disruption of a single VEGF allele leads to embryonic lethality due to an impairment of vessels formation and function (Carmeliet *et al.*, 1996). VEGF is produced by a variety of cell types, such as ECs, haemopoietic and stromal cells and also cancer cells, being its expression directly correlated with regions of high vascular density (Bachelder *et al.*, 2001; Gerber and Ferrara, 2003; Stuttfeld and Ballmer-Hofer, 2009; Chen *et al.*, 2014b).

VEGF binds to its tyrosine kinase receptors (VEGFRs, type IV family of receptor tyrosine kinases; RTK), leading to the receptor dimerization and activation (Ferrara et al., 2003; Shibuya, 2011; Blanco and Gerhardt, 2013;). VEGF activates VEGFR1 homodimers, VEGFR1/2 heterodimers and VEGFR2/3 heterodimers. VEGFB and PIGF can activate VEGFR1 homodimers, while VEGFC and VEGFD activate VEGFR2/3 heterodimers and VEGFR3 (fms related tyrosine kinase 4) homodimers, as well as VEGFR2 homodimers upon proteolysis (Ferrara et al., 2003; Lohela et al., 2009; Shibuya, 2011). VEGFRs are key regulators of angiogenesis and lymphangiogenesis (Holmes and Zachary, 2005; Shibuya and Claesson-Welsh, 2006Lohela et al., 2009; Shibuya, 2011), being their activation a rate-limiting step in angiogenesis (Pugh and Ratcliffe, 2003; Carmeliet, 2005b). The VEGF binding to VEGFR2 activates downstream proteins, as Ras GTPases, proto-oncogene tyrosine-protein kinase Src (c-Src) and PI3K, fulcral for the activation of different signaling pathways important in the regulation of ECs proliferation, migration and differentiation and in the permeability of vessels (Kowanetz and Ferrara, 2006; Blanco and Gerhardt, 2013). Besides VEGFRs the type I transmembrane proteins neuropilin 1 and 2 (Nrp1 and 2) are responsible for transducing VEGFs signals together with the VEGFR family members. Nrp1 signaling is critical for VEGF/VEGFR-2-mediated angiogenesis, being essential for angiogenesis and vascular patterning, and Nrp2 signaling is crucial for VEGF-C/VEGFR-2/R-3-mediated lymphangiogenesis (Guo and Vander Kooi, 2015; Tata *et al.*, 2015). Moreover, VEGF also induces the secretion of ECM degrading enzymes and protects neovessels from apoptosis (Carmeliet, 2005b).

Angiopoetin-1 (ANG1) is another molecule involved in the maturation and stabilization of blood vessels through Tie2 receptor activation (Type XII RTKs), by increasing perivascular-ECs interaction and ECs survival (Thomas and Augustin, 2009; Eklund *et al.*, 2017; Kiss and Saharinen, 2018). On the other hand, Angiopoetin-2 (ANG2) that is mostly synthesized and secreted by ECs, acts as an endogenous antagonist of ANG1, leading to remodeling processes or vascular sprouting in response to VEGF (Cascone and Heymach, 2012).

FGFs by binding and activating the fibroblast growth factor receptor (FGFR) family of RTK, increase the proliferation and the migration of ECs (Presta *et al.*, 2005; X. Yang *et al.*, 2015). FGF signaling pathway, a well-known angiogenic inducer, has been implicated as an activator of VEGF expression in ECs and as a strengthen of vascular endothelial cadherin (VE-Cad)/p120 catenin interactions, reducing VE-Cad internalization and increasing cell-cell adhesion (Cross and Claesson-Welsh, 2001; Murakami *et al.*, 2008; Murakami and Simons, 2008).

Hypoxia is one of the most well stablished angiogenic regulators, acting as a trigger for the release of pro-angiogenic factors, namely VEGF, which is a major driver of hypoxia responsiveness. VEGF leads to an "angiogenic switch" that stimulates the proliferation and migration of ECs to form new blood vessels (Domingues *et al.*, 2015b; Sliwinska *et al.*, 2018). Lower oxygen levels induce the expression of hypoxia-inducible factors (HIFs), essential for angiogenic and metabolic control and for the control of cell cycle genes (Pugh and Ratcliffe, 2003; Zimna and Kurpisz, 2015). During this process, HIF1 α binds to hypoxic-response elements (HREs) in regulatory regions, mediating the transcriptional activation of target genes, as those encoding angiogenic molecules: VEGF, ANG1, ANG2, Tie-2, PDGF, FGF and monocyte chemoattractant protein 1 (MCP1) (Semenza, 2000). Under normoxic conditions, HIF prolyl hydroxylases 1-3 (PHD1-3) hydroxylate HIF1 α for further proteasomal degradation, preventing the expression of its targets genes (Semenza, 2000; Rahimi, 2012). Therefore, HIF1 α , by controlling pro-angiogenic molecules, links hypoxia to angiogenesis in a system regulated by the simple rule of demand and supply of nutrients and oxygen.

2.2. From a quiescent EC to a functional blood vessel: how angiogenesis works?

ECs, the cells that line the lumen of blood vessels, make part of a highly branched and tree-like tubular network, needed for oxygen and nutrient supply of peripheral tissues (Adams and Alitalo, 2007). Blood vessels, in addition to the continuous supply of nutrients and oxygen, control the systemic pH, temperature, homeostasis and mediate immune responses (Wilting and Chao, 2015).

Sprouting angiogenesis is a multi-step process that mediates the formation of new blood vessels. The release of a pro-angiogenic stimulus leads to the activation of endothelial tip cells, a specialized type of ECs that is characterized by its invasive and motile behavior due to the presence of dynamic filopodia protrusions that respond to a gradient of pro-angiogenic factors in the microenvironment (Domingues et al., 2015b; Potente and Mäkinen, 2017). These cells are motile and guide the growing sprout, being followed by the stalk cells, that proliferate and elongate to form the new blood vessel and connect to the parental vessel (Domingues et al., 2015b; Potente and Mäkinen, 2017). During this process, the justacrine delta-like-4 (Dll4)-Notch1 signaling pathway is pivotal for the establishment of tip-stalk specification in a VEGF-dependent manner (Fig I.2). VEGF, released by the microenvironment compartments, stimulates the expression of the DII4 by tip cells that binds to the Notch1 receptor on neighboring cells, the stalk cells, activating Notch pathway with the cleavage of Notch1 intracellular domain (NICD1). NICD1 is a repressor of VEGFR2 expression, promoting the inhibition of stalk cells migration (Potente et al., 2011; Blanco and Gerhardt, 2013; Stacker and Achen, 2013). Moreover, DII4 defines tip cell identity by activating Notch signaling that regulate the expression of a number of cell surface receptors, including VEGFR2, VEGFR3, Nrp1, CD34 and platelet-derived growth factor receptor (PDGFR) (De Smet et al., 2009; Siemerink et al., 2012, 2013).

DII4 is crucial in angiogenesis, since it is the only Notch ligand expressed predominantly in the vascular endothelium. DII4 mutant mice have several vascular abnormalities, resulting in embryonic lethality in the most mouse strains (Duarte *et al.*, 2004; Gale *et al.*, 2004; Krebs *et al.*, 2004). Moreover, reduced levels of DII4 or knockdown of active Notch signaling leads to the differentiation of excessive tip cells, resulting in dramatically increased sprouting, branching and fusion of blood vessels (Suchting *et al.*, 2007). Therefore, Notch1 mutants are able to form the primary vascular plexus, indicating that vasculogenesis is occurring, but they show deficits in angiogenesis, since embryos fail to induce the secondary vascular remodeling required to form a mature network of well-organized large and small blood vessels (Limbourg *et al.*, 2005). Additionally, in response to hindlimb ischemia, haplo-insufficient global or

endothelial-specific Notch1 mutant mice present compromised blood flow recovery and postnatal neovascularization (Takeshita *et al.*, 2007).



Figure I. 2 Sprouting angiogenesis is mediated by pro-angiogenic stimuli, leading to the formation of new blood vessels.

Vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGFA) and VEGFC bind to vascular endothelial growth factor receptors 2 and 3 (VEGFR2-3) respectively, activating endothelial tip cells, highly motile cells with filopodia that guide the capillary sprout towards the pro-angiogenic source (Domingues *et al.*, 2015b; Hillen and Griffioen, 2007; Potente *et al.*, 2011; Stacker and Achen, 2013). VEGFA and VEGFC stimulate the production of the ligand delta-like-4 (DII4) by tip cells that binds to the Notch1 receptor on neighboring cells, the stalk cells, activating Notch1 intracellular domain (NICD1) that suppresses VEGFR2-3 and neuropilin 1 (NRP1) and promotes VEGFR1 expression, a decoy receptor that sequesters VEGF (Blanco and Gerhardt, 2013; Potente *et al.*, 2011; Stacker and Achen, 2013). Notch1 activation inhibits the migratory behavior of stalk cells. Also, NRP1, a co-receptor for VEGF, establishes differential responsiveness to transforming growth factor β (TGF β)-bone morphogenetic protein (BMP) signaling through activin receptor-like kinase (ALK) signaling (Aspalter *et al.*, 2015). BMP9, BMP10 and TGF β defines the stalk phenotype by the activation of inhibitors of decapentaplegic homologue (SMADs) and Notch target genes (Aspalter *et al.*, 2015). Adapted from (Potente and Mäkinen, 2017).

The acquisition of a tip or stalk cell phenotype involves the tight spatiotemporal coordination of gene expression. Furthermore, ECs can rapidly shift between tip and stalk cell positions during angiogenic sprouting. Tip and stalk fates are plastic and consequently, sprouting ECs are continuously shuffling and competing for the tip cell position by regulating their levels of VEGFR2 and VEGFR1 expression (Phng and Gerhardt, 2009; Jakobsson *et al.*, 2010; Potente *et al.*, 2011).

At the same time as tip and stalk cells are established, the BM and ECM that support the capillaries are degraded by proteases, mainly matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs), expressed by ECs, allowing the formation of the new tube (Domingues et al., 2015b). In addition to being an important structural support, ECM also acts as a reservoir of angiogenic growth factors, such as VEGF, FGF and transforming growth factor beta (TGF β), which are released by proteolytic degradation of the ECM (Stetler-Stevenson, 1999; Liekens et al., 2001; Kalluri, 2003; Stamenkovic, 2003;). In vivo, MMP7 expression promotes angiogenesis by enhancing ECs proliferation and upregulating the expression of MMP1 and MMP2 (Nishizuka et al., 2001; Huo et al., 2002). Moreover, MMPs are also responsible for the processing of growth factors and receptors (e.g. integrins) and for the generation of endogenous anti-angiogenic compounds (Stetler-Stevenson, 1999; Liekens et al., 2001; Stamenkovic, 2003). For example, MMP3 and MMP7 cleave the membrane-bound precursor of heparin-binding epidermal growth factor (HB-EGF), releasing the active form, whereas tumor necrosis factor alpha (TNF α) is released from the cell surface by MMP1, 3, and 7 (Stamenkovic, 2003). MMP9 is also responsible for the cleavage of the pro-inflammatory and pro-angiogenic interleukine 8 (IL8), increasing tenfold its activity, and for the degradation and further inactivation of platelet factor 4 (PF4), an inhibitor of ECs proliferation and migration, in vitro and in vivo (Stricker et al., 2001; Bikfalvi, 2004).

In an injured vessel, the adhesion and aggregation of platelets (coagulation process) promote the release of angiogenic growth factors (*e.g.* TGF β , PDGF, and VEGF) and cytokines (*e.g.* chemokine (C-X-C motif) ligand 1 (CXCL1), CXCL4, CXCL5, CXCL7, IL8), which are important players in the recruitment of macrophages and monocytes upon an inflammatory response (J. Li *et al.*, 2003; Yun *et al.*, 2016).

In the generation of new sprouts, the degradation of BM by MMPs occurs simultaneously with mural cell detachment. Mural cells, such as pericytes and vascular smooth muscle cells (vSMCs), act as supporting cells, and their detachment is controlled by ECs, through the release of ANG2. The disruption of ANG1 signaling by ANG2, via Tie2, destabilizes quiescent vessels and promotes sprouting angiogenesis (Maisonpierre *et al.*, 1997; Conway *et al.*, 2001; Augustin *et al.*, 2009;). The invasion of vascular sprouts is concomitant with vascular lumen morphogenesis, however newly formed vessels are immature and poorly functional. During this process, the sprouts contact with other sprouts or with other capillary connections, being their fusion (anastomosis) responsible for the generation of new vessel circuitries (Potente *et al.*, 2011). Moreover, in the newly formed vessels, after ECs migration and proliferation, inter-ECs junctions are formed via VE-cad and connexins (*e.g.* Cx37, Cx40, and Cx43) (Brisset *et al.*, 2009; Okamoto *et al.*, 2019).

During vessel formation, a stable vascular patterning (arteries, veins and capillaries specification) will be required for network functionality, and blood flow acts as an
instructor for blood vessels maturation (Hahn and Schwartz, 2009). Blood flow provokes mechanical/shear stress (frictional force per unit area) in ECs, inducing the secretion of PDGF, which in turn recruits pericytes and vSMCs (Beck and D'Amore, 1997; Risau, 1997; Conway *et al.*, 2001; Hahn and Schwartz, 2009). On the other hand, mural cells produce ANG1 that inhibits ECs proliferation and migration through Tie2 (Adams and Alitalo, 2007; Potente *et al.*, 2011). In addition, the interaction between mural cells and ECs induces the activation of TGF β , promoting ECM deposition and contributing to vessel maturation and stabilization (Roberts and Sporn, 1989; Beck and D'Amore, 1997; Conway *et al.*, 2001). ECM of matured vessels are composed by proteins, as collagen IV, laminin and elastin; and by glycosaminoglycans (GAGs), that act as a scaffold for the maintenance of the histological structure of the vessel wall (Rhodes and Simons, 2007; Xu and Shi, 2014). For example, mutant embryos for collagen IV are inviable, dying in uterus with arteries and heart bleeding due to vessels rupture (Pöschl *et al.*, 2004).

Mural cells are recruited to stabilize the new connections, promoting the vascular homeostasis and barrier function of the newly formed vessels (Potente *et al.*, 2011). After stabilization, arteriovenous specialization will confer distinct hemodynamic properties. Arteries enlargement and remodeling is triggered mainly by high blood flow rates and signaling pathways dependent on Notch and EphrinB2 (Eichmann *et al.*, 2005; Kim *et al.*, 2008). Upon the establishment of a continuous and hierarchical vascular network, ECs undergo quiescence. The inhibition of the proliferative and migratory phenotype is regulated by PI3K-AKT and MAPK pathways, and when this process is blocked, vascular dysfunction occurs (Carmeliet and Jain, 2011a; Gimbrone and García-Cardeña, 2016; Marcelo *et al.*, 2013). The coordination of all these steps during angiogenesis is imperative for the maintenance of a fully functional vascular network.

2.2.1. Reactive oxygen species (ROS) as a mediator of angiogenesis

ROS are highly reactive molecules that derive from incomplete reduction of molecular oxygen, including free radicals as superoxide (O_2 ⁻) and non-radicals, as hydrogen peroxide (H_2O_2) (Santoro, 2018). In ECs, superoxide-generating enzymes (NOX, also known as NADPH oxidases) are a major source of ROS (Manuneedhi Cholan *et al.*, 2017). In vascular cells there are four NOX isoforms (NOX1, NOX2, NOX4 and NOX5) but only NOX4 preferentially produces H_2O_2 (Panieri and Santoro, 2015; Manuneedhi Cholan *et al.*, 2017;).

High levels of ROS can promote oxidative stress and cause ECs dysfunction, however recent evidence support that physiological levels of ROS can be pro-angiogenic (Kim and Byzova, 2014; Manuneedhi Cholan *et al.*, 2017; Shafique *et al.*, 2017), stimulating essential stages during vascular formation, as proliferation, migration,

sprouting and tubule formation (Manuneedhi Cholan *et al.*, 2017). NOX4-derived H₂O₂ stimulates NOX2.22 and stabilizes HIF-1 α , leading to the induction of VEGF expression that promotes tumor angiogenesis (Helfinger *et al.*, 2016).

VEGF signaling pathway is a target of ROS in ECs, promoting VEGFR2 dimerization and autophosphorylation, which in turn prompts angiogenesis (Colavitti *et al.*, 2002; Kim and Byzova, 2014). Moreover, VEGF-independent mechanisms of ROS-induced angiogenesis, as the activation of CEP/TLR2/MyD88 axis that generates lipid oxidation products or the downregulation of p38α phosphorylation mediated by activation of ataxiatelangiectasia mutated kinase (ATM), which has been showed to promote ECs proliferation and survival (West *et al.*, 2010; Okuno *et al.*, 2012; Kim *et al.*, 2013; Kim and Byzova, 2014; Huang and Nan, 2019).

2.2.2. Endothelial progenitor cells (EPCs): sustainers of angiogenesis

The identification of EPCs by Asahara and co-authors (1997) shifted the paradigm of angiogenic processes, since neovascularization in adult organisms was only attributed to sprouting angiogenesis at that time (Asahara *et al.*, 1997). EPCs comprises about 0.007% of total mononuclear cells and were originally isolated from adult peripheral blood (PB), being classified as cells with stem/progenitor characteristics that upon a pro-angiogenic stimuli were able to differentiate into EC lineages, promoting the reendothelization of injured arteries (Kim *et al.*, 2010; Balistreri *et al.*, 2015; Chong *et al.*, 2016; Yuan *et al.*, 2017; Ge *et al.*, 2018). Despite the absence of a precise panel of cell surface markers to characterize EPCs, most studies classified EPCs according to three prevalent panels of markers: CD133-CD34-VEGFR2; CD34-VEGFR2, or CD114CD43^{low} (Richardson and Yoder, 2011; Yoder, 2012; Padfield *et al.*, 2013; Aragona *et al.*, 2016; Kutikhin *et al.*, 2018; Yuan *et al.*, 2017).

EPCs are recognized as a heterogenous population, with different stages of maturation (Fig I.3). Early outgrowth EPCs, also described as early EPCs, circulating angiogenic cells or myeloid angiogenic cells, have low proliferative capacities but they exhibit a paracrine role in inducing vascularization through the secretion of growth factors and cytokines, such as VEGF, hepatocyte growth factor (HGF), granulocyte-colony stimulating factor (G-CSF), granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor (GM-CSF), IL8, ANG1, as well as releasing microvesicles containing microRNAs (miRNAs) (Rehman *et al.*, 2003; Cantaluppi *et al.*, 2012; Recchioni *et al.*, 2016; Alexandru *et al.*, 2020; Beltran-Camacho *et al.*, 2020). Hence, the early EPCs do not participate directly in the formation of blood vessels but induce the mobilization of a newly formed vasculature (Murayama *et al.*, 2002; Iwakura *et al.*, 2006; Miyamoto *et al.*, 2007;

Keighron *et al.*, 2018). Late outgrowth EPCs (or endothelial colony-forming cells) appear in peripheral blood (PB) cells culture with a cobblestone morphology after 14-21 days and present increased proliferative properties, being capable of incorporating neovessels and differentiating into mature ECs, replacing damaged ECs (Avogaro *et al.*, 2011; Madonna and De Caterina, 2015; Keighron *et al.*, 2018;).



Figure I. 3 Endothelial progenitor cells (EPCs) participation in angiogenesis.

EPCs are characterized using CD133, CD34 and VEGFR2 (Padfield *et al.*, 2013; Peichev *et al.*, 2000; Richardson and Yoder, 2011; Urbich and Dimmeler, 2004; Yoder, 2012; J. jing Yuan *et al.*, 2017). Early outgrowth EPCs express CD133, CD34, CD45 and CD14 and promote EC proliferation and support the maturation of immature neovessels in a paracrine-manner, by secreting growth factors and microvesicles containing miRNAs (lwakura *et al.*, 2006; Miyamoto *et al.*, 2007; Murayama *et al.*, 2002; Jalees Rehman *et al.*, 2003). Late outgrowth EPCs express acetylated low-density lipoprotein (acLDL) and lectin (UEA-1) as well as express nitric oxide synthase (eNOS) and produce nitric oxide (NO), supporting their differentiation into mature ECs that are further incorporated into neovessels (Asahara *et al.*, 1997; Avogaro *et al.*, 2011; Madonna and De Caterina, 2015).

Depending on their origin, EPCs are classified as tissue resident or circulating EPCs. Tissue resident EPCs show an adhesive nature and can be isolated directly from organ tissues (Zhuo *et al.*, 2001; Bajenaru *et al.*, 2002; Malinverno *et al.*, 2017; Osman *et al.*, 2020; Royer *et al.*, 2020). Circulating EPCs are essentially isolated from PB or umbilical cord blood, being recruited and mobilized to the sites of vascular stress and transformed into tissue EPCs (Beltrami *et al.*, 2003; li *et al.*, 2009). The EPCs mobilization and recruitment is predominantly regulated by pro-angiogenic chemokines (CXCL1, CXCL7, CXCL12, CCL2) and their receptors (CXCR2, CXCR4, CCR2) (Bidzhekov, *et al.*, 2007; Liehn, *et al.*, 2007).

Independently of their origin, EPCs are essential for neovascularization processes and a better knowledge in EPCs characterization and in the mechanisms underlying their mobilization and homing will improve the therapeutic potential and effectiveness of EPCs-derived therapies in the treatment of angiogenic related diseases, as cancer.

2.3. Angiogenesis in cancer: tumor microenvironment (TME) as a promoter of endothelial cell activation

In 1971, Judah Folkman described for the first time that vessel formation (neoangiogenesis) is necessary for tumor growth (J Folkman, 1971), being later on associated with tumor malignancy, aggressiveness and metastasis (Gimbrone *et al.*, 1972; Zetter, 2008a). In cancer patients, the quantification of tumor angiogenesis through the determination of microvessel density (MVD) showed to be a useful prognosis factor, since the levels of expression of angiogenic factors can be correlated with higher tumor MVD, with advanced tumor stages or tumor invasiveness (Pang and Poon, 2006; Bačić *et al.*, 2018).

A pro-angiogenic microenvironment generated by cancer cells and tumor-associated stromal cells (TASCs), promotes a hyperactivation of the angiogenic switch in ECs. During this process, the pro-angiogenic phenotype of TME favors the hyperproliferation of ECs, mediated by PI3K/AKT activation, leading to the formation of a chaotic vessel network with perturbed blood flow that act as a metastatic facilitator (Chang *et al.*, 2002; R. K. Jain, 2014). Genetic alterations in cancer cells, as the constitutive activation of the oncoproteins RAS, RAF and DEK or the presence of p53 mutated variants, contributes to the angiogenic switch, through the increased expression and release of pro-angiogenic and pro-inflammatory factors, as VEGF and CXCL8 (Rak *et al.*, 2000; Sparmann and Bar-Sagi, 2004;Sharma *et al.*, 2005; Bottos *et al.*, 2012; Stantic *et al.*, 2015; Yanan Zhang *et al.*, 2016). Moreover, the detachment of pericytes from ECs, the absence of a continuous basement membrane and the disruption of ECs junctions contributes to tumor vessel fragility and hyper-permeability, pivotal for cancer cells intravasation and metastasis (Hashizume *et al.*, 2000; Shim *et al.*, 2007; Rohlenova *et al.*, 2018).

The uncontrolled proliferation of tumor cells concomitant with highly immature and unstable tumor vasculature promotes the generation of a highly hypoxic microenvironment, responsible for the expression of HIF1 α and for the further release of pro-angiogenic factors, as VEGF and FGF (Domingues *et al.*, 2015b; Nowak-Sliwinska *et al.*, 2018). The inhibition of HIF1 α abrogates the VEGF autocrine loop mediated by PI3K-AKT signaling pathway, impairing the angiogenic switch that drives ECs proliferation, vessels sprouting, vascular remodeling and tumor progression (Tang *et al.*, 2018; J. Wang *et al.*, 2015; Azoitei *et al.*, 2016; Cai *et al.*, 2018; Wang *et al.*, 2018). Interestingly, mutations in oxygen-sensing signaling pathways correlate with tumor progression and poor patient outcome, since they promote the constitutively HIF activation and increase the pool of pro-angiogenic factors in the TME (Miller *et al.*, 2005a; Giatromanolaki *et al.*, 2008).

The absence of a synchronized tumor growth and the chaotic vessel network prompt cycles of hypoxia-reperfusion, generating unbalanced reactive oxygen species (ROS) generation (Brown, 1979; Gorrini et al., 2013). ROS can dynamically influence the TME and vice-versa, being already established that this crosstalk controls cancer angiogenesis, metastasis, and survival. Although ROS production in ECs may sustain tumor angiogenesis (Garrido-Urbani et al., 2011), excessive ROS levels can abolish ECs responsiveness to extracellular VEGF by increasing VEGFR2 recycling and by inducing ECs-chromosomal abnormalities upon DNA damage (Warren et al., 2014). Taking this into account, ROS-scavenging strategies could be applied to the treatment of diseases with pathological angiogenesis, as vascular diseases and cancer (Prieto-Bermejo and Hernández-Hernández, 2017). For instance, the use of dietary antioxidants such as vitamin C and E (Nespereira, 2003) could be an option, however it is difficult to determine the exact dosage since they are nonspecific and can also affect physiological angiogenesis. Other option could be pharmacological inhibitors of NADPH oxidase. However, in vivo studies using such inhibitors are scarce (Coso et al., 2012). So far, it is known that ROS play an essential role in the induction of tumor angiogenesis, however it remains unclear how ROS generated by cancer cells and TASCs directly affect ECs and influence their angiogenic properties. The modulation of the behavior of TASCs, by tumor cells, is pivotal for the gain of a pro-angiogenic phenotype, crucial for supporting neoangiogenesis (Ribatti et al., 2007; Shojaei et al., 2008; Payne and Jones, 2011; Gacche, 2015). Tumor-associated macrophages (TAMs), neutrophils, mast cells, activated platelets, cancer-associated fibroblasts (CAFs) and cancer-associated adipocytes (CAAs) act as active sources of pro-angiogenic factors (e.g. VEGF, FGF, PIGF and CSF1) and membrane-bound or soluble proteases (e.g. MMP2, MMP9, MMP12 and cathepsins) that, in turn, promote ECM degradation, leading to the release of pro-angiogenic factors sequestered in the perivascular ECM (Bergers and Benjamin, 2003; Arroyo and Iruela-Arispe, 2010; Bonnans *et al.*, 2014; Lugano *et al.*, 2018). The abrogation of the pro-angiogenic phenotype of TAMs and infiltrated mast cells delays the angiogenic switch and impairs the relapse of transplanted tumors after chemotherapy (Harney *et al.*, 2015; Hughes *et al.*, 2015) (Coussens *et al.*, 1999; Soucek *et al.*, 2007; Kabiraj *et al.*, 2018; W. Xu *et al.*, 2019). Moreover, the release of tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinase (TIMP)-free proMMP-9 by tumor-associated neutrophils and an increase in TAMs density correlates with increased vascular density, tumor cells' aggressiveness and cancer patients' poor survival (Leek *et al.*, 1996; Clear *et al.*, 2010; Bekes *et al.*, 2011; Koh *et al.*, 2014; Kovaleva *et al.*, 2016).

CAFs are the major components of the tumor stroma and the major source of nonderived cancer cell VEGF (Fukumura *et al.*, 1998; H. P. Gerber *et al.*, 2000). Moreover, CAFs can also drives tumor angiogenesis by attracting ECs and by recruiting monocytes from the bone marrow, through the CXCL12 (SDF1)–CXCR4 axis (Orimo *et al.*, 2005; Kalluri, 2016). Depending on the tumor site, CAAs can also be one the major stromal cells constituents, contributing to a rich milieu of cytokines, chemokines and hormones, termed adipokines, which have well-established pro-angiogenic functions (Cai *et al.*, 2016; Bougaret *et al.*, 2017). In accordance, tumors implanted in adipose tissue showed a denser vascular network and increased levels of VEGF, which promotes EPCs migration, differentiation and tube forming capacity (Lim *et al.*, 2016a)

The constitutive sharing of pro-angiogenic factors in the TME shapes ECs features to benefit the cancer cell needs. Interestingly, in addition to the release of soluble factor, cancer cells and TASCs also secrete extracellular vesicles (EVs) containing pro-angiogenic mediators (*e.g.* VEGFA, CXCL8, IL6 and FGF2) and ECM-remodeling enzymes (*e.g.* MMP2, MMP9 and uPA), pivotal for the promotion of ECs activation and tumor angiogenesis (Graves *et al.*, 2004; Taraboletti *et al.*, 2006).

2.3.1. The contribution of EPCs for tumor angiogenesis – partners in crime?

During carcinogenesis, the TME release pro-angiogenic factors (as VEGF, FGF, SDF1) and cytokines (as IL1β) that besides their role in promoting local angiogenesis by stimulating adjacent ECs, also support EPCs mobilization to the tumor (Gao *et al.*, 2008; Moccia *et al.*, 2014; Moschetta *et al.*, 2014; Chopra *et al.*, 2018). VEGF released by TME correlates with EPCs mobilization from bone marrow and with increased EPCs proliferation and further incorporation into tumoral endothelium (Mellick *et al.*, 2010; Chen *et al.*, 2011;), being the blockage of VEGF-induced migration of EPCs associated with angiogenesis abrogation (Ni *et al.*, 2019; Lee *et al.*, 2020). In non-small cell lung

carcinoma (NSCLC) patients with increased levels of circulating EPCs, bevacizumab (a humanized monoclonal antibody against VEGF) administration in combination with chemotherapy improves the clinical outcome, showing higher tumor reduction rate and longer progression-free survival, comparing with the group of NSCLC patient with low levels of circulating EPCs (Sudo *et al.*, 2017).

In addition to their role in incorporating tumor vasculature, EPCs are able to release stromal cell-derived factor 1 (SDF1) and VEGF, therefore promoting a gradient that may potentiate the extravasation and the development of a pre-metastatic niche (Kaplan *et al.*, 2005; Urbich *et al.*, 2005; Jin *et al.*, 2012). In line with this, the *in vivo* blockage of EPCs mobilization impairs macrometastases (Lyden *et al.*, 2001; Gao *et al.*, 2008; Moccia *et al.*, 2014).

Circulating EPCs (cEPCs), in PB of cancer patients (Zhang *et al.*, 2005; Yu *et al.*, 2007; Botelho and Alves, 2016; Chopra *et al.*, 2018), are positively correlated with disease progression and staging (Nowak *et al.*, 2010; Ziebart *et al.*, 2016; Tanaka *et al.*, 2017; Li *et al.*, 2018;). Interestingly, some clinical studies indicate that the levels of cEPCs may be indicative of the treatment response or the grade of malignancy, shedding a light on the therapeutic value of targeting EPCs in cancer patients (Zhang *et al.*, 2005; Dome *et al.*, 2006; Udi *et al.*, 2011; Wiessman *et al.*, 2019).

A better understanding of genetic and epigenetic changes in EPCs in response to TME will be essential for elucidating the exact cellular and molecular mechanisms of tumor angiogenesis. For instance, histone deacetylase 7 (HDAC7) acts as a regulator of the angiogenic properties of EPCs (Wei *et al.*, 2018). Moreover, the relevance of EPCs in tumor angiogenesis remains much unexplored, being the further identification of molecular players, chemokines/cytokines and tissue- specific ECM components, involved in EPCs mobilization essential to provide new targets for cancer treatment. The study of the clinical impact of EPCs mobilization in disease prognosis and EPCs therapeutic value will be also pivotal for improving patient's outcome. However, the main limitation is still the inconsistent and poorly reliable identification of EPCs.

2.3.2. Angiogenesis-like phenomena in cancer: another route to support tumor perfusion

During cancer progression, besides the development of vascular networks by sprouting angiogenesis (Fig I.4 A), other mechanisms can contribute to blood vessel formation (Rohlenova *et al.*, 2018).

The vascular co-option is a process in which cancer cells proliferate near the existing blood vessels, avoiding further angiogenic processes (Fig I.4 B) (Auguste *et al.*, 2005; Frentzas *et al.*, 2016). This phenomenon is essentially reported in highly vascularized

tumors, as brain, lung and liver (Auguste et al., 2005; Frentzas et al., 2016). The quiescent blood vessels co-opted by tumors suffer extreme changes over time. First, co-opted vessels regress by the action of Ang2, which promotes hypoxia and consequent tumor cell death (Holash *et al.*, 1999; Crinò and Metro, 2014; Seano and Jain, 2020). Second, HIF1 α activation in the hypoxic TME leads to the release of pro-angiogenic factors that will promote the *de novo* angiogenesis, required for further tumor progression (Holash *et al.*, 1999; Ellis and Hicklin, 2008; Seano and Jain, 2020). Nevertheless, the exact mechanisms and the molecular players of vessel co-option need to be deeply explored.

Moreover, vascular mimicry relies on the blood supply of the tumor, independently of angiogenesis or ECs, and it correlates with cancer patients' poor survival. During this process, cancer cells acquire an EC-like phenotype and become organized into vascular-like structures that act as a perfusion system to canalize blood and obtain nutrients and oxygen (Fig I.4 C) (Maniotis et al., 1999; Angara et al., 2017; Fernández-Cortés et al., 2019). Hypoxia potentiates the *de novo* expression of VE-Cad in tumor cells, which in turn contributes to the acquisition of EC-like features and is accompanied by the formation and stabilization of a tubular structure (Giannotta *et al.*, 2013; Angara *et al.*, 2017; Delgado-Bellido *et al.*, 2017; Rezaei *et al.*, 2018).

Cytokines, adhesion molecules and growth factors shared in TME, besides their role in the stimulation of angiogenesis, has also a role in promoting lymphangiogenesis (Fig I.4 D). Lymphangiogenesis improves the metastatic spread through the lymphatic system, contributing to the morbidity and mortality of cancer patients. Moreover, a balance of pro- and anti-lymphangiogenesis factors, including VEGFC and their interactions with VEGFR3 and VEGFR2, regulates tumor-associated lymphangiogenesis (Karpanen et al., 2001; Mandriota et al., 2001; Stacker et al., 2001).



Figure I. 4 Vessels and vessels-like structures in cancer.

A) During tumor progression the release of pro-angiogenic factors by the tumor cells activates the angiogenic switch, leading to the migration and proliferation of endothelial cells (ECs) from the pre-existing blood vessels (Domingues *et al.*, 2015b; Nowak-Sliwinska *et al.*, 2018). Tumor cells rely on neoangiogenesis to obtain nutrients and oxygen to support tumor growth (Rohlenova *et al.*, 2017). B) During vascular co-option, tumor cells migrate along the preexistent blood vessels, taking over the existing vasculature to tumor blood supply (Auguste *et al.*, 2005; Frentzas *et al.*, 2016). C) In vascular mimicry cancer cells acquire EC-like properties and organize into vascular-like structures, acting as systems to obtain nutrients and oxygen, independently of ECs (Angara *et al.*, 2017; Fernández-Cortés *et al.*, 2019; Maniotis *et al.*, 1999). D) Lymphangiogenesis improves metastatic sprout to lymphatic system (Karpanen *et al.*, 2001; Mandriota *et al.*, 2001; Stacker *et al.*, 2001).

2.4. Monocytes as EPCs - an unexplored field

Cells from monocytic origin potentiate angiogenic processes. For instance, the *in vitro* culture of mononuclear cells (mainly monocytes and T-cells) have a paracrine role in the promotion of angiogenesis, as seen in models of carotid and femoral arterial injury, whose re-endothelization is improved by CD14⁺ cells (Fujiyama *et al.*, 2003; Elsheikh *et al.*, 2005).

The relevance of TAMs during cancer progression is evident, since TAMs depletion by clodronate reduces *in vivo* tumor growth and neovascularization (Gazzaniga *et al.*, 2007; Kimura *et al.*, 2007; Halin *et al.*, 2009). TAMs are mainly linked to increased tumor invasion, migration, poor clinical outcome and tumor angiogenesis, being also positively associated with MVD, tumor stage and angiogenesis (Torisu *et al.*, 2000; Bingle *et al.*, 2006; Wu *et al.*, 2012; Jiang *et al.*, 2016). During TAMs differentiation processes, "immunoediting" promotes their modulation from an anti-tumor to a pro-malignant macrophage phenotype, characterized by the mixed M1 and M2 macrophage features.

In physiological and pathophysiological conditions, macrophages are essential and active players in angiogenesis (Rao *et al.*, 2007). In ischemic injury, ECs release CCL2, that drives monocyte recruitment to foster tissue reperfusion; however, macrophage deficient CSF1 mice fail to recover tissue reperfusion and decrease the formation of collateral vasculature (Bergmann *et al.*, 2006). After brain ischemic stroke, mice with C-C chemokine receptor type 2 (CCR2)-deficient monocytes present a worse behavioral performance accompanied by reduced angiogenesis (Pedragosa *et al.*, 2020), highlighting the essential role of monocytes during vascularization. Interestingly, in hepatocellular carcinoma, CCR2⁺-TAMs accumulate at the vascularized border, but when they are pharmacological inhibited a reduction in neovascularization, hepatic blood volume and tumor burden is observed (Bartneck *et al.*, 2019).

In the tumor, TAMs density directly correlates with increased vessel density, hypoxic tumor regions and blood vessel regions (Ohno *et al.*, 2004; Prenen and Mazzone, 2019). Under hypoxia, the upregulation of HIF1 α and HIF2 α promotes the transcriptional TAMs phenotypic adaptation, leading to increased expression of pro-angiogenic genes (Murdoch *et al.*, 2008; Huang *et al.*, 2018). In metastatic liver cancer, VEGFR1⁺-TAMs were found to be highly pro-angiogenic and the increased levels of circulating VEGFR1⁺ monocytes are associated with worse disease outcome (Valls *et al.*, 2019). Interestingly, in a breast cancer model, TAMs revealed to be the main source of CCL8 and Sialic Acid Binding Ig Like Lectin 1 (SIGLEC1), through a TNF α regulatory loop; and breast cancer cells respond to CCL8 levels by producing CSF1, in order to promote monocyte infiltration into the tumor, accounting for an immunosuppressive microenvironment that will promote neoangiogenesis, tumor cell motility and malignancy (Cassetta *et al.*, 2019).

Moreover, IL8 released by TAMs increase *in vitro* ECs migration and tube formation and adenosine deaminase 2 (CECR1) stimulates pericytes recruitment and migration, leading to tumor angiogenesis (X. Wang *et al.*, 2013; C. Zhu *et al.*, 2017). In cancer patients, CD14⁺ monocytes secrete VEGF in a NF κ B signaling-dependent mechanism (Chittezhath *et al.*, 2014) and Tie2⁺ monocytes stimulate the formation of tumor vasculature through the production of VEGF, TNF α and MMPs (Venneri *et al.*, 2007; Coffelt *et al.*, 2010; Harney *et al.*, 2015). Accordingly, the inhibition of angiopoietin/Tie2 signaling by rebastinib impaired tumor progression, due to the lack of angiopoietin/Tie2-dependent angiogenesis (Harney *et al.*, 2017).

The release of pro-angiogenic factors and immunosuppressive factors, besides their role in angiogenesis promotion, increase vascular permeability, which facilitates the extravasation of metastatic tumor cells (Wyckoff *et al.*, 2007). Interestingly, after platinum salts treatment, an increase in the density of pro-angiogenic TAMs is observed (Dijkgraaf *et al.*, 2013) and after radiotherapy TAMs were found in close proximity to the remaining tumor vasculature (De Palma and Lewis, 2013), suggesting a role of TAMs in vascular recovery. In addition to the production of pro-angiogenic and immunosuppressive factors, TAMs also activate angiogenesis by controlling the bioavailability of pro-angiogenic regulators capable of modulating ECM. The expression of membrane-bound or soluble proteases (*e.g.* MMP2, MMP9, MMP12 and cathepsins), by TAMs, promotes ECM degradation and consequently the release of pro-angiogenic growth factors sequestered in the perivascular ECM, benefiting the migration and proliferation of ECs (Moldovan, 2002; Bergers and Benjamin, 2003; Egeblad *et al.*, 2010).

The differentiation potential of monocytes has been firstly described as limited to phagocytic cells, as macrophages and dendritic cells (Geissmann *et al.*, 2010; Guilliams *et al.*, 2014; Kumar and Jack, 2006). However, accumulating studies showed that circulating monocytes can differentiate into a variety of cell types (*e.g.* EC, epithelial cell, adipocytes) (Zhao *et al.*, 2003; Seta and Kuwana, 2007, 2010). For instance, pluripotent stem cells isolated from a subset of colony stimulating factor 1 (CSF1)-stimulated monocytes have the potential to differentiate into different lineages, depending on the stimuli (Zhao *et al.*, 2003).

Over the past years, the disparity in the use of different markers to isolate and characterize EPCs instigated controversy about EPCs progeny and function. The role of monocytes as EPCs have been already proposed in cardiovascular (Jaipersad *et al.*, 2014) and inflammatory (Steinbichler *et al.*, 2014) diseases. In fact, monocyte levels correlate with increased capillary density in the calf microvasculature (Arras *et al.*, 1998) and in a mouse model of carotid injury, CD14⁺ monocytes are capable of improving re-endothelialization (Fujiyama *et al.*, 2003). The lack of specific EPCs markers could

underestimated the contribution of monocytes as EPCs. Multiple studies highlighted the role of monocytes recruitment during neovascularization processes (Rehman *et al.*, 2003; Yamaguchi *et al.*, 2003; Hur *et al.*, 2004; Yoon *et al.*, 2005). Cell surface marker analysis of EPCs reveal that >95% of the cells expressed the monocytic marker CD14 and that the commonly used early and late outgrowth EPCs markers (described in detail in section 2.2.2.), as low-density lipoprotein (LDL) uptake, lectin binding and the expression of some endothelial-related markers (*e.g.* CD105, CD144) are intrinsic features of monocytes. Perhaps, some populations classified as EPCs are in fact monocytes, misjudging their contribution to angiogenesis. The major bone marrow cells recruited to VEGF-induced sites of neovascularization are CD14⁺ (Grunewald *et al.*, 2006; Zentilin *et al.*, 2006) and monocytes recruited to hind limb ischemia express proangiogenic factors (*e.g.* FGF, VEGF, IL1; TNF α) (Yanagisawa-Miwa *et al.*, 1992), all common features of EPCs (Rehman *et al.*, 2003; Yamaguchi *et al.*, 2003; Hur *et al.*, 2004; Yoon *et al.*, 2005).

Some authors pointed that EPCs bone marrow-derived cells, comprising monocytes, contribute for neovascularization processes by differentiating into ECs, while other reports suggested their paracrine involvement during vascular remodeling (Asahara et al., 1997; Murayama et al., 2002; J Rehman et al., 2003; Iwakura et al., 2006; Avogaro et al., 2011; Madonna and De Caterina, 2015). In a model of hind limb ischemia, CD14⁺ monocytes after macrophage and dendritic cell differentiation were less efficient in improving neovascularization than monocytes maintained under an angiogenic culture (Urbich et al., 2003), suggesting than monocytes upon a pro-angiogenic stimuli are active promoters in angiogenic processes, however their paracrine role or their contribution by directly differentiating into ECs has not been fully understood. Other studies also suggest a direct correlation between monocytes and the neoangiogenesis process in cancer. Monocytes exposed to PB serum from patients with multiple myeloma can acquire EC morphology and its specific gene expression (Haiming Chen et al., 2011) and acute monoblastic leukaemia patients often show gingival hyperplasia, characterized by an excessive growth of vessels (Gallipoli and Leach, 2007). Furthermore, our group showed that in tumors and normal tissues some ECs simultaneously expressed CD14 and CD31 (EC marker), indicating mixed features between monocytes and ECs and the putative differentiation route of monocytes into ECs (Domingues et al., 2015a).

3. The use of anti-angiogenic agents in cancer: a disappointing therapeutic strategy

The standard care of cancer patients with solid tumors, is based on surgical resection followed by chemotherapy and/or radiotherapy, in order to prevent cancer recurrence and the progression of occult microscopic tumors (Bellon *et al.*, 2005; Biondi *et al.*, 2010; Kajiyama *et al.*, 2018). However, one of the major obstacles for the optimal success of cancer therapy is therapy resistance (Holohan *et al.*, 2013).

Given the central role of VEGF in the promotion of tumor angiogenesis, targeting VEGF signaling pathway has emerged as the most promising therapeutic strategy for angiogenesis inhibition and cancer treatment. In 1971, Folkman hypothesized that antiangiogenic therapy would promote tumor regression, by reducing tumor vasculature and consequently leading to tumor cells starvation and death. However, decades after Folkman statement, anti-angiogenic strategies were developed and, antibodies such as bevacizumab, the first VEGF-targeted agent approved by Food and Drug Administration (FDA) for cancer treatment, are available for cancer therapy (Zetter, 2008b). Nevertheless, so far these strategies have failed, in part because the precise molecular mechanisms of cancer neo-angiogenesis remain unclear. Also, a new paradigm emerge since some studies suggested that the abrogation of blood supply will restrict drug delivery (e.g. cytostatic agents) to the tumor, decreasing their clinical efficacy (Rohlenova *et al.*, 2017). In line, strategies focused on restoring tumor vessels normalization will increase the penetration of therapeutic agents into the tumor, improving the efficacy of drugs (Carmeliet and Jain, 2011b).

VEGF:VEGR axis is considered as the key mediator of pathophysiological angiogenesis. Overactivation of VEGF:VEGFR axis is a trait of many cancer types and correlates with increased MVD and metastatic spread (Kerbel, 2000; Yancopoulos *et al.*, 2000; Carmeliet, 2005b; Jain, 2005; Wu *et al.*, 2006; Y. Wu, Zhong, *et al.*, 2006; Fukumura and Jain, 2007;). The blockage of VEGF:VEGFR axis seems to be ineffective as monotherapy, and primary or *de novo* resistance is a common feature in cancer patients (Giantonio *et al.*, 2007; Holohan *et al.*, 2013). At molecular level, the disappointing clinical results obtained by the use of VEGFR inhibitors could be explained by VEGF-independent compensatory mechanisms, through the activation of other angiogenic signaling pathways (*e.g.* PDGF/PDGFR, FGF/FGFR, Ang/Tie2) and/or the upregulation of the expression of other pro-angiogenic factors (*e.g.* bFGF, PDGF) (Taylor *et al.*, 2013). This was clinically evident since cancer patients treated with bevacizumab increase de plasma levels of PIDF, FGF and PDGF concomitantly with

disease progression (Kopetz et al., 2010; Lieu et al., 2013). Accordingly, the in vivo blockage of PIGF or FGF pathway normalizes the tumor vessels and improves the efficacy of VEGF-targeted therapy (Casanovas et al., 2005; Van de Veire et al., 2010; Allen et al., 2011; André et al., 2013; Burbridge et al., 2013; Lee et al., 2015; Shen et al., 2019). Strategies focused on the dual inhibition of VEGF and other pro-angiogenic signaling pathways might be pivotal for the improvement of anti-angiogenic cancer therapy. For instance, in bevacizumab-resistant tumors, brivanib (dual FGF/VEGF inhibitor) increases the overall survival (OS) in a mouse model of pancreatic neuroendocrine tumor, dovitinib (VEGFR, FGFR and PDGR inhibitor) delays tumor growth, and S49076 (MET, AXL, and FGFR kinase inhibitor) induces tumor growth arrest (Allen et al., 2011; Burbridge et al., 2013; C. K. Lee et al., 2015). Also, in mice models of cancer, the blockage of VEGF/ANG2 suppresses revascularization and tumor progression and increases OS (Rigamonti et al., 2014; Kloepper et al., 2016; Peterson et al., 2016). Although pre-clinical models showed increased efficacy in tackle tumor angiogenesis, unfortunately the results in clinical settings are not so favorable (Fig I.5). The limited success of the anti-antigenic approaches may be also related to the complexity of tumors vascularization processes, as the angiogenic-like phenomena (see section 2.3.2.) and the recruitment of EPCs (see section 2.3.1.) (Auguste et al., 2005; Yoder, 2012; Frentzas et al., 2016; Haider et al., 2017). A better understanding on how tumors become vascularized and how they escape from anti-angiogenic therapy will for sure open new perspectives for the development of more effective anti-angiogenic approaches.



Figure I. 5 Anti-angiogenic therapy.

Bevacizumab was the first anti-angiogenic drug approved for human use, acting as a VEGF decoy agent (Kopetz et al., 2010; Lieu et al., 2013), however its use as monotherapy is clinically ineffective and when combined with conventional therapy only provides a modest survival benefit (Argiris et al., 2013; Ferrara and Adamis, 2016; Mortimer et al., 2012; Sennino and McDonald, 2012). Nowadays, novel drugs that block other effectors in angiogenic signaling pathways have become available as an attempt to improve the clinical efficacy of anti-angiogenic therapies. Aflibercept (decoy receptor for VEGF and PIGF) (Gomez-Manzano et al., 2008), bovitinib (block VEGF, FGF and PDGFR), nintedanib (block VEGFR, FGFR and PDGFR) and ramucirumab (human Ig-G1 monoclonal antibody targeting the extracellular domain of VEGFR2) although are associated to less severe adverse drug reactions than bevacizumab their clinical results are not very promising (Norden et al., 2015; Semrad et al., 2017; Van Cutsem et al., 2012; Wilke et al., 2014). Tumors with resistance to bevacizumab increase the expression of c-MET, although the dual administration of onartuzumab (anti-c-MET) and bevacizumab has no additional clinical benefits (Cloughesy et al., 2017; Jahangiri et al., 2013). The use of TKIs downmodulates VEGF/VEGFR axis. However, due to adverse drug reactions unrelated to VEGF-blockage, the clinical resistance and toxicity of this drugs did not offered advantage over VEGF targeting (Bhargava and Robinson, 2011; Levitzki, 2013; K. D. Miller et al., 2005b; H. Sun et al., 2014a). FGF: fibroblast growth factor; FGFR: fibroblast growth factor receptor; HMG: hepatocyte growth factor; PDGF: platelet-derived growth factor; PDGFR: platelet-derived growth factor receptor; PIGF: placental growth factor; PIGFR: platelet-derived growth factor receptor; TKIs: tyrosine kinase inhibitors; VEGF: vascular endothelial growth factor; VEGFR: vascular endothelial growth factor receptor.

3.1. The future in the use of classical anti-angiogenic agents: is it clear which is the best way to go?

In the scientific community there is still a debate in the paradox of the usefulness of anti-angiogenic therapy, since some authors defend that the abolishment of tumor blood supply would deaccelerate tumor growth, while others argue that those strategies would restrict drug delivery to the tumor, disabling clinical management. So far, it is difficult to elect the risks and the benefits of an improved anti-angiogenic therapy for cancer patients. A better understanding of the molecular mechanisms underlying neoangiogenesis and the role of TME components in its control will be pivotal to unravel new druggable biological targets and to design more efficient anti-angiogenic agents. Another fragility in this context is the lack of predictive biomarkers for anti-angiogenic treatment response (sensitivity *versus* resistance). For instance, circulating biomarkers (*e.g.* concentration of soluble angiogenic factors), genetic biomarkers (*e.g.* VEGF gene polymorphisms), tissue biomarkers (*e.g.* changes in system blood flow), would be fulcral for the stratification of patients that would or not benefit from the anti-angiogenic therapy (Jain *et al.*, 2009; Wehland *et al.*, 2013).

4. The potential use of other therapeutic strategies targeting cancer cells and disturbing angiogenesis

The clinical results of the use of anti-angiogenic compounds, alone and in combination with conventional cancer therapy, are far from the remarkable successes obtained in pre-clinical settings. Since the efficacy and mechanism of action of the anti-

angiogenic drugs (inhibition *vs* normalization of tumor vasculature) is still a matter of debate, new efforts have been made for the development of new compounds with both anti-tumor and anti-angiogenic properties. For instance, ivermectin, a FDA-approved anti-parasitic drug for the treatment of intestinal worm infections, inhibit ovarian, breast and glioma cancer cells growth and promote cancer cell death (Hashimoto *et al.*, 2010; Draganov *et al.*, 2015; Dou *et al.*, 2016; Yingying Liu *et al.*, 2016) while it also targets angiogenesis through the inhibition of capillary network formation, proliferation and survival of human brain microvascular ECs (Liu *et al.*, 2016). In addition, carnosol and carnosic acid, the major components of rosemary extracts, inhibits tumor cell growth and affects several steps of the angiogenesis process, as EC differentiation, proliferation, migration and proteolytic capability (López-Jiménez *et al.*, 2013). Other compounds, as fucoidan and sulfated galactofucan have been shown to reduce tumor growth and inhibit tumor angiogenesis, in part through the inhibition of STAT3-regulated genes, as VEGF, Bcl-xL and cyclin D1 (Rui *et al.*, 2017; Jin *et al.*, 2019).

4.1. ROS-related drugs: a double-edge sword

The metabolic remodeling of tumor and TASCs drive the generation of a pro-oxidant rich-microenvironment, which in turn, favors tumor angiogenesis (Szatrowski and Nathan, 1991; Josson *et al.*, 2010; Martinez-Outschoorn *et al.*, 2011). The generation of a pro-oxidant and a pro-angiogenic TME seems to work synergistically in the promotion of the angiogenic switch and further tumor angiogenesis (Dewhirst *et al.*, 2008). The generation of ROS levels in cancer cells prompted by 27-hydroxycholesterol (27HC) and deferoxamine (DFO) activates STAT-3/VEGF and ERK1/2 / HIF1 α signaling pathways, promoting tumor angiogenesis and metastasis (Liu *et al.*, 2014; Zhu *et al.*, 2016). Moreover, in human colon carcinoma cells the mutant p53 triggers angiogenesis through the ROS-mediated activation of VEGF and HiF1 α (Khromova *et al.*, 2009).

The modulation of the ROS levels in cancer treatment is a double-edged sword. In one hand, the generation of a pro-oxidant microenvironment in early stages of tumor development and at moderate and non-toxic levels, activates cancer cell survival signaling cascades (*e.g.* MAPK/ERK1/2, p38, c-Jun N-terminal kinase (JNK), PI3K/Akt) and prompt tumor angiogenesis through the release of pro-angiogenic factors (*e.g.* VEGF, FGF) and ECM degrading enzymes (*e.g.* MMPs). On the other hand, the generation of high and toxic ROS levels by chemotherapy and radiotherapy promotes oxidative stress and further cell death and senescence (Assi, 2017; Raza *et al.*, 2017; Kumari *et al.*, 2018; Thyagarajan and Sahu, 2018; Aggarwal *et al.*, 2019). The *in vitro* exposure of breast cancer cells to the antioxidant resveratrol reduce the ROS accumulation, decreasing paclitaxel-induced cell death (Alexandre *et al.*, 2006; Fukui *et*

al., 2010). The tamoxifen-induced cytotoxicity in MCF-7 breast cancer cells was regulated by the intracellular concentration of the antioxidant vitamin C, decreasing the levels of ROS and lipid peroxides (Subramani *et al.*, 2014).

As referred, ROS generation in the TME, depending on the levels, can exerts protumorigenic and pro-angiogenic effects or drive oxidative stress-mediated cell death, pointing out that strategies focused on the modulation of ROS levels and oxidative stress to impair tumor progression, angiogenesis and metastasis need to be carefully monitored. Baicalein, a phenolic flavonoid compound with antioxidant properties, inhibits cancer proliferation and migration, induces cancer cell death and disrupts the development of tumor vasculature (Kang et al., 2012; Park et al., 2017; Park et al., 2019;). OptiBerry, a anthocyanins-rich berry extract with antioxidant properties, showed to inhibit H_2O_2 and TNF α -induced VEGF expression by keratinocytes and to diminish the ability of ECs to form hemangioma, suggesting a putative anti-angiogenic, antioxidant and anti-cancer effect (Bagchi et al., 2004). Other compounds have also shown strong ROS scavenging activities and anti-cancer activity, as the polyphenol from T. pallida and white mulberry (Morus alba) (Alam et al., 2016). However, the effects of this compound on the tumor vasculature have not been evaluated so far. Contradictory information comes from studies suggesting that strategies focused on the generation of ROS and further oxidative stress induce ECs dysfunction, impairing tumor angiogenesis (Incalza et al., 2018; Yang et al., 2019). Although most of the studies supports the angiogenic potential of ROS as a therapeutic target for anti-cancer and anti-angiogenic therapy, the effects of those strategies on tumor angiogenesis and their mechanisms of action not only in ECs, but also in the crosstalk between EC:cancer cells need to be explored. Further research to a better understanding of disease-specific ROS involvement and their potential as anti-tumor strategy will be pivotal for the discovery of new therapeutic targets and further drug development for cancer treatment.

4.2. β-adrenergic drugs: repurposing existing drugs for anti-cancer and anti-angiogenic clinical purposes

The activation of the β -adrenergic system by catecholamines, epinephrine and norepinephrine, has been related to the tumorigenic processes, as cancer cell proliferation and apoptosis and also with vascular events, as angiogenesis (Hulsurkar *et al.*, 2017; Zhao and Li, 2019). In ovarian cancer patients under social isolation, the increased levels of noradrenaline are correlated with tumor grade and stage, suggesting the contribution of the β -adrenergic receptors (AR) system in cancer progression (Lutgendorf *et al.*, 2011). Chronic behavioral stress hormones, as adrenaline and/or

noradrenaline, promotes pancreas, breast, colorectum and prostate cancer progression (Sastry *et al.*, 2007; Hermes *et al.*, 2009; Wong *et al.*, 2011; Schuller *et al.*, 2012; Hulsurkar *et al.*, 2017;). More recently, the expression of β 2-AR has been proposed as a useful and novel prognostic factor for patients with clear cell renal carcinoma (Ha *et al.*, 2019). Besides the biobehavioral factors that contribute to the activation of β -AR system, some cancer cells (*e.g.* pancreatic, lung, colon) are able to synthesize and release adrenaline (Wong *et al.*, 2007; Al-Wadei and Schuller, 2009).

β-AR signaling activation via adrenaline and/or noradrenaline is implicated in the promotion of angiogenesis, through the upregulation of pro-angiogenic factors, as VEGF, IL6, IL8 and MMP2 and 9 and by the upregulation of VEGFR2 (Chen *et al.*, 2014b; Garg *et al.*, 2017; Chakroborty *et al.*, 2020;). In prostate cancer xenograft models, β-AR signaling promote tumor angiogenesis (Hulsurkar *et al.*, 2017). The crosstalk between ECs and cancer cells potentiates tumor angiogenesis mediated by β-AR signaling pathway, inducing the EC activation of Jagged1/Notch intercellular signaling and the metabolic shift of ECs from oxidative phosphorylation to aerobic glycolysis, which represents a critical step during the angiogenic switch (Chen *et al.*, 2014a; Zahalka *et al.*, 2017). Interestingly, in a mice model of ovarian cancer, dopamine administration (antagonize the effect of stress hormones) inhibits tumor angiogenesis and stabilizes the already formed tumor vasculature, enhancing cisplatin delivery and efficacy (Moreno-Smith *et al.*, 2013). These results reinforce that the activation of the AR signaling pathway by catecholamines might be a key event in the tumor angiogenesis cascade.

Considering the modulatory role of β -AR signaling in tumorigenesis, β blockers showed a promising anti-angiogenic and anti-cancer therapeutic value. Preclinical and retrospective studies highlighted the beneficial actions of β-blockers administration in cancer patients, improving the relapse free survival and decreasing the tumor recurrence, cancer-specific mortality and metastasis (Powe et al., 2010; Barron et al., 2011). Moreover, the efficacy of Propranolol, a non-selective β -AR antagonist (in some tissues inverse agonist), that acts by competing with catecholamines for the binding to β -adrenergic receptors, was shown to be effective in the treatment of hemangioma, the most common infantile benign tumor that involves the accumulation, proliferation and differentiation of aberrant vascular structures (Lowenthal et al., 1984; Sans et al., 2009; Chim et al., 2012; Chen et al., 2017). Propranolol demonstrated anticancer and anti-angiogenic pharmacological properties since its administration in breast cancer patients with arterial hypertension significantly reduced the primary tumor development, nodal/metastatic occurrence and breast cancer-specific mortality (Barron et al., 2011); abrogated the VEGF production (Park et al., 2011); inhibited the noradrenaline-induced HIF1α expression in cancer cells (Park et al., 2011) and inhibited

the catecholamine-induced signaling between macrophages and ECs (Xia *et al.*, 2019). In neuroblastoma, β -blockers (carvedilol, nebivolol and propranolol) independently of their selectivity, promoted vincristine-induced tumor regression, in part mediated by the inhibition of tumor angiogenesis (Pasquier *et al.*, 2013). Controversially, an *ex vivo* study using aortic rings showed that β -blockers pro-angiogenic or anti-angiogenic activity is independent of their ability to antagonize catecholamine action. For instance, forskolin (β -AR agonist) a direct activator o adenylate cyclase that increased AMPc production through β -signaling activation decreases VEGF-mediated microvessel sprouting while increases were observed with Propranolol (1st generation, non-selective β -AR), metoprolol and bisoprolol (2nd generation, β 1-AR–selective antagonists) while carvedilol (3th generation, a nonselective β -AR antagonist) was unable to affect aortic sprouting (Stati *et al.*, 2014).

Although it has been suggested that β -blockers could be a putative anti-angiogenic drug, some studies have failed to observe this association, remaining unclear how β -blockers mechanistically affects and impairs tumor angiogenesis. Moreover, as referred, previous studies demonstrated that inhibitory neurotransmitters induce tumor vessel normalization, which might suggest that the inhibition of the β -adrenergic system by β -blockers will, in addition to the impairment of tumor angiogenesis, promote tumor vessel normalization, which in turn will increase the efficacy of the delivery of anti-cancer drugs. The favorable safety profile, the low cost and immediate clinical availability, together with the putative cancer patient welfares point the benefits of repositioning these old drugs for new clinical purposes.

5. Rationale, hypothesis, aims and thesis outline

Until 1971, it was thought that tumor survival and growth rely on oxygen and nutrients provided by the preexisting blood vasculature. However, in that time, Judy Folkman switch the paradox by showing that neoangiogenesis is pivotal for tumor growth, impacting tumor malignancy, aggressiveness and metastasis (Folkman, 1971; Folkman and Hanahan, 1991; Yadav *et al.*, 2015; Marmé, 2018;). The contribution of EPCs for the angiogenic processes has been already recognized, however, their inaccurate identification due to the lack of specific markers (Del Papa *et al.*, 2006; Allanore *et al.*, 2007; Avouac *et al.*, 2008; Nevskaya *et al.*, 2008; Richardson and Yoder, 2011; Yoder, 2012; Yuan *et al.*, 2017) may misjudge that other cell subtypes can act as EPCs. Our group have demonstrated that some cells in the vessel wall display an intermediate phenotype that fits with the differentiation route of monocytes into endothelium

(Domingues *et al.*, 2015a), leading us to explore if monocytes are underestimate sources of EPCs that can contribute for tumor angiogenesis.

During tumorigenesis, the metabolic remodeling of cancer cells drives the generation of a pro-oxidant rich TME, that in turn, act as a pro-angiogenic stimulus that switch ECs from a resting state (quiescence) to a rapid proliferative phase (Szatrowski and Nathan, 1991; Josson *et al.*, 2010; Martinez-Outschoorn *et al.*, 2011). ROS-dependent generation of lipid peroxidation triggers ferroptosis, that although was firstly described as an iron-dependent cell death process, nowadays it is revealed to contribute to the regulation of biological and pathophysiological processes (Szatrowski and Nathan, 1991; Josson *et al.*, 2010; Martinez-Outschoorn *et al.*, 2011).

Additionality, and considering that the effects of ferroptosis on ECs (dys)function and further regulation of angiogenesis have not been explored yet, we investigated if ferroptosis can act as a pro-angiogenic stimulus, promoting ECs activation and further angiogenesis. Moreover, Propranolol, a non-selective β -blocker, was shown to be efficient in the treatment of some vascular tumors, such as hemangiomas and cavernomas (Storch and Hoeger, 2010; Zabramski *et al.*, 2016a; Rotter and de Oliveira, 2017; Apra *et al.*, 2019). Propranolol administration also correlates with a better prognosis in cancer patients, it has been described as having a modulatory role in monocytic differentiation and anti-ferroptotic properties (Cardwell *et al.*, 2016; Pantziarka *et al.*, 2018; Hiller *et al.*, 2020; Mishima *et al.*, 2020). Taking all of this in consideration and since the clinical use of anti-angiogenic therapies have shown a limited of efficacy, we investigated whether Propranolol could act as an anti-angiogenic alternative drug in solid tumors.

Hence, our hypotheses are that monocytes are EPCs and that the anti-angiogenic effect of Propranolol relies on the abrogation of oxidative stress-related ferroptosis that sustains EC activation. Thus, to investigate this hypothesis the following specific objectives were purposed and are directly linked to the experimental and results chapters:

1. To disclose if monocytes act as EPCs and if ROS can trigger this process, contributing to cancer angiogenesis (chapter 2);

2. To understand if Propranolol administration in a child with cerebral cavernous malformation (CCM) has a role in circulating monocytes functioning as EPCs and their impact in the clinical outcome (chapter 3);

3. To unravel if ferroptosis has a role in ECs activation and in the differentiation pattern of monocytes functioning as EPCs and if Propranolol can interfere with these processes (chapter 4);

4. To explore if a dual anti-tumoral and anti-angiogenic strategy using SeChry-PUREG4 and Propranolol could be an alternative for cancer treatment (chapter 5).

This thesis is organized into 6 chapters. Chapter 1 presents a general introduction in order to provide insights into the theorical concepts addressed in the next chapters. Chapters 2 to 5 incorporate the experimental results obtained during the PhD project, being each chapter composed by an abstract, a short introduction, materials and methods, results and discussion. Chapter 6 comprises the general discussion and the main conclusions of this PhD project, highlighting the major contributions in understanding the processes underlying tumor angiogenesis and putative alternative anti-angiogenic and anti-tumoral strategies to improve cancer treatment. Moreover, in this last chapter we also included the future perspectives, in order to answer some research questions raised during this research project.

Chapter II

Monocytes as endothelial precursor cells (EPCs), another brick in the wall to disentangle tumor angiogenesis

This chapter was based on:

Lopes-Coelho F, Silva F, Gouveia-Fernandes S, Martins C, Lopes N, Domingues G, Brito C, Almeida AM, Pereira SA, Serpa J. Monocytes as Endothelial Progenitor Cells (EPCs), Another Brick in the Wall to Disentangle Tumor Angiogenesis. Cells. 2020 Jan 1;9(1):107. doi: 10.3390/cells9010107

Abstract

Endothelial progenitor cells (EPCs), upon pro-angiogenic stimuli, migrate and differentiate into endothelial cells (ECs) and contribute to re-endothelialization and neo-vascularization. Unfortunately, there are no specific markers to characterize EPCs, leading to their inaccurate identification. In a previous work, we showed in a panel of tumors and normal tissues that some cells on the vessel wall co-expressed CD14 (monocytic marker) and CD31 (EC marker), indicating a putative differentiation route of monocytes into ECs. Herein, using *in vitro* and *in vivo* models we unraveled monocytes as potential EPCs, in non-pathological and in cancer context. Upon a pro-angiogenic stimuli, monocytes acquired the expression of ECs markers and were able to incorporate blood vessels, contributing to cancer progression, in part, by incorporating the tumor neo-vasculature. Reactive oxygen species (ROS) pushed monocytes to ECs differentiation route and this phenotype could be reverted by cysteine (scavenger and precursor of glutathione) exposure, indicating that angiogenesis is controlled by the interplay between the oxidative stress and the scavenging capacity of tumor microenvironment.

Keywords: monocytes, endothelial progenitor cells (EPCs), endothelial cells (ECs), reactive oxygen species (ROS), angiogenesis, cancer

Introduction

Angiogenesis is essential during carcinogenesis, by promoting tumor growth, cell invasion and ultimately metastasis (Yadav *et al.*, 2015; Marmé, 2018). Tumor neovessels formation is essential to provide oxygen and nutrients to cancer cells and to remove waste products from tumor microenvironment (TME) (Yadav *et al.*, 2015; Marmé, 2018). The efficacy of anti-angiogenic therapies in cancer treatment has fallen short of expectations (Vasudev and Reynolds, 2014), showing that the mechanisms underlying neovascularization in cancer are not fully understood. This failure can be explained, at least in part, by the fact that the specific origin of EPCs is not yet determined and also because these therapies are focused on the disruption of pre-existent blood vessels, underestimating the role of EPCs in vascularization.

Over the last decade, it was demonstrated that EPCs are essential for restoring injured vessels. EPCs arise from a subset of hematopoietic stem cells in bone marrow and, upon a pro-angiogenic stimuli, they proliferate, migrate and differentiate into ECs (Richardson and Yoder, 2011; Yoder, 2012; J.Yuan et al., 2017). Some reports focusing on EPCs and disease, like systemic sclerosis, showed contradictory and discrepant results about EPCs mobilization and further differentiation, in part because there is a lack of a precise panel of cell surface markers used for the characterization of this cell subset (Del Papa et al., 2006; Allanore et al., 2007; Avouac et al., 2008; Nevskaya et al., 2008; Richardson and Yoder, 2011; Yoder, 2012; Yuan et al., 2017). In mouse embryonic vascular endothelium, erythro-myeloid progenitors (EMP) can differentiate into ECs (Plein et al., 2018) and in a mouse model of carotid injury, monocytes (CD14⁺ cells) are capable of improving re-endothelialization (Urbich et al., 2003). Moreover, using in vivo and in vitro models targeting Tie2 monocytes decrease angiogenesis by regulating ECs proliferation (Lewis et al., 2007; Mazzieri et al., 2011; Nucera et al., 2011) and in vivo chemokine (C-C motif) receptor 2 (CCR2) knockout impairs monocytes recruitment and VEGF expression, accompanied by a reduction in the angiogenesis rate (Willenborg et al., 2012). The release of cytokines and pro-angiogenic factors (e.g., VEGF, tumor necrosis factor α (TNF α), interleukin 8 (IL8) and fibroblast growth factor (FGF) and extracellular matrix (ECM) modifying proteins (e.g. metalloproteinase-9 (MMP9)) by macrophages enhance tissue ability to support capillary sprouting and vascular density (Zumsteg and Christofori, 2009; Deryugina and Quigley, 2015). The precise mechanism by which monocytes influence angiogenesis in tissue development, homeostasis and diseases is not fully understood. However, different studies, have shown that under in vitro pro-angiogenic pressure, blood mononuclear cells can acquire endothelial markers and morphology (Schmeisser et al., 2001; Yoder et al., 2007; Fadini et al., 2012). In a previous study we showed that some ECs simultaneously expressed CD14 (monocytic marker) and CD31 (EC marker), indicating mixed features between monocytes and ECs, in tumors and normal tissues (Domingues *et al.*, 2015a). Together, these scientific evidence, allied to the fact that EPCs are not a well unraveled cell type, indicate monocytes as a promising candidate to these heterogeneous endothelial-supplier cells.

In ECs, reactive oxygen species (ROS) seem to be needed for the maintenance of endothelium homeostasis by acting as a physiological regulator of intracellular signaling, although a redox imbalance can lead to vascular diseases (Cai, 2005; Coyle and Kader, 2007; Park, 2013; Bretón-Romero and Lamas, 2014; Satoh *et al.*, 2014; Qishan Chen *et al.*, 2018). In immature cells, as rat multipotent adult progenitor cells (MAPCs), bone marrow stem cells and EPCs, H_2O_2 (ROS) exposure inhibits ECs differentiation (Wang *et al.*, 2013; Chaudhari *et al.*, 2014; Xiao *et al.*, 2014). However, Zhou et al., (2018) reported that non-small cell lung cancer cells upon activation with H_2O_2 suffer EC-like differentiation, mediated by ETS-1 (E26 transformation specific-1) (Wilson *et al.*, 2005; Zhou *et al.*, 2018). This contradiction amongst biological models takes us to believe that the effects of ROS will depend on the cell lineage and its differentiation level.

Here we explore the role of monocytes as EPCs and their capacity of forming blood vessels triggered by ROS.

Materials and methods

Monocytes isolation and culture

Monocytes were isolated from peripheral blood (PB) collected under consent donation of healthy donors from *Serviço de Imuno-Hemoterapia* at *Instituto Português de Oncologia de Lisboa Francisco Gentil* (IPOLFG) (IPOLFG-Ethical committee UIC-1137). PB mononuclear cells (PBMCs) from blood samples were separated using Histopaque-1077 (10771, Sigma-Aldrich), followed by magnetic monocytes isolation using Monocyte isolation kit II (130-091-153, MACS Technology - MiltenyiBiotec), according to the manufacturers' protocols. Monocytes were cultured in plates coated with 0.2% of gelatine (G-1890, Sigma-Aldrich) or with Matrigel (354230, Corning) and maintained in colony-forming unit (CFU) medium (130-091-277, MACS Technology – MiltenyiBiotec) or endothelial basal medium 2 (EBM-2; CC-3156, Lonza) plus EGMTM-2 SingleQuotsTM Supplements (CC-4176, Lonza) and with 2% fetal bovine serum (FBS; CC4101A, Lonza), 50 ng/mL vacular endothelial growth factor (VEGF; V7259, Sigma-Aldrich) and 10 U/mL heparin (H3149, Sigma- Aldrich). Cells were maintained at 37°C, in a humidified atmosphere and 0.5% CO₂. 15 μ M hydrogen peroxide (H₂O₂; 1.07210.0250, Merck) was used as ROS generator, 0.4 mM cysteine (Cys; 7048-04-6, Merck) was used as antioxidant and 2 μ M disulfiram as aldehyde dehydrogenase (ALDH) inhibitor (86720, Fluka).

Cell culture

Human umbilical vein ECs (HUVEC; ATCC ® CRL-1730TM) were seeded in plates coated with 0.2% gelatine and cultured in EBM-2 medium supplemented with 2% FBS. Breast cancer cells (MDA-MB-231; ATCC® HTB-26TM, and HCC1954; ATCC® CRL 2338TM) were cultured, respectively, in DMEM (11965-092, Gibco - Thermo Fisher Scientific) supplemented with 10% FBS and 1% Antibiotic-Antimycotic (15240062, InvitrogenTM - Thermo Fisher Scientific) and RPMI1640, no phenol red (#11835-063, Invitrogen) supplemented with 10% FBS, 1% Penicillin and streptavidin (15140-163, Gibco - Thermo Fisher Scientific), 0.5mL 2- β -Mercaptoetanol (21985-023, Gibco - Thermo Fisher Scientific) (respectively). Cells were maintained at 37°C, in a humidified atmosphere and 5% CO₂ and were detached with 0.05% Trypsin-EDTA 1X (25300-054, Invitrogen, Thermo Fisher Scientific) at 37°C for approximately 5 minutes (min). For each assay a Bürker counting chamber was used to determine the cell number.

Cell characterization by flow cytometry

Adherent monocytes-derived cells were detached with 2 mM EDTA-Phosphatebuffered saline (PBS; v/v) and incubated with anti-CD14 (1:100; 555397, BD Bioscience), anti-CD31 (1:100; FAB3567A, R&D Systems), anti-VE-Cadherin (1:100; FAB1002A, R&D Systems), anti-KDR (1:100; FAB357A, R&D Systems), anti-CD68 (1:100; 333810, Biolegend), anti-CD80 (1:100; 305206, BioLegend) and anti-CD163 (1:100; 333626, Biolegend), in 0.5% PBS-Bovine serum albumin (BSA; A9647, Sigma-Aldrich) (v/w), for 20 min, in dark at 4 °C. Von Willebrand factor (vWF; factor VIII) detection was performed with anti-vWF (1:500; A0082, Dako – Agilent), for 60 min at 4 °C with gently shaking. After incubation, cells were rinsed and re-incubated with a secondary antibody (Alexa Fluor® 488 anti-rabbit – A-11078, Invitrogen - Thermo Fisher Scientific) in 0.5% PBS-BSA, for 30 min at 4 °C and in the dark with gently shaking. The immunolabelling was evaluated by flow cytometry (FACScalibur – Becton Dickinson) and data were analysed using *FlowJo X* v10.0.7 software (*https://www.flowjo.com/*).

Reverse transcription and quantifying PCR (RT-qPCR)

Total RNA was extracted using RNeasy Mini Extraction kit (74,104; Qiagen) and cDNA was synthesized using SuperScript II Reverse Transcriptase (18080e44,

Invitrogen - Thermo Fisher Scientific), according to the manufacturer's protocol. Relative quantification using qPCR was performed using Power SYBR Green PCR Master Mix (4367659, Applied Biosystems - Thermo Fisher Scientific), according to manufacturer's instructions, and carried out in a LightCycler 480 instrument (Roche). The primers used are presented in Table 1.

Primer	Foward	Reverse
CXCR4	CTCCAAGCTGTCACACTCCA	TCGATGCTGATCCCAATGTA
CSF-1	GTCTTCCACCTGCTGGTGC	CCCTCTGGTTGCTCCAAGG
FLT1	CACCAAGAGCGACGTGTG	TTTTGGGTCTCTGTGCCAG
Hes1	ACGACACCGGATAAACCAAA	CGGAGGTGCTTCACTGTCAT
Ang1	GGGGAGGTTGGACTGTAATAC	GCATGTACTGCCTCTGACTG
Dll1	ATGCCTTCGGCCACTTCAC	CACATCCAGGCAGGCAGAT
Notch1	TGGCGGGAAGTGTGAAGCGG	GTGCTGAGGCACGGGTTGGG
Notch2	CCACAGGTGTCAGAATGGAG	GGCATTCATCCACATCCTCTG
Hey1	GACGAGACCGGATCAATAACAG	GGTCATCTGCAGGATCTCG
Hey2	GAGCGAGAACAATTACTCGGG	GTTATTTATCCGATCCCGACGC
FGFR4	GATGCTCAAAGACAACGCCTC	GACACCAAGCAGGTTGATGATG
185	GCCCTATCAACTTTCGATGGT	CCGGAATCGAACCCTGATT

Table 1 List of primers used for RQ-PCR

Nuclear magnetic resonance (NMR)

Monocytes were harvested with 1X PBS (washed twice), scraped and centrifuged at 155 *g* for 10 min. In cell extracts the methanol and chloroform was used to separate organic and aqueous phases. After cold methanol mixture (4 mL methanol/ 1 g weight pellet), 1 volume of water was added, mixed, and incubated for 5min on ice. Chloroform (1 volume) was added to the sample and mixed. Then, 1 volume of water was added and samples were incubated for 10 min on ice, following centrifugation at 4000 rpm for 15 min at 4 °C. Aqueous (upper) and organic (lower) phases were collected. Lyophilization of the aqueous phase was performed using Speed Vac Plus Scllon and then dissolved in deuterated water (D2O) and 4 % (v/v) sodium azide (NaN3)/4,4-dimethyl-4-silapentane-1-sulfonic acid (DSS) solution (1:10). 1H spectra were obtained in a magnetic field of 500 MHz in UltrashiedTM 500 Plus (Bruker) and compound identification was performed by resorting to the Human Metabolome database (HMDB) (http://www.hmdb.ca/) and ChemomxNMRsuite 7.6.

3D co-culture and microencapsulation

For the co-cultures, HCC1954 cells were inoculated at a density of 0.2x10⁶ cell/mL in a 125mL impeller spinner vessel (Corning) and aggregated at 80rpm for 4 days. The

spheroids were then co-cultured with human monocytes and encapsulated in 1.1% (w/v) Ultra-Pure Ca2+ MVG alginate (UP MVG NovaMatrix, Pronova Biomedical), prepared in NaCl 0.9% (w/v). The alginate microencapsulation was performed on VARV1 encapsulator (Nisco, Zurich, Switzerland) to obtain capsules of approximately 700µm and the polymerization occurred in a 20mM BaCl2 solution. After polymerization, the capsules were washed in 0.9% sodium chloride (NaCl; w/v) and cultured in RPMI 1640, in a 125mL vented cap Erlenmeyers (Corning) at 100rpm, in orbital agitation. After culture, samples were collected and fixed in 4% (w/v) formaldehyde with 4% (w/v) sucrose in 1X PBS for 20 min. Then, samples were dehydrated in 30% (w/v) sucrose for approximately 5 hours (h), embedded in Tissue-Tek® O.C.T. (Sakura) and frozen at -80°C for cryosectioning. The frozen samples were sliced with a thickness of 10µm in a cryostat (Cryostat CM 3050 S, Leica).

Murine (BALB-c\SCID) model of neo-angiogenesis

The animal handling and experimental procedures were performed under the rules of Federation for Laboratory Animal Science Associations (FELASA), accomplishing the 3Rs through evidence-based guidelines. Female BALB-c/SCID mice (8 weeks) were maintained in a pathogen-free barrier room in the Animal Care Facility at Chronic Diseases Research Center (CEDOC)|NOVA-Medical School (NMS) (ethical committee NOVA Medical School Ref. 75/2019/CEFCM; DGAV Ref#0421/000/00/2016 - PI Duarte Barral).

In the plug assay, monocytes isolated from the PB of healthy donors $(1x10^{6} \text{ cells/mice})$ were previously cultured for 24 h in EBM-2 supplemented with 50 ng/mL VEGF plus 10 U/mL heparin. After, cells were embedded in 400 μ L of matrigel supplemented with 50 ng/mL VEGF and subcutaneously inoculated in the right flank of the mice for 21 days. Control groups were inoculated with matrigel supplemented with VEGF. Plugs were removed by surgery and fixed with 2% paraformaldehyde for 10 min, followed by successive 15 min incubations in 100%, 95% and 60% ethanol and then processed into paraffin-embedded blocks.

Breast tumors were induced by inoculation of MDA-MB-231 cells in the mammary fat pad. Female mice were injected with 50 μ L of matrigel with breast cancer cells (MDA-MB-231 - 1x10⁶ cells/mice) alone and in combination with monocytes previously cultured for 24 h in EBM-2 supplemented with 50 ng/mL VEGF (MDA-MB-231 - 1x10⁶ cells/mice) plus monocytes 1x10⁴ cells/mice). Tumors were removed by surgery 45 days after inoculation and fixed with formaldehyde with further inclusion in paraffin-embedded blocks. The tumor volume was calculated using the formula: tumor volume = (length x width²)/2.

Immunofluorescence

In vitro cells were cultured on glass slides with 0.2% gelatin coating and fixed in 2% paraformaldehyde, for 15 min at 4°C. After blocking, cells were incubated with primary antibodies diluted in 0.1% BSA-PBS (v/w), at 4 °C overnight (1:100 -CD14, ab181470, Abcam; 1:50 - CD31, SCR023, Merck Millipore; 1:500 – vWF, SCR023, Merck Millipore; 1:500 - CD146, SCR023, Merck Millipore), followed by an incubation with secondary antibody for 2 h (1:1000 0.1 % BSA-PBS (v/w), Alexa Fluor® 594 goat anti-rabbit, A-11037, Invitrogen - Thermo Fisher Scientific; Alexa Fluor® 488 goat anti-rabbit, A-11078, Invitrogen - Thermo Fisher Scientific; Alexa Fluor® 488 goat anti-mouse, 115-545-003, Invitrogen - Thermo Fisher Scientific), at room temperature.

Paraffin sections (2 µm) were deparaffinized in xylol for 30 min and re-hydrated in decreased concentrations of ethanol (95%, 70%, 30%), followed by an immersion in water and antigen recovery using citrate buffer. Slides were blocked with 5% BSA-PBS (w/v) for 30 min to avoid non-specific interactions, followed by an incubation with 0.3 M glycine-goat serum-0.1% Triton x100, for 30 min. After, slides were incubated with primary antibodies diluted in 1 % BSA-PBS (v/w) (vWF – 1:200, A0082; Dako; FN – 1:50, SAB4500974, Sigma-Aldrich), for 1 h at room temperature followed by an incubation with secondary antibody (1:500 in 1% BSA-PBS (v/w); Alexa Fluor® 488 goat anti-rabbit; Alexa Fluor® 594 goat anti-rabbit - A-11037, Invitrogen - Thermo Fisher Scientific), for 2 h, at room temperature. Slides were mounted in VECTASHIELD media with DAPI (4'-6-diamidino-2-phenylindole; Vector Labs) and examined by standard fluorescence microscopy using an Axio Imager.Z1 microscope (Zeiss). Images were acquired and processed with CytoVision® software.

Fluorescence In Situ Hybridization (FISH)

After immunofluorescence analysis, FISH using an alphoid probe for centromere X (pLAX), and a probe for Yq12 region (pHY2.1) was applied. The X-centromere probe was labeled with digoxigenin (DIG) and the Yq12 probe with biotin, as previously described (C. Martins *et al.*, 2005). Briefly, slides were incubated twice in 2x saline-sodium citrate (SSC) buffer for 5 min at room temperature to wash away the DAPI antifade solution, followed by re-hydration in ethanol series and incubated in citrate buffer, in a water bath for 10 min at 90°C. Enzymatic digestion was carried out with 4mg/mL pepsin in 0.2N HCI (pH 2.0) for 30 min at 37 °C. After that, 10 µL diluted probes were co-denatured with the tissues at 90°C for 5 min and hybridized at 37 °C, overnight. Post-hybridization wash was performed in 2×SSC/0.3%NP-40 for 3 min at 73°C followed by a wash in 2×SSC/0.1%NP-40 for 2min at room temperature. X-centromere DIG-

labeled probe was detected by anti-digoxigenin-FITC (Anti-digoxigenin- fluorescein, Fab fragments; 11270741910, Roche), biotinylated Yq12 probe was detected by Cy3-streptavidin (CyTM3-conjugated Streptavidin; 016-160-084, Jacksons Lab), and nuclei were counterstained with DAPI-vectashield mounting solution. FISH signals, in previously recorded immunofluorescence vWF and FN positive cells, were captured and analyzed using a Zeiss Epifluorescence microscope linked to a Cytovision FISH Probe software program (Cytovision version 7.4, Leica Biosystems, Richmond, VA, USA).

Immunohistochemistry (IHC)

Paraffin sections (2 µm) from paraffin-embedded tissue blocks were deparaffinized, re-hydrated, as mentioned above, and antigen recovery was performed using citrate buffer. Slides were rinsed with 1x Tris Buffered Saline (TBS) followed by the blockage of endogenous peroxidase (K4011, Dako) for 10 min. Anti-vWF (1:200 in IHC diluent) was incubated for 3 h and anti- fibronectin (FN; 1:50 in IHC diluent, RE7133-CE, Leica) for 1h, at room temperature. Staining was performed using ABC detection kit (ab93677, Merck Millipore), according to the manufacturer's protocol. For nuclear staining, slides were immersed in Mayer's Hematoxylin (RE7164, Leica) for 5 min. Slides were dehydrated and mounted with Entellan (1079610500, Merck) and digitalized using Aperio ImageScope - Pathology Slide Viewing software version 12.4.

Data statistical analysis

Data were analyzed using t-test and one-way ANOVA tests in GraphPad Prism 7 software. Statistically significant changes were determined at the *p* value ≤ 0.05 .

Results

In vitro monocytes cultured upon a pro-angiogenic stimuli increased the expression of endothelial cell (EC) markers and acquire an EC-like phenotype, suggesting an endothelial differentiation route of monocytes.

Freshly isolated monocytes from healthy donors and HUVECs showed an identical profile of EC and macrophage markers, with the exception of CD14 (monocytic marker) and vWF that were more expressed in monocytes and HUVECs, respectively (Fig II.1 A and B, supplementary Fig II.1). These results pointed out that monocytes cultured in a pro-endothelial medium share molecular features with ECs. Notably, monocytes cultured in CFU media, a media for the maintenance of stem and progenitor cells, had lower

expression of EC and macrophage markers (Fig II.1 A), indicating the maintenance of a resting and more undifferentiated state.



Figure II. 1 Cultured monocytes undergo an increase in the expression of endothelial cells (ECs) markers and acquire spindle cell like morphology, indicating EC differentiation of monocytes.

A) MIF (median intensity fluorescence) values from FACS analysis of CD14 - monocytic marker, CD31, KDR, VE-Cadherin (VE-Cad) – EC markers and CD68, CD80, CD163 – macrophage markers in monocytes

freshly isolated (Day0), monocytes maintained in CFU media and in Human umbilical vein ECs (HUVECs). B) Monocytes cultured for 10 days in Matrigel in EBM-2 medium with or without VEGF. Images taken under optical microscopy, magnification 200x; arrow shows spindle shape cells. C) Immunofluorescence for CD14 (red) and CD31 (green) in monocytes cultured in EBM-2 medium with or without VEGF for 3, 10 and 17 days. DAPI (blue) stains nuclei, magnification 400x. F) Relative quantification of typical endothelial genes in monocytes freshly isolated (Day0), in monocytes-derived cells cultivated for 21 days in the presence of VEGF and in HUVECs. **p<0.01, ***p<0.001

Monocytes cultured in matrigel plus VEGF presented a spindle-cell-like morphology (Fig II.1 B), typical of ECs. In the line with the morphological changes observed in cultured monocytes, a dynamic CD31 gain and CD14 loss was observed during 17 days in culture in the presence of VEGF (Fig II.1 C). Moreover, monocytes cultured with VEGF during 15 days increased the expression of the EC markers vWF and CD146, with a concomitant decreased expression of the monocytic marker CD14 (Fig II.1 E). In addition, VEGF stimulus drives an increase in the expression of EC genes (Fig II.1 F), which is in accordance with the morphological changes observed in monocytes-derived cells (Fig II.1 C).

Reactive oxygen species (ROS) stimulate monocytes differentiation into ECs and cysteine (Cys) plays a role in the control of EC-like differentiation

Short term exposure (30 min) of H_2O_2 (ROS) in monocytes-derived cells promotes a pattern of ECs differentiation, in which monocytes previously maintained in CFU for 4 days (Day 4) and in monocytes maintained in CFU for 4 days plus 1 day in EBM-2 media (Day 5) increased, respectively, 5.9 and 4.4-fold the vWF expression (Fig II.2 A). Moreover, day 5 monocyte derived-cells exposed to H_2O_2 also increased the expression of other ECs markers, as CD31 and CD146, while they lost the expression of monocytic marker (CD14) (Fig II.2 B).



Figure II. 2 Monocyte-derived cells cultured in the presence of hydrogen peroxide (H_2O_2) increase the expression of endothelial cell (EC) markers that is abolished by the presence of cysteine (CYS).

A) vWF levels in monocytes-derived cells maintained in CFU media (Day 4) plus 1 day in EBM-2 plus VEGF (Day 5), in the presence or absence of H_2O_2 . B) Immunofluorescence for CD31 (green), vWF (red), CD146 (green) and CD14 (red) in monocytes cultured during 5 days in EBM-2 medium with VEGF, in the presence or absence of H_2O_2 . Nuclei is in blue (DAPI), magnification 400x. C) vWF levels in monocytes-derived cells maintained in EBM-2 plus VEGF, in the presence and/or absence of Cys and H_2O_2 for 1 day. D/E) vWF levels in monocytes-derived cells maintained in EBM-2 plus VEGF, in the presence and/or absence of Cys and H_2O_2 for 1 day. D/E) vWF levels in monocytes-derived cells maintained in CFU media (Day 4) plus 1 day in EBM-2 plus VEGF (Day 5), in the presence or absence of H_2O_2 and/or disulfiram (inducer of rapid neovascularization). Each dot represents a healthy donor. **p<0.01

Cysteine, which is a thiol precursor of glutathione and itself an antioxidant, abrogates the H_2O_2 -induced differentiation process, impairing the increase in H_2O_2 -induced vWF expression (Fig II.2 C). The results indicate that redox potential of H_2O_2 pushes monocytes to EC-like differentiation while cysteine impair this phenotypic course and possibility plays a role in the control of EC-like differentiation.

Aldehyde dehydrogenase (ALDH) is used as a marker for populations enriched in stem and progenitor cells and a decrease in ALDH expression and activity is correlated with a differentiation status of EPCs to ECs (Blix *et al.*, 2015; Vassalli, 2019). Hence, the impact of ALDH inhibition by disulfiram (Koppaka *et al.*, 2012) was evaluated in the monocyte-EC differentiation. Monocytes from Day 4 (Fig II.2 D) and Day 5 (Fig II.2 E) exposed to disulfiram showed a gain of vWF expression similar to monocytes exposed to H₂O₂, reinforcing that monocytes act as EPCs and are differentiating into ECs.

Interestingly, using nuclear magnetic resonance (NMR) we observed that the differentiation pattern of monocytes upon H_2O_2 exposure drives a decrease in the concentration of branched chain amino acids (BCAA) (isoleucine, leucine and lysine), valine and glutamine (Fig II.3 A), indicating that H_2O_2 promotes the consumption and catabolism of amino acids to support monocytic to ECs differentiation. Also, cysteine exposure rescues a decrease in the concentration of those metabolites and using a multivariate analysis it is observed that cysteine exposure increases the levels of formate while it decreases the acetate levels (Fig II.3 B).



Figure II. 3 Monocytes exposed to H₂O₂ increases branched chain amino acids (BCAA), valine and glutamine catabolism while cysteine (Cys) promotes an increase in formate levels and a decrease in acetate.

A) Metabolite concentration of BCAA (isoleucine, leucine and lysine), valine and glutamine of monocytes exposed to H_2O_2 and/or cysteine B) Multivariate analysis of monocytes cultured under H_2O_2 and/or cysteine. *p<0.05, ***p<0.001

In vivo, monocytes differentiate into ECs and incorporate blood vessels, reinforcing the putative role of monocytes as EPCs

Matrigel plugs with embedded human monocytes from male healthy donors were inoculated subcutaneously in mice, whereas control plugs were induced with matrigel solely. Macroscopically, plugs inoculated with monocytes showed a more exuberant vasculature (Fig II.4 A), concomitantly with a microscopically increase in the density of vessel-like structures (Fig II.4 B and C). Some of the vessel-like structures in plugs containing monocytes were positive for the human vWF (hvWF) (Fig II.4 D and E, supplementary Fig 2), indicating that human monocytes differentiate into ECs and were incorporated into blood vessels. It is noteworthy to mention that the vessel-like structures in control plugs (Fig II.4 A, B and C), were negative for hvWF (Fig II.4 D and E), which confirmed their murine origin. Additionally, vessel-like structures of the control and monocytes group were positive for fibronectin (FN) (Fig II.4 D and E), a protein of the vessels' basement membrane that is expressed by active ECs (Hielscher *et al.*, 2016; Kolachala *et al.*, 2007), indicating that those structures are new-formed vessels.

Besides the hvWF expression in monocytes-derived ECs in vessel-like structures, the human and male origin was also confirmed by FISH (Fig II.4 F) performed with human specific probes to X and Y chromosomes. Thus, we confirmed that the hvWF positive cells, in plugs from monocytes group, were from human origin (X and Y positive; Fig II.4 F), proving that monocytes can directly differentiate into ECs.







Monocytes

F Control chromo

5µm
Figure II. 4 Monocytes exposed to VEGF are able to form blood vessels in vivo.

A) Plugs images 21 days after monocytes inoculation in matrigel with VEGF. Control plugs were inoculated in the absence of monocytes. B) Hematoxylin and eosin staining from the paraffin embedded plugs. C) Relative density of vessel-like structures per area (μ m) in plugs (n=4 per group). D) Human CD31 (hCD31) by immunohistochemistry. Optical microscopy, nuclei are blue (hematoxylin). E) Human vWF (hvWF; green) and fibronectin (FN, red) staining by immunofluorescence in plug blood vessels. F) FISH analysis for the human X (red) and Y (green) chromosome. Nuclei is blue (DAPI). **p<0.01

Monocytes improve the repair of injured aortas

In order to verify if monocytes were able to repair injured vessels, we used an *ex vivo* model of murine aorta injury, in which mice aorta were exposed to lysophosphatidic acid (LPA) and lipopolysaccharide (LPS) to induce endothelial dysfunction and injury (Cai *et al.*, 2017; Nogueras *et al.*, 2008; Teo *et al.*, 2009). Interestingly, we observed that monocytes acquired the expression of hvWF (Fig II.5), proving their differentiation route towards ECs and further incorporation into damaged aortas.





10µm

Figure II. 5 Monocytes are able to be incorporated in the aorta *ex vivo*, after endothelial Lipopolyssacharides/ Lysophosphatidic acid (LPS/LPA)-related injury.

The aortas were exposed *ex vivo* to LPS (0.5 μ g/mL) plus LPA (0.5 μ g/mL) to induce endothelial dysfunction. Afterwards LPS plus LPA were removed and monocytes were incubated with aortas. A) Murine aorta section incubated with LPS plus LPA, showing no positive cells for human vWF (bars 10 μ m). B) Murine aorta section incubated with LPS plus LPA followed by incubation with monocytes, showing positive cells for human vWF (bars 10 μ m). Nuclei are blue (DAPI).

Monocytes revealed to be active stakeholders in neo-vascular network formation during tumor development

To explore if monocytes can act as EPCs in cancer, we employed a 3D co-culture system (Rebelo *et al.*, 2018) of human breast cancer cells (HCC1954) and human monocytes. In co-culture, hvWF positive cells also expressed FN (Fig II.6 A), which suggested that monocytes are differentiating into ECs. In control cultures (monocultures of HCC1954), FN labeling was detected but not vWF.



Figure II. 6 Tumors grown in the presence of monocytes have increased tumor volume and some vessels with human vWF (hvWF) staining

A) 3D spheroids of HCC1954 in co-culture with monocytes stained for hvWF (green) and FN (red). DAPI (blue) stains nuclei, magnification 400x. (B) Representative imagens of tumors from mice with breast cancer cells (MDA-MB-231), without and with monocytes previously cultured under VEGF. C) Tumor volume (mm³) 24 and 45 after inoculated mice with breast cancer cells (MDA-MB-231), without and with monocytes previously cultured under VEGF. D) Quantification of tumor necrotic areas, 45 days after the inoculation of MDA-MB-231 with and without monocytes cultured in VEGF. E) Quantification of tumor viable areas, 45

days after the inoculation of MDA-MB-231 with and without monocytes cultured in VEGF. F) Immunohistochemistry (IHC) for hvWF (black arrow) in MDA-MB-231 tumors in the presence and absence of monocytes cultured in VEGF. Optical microscopy, nuclei are blue (hematoxylin). Blood vessels are signed with "V". **p<0.01

Furthermore, *in vivo*, we investigated if monocytes would be incorporated in the tumoral neo-vasculature, enhancing tumor development and growth. For that purpose, we established a cancer model in which human breast cancer cells (MDA-MB-231) were inoculated in the mammary fat pad of female mice, in the presence and in the absence of human male monocytes. Mice injected with MDA-MB-231 and human monocytes presented larger tumors (4 and 2-fold at days 24 and 45, respectively; Fig II. 6 B and C) in comparison to the mice inoculated only with MDA-MB-231. The percentage of necrotic area was similar in the two experimental groups (Fig II. 6 D), suggesting that monocytes act as helpers during tumor development since bigger tumors from the mice inoculated with MDA-MB-231 and monocytes showed equal necrotic areas in comparison to the smaller tumors of mice injected only with MDA-MB-231 cells. Remarkably, some ECs in tumor blood vessels of mice inoculated with MDA-MB-231 and monocytes were hvWF positive (Fig II.6 F; black arrow); indicating that during tumorigenesis monocytes can differentiate into ECs and be incorporated into the neovasculature.

Discussion

EPCs circulation, mobilization and differentiation play an essential role in the repair of injured vessels, besides their relevance in sprouting angiogenesis (Richardson and Yoder, 2011; Yoder, 2012; Yuan *et al.*, 2017). In the past years, the role of EPCs in the renewal of ECs integrity and function had gained attention from the scientific community, especially from the field of ischemia and cardiovascular disorders, opening new therapeutic perspectives for patients treatment (Haider *et al.*, 2017; Luo *et al.*, 2018; Montenegro *et al.*, 2018). However, so far, the lack of a precise panel of cell surface markers drives some heterogeneity in the methodologies used for classifying and isolating EPCs. Furthermore, the very low representativeness described in PB for EPCs represents a barrier for a better characterization of the molecular and biological processes underlying EPCs function, homing and differentiation (Basile and Yoder, 2014; Pelosi *et al.*, 2014). The exact classification of EPCs is still a matter of debate, so, we wonder if other cell subtypes that were not so far addressed in studies regarding angiogenesis, can also act as EPCs.

Reports in ischemia disclosed the involvement of BM-derived mononuclear cells as contributors for angiogenesis, by being incorporated into neocapillaries and by promoting

an increased vessel density (Kamihata *et al.*, 2001; Van Huyen *et al.*, 2008; Karcher and Greene, 2013;). A study from Nolan et al. (2007) correlated early stages of tumor development with the differentiation potential of BM-derived EPCs and their incorporation into a subset of tumor neovessels. As mentioned above, we have previously shown that some cells on the vessel wall co-expressed CD14 (monocytic marker) and CD31 (EC marker) in a panel of normal tissues and tumors from vascular, epithelial and embryonic origins (Domingues *et al.*, 2015a).

Herein we have observed *in vitro* that freshly isolated monocytes exhibited a mixed expression profile of EC and macrophages markers (Fig II.1 A, supplementary Fig 1), though expressing very low levels of vWF, an EC marker (Fig II.1 B). However, when monocytes were cultured in stem and progenitor cell medium (CFU), they reduced the expression of all those markers (Fig II.1 A), indicating that monocytes are in a more stem-like state. Monocytes are recognized as a cell type that expresses VEGF receptors (VEGFR) (Barleon *et al.*, 1996; Cuadrado *et al.*, 2006) and our results show that when cultured under the presence of VEGF, monocytes acquired a spindle-cell-like morphology (Fig 1 II. B), typical of ECs. This morphological remodeling was accompanied by the increased expression of CD31 (EC marker) and other EC specific genes (CD146, vWF), in concomitance with a decreased expression of CD14 (monocytic/macrophagic marker) (Fig II. 1 C and D). These *in vitro* results support that monocytes are close to a stem-cell like state, but, upon pro-angiogenic stimuli they can differentiate into ECs.

Pathologies like cardiac ischemia or cancer have defective tissue perfusion, and excessive ROS levels and deregulated redox signaling accounts for re-vascularization of tissues and diseases outcome (Gu et al., 2018; Kumari et al., 2018; Zhou et al., 2018). In addition, ROS are essential for ECs homeostasis and can stimulate or inhibit cell differentiation, depending on the cell type (Ji et al., 2010; Wang e t al., 2013; Chaudhari et al., 2014; Xiao et al., 2014; Pashkovskaia et al., 2018). Considering the relevance of EPCs during vascular remodeling in pathologies with alterations in redox balance, as cancer, we wondered if ROS would impact the monocytic - EC differentiation. Under exposure to H_2O_2 (ROS), monocytes increased the expression of specific EC markers in monocytes, such as vWF, CD31 and CD146 (Fig II.2 A and B) and a decrease in the expression of the monocytic marker CD14 (Fig II.2 B). Monocytes, both maintained in EBM2 and in CFU media, were able to react to H_2O_2 by increasing the expression of vWF (Fig II.2 A), highlighting the relevance of ROS in inducing the differentiation of monocyte-derived ECs. In addition and considering that the expression of some ECs markers (e.g. CD31) is often observed in macrophagic cells in cancer context and in vascular mimicry (McKenney et al., 2001; Barnett et al., 2016), we have also analyzed

the expression of vWF, a well-known ECs marker commonly used in other studies to ensure the endothelial differentiation (Eggermann *et al.*, 2003; Ge *et al.*, 2018; Chu *et al.*, 2019). vWF is expressed and accumulated in Weibel-Palade bodies, the endothelial storage granules (Castaman *et al.*, 2012). Accordingly, the immunodetection of vWF expression in ECs differentiating monocytes demonstrated a granular accumulation (Fig II.1 E and 2 B), typical of ECs. Moreover, we observed that the induction of monocytic differentiation into ECs promoted by H_2O_2 increase BCAA and glutamine catabolism (Fig II.3 A), indicating that their consumption and catabolism support ECs differentiation. The activation of metabolic pathways by the expression of genes involved in both metabolic and differentiation processes is pivotal for the onset of cell differentiation (Mathieu and Ruohola-Baker, 2017). In fact, increased BCAA and glutamine catabolism had been already linked with differentiation processes (*e.g.* myocytes, adipocytes) (Green *et al.*, 2016; Duan *et al.*, 2017; Lu *et al.*, 2019; Tao Zhou *et al.*, 2019).

Our team showed that cysteine has a protective role against ROS-related cytotoxicinduced cancer cell death (Nunes et al., 2018a; Nunes et al., 2018b). Interestingly, in our context, monocytes exposure to cysteine impaired their ROS-induced differentiation to ECs (Fig II.2 C). The abrogation of ECs differentiation upon cysteine exposure impaired BCAA, valine and glutamine catabolism induced by ROS exposure (Fig II.3 A), indicating that the antioxidant cysteine properties impair the metabolic readjustment that is occurring in the differentiation route of ROS-induced monocytes to ECs. Additionality, the increased formate levels and the decreased acetate levels (Fig II.3 A), observed in monocytes under cysteine supplementation, was previously linked with cell proliferation (Yoshimoto et al., 2001; Meiser et al., 2016; Yang and Vousden, 2016). In fact, we speculate that cysteine supplementation decreases one carbon metabolism, being glycine deviated to produce ribulose-1,5-biphosphate and afterwards formate instead of supplying folic acid cycle that together with methionine cycle contributes to the transsulfuration pathway (TSP) for cysteine synthesis (Fig II.7) (Yoshimoto et al., 2001; Meiser et al., 2016, 2018; Yang and Vousden, 2016). Also, acetate levels are decreased because in proliferating cells acetate supplies fatty acids synthesis (Fig II.7) (Yoshimoto et al., 2001; Meiser et al., 2016, 2018; Yang and Vousden, 2016). Together, the results suggest that a cysteine-rich environments favors cell proliferation through the glycine shuttle from folate/methionine cycle to pentose phosphate pathway (PPP)/ phosphoribosyl diphosphate pathway (PRPP) and fatty acid synthesis, indicating that perhaps cysteine promote monocytes proliferation, avoiding its differentiation to ECs under a metabolic rewiring.



Figure II. 7 Cysteine supplementation may be involved in the promotion of cell proliferation.

In environments with increased cysteine bioavailability, the glycine flux will be deviated to the pentose phosphate pathway (PPP), increasing the levels of ribose-5-phosphate that contribute to nucleotide synthesis through phosphoribosyl diphosphate pathway (PRPP). Since the nucleotide synthesis (*de novo* or savage) is dependent on ribose-5-phosphate for PRPP, the shuttle from folate/methionine cycles to the PPP will sustain nucleotide demands essentially for cell proliferation. Although folate derivates are needed for *de novo* nucleotide synthesis, PRPP is the rate-limiting reaction. In theory, proliferating cells will prefer PPP instead of folate/methionine cycle, to sustain PRPP through R5P. Moreover, more active PPP leads to more formate production (metabolite increased in cysteine supplemented monocytes) and the NADPH generated from PPP will supply fatty acids synthesis, as well as acetyl-CoA derived from acetate (metabolite decreased in cysteine supplemented monocytes).

EPCs are characterized by having active ALDH and a decrease in its expression and activity is correlated with the differentiation from EPCs to ECs (Blix et al., 2015; Vassalli, 2019). In a model of ischemia, decreased expression of ALDH is pointed out as a good strategy to induce rapid neovascularization and subsequent regeneration of ischemic tissues (Nagano et al., 2007). Our results show that monocytes act as EPCs, since when they are exposed to disulfiram, an irreversible inhibitor of ALDH, present a similar pattern of vWF expression in comparison of monocytes exposed to H_2O_2 (Fig II.2 D and E). Thus, the decreased activity of ALDH prompts the monocytes-ECs differentiation process, in a similar manner than ROS (H₂O₂). The role of ROS (H₂O₂) as a stimulator of monocytes differentiation into ECs was reinforced by the observation that even when monocytes are shortly removed from CFU media, both disulfiram and H₂O₂ are able to induce the expression of vWF (Fig II.2 D). The ROS enriched microenvironment during disease progression is a feature already assumed in cancer (Weinberg et al., 2019). Despite the already established ROS effect in tumor neo-angiogenesis (Kim and Byzova, 2014), here we observed that ROS stimuli allied with high plasticity of monocytes pushes them to differentiate into ECs.

In TME, stromal cells (e.g. fibroblasts, adipocytes, inflammatory and smooth muscle cells) and cancer cells secret monocyte chemoattractant protein 1 (MCP1) that leads to the recruitment of monocytes into the tumor (Deshmane et al., 2009; S. Y. Lim et al., 2016b; Yoshimura, 2018). Furthermore, the macrophage migration inhibitory factor (MIF), whose function as a regulator of inflammation remains controversial (Nishihira, 2000; Kasama et al., 2010; Chen et al., 2015), seems to promote cancer progression by stimulating the recruitment of myeloid cells into the tumor (Simpson et al., 2012; He et al., 2015; Wang et al., 2017; Zhang et al., 2017), and being associated with increased angiogenesis (Girard et al., 2012; Mangano et al., 2018). Since MIF have directly been implicated in the regulation of EC differentiation (Cui et al., 2016), we believe that MIF as a tumor promoter proves again that monocytes- derived ECs can be a subpopulation of M2- tumor associated macrophages (TAMs), reaching the tumor to favor angiogenesis also by making part of blood vessels structure. Interestingly, an oxidized isoform of MIF has been identified as a prognostic biomarker and therapeutic target in inflammatory diseases and cancer (Mahalingam et al., 2016; Schinagl et al., 2016), showing again that the pro-oxidative TME is definitely playing a role in angiogenesis.

The participation of monocytes in angiogenesis, via the production and release of proangiogenic factors, has been reported in inflammatory diseases (Cursiefen et al., 2004; Eubank et al., 2003; Clark et al., 2007). However, our results suggested that, in addition to their role in the secretion of cytokines, pro-angiogenic factors and ECM modifying proteins (Zumsteg and Christofori, 2009; Deryugina and Quigley, 2015), monocytes were also able to integrate new blood vessels by directly differentiating into ECs and incorporating the vessels structure (Fig II.4). This phenomenon was observed macroscopically by a higher density of blood vessels in plugs inoculated with monocytes (Fig II. 4A) with increased number of vessel-like structures (Fig II.4 B and C) expressing FN (Fig II. 4 D and E), indicating that those structures have a vessel basement membrane (Xu and Shi, 2014). Moreover, using two different in vivo models, we unraveled human monocytes capacity of differentiating into ECs and incorporating blood vessels (Fig II.4 B and C). The strategy we used by inoculating human male monocytes in plugs induced in female mice, undoubtedly proved the human monocytic origin of ECs (Fig II. 4 B, C and F). In addition, it was evident that not all vessel-like structures within the plug were from human origin (Fig II.4 D), since murine EPCs were also participating in the pro-angiogenic process (Malinda, 2009) and might react in a more efficient way as they were reacting to endogenous murine signaling. A recent study, confronting autologous and heterologous EPCs transplantation models stated that in the autologous context, cells more efficiently undergo homing and differentiation (Qin et al., 2018).

The differentiation of monocytes into ECs, expressing vWF, was also induced in murine aortas *ex vivo* (Fig II.5), after EC dysfunction induced by LPS and LPA (Nogueras *et al.*, 2008; Teo *et al.*, 2009; Cai *et al.*, 2017). Again, the human origin of those cells incorporating injured aortas was assessed by using a specific anti-hvWF. Several studies have shown that injured arteries are repaired by both the recruitment of new cells and the activation of the proliferation of ECs (Zhao *et al.*, 2006; Nogueras *et al.*, 2008; Kong *et al.*, 2018; Zhao *et al.*, 2016). In this experiment, monocytes worked as recruited EPCs, being able to incorporate an already structured but injured vessel.

Thus, herein we provide new evidence to justify why the efficacy of the use of antiangiogenic therapies in cancer treatment have been so far disappointing. We believe this failure relies on the missing pieces to construct the entire angiogenic route. Considering that monocytes recruitment is a well-established step during carcinogenesis (Karlmark et al., 2012; Olingy et al., 2019), we believe this recruitment favors tumor progression not only by differentiating into TAMs (Cortés et al., 2017; Lopes-Coelho et al., 2018; Niu et al., 2017; C. Wei et al., 2019), but also by acting as EPCs and differentiating into ECs. In a 3D co-culture system of breast cancer cells and monocytes, we detected hvWF positive cells that also expressed FN (Fig II.6 A); this suggested that also in in vitro cancer 3D-models, monocytes can differentiate into ECs. Once in the tumor and upon their activation, some monocytes can differentiate into macrophages that release cytokines and pro-angiogenic factors, while other monocytes can be targeted by this stimulation that will trigger their differentiation into ECs. This coordinated myeloid networking will favor tumor growth and disease progression. According to this, we observed, in vivo, that breast cancer cells inoculated in the presence of monocytes originated bigger tumors in comparison to control group (4 and 2-fold at day 24 and 45, respectively; Fig II. 6 B and C). The necrotic area was similar in the two experimental groups (Fig II. 6 D and E), showing that the viable area in tumors induced in the presence of monocytes is more extensive than the viable area in control tumors. This observation indicate that monocytes are acting as helpers for tumor growth. Interestingly, in the viable regions of tumors inoculated with monocytes, but not in the control group, some ECs and cells close to the vessels were hvWF positive (Fig II. 6 F). Therefore, in both the in vivo murine breast cancer model and the 3D in vitro model, we unraveled that monocytes have the potential to differentiate into ECs and be incorporated into the neo-vasculature, during tumor development.

Our study demonstrated that monocytes are in fact incorporated in blood vessels, strengthening their underestimation as a relevant stanchion of vascular growth. Due to their 2-10% prevalence in PB (Curry, 2015) and comparing to the estimated percentage of EPCs proposed by other studies (Richardson and Yoder, 2011; Yoder, 2012; Yuan *et*

al., 2017; Kaur *et al.*, 2018; Tal *et al.*, 2019), monocytes are putatively the most representative EPCs subgroup. Herein, we provided new evidence positioning a redox-dependence of monocytes under pro-angiogenic stimuli, which contributes for vascular growth (Fig II.8). A new point of view on neoangiogenesis and ECs sources must be explored further, since a better understanding of monocytes biology, as well as EPCs, different from the canonical angiogenic point of view, will contribute to a change in the paradigm of anti-angiogenic drugs in cancer therapy.



Figure II. 8 Monocytes recruitment into the tumor and endothelial differentiation.

Our working model demonstrates that monocytes could act as EPC and be incorporated into neovasculature. Monocytes are a cell subtype characterized as having high plasticity, being able to differentiate into macrophages and we unraveled that endothelial differentiation can also be endpoint for monocytes. Monocytes-ECs differentiation depends on a pro-angiogenic stimulus (*e.g.* VEGF) and oxidative stress (ROS). The acquisition of the expression of vWF (EC marker) is an undoubtable evidence of this differentiation route accounting for tumor vascularization and growth.

Supplementary Figures



Supplementary Figure II. 1

Representative histograms of FACS analysis of CD14 - monocytic marker, CD31, KDR, VE-Cadherin (VE-Cad) – EC markers and CD68, CD80, CD163 – macrophage markers in monocytes freshly isolated (Day0), monocytes maintained in CFU media and in Human umbilical vein ECs (HUVECs).



Supplementary Figure II. 2

Confirmation of the specificity of anti- human vWF (anti-hvWF; A0082, Dako – Agilent) in lung section from mouse and human origin. Vessels (V) in mouse were negative for hvWF and human vessels were positive for hvWF (green) optimization in mouse and human tissues. Nuclei were counterstained with DAPI (blue).

Chapter III

Propranolol therapy is an efficient tool in the clinical management of cerebral cavernous malformations (CCM): a child case study

This chapter was based on:

Lopes-Coelho F, Nunes SG, Gouveia-Fernandes S, Domingues G, Melo BF, Sacramento JF, Conde SV, Pereira SA, Vinhais S, Salgado D^{*}, Serpa J^{*}. Propranolol therapy is an efficient tool in the clinical management of cerebral cavernous malformations (CCM): an infantile case study. Manuscript in preparation ^{*} equal contribution

Abstract

Cerebral cavernous malformations (CCM) are vascular malformations characterized by the abnormal growth of vascular structures in the central nervous system. Unfortunately, the precise mechanism(s) responsible for the development of the CCM vascular abnormalities remains poorly explored. Propranolol administration in CCM, although it is not commonly prescribed, has revealed to be effective in children and seems to have a protective role in the prevention of CCM-derived hemorrhages in adults. Here, despite the effects of Propranolol on mature ECs by decreasing angiogenic related features, we observed that in the peripheral blood (PB) of a CCM child patient, Propranolol administration decreases the percentage of circulating cells sharing monocytic and ECs features (CD14⁺/CD31⁺) and the VEGF levels, concomitant with good prognosis and with the reversion of CCM lesions. A decrease in VEGF levels by Propranolol could be involved in the impairment of the recruitment of CD14⁺/CD31⁺ monocytes functioning as EPCs to sustain the vascular lesion. Our case study reinforced that Propranolol is useful in the clinical management of CCM and highlighted that the monitorization of the levels of CD14⁺/CD31⁺monocytes and VEGF could be used to predict the clinical efficacy of Propranolol in CCM patients.

Keywords: cerebral cavernous malformation, Propranolol, monocytes, endothelial cells, angiogenesis

Introduction

Cerebral cavernous malformations (CCM) present a relatively low prevalence (0,16-0.5%), accounting for approximately 5–15% of all central nervous system vascular malformations (Akers *et al.*, 2017; Flemming *et al.*, 2017; Goldstein and Solomon, 2017). The disease is characterized as low-flow vascular malformations composed by bloodfilled sinusoidal locules known as "caverns". At histological level, CCM is characterized by the lack of mural elements of mature vascular structures (Goldstein and Solomon, 2017).

The major clinical presentations are epilepsy, hemorrhage, headache or focal neurological deficits, however 30% of the patients are asymptomatic or present nonspecific headache (Gross et al., 2011). During disease progression, the growth of vascular malformations associates with recurrent hemorrhages (annual hemorrhage rate of 0.6-11% per patient-year) (Batra et al., 2009; Goldstein and Solomon, 2017), which is believed to be a consequence of the immature leaking vascular network constituting the CCM lesions (Cox et al., 2017). Depending on the anatomical localization of the CCM, patient management relies on surgical resection, observation and symptomatic treatment. In surgical inaccessible lesions, drugs such as statins, anti-angiogenic agents or vitamin D3 have been tested, although without clear benefits (Leblanc et al., 2009; Wüstehube et al., 2010; Gibson et al., 2015; Shenkar et al., 2017). The beneficial use of Propranolol in childhood hemangioma patients, a close pathologic counterpart of cavernous malformations, supports the putative use of Propranolol in the management of symptomatic CCM patients (Apra et al., 2019). Propranolol administration in CCM patients, although it is not a commonly prescribed drug for this purpose, was effectively used in children and seems to have a protective role in the prevention of CCM-derived hemorrhages in adults (Moschovi et al., 2010; Dotan and Lorber, 2013; Berti et al., 2014; Miquel et al., 2014; Cavalheiro et al., 2016; Reinhard et al., 2016).

A common feature of Propranolol-sensitive vascular tumors, as hemangioma and CCM, is the distinctive expression of CD15-positive "vasculogenic zones" (Ritter *et al.*, 2006; Navarrete *et al.*, 2014; Seidmann *et al.*, 2014). Interestingly, the *in vitro* gain of CD15 is followed by embryonic stem cell differentiation into endothelial cells (ECs) (Yue *et al.*, 2010), indicating the putative involvement of endothelial progenitor cells (EPCs) in the development of vascular malformations. The relationship between CD15-positive cells and neo-vessels formation is not new, it was described, at more than forty years ago, in immature vessels of the placenta (Cottrill *et al.*, 1977; Reed *et al.*, 1974), as well as the effect of Propranolol in placenta regression (Schoenfeld *et al.*, 1978).

The identification the EPCs subset in the peripheral blood (PB) is not clear. Our team showed that in tumors and normal tissues some ECs simultaneously expressed CD14

(monocytic marker) and CD31 (EC marker), indicating mixed features between monocytes and ECs (Domingues *et al.*, 2015a). In chapter II, we unraveled that monocytes can differentiate into ECs and be incorporated in blood vessels. Our studies strengthened the underestimation of monocytes as a relevant source for vascular growth. Moreover, some studies showed that CD15 is also expressed in monocytes (Nakayama *et al.*, 2001; Martin, 2011), being its levels increased in pathological conditions (Chung *et al.*, 2012). Interestingly, in tumors CD14 immune cells are also CD15 positive, clearly indicating a subset of monocytes/macrophages (Elliott *et al.*, 2017). These observations reinforce that CD15 cells in the "vasculogenic zone" are in fact monocytes functioning as EPCs, contributing for blood vessel formation in CCM.

Hemangiomas and CCM share phenotypical characteristics, being both composed of a mixture of abnormal dilated capillaries with disorganized ECs and pericytes (Frieden *et al.*, 2005; Kim, 2016; Ganmore and Achiron, 2017). Although some studies indicated that CCM lesions arises from EC loss of Krev interaction trapped protein 1/Cerebral Cavernous Malformations 1 (KRIT1/CCM1), Cerebral Cavernous Malformations 2 (CCM2) or Programmed Cell Death 10 (PDCD10), non-homologous proteins that form an adaptor complex (Plummer *et al.*, 2005), the exact mechanism that regulates the development of the vascular abnormalities still remains poorly explored.

From what it is known, during the growth phase of hemangiomas, the increased expression of fibroblast growth factor (FGF) and vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) correlates with ECs and interstitial cells proliferation (Frieden *et al.*, 2005). The effect of Propranolol in the reversion of vascular malformations is putatively associated with a decrease in the expression of FGF and VEGF, impairing ECs migration, proliferation and reorganization, which in turn leads to vasoconstriction (involution phase) (Léauté-Labrèze *et al.*, 2008; Annabi *et al.*, 2009; Lamy *et al.*, 2010; Apra *et al.*, 2019).

Since the natural evolution of CCM is chronic and unpredictable, the follow-up of CCM patients involves the long-term clinical and imagiological evaluation with Magnetic Resonance Imaging (MRI) (Apra *et al.*, 2019). In an attempt to find a suitable follow up method, we explored the monitorization of the levels of CD14⁺/CD31⁺ monocytes in the PB of CCM patients. Considering that in chapter II we demonstrated that monocytes are viable EPCs here, we hypothesize that circulating CD14⁺/CD31⁺ monocytes act as EPCs and contribute to the development of CCM lesions; and Propranolol administration, in addition to its effects on stablished CCM vessels, will interfere with the levels of circulating CD14⁺/CD31⁺ monocytes, functioning as EPCs.

Materials and methods

Peripheral blood (PB) processing and cell characterization

PB of a CMM child patient was collected under informed consent in Neuropediatrics department at *Instituto Português de Oncologia de Lisboa Francisco Gentil* (IPOLFG) (IPOLFG-Ethical committee UIC-1137). PB was centrifuged at 155 *x g* for 5 min and after, serum was stored at -20 °C until further analysis and the cell pellet was resuspended in 45 mL of 1X RBC lysis buffer (786-1701, Biosciences) and incubated at 15 min, in dark. After, resuspended cells were centrifuged at 155 *x g* for 5 min, washed twice with 1X Phosphate-buffered saline (PBS) and incubated with anti-CD14-FITC (1:100; 555397, BD Bioscience) and with anti-CD3-APC (1:100; FAB3567A, R&D Systems) in 0.5% BSA-PBS (v/w), for 20 minutes (min), in dark at 4 °C. The immunolabelling was evaluated by flow cytometry (FACScalibur – Becton Dickinson) and data were analyzed using *FlowJo X* v10.0.7 software (*https://www.flowjo.com/*). PB cells from healthy blood donors was used as normal controls.

Cell culture

Human umbilical vein endothelial cells (HUVECs: CRL-1730, ATCC) were cultured in Endothelial Cell Growth Basal Medium-2 (EBM-2: CC-3156, Lonza, Bioscience) supplemented with EGM-2 SingleQuots Supplements (CC-4176, Lonza, Bioscience) and maintained at 37 °C in a humidified atmosphere of 5% CO₂. Cells were used until the passage 10 and were detached with 0.05% Trypsin-EDTA 1X (25300-054, Invitrogen, Thermo Fisher Scientific). For experimental conditions cells were cultured in the presence and in the absence of 100 μ M Propranolol (P8688, Sigma Aldrich).

VEGF levels determination

The concentration of VEGF in PB serum and in the culture medium conditioned by monocytes, isolated as described in chapter II, was evaluated using Human VEGF Quantikine ELISA Kit (DVE00, R&D Systems), according to the manufacturer's instructions. PB serum from healthy blood donors was used as normal controls and for cell supernatants, cells in control conditions were maintained in H₂O₂ and Propranolol free media.

Proliferation assay

The determination of the cell proliferation was calculated by ratio of total and ki67⁺ nuclei. Briefly, HUVECs ($5x10^4$ cells/well) were cultured on glass slides coated with 0.2% gelatin and fixed in 2% paraformaldehyde, for 15 min at 4°C, followed by blocking with

1% Bovine serum albumin (BSA)-1X PBS (w/v). Then cells were incubated with anti-Ki67 (1:100 in 1% BSA-0.1% triton X-100- 1X PBS (w/v/v); sc-15402, Santa Cruz), overnight at 4 °C, followed by an incubation with secondary antibody (Alexa Fluor 488 goat anti-rabbit, 1:1000 in 1% BSA-0.1% triton x100-PBS; A-11078, Invitrogen - Thermo Fisher Scientific), for 2 h at room temperature. Slides were mounted in VECTASHIELD media with DAPI (4'-6-diamidino-2-phenylindole; H-1200, Vector Labs), examined by standard fluorescence microscopy, using an Axio Imager.Z1 microscope (Zeiss) with a CytoVision® software and analyzed using ImageJ software (*imagej.nih.gov/ij/*).

Wound healing assay

Cells were plated on 24-well plates (1x10⁵ cells/well) until the formation of a confluent monolayer. Then, cells were incubated with mitomycin-C (M4287, Sigma), an antimitotic agent, for 3h. A linear scratch in each monolayer was made with a P20 pipette tip, creating a gap across the well diameter. The media was replaced to remove debris and cells in suspension and to expose cells to the experimental conditions. Bright-field images of each well at 10 h were acquired on the Olympus IX53 Inverted Microscope and images were analyzed and quantified by ImageJ software (*imagej.nih.gov/ij/*).

Tube forming assay

Matrigel was plated onto 48-well plates at 37 °C for 30 minutes and HUVECs were incubated with calcein (2 μ g/mL; C1430, Invitrogen), a fluorescent cell permeable dye, for 30 min at 37°C and 5% CO₂. After, trypsinized HUVECs (3x10⁴ cells/well) were harvested, resuspended and seeded into matrigel and then incubated at 37 °C and 5 % CO₂, for 6 h. Representative images of vessel-like structures formation were acquired in an Olympus IX53 Inverted Microscope.

Rat aortic rings sprouting assay

Aortas (thoracic and abdominal segments) were dissected from male Wistar rats (10 weeks old) and cleaned to remove external tissue (ethical committee NOVA Medical School Ref. 75/2019/CEFCM). After removing all extraneous fat, fibrotic tissue and *vasa vasorum* structures, the aorta was segmented into rings with approximately 1 mm length. The rings were transferred to a Petri dish and incubated overnight in FBS-free culture medium at 37°C, 5% CO₂. In the next day, rings were embedded in Matrigel in a 24-well plate with EBM-2, with and without 100 μ M Propranolol. The medium was refreshed every 3-4 days, being the sprouts visible at 7-13 days. Representative images were acquired on the Olympus IX53 Inverted Microscope and the branch points (intersections between ECs) number per area were counted using ImageJ (*imagej.nih.gov/ij/*). The

density of vessel-like structures formation (branch points number/µm²) was calculated as proxy of vascular density.

Results

CCM clinical management with Propranolol administration, in a child patient, decreases the percentage of CD14⁺/CD31⁺ cells and the VEGF levels

In the PB of the CCM child patient before Propranolol administration, the percentage of double positive CD14⁺/CD31⁺ cells was higher than in PB from healthy blood donors (Fig III.1 A and 1 B). Interestingly, along the follow up with Propranolol administration it was observed a decrease in CD14⁺/CD31⁺ levels in PB, becoming close to normal profiles (Fig III.1 A and 1 B). PB cells from healthy blood donors was used as normal controls.

The levels of VEGF, in PB, were higher before the treatment with Propranolol and decreased towards normal levels during follow up (Fig III.1 C). PB serum from healthy blood donors was used as normal controls.



Figure III. 1 Dynamics of the percentage of CD14⁺ and CD31⁺ cells and of VEGF levels in peripheral blood (PB) of a child patient with a brain cavernoma before Propranolol (Prop) therapy and during the follow-up.

A) FACS analysis for CD14 and CD31 markers in total leukocytes; B) FACS analysis for CD14 and CD31 in healthy donors, and C) Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) for VEGF measurement in PB serum.

Regarding monocytes exposed to H_2O_2 to undergo EC differentiation, it was seen that H_2O_2 decreases VEGF levels, but a long exposure to Propranolol reverts this tendency (Fig III.2), maybe because Propranolol decreases the use of VEGF by monocytes.



Figure III. 2 Monocytes exposed to ROS (H_2O_2) increase the use of VEGF, but Propranolol (Prop) exposure (16 h) partially reverted this phenotype.

Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) for the measurement of VEGF levels in culture medium conditioned by monocytes isolated from healthy donors exposed to H_2O_2 in the presence and/or absence of Propranolol. *p<0.05; **p<0.01

Propranolol impairs ECs angiogenic features and inhibits vessel-like sprouting ex vivo

The activation of quiescent ECs is pivotal for angiogenic processes. Our *in vitro* results showed that Propranolol impairs ECs angiogenic properties through the decrease of ECs proliferation (Fig III.2 A) and migration (Fig III.2 B) and impairing their capacity to form vessel-like structures (Fig III.2 C). Moreover, using an aortic ring *ex vivo* model, mimicking the vessels microenvironment and the ECs response upon a stimuli, it was observed that Propranolol inhibits ECs activation and vessel-like sprouting (Fig III.2 D), abrogating the capacity of ECs to form vessel-like structures.



Figure III. 3 Propranolol (Prop) decreases ECs proliferation, migration and impaires the capacity to form vessel-like structures.

A) Proliferation analysis based on the percentage of Ki67⁺nuclei/total nuclei of HUVECs cultured with and without Prop (100mg), for 16 h; B) Migration rate of HUVECs, previously exposed to mitomycin (3 h, 5mg/ml) to inhibit cell proliferation, in the absence and in presence of Propranolol, for 10 h; and C) Tube forming assay to evaluate the capacity of HUVECs cultured on the top of matrigel to form vessel-like structures, with and without Propranolol, for 6 h. D) Representative imagens at day 13 of aortic ring sprouting assay, in the presence and in the absence of Propranolol. ****p<0.0001

Discussion

Propranolol is a liposoluble non-selective β -adrenergic blocker commonly used in the control of anxiety and cardiovascular conditions, such as hypertension, myocardial infarction and *angina pectoris*. In the last decade, Propranolol was re-discovered as an

effective drug in the treatment of some vascular tumors, inducing the rapid involution to quiescent residual lesions in 80% of cases (Storch and Hoeger, 2010; Zabramski *et al.*, 2016b; Al-Majed *et al.*, 2017; Rotter and de Oliveira, 2017; Apra *et al.*, 2019). The use of Propranolol in the treatment of infantile hemangiomas, the most common benign tumor of the skin, has been discovered accidentally in 2008 by Léauté-Labrèze et al, in which Propranolol administration demonstrated high efficacy and few adverse drug reactions (Léauté-Labrèze *et al.*, 2008). So far, the beneficial effect of Propranolol has been observed in the treatment of neonatal hemangiomatosis (Mazereeuw-Hautier *et al.*, 2010; H. Zhou *et al.*, 2014), placental chorioangioma (Padys *et al.*, 2015) and CCM (Moschovi *et al.*, 2010). Nevertheless, this selective therapeutic effect in a certain group of pediatric vascular tumors and the mechanisms that controls the development of the vascular abnormalities are not fully understood.

In this case study, the percentage of double positive CD14⁺/CD31⁺ cells was higher than in PB from healthy blood donors before Propranolol administration (Fig III.1 A and B), but during treatment's follow up a decrease in CD14⁺/CD31⁺ levels in PB of the patient was observed, presenting a final profile similar to healthy donors (Fig III.1 A and B). The observed normalization of the CD14⁺/CD31⁺ cell levels upon Propranolol administration suggested that the levels of circulating cells, sharing monocytic and ECs markers, are involved in CCM pathogenesis and are Propranolol-sensitive. Moreover, we speculate that circulating monocytes sharing ECs features (CD14⁺/CD31⁺) are acting as EPCs, contributing to CCM progression by being incorporated into CCM neovessels.

The exact mechanism by which Propranolol interferes with angiogenesis is not known, however some studies pointed that its anti-angiogenic effects are mediated by the downregulation of VEGF and FGF (Léauté-Labrèze et al., 2008; Annabi et al., 2009; Lamy et al., 2010; Apra et al., 2019). The dynamics of VEGF were also addressed in this case study, in an attempt to clarify if VEGF levels are linked to CCM regression. We observed, in this patient, a decrease in the levels of VEGF in the PB upon the Propranolol treatment (Fig III.1 C), coming close to the values observed in healthy donors (Fig III.1 C). Interestingly, in vitro, monocytes seems to use more VEGF upon H₂O₂ exposure, decreasing its free levels in conditioned culture medium, however longer exposure to Propranolol, rescues the observed decrease in VEGF levels due H_2O_2 exposure (Fig. III.2). This observation suggests that Propranolol, besides affecting the levels of circulating VEGF, it can also affect the way monocytes use VEGF in vitro, this way decreasing the overall pro-angiogenic capacity. Accordingly to the decreased stimulation of monocytes differentiation into ECs, we also observed that Propranolol affects the proliferation (Fig III.3 A), migration (Fig III.3 B) and vessel-like structure formation (Fig III.3 C) of mature ECs and impairs vessel-like sprouting in aortic rings (Fig III.3 D and E).

Since the VEGF levels could also be limiting in monocytes recruitment (Lee *et al.*, 2013; Jaipersad *et al.*, 2014; Wheeler *et al.*, 2018), suggests that the decreased VEGF levels, upon Propranolol treatment, is responsible, at least in part, by the decrease in the levels of circulating CD14⁺/CD31⁺ cells and CCM regression. However, further studies should be performed to understand how Propranolol is affecting the VEGF dynamics in monocytes and ECs.

Summing up, Propranolol, besides the promotion of CCM regression, impairs $CD14^+/CD31^+$ cells circulation (Fig III.1 A), in part by the decreased in VEGF levels (Fig III.1 C). Moreover, we observed *in vitro* that monocytes upon a pro-oxidant stimulus (H_2O_2) , that pushes their differentiation towards ECs (Chapter II), decreases the levels of VEGF in cell supernatants. This indicates that VEGF is essential during the differentiation of monocytes into ECs. Considering that monocytes acting as EPCs may favor the development of CCM lesions and given that VEGF is pivotal for monocytic differentiation into ECs, the increased circulating VEGF levels observed in the CCM patient without treatment could be important for potentiating EC differentiation route and further, CCM pathogenesis.

Although Propranolol mechanism of action in CCM is not fully understood, the lack of a better therapeutic option for patients with surgically inaccessible CCM and the remarkable responses in a few patients makes it valuable to explore the exact efficacy of Propranolol in the treatment of CCM, as well as the associated adverse and sideeffects (Apra *et al.*, 2019). In line, randomized prospective clinical trials with Propranolol *versus* placebo/nothing groups (NCT03523650, NCT03589014) are currently ongoing. Our case study reinforces the use of Propranolol in the clinical management of CCM and points out the monitorization of monocytes (CD14⁺/CD31⁺) and VEGF levels in PB as useful tools to predict the treatment effectiveness.

Chapter IV

Propranolol abrogates the ferroptosis-like mechanism pivotal in endothelial cells activation

This chapter was based on:

Lopes-Coelho F, Martins F, Hipólito A, Mendes C, Sequeira CO, Pires R, Almeida AM, Bonifácio VDB, Vicente JB, Pereira SA, Serpa J. The activation of endothelial cells relies on a ferroptosis-like mechanism: novel perspectives in management of angiogenesis and cancer therapy. Manuscript in preparation

Abstract

In cancer, the formation of blood vessels is crucial to sustain tumor growth and metastasis. It is known that the pro-oxidative tumor microenvironment (TME) favors angiogenesis and ferroptosis and it has been linked recently with the regulation of biological processes. However, so far, the effect of ferroptosis in endothelial cells (ECs) function and/or dysfunction has not been explored. Here, we show that Erastin-induced ferroptosis-like mechanism, at a non-lethal level, is involved in the activation of ECs features, such as proliferation, migration and vessel-like structures formation. The ECs activation is concomitant with GSH depletion and with the generation of oxidative stress and lipid peroxides. Moreover, the ferroptosis-like mechanism promotes VE-cadherin (VE-Cad) junctional gaps and potentiates cancer cells adhesion to ECs and transendothelial cancer cell migration. The Erastin effect is reversed by Propranolol, due to its anti-angiogenic and antioxidant properties mediated by the generation of hydrogen sulfide (H₂S). Our study shows that a ferroptosis-like mechanism underlies ECs activation and reinforces the use of Propranolol as an anti-angiogenic and anti-tumor drug.

Keywords: ferroptosis, oxidative stress, lipid peroxidation, endothelial cell hyperactivation, cancer invasion, Propranolol

Introduction

Tumor blood vessels are essential for providing nutrients and oxygen to cancer cells, and to eliminate waste products. In addition to the promotion of tumor growth, the neovasculature acts as gatekeeper for tumor cells invasion and metastasis (Potente *et al.*, 2011). In an ideal scenario, tackling tumor angiogenesis would be an efficient anti-cancer approach but, so far, the clinical application of the anti-angiogenic therapies have shown a lack of efficacy and drug resistance (Kim *et al.*, 1993; Vasudev and Reynolds, 2014).

During angiogenesis, the balance between pro-angiogenic factors (*e.g.* vascular endothelial growth factor - VEGF, fibroblast growth factors - FGFs, and angiopoietins - ANGs) and anti-angiogenic factors (*e.g.* endostatin, thrombospondin, and angiostatin) plays a vital role in the regulation of the angiogenic switch, a process characterized by the activation of quiescent endothelial cells (ECs) to form new blood vessels (Hanahan and Folkman, 1996). However, contrarily to physiological vessels networks, cancer neovessels are unorganized and leakier, suggesting that an imbalance in pro- and anti-angiogenic factors or the activation of unknown signaling pathways triggers an hyperactivation of the angiogenic switch and further formation of unstable cancer neovessels (Lugano *et al.*, 2020).

The oxidative stress acts as a pro-angiogenic stimulus, in both physiological and pathophysiological angiogenesis (Kim and Byzova, 2014; Prieto-Bermejo and Hernández-Hernández, 2017). Cancer neoangiogenesis seems to be more responsive to oxidative stress since the metabolic remodeling of malignant cells and tumor-associated stromal cells contributes for the generation of a pro-oxidative tumor microenvironment (TME) (Szatrowski and Nathan, 1991; Josson *et al.*, 2010; Ubaldo E. Martinez-Outschoorn *et al.*, 2011). At a molecular level, reactive oxygen species (ROS) inhibit PHDs (prolyl hydroxylases), leading to hypoxia-inducible factor 1α (HIF1 α) stabilization and consequently to the transcription of VEGF and other pro-angiogenic factors (Kim and Byzova, 2014; Prieto-Bermejo and Hernández-Hernández, 2017).

The oxidative stress-dependent generation of lipid peroxides underlies ferroptosis, a recently discovered process of programmed cell death. In this process, a decrease in intracellular glutathione (GSH) levels and in the glutathione peroxidase 4 (GPX4) activity, alongside with increasing ROS levels, impairs lipid peroxide reduction by GPX4 and promotes lipid oxidation by Fe²⁺, in a Fenton-like manner, which in turn, promotes ferroptosis (Friedmann Angeli *et al.*, 2014; Linkermann *et al.*, 2014; Yang *et al.*, 2014; Yu *et al.*, 2015; Lei *et al.*, 2019; J. Li *et al.*, 2020). The ROS-induced lipid peroxidation damages phospholipids directly and can also act as a cell death signal. Albeit, recent observations have shown that ferroptosis is not strictly a cell death type; it can also be

associated with the regulation of biological and pathophysiological processes, as carcinogenesis (Friedmann Angeli *et al.*, 2014; Linkermann *et al.*, 2014; Yang *et al.*, 2014; Yu *et al.*, 2015; Lei *et al.*, 2019; J. Li *et al.*, 2020). Ferroptosis can be induced by angiopoietin-like 4 (ANGPTL4), a potent angiogenesis mediator that activates the TAZ-ANGPTL4-NOX2 (transcriptional coactivator with PDZ-binding motif-ANGPTL4-NADPH oxidase 2) axis. This axis is responsible for the activation of NOX2 that induces the superoxide radical generation, which in turn, acts as an activator of ferroptosis (Dixon *et al.*, 2012; Xie *et al.*, 2016; Yang *et al.*, 2020), suggesting a correlation between ferroptosis and angiogenesis induction.

In the last years, Propranolol, a non-selective β -blocker (Al-Majed *et al.*, 2017) previously used in the context of cardiovascular diseases, was repurposed as a first-line therapy for vascular tumors, such as the child hemangiomas and cavernomas (Storch and Hoeger, 2010; Zabramski et al., 2016a; Rotter and de Oliveira, 2017; Apra et al., 2019). Retrospective studies demonstrated that breast cancer patients exposed to βblockers prior or after diagnosis had a better disease prognosis and less metastases (Cardwell et al., 2016; Pantziarka et al., 2018; Hiller et al., 2020). So far, it is recognized that angiogenesis impairment by Propranolol involves the downregulation of VEGF and FGF expression, and consequently the inhibition of MAPK signaling pathway (Pantziarka et al., 2018; Cavalheiro et al., 2016). Although it seems to be independent of its β-blocker action (Sasaki et al., 2019), the specific mechanism(s) of action by which Propranolol affects endothelial cells (ECs) and angiogenesis remains to be clarified. A paper from Sasaki et al. demonstrated that Propranolol downregulates the expression of ANGPTL4 in hemangioma cells (Sasaki et al., 2019). ANGPTL4, besides its involvement in the promotion of ferroptosis, regulates angiogenesis in a context-dependent manner, acting as a pro- or as an anti-angiogenic factor (Ito et al., 2003; Le Jan et al., 2003; Hato et al., 2008; Chong et al., 2014; Okochi-Takada et al., 2014; Carbone et al., 2018). Apart from the inhibition of ANGPTL4 expression and consequently abrogation of NOX2 activation, Propranolol could also interfere with ferroptosis through the inhibition of cytochrome P450 (CYP) enzymes, since some CYP-catalyzed reactions are involved in ROS and lipid peroxidation (Albertolle and Guengerich, 2018; Veith and Moorthy, 2018). Propranolol is a substrate of CYPs (Johnson et al., 2000; Ayano, 2016; Mishima et al., 2020), acting as an inhibitor of CYP2D6 (Rowland et al., 1994), CYP2D19 (Lewis et al., 2002) and CYP1A2 (Johnson et al., 2000; Wang and Zhou, 2009). Recently, Mishima et al. identified the anti-ferroptotic properties of Propranolol, that promoted lipid peroxyl radicals scavenging, in a β 1 activity-independent manner (Mishima *et al.*, 2020).

Here, we explore if the ferroptosis-like mechanism, at a non-lethal level, can promote ECs activation needed for angiogenesis, together with its reversion under the action of Propranolol.

Materials and methods

Cell culture

Human umbilical vein endothelial cells (HUVECs: CRL-1730, ATCC) were cultured in Endothelial Cell Growth Basal Medium-2 (EBM-2: CC-3156, Lonza, Bioscience) supplemented with EGM-2 SingleQuots Supplements (CC-4176, Lonza, Bioscience). All experiments were performed until the passage 10. Triple-negative breast cancer (MDA-MB-231: HTB-26[™], ATCC) were used as tumor models, being cultured in Dulbecco's Modified Eagles Medium 1X (DMEM) (41965-039, Gibco, Life Technologies), supplemented with 10% fetal bovine serum (FBS; S 0615, Merck), 1% Antibiotic-Antimycotic (AA; P06-07300, PAN Biotech) and 50 µg/mL Gentamicin (15750-060, Gibco, Life Technologies). Cell cultures were maintained at 37°C in a humidified environment of 5% CO₂. Cells were detached with 0.05% Trypsin-EDTA 1X (25300-054, Invitrogen, Thermo Fisher Scientific) at 37°C for approximately 5 min. For each assay a Bürker counting chamber was used to determine the cell number necessary.

For experimental conditions, cells were cultured with 15 μ M hydrogen peroxide (H₂O₂; 1.07210.0250, Merck), as a ROS generator, 1,5 μ M Erastin (E7781, Sigma) as a ferroptosis inducer, 100 μ M Propranolol (P8688, Sigma Aldrich), for 6 and 16 h.

Cell death analysis by flow cytometry

To analyze the effects of Propranolol and Era on EC death, HUVECs ($5x10^4$ cells/well) were seeded in 24-well plates. After exposure to the experimental conditions, supernatants and cells were collected and centrifuged at 155 *x g* for 5 min. Cell pellets were incubated with 0.5 µL FITC-labeled Annexin V (640906, BioLegend) in Annexin V binding buffer 1X (10 mM Hepes (pH 7.4) (391333, Millipore), 0.14 M sodium chloride (NaCl; 106404, Merck), 2.5 mM calcium chloride (CaCl2; 449709, Sigma Aldrich) and incubated at room temperature for 15 min, in dark. After incubation, cells were rinsed in 200 µL 1X Phosphate-buffered saline (PBS) / 0.1% (v/w) BSA and centrifuged at 155 *x g* for 2 min. The remaining pellet was resuspended in 200 µL of annexin V binding buffer 1X and 2.5 µL of 50 µg/mL propidium iodide (PI; P4170, Sigma Aldrich Aldrich) and analyzed by flow cytometry (FACScalibur – Becton Dickinson). *FlowJo X* v10.0.7 software (*https://www.flowjo.com/*) was used to analyze data.

Wound healing assay

Cells were plated on 24-well plates (1×10^5 cells/well) until the formation of a confluent monolayer. Once confluent, cells were incubated for 3 h with 5 µg/mL mitomycin-C (M4287, Sigma Aldrich), and a linear scratch in each monolayer was made with a P200 pipette tip, creating a wound across the well diameter. The media was replaced to remove debris and cells in suspension and the experimental conditions were added. Bright-field images of each well were acquired on the Olympus IX53 Inverted Microscope at the following timepoints: 0, 2, 4, 6, 8, 10 and 24 h. The wound closure was quantified using *ImageJ* software (*imagej.nih.gov/ij/*).

Tube-forming assay

A 48-well plate was coated with 100 μ L matrigel (354230, Corning) and incubated at 37°C for 30 min until solidify. HUVECs were incubated with 2 μ g/mL calcein (C1430, Invitrogen), a fluorescent cell permeable dye, for 30 min at 37°C and 5% CO2 and seeded (3x10⁴ cells/well) on the top of matrigel. Cells were exposed to the experimental conditions for 6 h and representative images of the vessel-like structures formation were acquired in an Olympus IX53 Inverted Microscope and analyzed with *ImageJ* software (*imagej.nih.gov/ij/*). The density of vessel-like structures formation (branch points number/ μ m²) was calculated as proxy of vascular density.

Reactive oxygen species (ROS) quantification by flow cytometry

HUVECs ($5x10^4$ cells/well) were plated in 24-well plates. The intracellular ROS were detected in cells incubated with 10 µM DCF-DA probe (D6883, Sigma Aldrich), and mitochondrial ROS were detected in cells incubated with 5 µM MitoSox Red probe (M36008, Invitrogen), both at 37°C for 30 min. The acquisition was performed with FACScalibur (Becton Dickinson) and data were analyzed with *FlowJo X* v10.0.7 software (*https://www.flowjo.com/*).

Lipid peroxides quantification by flow cytometry

HUVECs ($5x10^4$ cells/well) were plated in 24-well plates. After experimental conditions, cells were incubated with 2 μ M C11-Bodipy 581/591 (D3861, Invitrogen), for 30 min at 37 °C in dark. Excessive dye was removed by washing with 2% FBS-1X PBS and cell pellets were resuspended in 2% FBS-1X PBS for the acquisition by flow cytometry (FACScalibur – Becton Dickinson). *FlowJo X* v10.0.7 software (*https://www.flowjo.com/*) was used to analyze data.

High-performance liquid chromatography (HPLC)

HUVECs were plated 6-well plate ($2x10^5$ cells/well) and after collection, cell pellets were lysed with 0.01% triton-PBS and centrifuged at 20 000 *x g*, for 10 min at 4 °C. The assessment of aminothiol profile (total, total free, free, protein bound and oxidized form) of lysed cells and supernatants was performed according to Grilo et al. adapted to cell culture (Grilo et al. 2017). The cysteine (Cys) and glutathione (GSH) metabolites were separated on a reversed-Phase C18 LiChroCART 250-4 column (LiChrospher 100 RP-18, 5 µm, VWR, USA), in an isocratic elution mode for 22 min, at a flow rate of 0.6 mL/min by HPLC system (Shimadzu Scientific Instruments Inc) with a RF 10AXL fluorescence detector, operating at excitation and emission wavelengths of 385 and 515 nm, respectively. The mobile phase consisted of 100 mM acetate buffer (pH 4.5) and methanol (98:2 (v/v)). The absolute thiols values were normalized to the protein assessed with Bradford method (500-0006, Bio Rad).

Quantification of H₂S in cell homogenates

HUVECs ($2x10^5$ cells/well) were seeded in 6-well plates and cultured in the experimental conditions, for 16 h. After, cells were scrapped in PBS 1X and centrifuged at 210 *x g* for 5 min. The cell pellet was homogenized in NP40 lysis buffer (1% NP40, 150 mM NaCl, 50 mM Tris-Cl, pH 8.0) on ice for 30 min and centrifuged for 5 min at 20,000 *x g* 4 °C. Cell homogenates (20 µL) were incubated in black 96-well plates with 80 µL of 10 µM 7-Azido-4-Methylcoumarin probe (AzMC, L511455, Sigma Aldrich) and the protein concentration was determined using the Bradford method (500-0006, Bio Rad). The H₂S measurements were posteriorly normalized to total protein concentration and to a blank sample (cellular lysates without probe). H₂S production was monitored in a VIKTOR3 instrument from *PerkinElmer/ Wallac 1420 Software (version 3.0)* through the measurement of AzMC fluorescent signal (355 nm/460 nm) every 30 min for 2 h.

Immunofluorescence

For Ki67, ICAM and VCAM immunodetection, HUVECs (5x10⁴ cells/well) were cultured on glass slides with 0.2% gelatin coating and fixed in 2% paraformaldehyde, for 15 min at 4°C. After blocking with 1% Bovine serum albumin (BSA)-1X PBS, cells were incubated with primary antibodies (anti-Ki67, 1:100 in 1% BSA-0.1% triton X-100- 1X PBS (w/v/v); sc-15402, Santa Cruz; anti-ICAM and anti-VCAM, 1:500 in 0.1% BSA-0.1% triton X-100-PBS (w/v/v); SRC023, Millipore), overnight at 4 °C, followed by an incubation with secondary antibodies (Alexa Fluor 488 goat anti-rabbit, 1:1000 in 1% BSA-0.1% triton x100-PBS; A-11078, Invitrogen - Thermo Fisher Scientific; Alexa Fluor 488 goat anti-mouse ;115-545-003, Thermo Fisher Scientific and Alexa Fluor 594 donkey anti-

mouse; A21203, Thermo Fisher Scientific both at 1:1000 in 0.1% BSA-0.1% triton x100-PBS), for 2 h at room temperature.

For xCT immunodetection, after fixation cell were incubated with 50 mM ammonium chloride (NH₄Cl) for 10 min, followed by blocking and incubation with anti-xCT (1:100 in 0.5% BSA-0.1% saponin-PBS (w/v/v); ab1756, Millipore), for 30 min at room temperature.

For VE-Cadherin (VE-Cad) immunodetection, HUVECs $(1x10^5 \text{ cells/well})$ were cultured in 24-well plate with glass slides coated with 0.2% gelatin, until the formation of a confluent monolayer. After fixation and blocking, cells were incubated anti-VE-Cad (1:50 in 3% BSA-0.1% triton X-100-PBS (w/v/v); AF938, R&D), for 2 h at room temperature, followed by an incubation with the secondary antibody (Alexa Fluor 488 donkey anti-goat, 1:500 in 3% BSA-0.1% triton X-100-PBS; A11055, Thermo Fisher Scientific), for 2 h at room temperature.

All slides were mounted in VECTASHIELD media with DAPI (4'-6-diamidino-2phenylindole; H-1200, Vector Labs) and examined by standard fluorescence microscopy, using an Axio Imager.Z1 microscope (Zeiss) with a CytoVision® software.

The determination of cell proliferation rate was based on the ratio of total and ki67⁺ nuclei and the quantification of ICAM and VCAM expression per cell was calculated according to the formula CTCF (corrected total cell fluorescence) = integrated density – (area of selected cell x mean fluorescence of background reading), both using ImageJ software. The quantification of VE-Cad junctional gaps was performed using *ImageJ* software (*imagej.nih.gov/ij/*).

Cancer cells endothelial adhesion

On a 24-well plate, calcein labelled-MDA-MB-231 ($5x10^4$ cells/well) were seeded on the top of a confluent HUVECs ($1x10^5$ cells/well) monolayer pretreated with 100ng/mL TNF α (H8916, Sigma), for 24 h. MDA-MB-231 were incubated with HUVECs (exposed previously to TNF α and experimental conditions) for 40min, at 37°C in a humidified environment of 5% CO₂. The non-adherent cells were removed by washing with 1X PBS and imagens were acquired in an Olympus IX53 Inverted Microscope and analyzed using *ImageJ* software (*imagej.nih.gov/ij/*). Three fields in each well were evaluated (10X magnification).

Transendothelial cancer cells migration

HUVECs (5x10⁴ cells/well) were plated in 8 μ m pore transwells (upper wells) (3422, Corning) until the formation of a confluent monolayer and exposed to 100ng/mL TNF α

for 24 h, and to experimental conditions, for 16h. MDA-MB-231 previously plated under starvation using serum-free DMEM, for 24 h, were incubated with calcein (2 μg/mL) and seeded (1.5x10⁴ cells/well) in serum free DMEM on the top of the HUVECs monolayer, for 5 h. Complete media was added to the lower well and used as chemoattractant. Cells on the upper transwell surface were removed with a cotton swab and the invading MDA-MB-231-calcein labeled cells were photographed in an Olympus IX53 Inverted Microscope. Three fields in each well were counted (10X magnification) using *ImageJ* software (*imagej.nih.gov/ij/*).

Monocytes isolation, culture and characterization

Monocytes isolation and further cell characterization has been performed as described in chapter II. Briefly, cultured monocytes for 4 days in colony-forming unit (CFU) medium (130-091-277, MACS Technology) and for 1 day in complete EBM-2 were incubated with von Willebrand factor (vWF; 1:500 in 0.5% BSA-0.1% saponin-PBS; A0082, Dako), for 60 min at 4 °C with gentle shaking followed by the incubation with Alexa Fluor 488 anti-rabbit), for 30 min at 4 °C in dark, with gentle shaking. H_2O_2 (15 µM) was used as a promoter of monocytes differentiation into EC, as described in chapter II. vWF expression was detected by flow cytometry in a FACScalibur–Becton and data were analyzed using *FlowJo X* v10.0.7 software (*https://www.flowjo.com/*).

Statistical analysis

All data were analyzed using student's t-test, one-way ANOVA or two-way ANOVA in GraphPad Prism 7 software (*www.graphpad.com/*). The assays were performed with at least 3 biological replicates *per* condition and the differences were determined statistically significant at p value < 0.05.

Results

Erastin promotes the generation of ROS-induced lipid peroxides, while Propranolol (Prop) revert this effect through its antioxidant properties mediated by hydrogen sulfide (H₂S) levels

Erastin was used as a ferroptosis activator, since it inhibits the sodium-independent cystine/glutamate antiporter System xc- (xCT; encoded by *SLC7A11*), responsible for the import of cystine (Lo *et al.*, 2008; Lewerenz *et al.*, 2013), the main source of cysteine to sustain GSH synthesis (Sun *et al.*, 2018). Therefore, upon the inhibition of xCT the function of glutathione peroxidase 4 (GPX4) will be impaired, promoting an increase in lipid peroxidation, mediated by free active iron (Sato *et al.*, 2018), and further ferroptosis

(Koppula *et al.*, 2018). The expression of xCT was confirmed in HUVECs (Fig IV.1) and ferroptosis-related features were analyzed. HUVECs exposed to Erastin increased intracellular ROS (Fig IV.2 A) and lipid peroxides levels (Fig IV.2 C), without affecting mitochondrial ROS (Fig IV.2 B). Moreover, Erastin exposure decreases GSH levels (Fig IV.2 D) and their inhibitory effect in cyst(e)ine uptake was confirmed, since cells exposed to Erastin present high levels of total cysteine in culture medium (Fig IV.2 E). Interestingly, the increased generation of ROS (Fig 2 A), lipid peroxides (Fig IV.2 C) and the depletion of GSH (Fig IV.1 D) did not promote ferroptosis-induced ECs death (Fig IV.2 F). Considering that the ferroptosis-related features of HUVECs exposed to Erastin did not promote cell death we termed the effects of Erastin in HUVECs as ferroptosis-like mechanism.



Figure IV. 1 xCT is expressed in endothelial cells (HUVECs).

HUVECs expresses xCT (green) mainly in mitochondria (TOM20, red), and its expression is not affected by Erastin (Era) and/or Propranolol (Prop), for 16 h (scale: 20µm).

Moreover, we observed that Propranolol alone has antioxidant properties that besides decreasing the intracellular ROS levels (Fig IV.2 A), also reverted the levels of ROS (Fig IV.2 A) and lipid peroxides (Fig IV.2 C) induced by Erastin. However, Propranolol also decreased GSH reduced and total levels, maintaining the oxidized GSH (GSSG) levels similar to the control condition, both alone or in combination with Erastin (Fig IV.2 D).

Since the Propranolol antioxidant effect is not due to increased GSH levels, we hypothesized that hydrogen sulfide (H_2S) generation may have a role in the antioxidant properties of Propranolol. H_2S , a product of cysteine degradation (Hipólito *et al.*, 2020; Nunes, Ramos, *et al.*, 2018), is a powerful antioxidant (Shefa *et al.*, 2018), with a reductive potential similar to the couple glutathione disulfide/glutathione (GSSG/GSH) (Giuffrè and Vicente, 2018). To disclose the involvement and the production of H_2S upon Propranolol exposure, H_2S production was quantified. Erastin did not affect H_2S levels while Propranolol exposure increased H_2S levels (Fig IV.2 G). Moreover, when Propranolol was combined with Erastin, the levels of H_2S come close to the control, suggesting that Propranolol's antioxidant effect is mediated by H_2S .



Figure IV. 2 Erastin (Era) promotes increased levels of ROS-induced lipid peroxides and Propranolol (Prop), through the generation of hydrogen sulfide (H_2S), is able to revert it.

A) The levels of intracellular ROS (DCF-DA) decreased upon Prop exposure, and Era, although increasing the ROS levels, when co-administrated with Prop the levels came close to the control, at 6 and 16 h. B) The

levels of mitochondrial ROS, assessed by MitoSox, were not affected by the presence of Era and/or Prop, at 6 and 16 h. C) Era induced lipid peroxides (C11-Bodipy) generation and although Prop alone did not affect the lipid peroxides content, its combination with Era reverted the levels generated by Era, being this effect more prominent at 16 h. D) The levels of GSH (total and free total) decreased upon exposure to Era and/or Prop for 16h. E) Era did not affect HUVECs death (annexin V plus PI positive cells), while 16 h of Prop exposure, with and without Era, increased the ratio of HUVECs death. F) Era did not affect H₂S levels of HUVECs while Prop increased, at 16 h. In graphs the dashed line represents the control condition. All data are normalized to the control condition and represented as mean \pm SD. *p<0.5, **p<0.01, ***p<0.001, ****p<0.0001.

A ferroptosis-like mechanism promotes EC activation, which is impaired by the antioxidant properties of Propranolol

Hence, we investigate if the generation of ROS-induced lipid peroxides through this ferroptosis-like mechanism induces ECs activation. It was observed that Erastin exposure increased HUVECs proliferation (Fig IV.3 A) and migration (Fig IV.3 B), without affecting cell viability (Fig IV.2 E), suggesting that a ferroptosis-like mechanism has a role in the promotion of ECs activation,

Considering that Propranolol acts as an inhibitor of angiogenesis and ferroptosis (Sharifpanah *et al.*, 2014; Cavalheiro *et al.*, 2016), its interference with ferroptosismediated angiogenesis was evaluated. In fact, HUVECs exposed to Propranolol showed decreased proliferation (Fig IV.3 A) and migration (Fig IV.3 B) and increased cell death, at 16h (Fig IV.2 F). Moreover, Propranolol was able to revert the Erastin effect at 16h, leading to the inhibition of HUVECs proliferation (Fig IV.3 A) and migration (Fig IV.3 A) and migration (Fig IV.3 A) and migration (Fig IV.3 B), as well as disturbing cell viability (Fig IV.2 F).

Since the pro-oxidative microenvironment promotes angiogenesis (Kim and Byzova, 2014; Prieto-Bermejo and Hernández-Hernández, 2017), the HUVECs capacity to form vessels-like structures was tested under oxidative conditions simulated by hydrogen peroxide (H₂O₂) exposure, in an *in vitro* tube-forming assay. Erastin exposure increased the branch points density at the same range of H₂O₂ and no cumulative effect between Erastin and H₂O₂ was observed (Fig IV.3 C). Moreover, Propranolol decreased the vessel-like structure formation (Fig 3 C) and reverted the stimulation by H₂O₂ and Erastin (Fig IV.2 C), even when Propranolol was added to the vessel-like structures already formed in the presence of Erastin (Erastin+Propranolol (2h); Fig IV.3 D). These results indicate that the Propranolol anti-angiogenic effect is related, at least in part, to the abrogation of the ferroptosis-like mechanism induced by Erastin.



Figure IV. 3 The ferroptosis-like mechanism driven by Erastin (Era) promotes endothelial cells (ECs) activation and Propranolol (Prop) impairs the phenotype induced by Era exposure.

A) The ferroptosis-like mechanism, generated by Era exposure, promoted HUVECs proliferation (increased ratio of Ki67+ (green) nuclei/total nuclei), while Propranolol decreased the rate of HUVECs proliferation and impaired the phenotype induced by Era. The panel shows representative microscope images of the Ki67

staining (scale: 20 µm). B) The panel shows representative microscope images of wound closure at 10 h (scale: 200 µm). Era fostered HUVECs migration (increased % wound closure) and Prop inhibited and reverted the phenotype induced by Era. The panel shows representative microscope images of wound closure at 10h (scale: 200 µm). C/D) The panels show representative microscope images of tube-forming assay using HUVECs-calcein labelled cells (scale: 200 µm). Era increased the branch point density of vessel-like structures (proxy for vascular density) at the same range of H₂O₂ (ROS; positive control), without an additive effect. Prop, besides the impairment of vessel-like structures formation (decreased branch point density), inhibited the phenotype induced by Era, even when Prop was added to the vessel-like structures already formed in the presence of Era (Era+Prop (2 h)) and contrariwise (Prop +Era (2 h)). In graphs the dashed line represents the control condition. All data are normalized to the control condition and represented as mean \pm SD. *p<0.5, **p<0.01, ****p<0.001, ****p<0.0001.

A ferroptosis-like mechanism induced by Erastin promotes the generation of leakier ECs structures, which are normalized by Propranolol, blocking cancer cell adhesion and transendothelial migration

The generation of a pro-oxidative microenvironment is correlated with the formation of disorganized and leakier vessel networks (Lugano *et al.*, 2020). Thus, the adhesion structures in HUVECs were evaluated, through vascular endothelial-cadherin (VE-Cad) immunodetection. VE-Cad is a component of ECs adherens junctions, crucial for the stability and function of the mature vessels (Harris and Nelson, 2010). Erastin affected the HUVECs monolayer stability by increasing VE-Cad intercellular junctional gaps and Propranolol reverted this effect (Fig IV.4 A and B). The ferroptosis like-mechanism mediates the proliferation of ECs (Fig IV.3 A), although with increased VE-Cad intercellular junctional gaps (Fig IV.4 A and B) between ECs, thereby contributing to a more instable vascular structure. Interestingly, Propranolol reverted this phenotype (Fig IV.4 A and B), inducing the stabilization of the ECs monolayer.



Figure IV. 4 Erastin (Era) promotes the generation of a leakier ECs monolayer while increases cancer cell-EC interaction and transendothelial migration.

A) The ferroptosis-like mechanism driven by Era promoted an increased generation of intercellular VE-Cadherin (VE-Cad) gaps *per* 100 μ m², while Propranolol (Prop) was able to revert this phenotype. The panel shows representative images (scale: 10 μ m) of VE-Cadherin (green) intercellular junctional gaps (arrows) in HUVECs exposed to Era and/or Prop for 16h. B) Intracellular adhesion molecule (ICAM) intensity *per* cell (HUVECs; A.U.: arbitrary units) increased upon Era exposure and although Prop alone did not affect ICAM expression, it was able to abrogate the expression induced by Era, at 16 h. Vascular cell adhesion protein (VCAM) intensity *per* cell (A.U.: arbitrary units) shows a tendency to increase under Era exposure. The ferroptosis-like mechanism, induced by Era, promoted cancer cell (MDA-MB-231-calcein labelled cells) adhesion and transendothelial migration induced by Era. The panels show representative microscope images (scale: 100 μ m; MDA-MB-231-calcein labelled cells (green)). All data are normalized to the control condition and represented as mean ± SD. *p<0.05, **p<0.01, ***p<0.001.
Intercellular adhesion molecule (ICAM) and vascular cell adhesion molecule (VCAM) expression in ECs is important for cancer cell-EC interaction during the metastatic cascade (Chen and Massagué, 2012; Zhang et al., 2014; Shenoy and Lu, 2016). HUVECs exposed to Erastin significantly increased ICAM expression, as well as VCAM expression, though not in a statistically significant range (Fig IV.4 C). On the contrary, Propranolol alone did not alter ICAM and VCAM expression, but it was able to revert the increased expression induced by Erastin (Fig IV.4 C and D). Considering the increased expression of ICAM (Fig IV.4 C), we also explored the effect of Erastin and Propranolol on cancer cells adhesion to ECs and transendothelial migration. The triple negative breast cancer cell line MDA-MB-231 was co-cultured on the top of a previously stablished HUVECs monolayer exposed to Erastin and/or Propranolol. Erastin increased the number of cancer cells adherent to the ECs monolayer (Fig IV.4 E) and stimulated the transendothelial migration (Fig IV.4 F), while Propranolol reverted both Erastin effects (Fig IV.4 E and F). Our results indicate that a ferroptosis-like mechanism has also a role in the promotion of vessel stabilization and in cancer cells adhesion and extravasation. Summing up, Propranolol was able to revert the phenotype induced by Erastin, decreasing the intercellular junctional gaps (Fig IV.4 A and B), cancer cells adhesion (Fig IV.4 E) and transendothelial migration (Fig IV.4 F), therefore suggesting that Propranolol could eventually impair, or at least retard, the metastatic process (Hiller et al., 2020).

Neither Erastin nor Propranolol affected monocytes differentiation to ECs

In chapter II, we showed that monocytes act as endothelial progenitor cells (EPCs), being their differentiation into ECs promoted by a ROS-enriched microenvironment simulated by H_2O_2 . Considering the effect of a ferroptosis-like mechanism in ECs activation, we explored its impact in the differentiation route of monocytes into ECs, assessed by the gain of vWF (Von Willebrand factor or VIII factor). Erastin and/or Propranolol exposure had no effect in vWF expression and their concomitant exposure with a H_2O_2 did not change the vWF expression stimulated by H_2O_2 (Fig IV.5 A). Moreover, ROS and lipid peroxides (Fig IV.5 B and C) levels did not alter with Erastin exposure after H_2O_2 stimulation. In contrast to ECs, Propranolol did not affect ROS and lipid peroxides (Fig IV.5 B and C) levels of not change the view of the effect of ECs, Propranolol did not affect ROS and lipid peroxides (Fig IV.5 B and C) levels of not affect ROS and lipid peroxides (Fig IV.5 B and C) levels of not affect ROS and lipid peroxides (Fig IV.5 B and C) levels of not affect ROS and lipid peroxides (Fig IV.5 B and C) levels of not affect ROS and lipid peroxides (Fig IV.5 B and C) levels of not affect ROS and lipid peroxides (Fig IV.5 B and C) levels of not affect ROS and lipid peroxides (Fig IV.5 B and C) levels of not affect ROS and lipid peroxides (Fig IV.5 B and C) levels of not affect ROS and lipid peroxides (Fig IV.5 B and C) levels in monocytes, suggesting that the antioxidant role of Propranolol verified during ECs activation did not interfere with the differentiation process of monocytes towards ECs.



Figure IV. 5 Erastin (Era) and Propranolol (Prop) do not affect the differentiation route of monocytes into ECs.

A) Neither Era nor Prop affected the expression of vWF, even when co-exposed with a short H_2O_2 stimulation (positive control of the differentiation pattern of monocytes), indicating that Era and/or Prop had no impact in the differentiation process of monocytes-derived cells into ECs. Era and/or Prop exposure before the short H_2O_2 stimulation did not influence the intracellular ROS (DCF-DA; B) and lipid peroxides (11C-Bodipy; C) levels. In B and C data are normalized to the control condition and represented as mean \pm SD. *p<0.5, **p<0.01, ***p<0.001, ****p<0.001.

Discussion

During tumorigenesis, the increasing metabolic rate of cancer cells drive the generation of a pro-oxidative TME, which is responsible for the production and release of pro-angiogenic factors by cancer and tumor-associated stromal cells (Schito and Semenza, 2016; De Sá Junior *et al.*, 2017). The ROS production within the TME can be stimulated by VEGF and hypoxia, the main players of ECs activation (Brand *et al.*, 2004; Dewhirst *et al.*, 2008; Coso *et al.*, 2012; Lassègue *et al.*, 2012). The major production of ROS depends on superoxide-generating enzymes (NOX), which generate O_2^{-} through the transfer of electrons from NADPH to oxygen (Brand *et al.*, 2004; Dewhirst *et al.*, 2012; Lassègue *et al.*, 2012). The generation of NOX-dependent ROS increases VEGF secretion and angiogenesis, in a HIF1 α -dependent manner (Xia *et al.*, 2007). Therefore, the generation of a pro-oxidative and pro-angiogenic TME seems to work synergistically in the promotion of tumor angiogenesis.

Ferroptosis has been firstly described as an iron-dependent programed cell death characterized by the accumulation of lipid peroxides, although new evidence have shown that ferroptosis is not a strict cell death mechanism (Hirschhorn and Stockwell, 2019). In fact, ferroptosis revealed to contribute to the regulation of biological and pathophysiological processes (Friedmann et al., 2014; Linkermann et al., 2014; Yang et al., 2014; Yu et al., 2015; Lei et al., 2019; Li et al., 2020;). Ferroptosis-inducing compounds, as Erastin, affects the antioxidant capacity of cells through the inhibition of xCT, that was proved to be expressed in ECs (HUVECs) (Fig IV.1). The impairment of xCT activity disturbs cystine import, the main source of cysteine for GSH synthesis. GSH acts as an electron donor and reduce lipid hydroperoxides upon GPX4 action (Yang et al., 2014; Proneth and Conrad, 2019; Li et al., 2020). So far, there are no specific markers for ferroptosis and since we are interested in disclosing the non-lethal effect of ferroptosis on angiogenesis, here we evaluated the levels of ROS-induced lipids peroxides underlying ferroptosis and GSH dynamics. In our experimental conditions, we observed that Erastin promotes the increase of intracellular ROS (Fig IV.2 A) and lipid peroxides levels (Fig IV.2 C), without affecting the mitochondrial ROS content (Fig IV.2 B). In agreement, a significantly decreased cyst(e)ine uptake (Fig IV.2 E) concomitant with GSH depletion was observed upon Erastin exposure (Fig IV.2 D). Since the aforementioned ferroptosis-like features did not account for ECs death (Fig IV.2 F), from now on we termed the effects of Erastin in HUVECs as ferroptosis-like mechanism.

The antiferroptotic properties of Propranolol has been recently described, in which its peroxyl radicals scavenging effect is independent of β 1-blockade activity (Mishima *et al.*, 2020). Here, we observed that although Propranolol decreased reduced and total GSH levels and maintain GSSG (oxidized GSH) levels, in comparison to the control, it exerts antioxidant effects through the decrease of intracellular ROS levels (Fig IV.2 A) and the reversion of the accumulation of lipid peroxides induced by Erastin (Fig IV.2 A and C). In fact, the increased H₂S levels upon Propranolol exposure (Fig IV.2 G) indicates that the antioxidant Propranolol property might be mediated by H₂S, since it is a gasotransmitter capable of regulating oxidative stress by directly scavenging ROS (Olas, 2017; Shefa *et al.*, 2018).

Although the generation of a pro-oxidative TME is already implicated in the promotion of the angiogenic switch and further angiogenesis (Kim and Byzova, 2014; Prieto-Bermejo and Hernández-Hernández, 2017), here we unraveled for the first time the role of a ferroptosis-like mechanism in ECs activation. We showed that this mechanism induces ECs hyperactivation, by increasing cell proliferation and migration (Fig IV.3 A and B), and by promoting the formation of vessel-like structures (increased branch point density, a proxy for vascular density; Fig IV.3 C)), mimicking the *in vivo* capacity of ECs to form vascular structures. The results strengthen the contribution of the ferroptosis-like mechanism in the promotion of tumor angiogenesis because tumor ECs are described as having a proliferation rate 50–200 times faster than normal ECs and have an increased capacity to migrate and organize into vascular tubules, thereby fueling the tumor mass (Azzi *et al.*, 2013; Folkman, 2006). Interestingly, Erastin stimulates the formation of vessel-like structures at the same range of H_2O_2 (ROS), without a synergistic effect (Fig IV.3 C), supporting again the involvement of the ferroptosis-like mechanism on angiogenic processes.

Propranolol acts as an inhibitor of angiogenesis and it has been recently described that it suppresses proliferation, migration and tube formation of hemangioma cells through the HIF-1α-VEGF-A axis (Chim *et al.*, 2012; Chen *et al.*, 2017) and decreases the expression of angiogenic growth factors, as VEGF and FGF (Sharifpanah *et al.*, 2014). However, the precise cellular mechanism underlying blood vessels disruption and angiogenesis impairment is still unknown. In this work, we observed that ECs proliferation, migration and vessel-like structure formation (Fig IV.3 A-D) are affected by the presence of Propranolol. Moreover, Propranolol, besides its anti-angiogenic effect under basal culture conditions, is able to abrogate the stimulation of ECs activation induced by Erastin and to disrupt already established vessel-like structures (Fig IV.3 A-D), suggesting that the Propranolol anti-angiogenic effect is related, at least in part, to the abrogation of the ferroptosis-like mechanism.

The cancer-associated vasculature is characterized by an increased permeability and interstitial fluid pressure due to the disruption of ECs junctions, which reveals to be pivotal for cancer cells extravasation and further metastasis (Hashizume et al., 2000; Rohlenova et al., 2018). As mentioned above, TME is characterized by increased ROS levels and some studies linked its levels with increased vessels permeability (Lum and Roebuck, 2001; Aghajanian et al., 2008). In fact, ROS affects vascular permeability by regulating junctional protein phosphorylation and actin cytoskeleton organization (Moldovan et al., 2000; van Wetering et al., 2002; Sallee et al., 2006). Increased ROS levels contributes for phosphatases inactivation at ECs junctions, leading to increased junction phosphorylation and further loss of junctional integrity (Moldovan et al., 2000; Sallee et al., 2006). EC:EC junctions are formed by different adhesive molecules; however, VE-Cad is considered the major EC-specific junctional protein that controls vascular integrity. A decrease in its expression in pathological conditions associates with a loss of vascular barrier integrity and permeability (Caveda et al., 1996; Dejana, 2004; Gavard, 2014). The extracellular domain of VE-Cad mediates the homophilic adhesion and clustering between ECs while the intracellular domain binds to catenin's and to the cytoskeleton, mediating VE-Cad complex stabilization and regulating intercellular permeability (Dejana, 2004; Gavard, 2014). Moreover, the increased VEGF levels in the TME, promotes VE-Cad phosphorylation and internalization in ECs, leadings to an impaired adhesiveness and non-functional vessels (Bentley *et al.*, 2009; Rohlenova *et al.*, 2018). Our results indicated that in addition to the role of the ferroptosis-like mechanism on ECs activation (Fig IV.3), ROS-induced lipid peroxides generation (Fig IV.2 A and C) also promotes the formation of VE-Cad intercellular junctional gaps (Fig IV.4 A and B), resulting in the generation of a leakier endothelium. However, its mechanism of action needs to be further explored. Furthermore, the exposure to antioxidants and free radical scavengers impairs ROS-induced EC permeability (Lum and Roebuck, 2001; Aghajanian *et al.*, 2008). Interestingly, we observed that the antioxidant properties of Propranolol induces the normalization of vascular structures (Fig IV.4 A and B) reinforcing its putative use in cancer therapy.

Despite VE-Cad function in the maintenance of vascular integrity, it is also known that VE-Cad plays a crucial role in cell-cell contact inhibition. For instance, VE–Cad-deficient ECs loose contact inhibition and have increased cell density (Carmeliet *et al.*, 1999; Lampugnani *et al.*, 2003; Wallez and Huber, 2008), suggesting that the disruption of VE-Cad intercellular junctions by the ferroptosis-like mechanism besides its effects in vascular integrity (Fig IV.4 A and B), could be implicated, at least in part, in the increased proliferation rate of ECs upon Erastin exposure (Fig IV.3 A).

EC:EC junctions, specially VE-Cad adherens junctions, controls the bidirectional passage of cells and molecules between blood vessel and irrigated tissues (Unger et al., 2002). A hallmark of vascular pathologies, as tumor angiogenesis, is the disruption of VE-Cad junctions, leading to EC:EC junction weakening, transcellular holes formation and increased permeability (Hashizume et al., 2000; Gavard, 2014). Tumor neovessels leakiness creates a hostile milieu to cancer cells invade and metastasize and limits the intravenous drug delivery of conventional chemotherapeutic agents (Carmeliet and Jain, 2011a, 2011b; Jain, 2014). Strategies focused in endothelium normalization associates with increased vessel barrier functions by the reorganization of the junctional molecules, as VE-cadherin, zonula occludens-1/2 (ZO-1, ZO-2) and claudin-5 (Mazzone et al., 2009; Magrini et al., 2014). The generation of a leakier endothelium with disturbed VE-Cad junctions by the ferroptosis-like mechanism (Fig IV.4 A and B) is accompanied by an increase in ICAM adhesion molecule expression (Fig IV.4 C), a crucial protein for cancer cell:EC interaction during the metastatic cascade (Chen and Massagué, 2012; Zhang et al., 2014; Shenoy and Lu, 2016). Increased ICAM expression (Fig IV.4 C) fosters cancer cells:EC adhesion (Fig IV.4 E) and transendothelial migration (Fig IV.4 F), essential

steps during cancer cell systemic spread. Propranolol alone did not impact VE-Cad intercellular junctional gaps (Fig IV.4 A and B), ICAM expression (Fig IV.4 C) and cancer cell:EC adhesion (Fig IV.4 E) and transendothelial cancer cell migration (Fig IV.4 F), revealing its contribution for vessel stabilization and putatively a disturbance of metastasis. In fact, these results may explain why breast cancer patients exposed to βblockers, as Propranolol, prior or after diagnosis had less metastases (Cardwell et al., 2016; Pantziarka et al., 2018; Hiller et al., 2020). Accordingly, Propranolol reverted the pro-metastatic ECs phenotype induced by Erastin, by decreasing VE-Cad intercellular junctional gaps (Fig IV.4 A and B), ICAM expression (Fig IV.4 C) and by disturbing cancer cells adhesion to ECs and transendothelial cancer cells migration (Fig IV.4 E and F). Therefore, the effect of the ferroptosis-like mechanism, at a non-lethal level, mimics the pathophysiological angiogenic process in cancer, characterized by ECs hyperactivation that leads to the formation of a leakier vascular network (Hashizume et al., 2000; Trédan et al., 2007; Masiero et al., 2013; Rohlenova et al., 2018;). On the other hand, Propranolol administration will block the angiogenic switch, decelerating angiogenesis and further tumor growth, while preventing the generation of a leakier vasculature, decreasing metastasis and putatively increasing the delivery of cytotoxic drugs to the cancer cells.

In chapter II, we showed that monocytes act as EPCs and are capable of being incorporated into the tumor vasculature, contributing to cancer progression. Since proangiogenic and pro-oxidant stimulus (H_2O_2) pushes monocytes to ECs differentiation (chapter II) here, we explored if the differentiation route of monocytes towards ECs also benefits from the ferroptosis-like mechanism. We observed that Erastin does not interfere with monocytic differentiation into ECs (Fig IV.5) and does not impact monocytes differentiation under H_2O_2 exposure (Fig IV.5 A), as well as it does not change ROS and lipid peroxides levels (Fig IV.5 B and C). Moreover, Propranolol, that in ECs is able to impair the activation induced by the ferroptosis-like mechanism, has no impact on the monocytes differentiation process (Fig IV.5 A) and in intracellular ROS and lipid peroxides levels (Fig IV.5 B and C).

Together, the results suggested that the ferroptosis-like mechanism, mediated by Erastin, through GSH depletion and ROS-induced lipid peroxides generation is implicated in the regulation of some pathophysiological ECs features, promoting ECs hyperactivation, leakiness and cancer cell migration (Fig IV.6). Propranolol scavenging activity, mediated by H₂S, impairs the generation of oxidative stress, which in turn reverts the ECs phenotype observed under Erastin exposure and leads to the normalization of vascular structures (Fig IV.6). Additionally, despite the effects of the ferroptosis-like

mechanism in ECs activation, it did not affect the differentiation process of monocytes into ECs.



Figure IV. 6 The ferroptosis-like mechanism is involved in endothelial cells (ECs) activation and the antioxidant Propranolol (Prop) properties revert this process.

A) A pro-angiogenic ferroptosis-like mechanism, through the generation of ROS, the accumulation of lipid peroxides and glutathione (GSH) depletion is implicated in the promotion of ECs hyperactivation, vessels leakiness and cancer cells migration and intravasation. B) Prop scavenging activity is anti-angiogenic, since in one hand it impairs the ECs activation underlined by the ferroptosis-like mechanism and in other hand promote vessel normalization, pivotal to impair metastasis and improve the delivery of chemotherapeutic agents.

Chapter V

SeChry@PUREG4 and Propranolol as a promising strategy for cancer treatment: a way to simultaneously induce cancer cell death and stabilize tumor vasculature

This chapter was based on:

Lopes-Coelho F, Martins F, Hipólito A, Mendes C, Sequeira CO, Pires R, Almeida AM, Bonifácio VDB, Vicente JB, Pereira SA, Serpa J. The activation of endothelial cells relies on a ferroptosis-like mechanism: novel perspectives in management of angiogenesis and cancer therapy. Manuscript in preparation

Abstract

Selenium (Se) compounds and derivatives have known pro-oxidant properties, modulating the intracellular redox balance through the generation of reactive oxygen species (ROS) and, therefore, exerting a cytotoxic activity in cancer cells. We recently published that dendrimeric nanoparticles loaded with selenium chrysin (SeChry@PURE_{G4}) have anti-cancer effects. In chapter IV, we showed the potential use of Propranolol not only in the inhibition of the formation of new vessels, but also in the normalization of pre-existing endothelium, thereby decreasing cancer cell extravasation and improving the delivery of chemotherapeutic agents. Here, we tested the use of SeChry@PURE_{G4} nanoparticles, with and without Propranolol, as a putative therapy to treat cancer by tackling cancer cells and endothelium. We observed that in cancer cells (MDA-MB-231), SeChry@PURE_{G4} act as an oxidative stress mediated agent, inducing cancer cell death. Moreover, Propranolol potentiates the generation of ROS and lipidperoxides induced by SeChry@PURE₆₄, thereby promoting ferroptotic cell death. While in endothelial cells (ECs), the death levels upon concomitant exposure of SeChry@PURE_{G4} and Propranolol are much lower and the ECs-specific Propranolol antioxidant properties revert ROS-generation induced by SeChry@PURE_{G4}, without affecting the stability of ECs networks. The combination of SeChry@PURE_{G4} and Propranolol might be an efficient dual-effect therapy, by inducing cancer cells death and by stabilizing the tumor vasculature, impairing metastasis and improving the efficacy of chemotherapy.

Keywords: selenium-containing chrysin (SeChry), SeChry encapsulated in generation four polyurea dendrimer (SeChry@PURE_{G4}), Propranolol, oxidative stress-induced ferroptosis, cancer cell death, endothelium normalization

Introduction

Selenium (Se) is considered as an essential micronutrient in humans, being a cofactor in the production of selenoproteins, as glutathione peroxidase 4 (GPX4) and thioredoxine reductase (TrxR). Given its role in immune system, cancer prevention and its antioxidant properties, Se has been proposed as a potential anti-cancer agent (Rayman, 2000; Avery and Hoffmann, 2018; Gandin *et al.*, 2018) Nowadays, its already stated that Se properties and their mechanism of action is influenced by dose, species and presence of associated moieties (Wang *et al.*, 2007; Y. Yang *et al.*, 2009; Kong *et al.*, 2011; Luo *et al.*, 2012; Huang *et al.*, 2013).

The use of Se containing-small molecules and Se-derivates has revealed a wide range of biological functions, although their biological activity depends on their chemical formula (Jacob et al., 2003; Battin and Brumaghim, 2009). Some chemical presentations of Se, as diselenides, selenomethionine, methylseleninic acid, dimethyldiselenide and organoselenium compounds have antioxidant properties, protecting cells against oxidative damage and modulating multiple biological functions implicated in cancer development and progression (Spallholz et al., 2001; Rosa et al., 2007; Sanmartin et al., 2008; Brandão et al., 2009; Plano et al., 2010; Rahmanto and Davies, 2012). Contrarily, other compounds, as Se-containing chrysin (Sechry), reveal to be pro-oxidant and highly cytotoxic for cancer cells (IMartins et al., 2015; Santos et al., 2019). Therefore, some Se compounds are more effective on cancer prevention, mainly due to its antioxidant properties, while others, by its pro-oxidant properties, are more effective in killing cancer cells. The properties of Se compounds as modulators of the redox state and their increased selectivity and sensitivity for cancer cells (Weekley et al., 2013; Fernandes and Gandin, 2015; Chaiswing et al., 2018; Gandin et al., 2018) make these compounds attractive for the development of anti-cancer formulations.

As mentioned, the cytotoxic activity of some Se compounds, in cancer cells, is mediated by their pro-oxidant properties that modulate the intracellular redox balance through the generation of reactive oxygen species (ROS), by the oxidation of intracellular thiols and/or by direct proteins oxidation, leading to protein unfolding and loss of biological functions (Cheong *et al.*, 2012; Selenius *et al.*, 2012; Longati *et al.*, 2013; Khalkar *et al.*, 2018;). For instance, NF- κ B, p53, JNK and SP1 proteins are described as being directly modified by thiol oxidation (Hocevar *et al.*, 2001; Tseng *et al.*, 2001; Huang *et al.*, 2006; Eriksson *et al.*, 2015; Husbeck *et al.*, 2006). Moreover, Se compounds are selectively taken up, localized and accumulated in cancer cells, however the mechanisms of cancer selectivity and uptake are not fully understood (Esteban *et al.*, 1965; Jain, 2017; Ye *et al.*, 2017). Olm et al., demonstrated that the overexpression of sodium-independent cystine/glutamate antiporter System xc- (xCT; SLC7A11) in cancer

cells, promotes the extracellular reduction of selenite to selenide, generating a reductive microenvironment that in turn facilitates the Se uptake (Olma *et al.*, 2009). Other study purposed that the aberrant cancer cell metabolism that requires high amounts of Se, a rate-limiting substrate for selenoproteins synthesis such as GPX4, favors Se uptake (Carlisle *et al.*, 2020).

The cancer treatment has improved during the last years, however cancer patients still suffer from acute and chronic toxicity caused by the conventional cancer treatment (Cleeland *et al.*, 2012; Laviano *et al.*, 2012). New evidence point out that targeted anticancer therapies will be pivotal to increase cancer cell specificity and to avoid toxicity in healthy tissues (Sun *et al.*, 2014b; Zaimy *et al.*, 2017; Ahmad *et al.*, 2019). The development of anti-angiogenic drugs arises from Folkman theory, in 1971, which suggested an association between angiogenesis and tumor development (Folkman, 1971). Since then, numerous efforts have been made to develop anti-angiogenic drugs in order to improve disease outcome, however so far, the clinical results have been disappointing (Kim *et al.*, 1993; Vasudev and Reynolds, 2014; Teleanu *et al.*, 2019). In a theoretical scenario, the development of strategies focused in both cancer cell death and vasculature normalization would certainly improve the clinical efficacy of cancer treatment.

Here, we explore the use of the pro-oxidant SeChry compound encapsulated in a dendrimeric nanoparticle - SeChry@PURE_{G4} -, in combination with Propranolol, as a strategy for cancer treatment. Given the effects of Propranolol in endothelial cells (ECs), as previously described in chapter III and IV, and the SeChry@PURE_{G4} properties, we hypothesized that this approach would promote cancer cell death, mediated by oxidative stress, and ECs' stability ensured by Propranolol, a pivotal process for the abrogation of the metastatic cascade and the improvement of chemotherapy delivery.

Materials and methods

Cell culture

Human umbilical vein endothelial cells (HUVECs: CRL-1730, ATCC) were cultured in Endothelial Cell Growth Basal Medium-2 (EBM-2: CC-3156, Lonza, Bioscience) supplemented with EGM-2 SingleQuots Supplements (CC-4176, Lonza, Bioscience). All experiments were performed until the passage 10. Triple-negative breast cancer (MDA-MB-231: HTB-26[™], ATCC) were used as tumor models, being cultured in Dulbecco's Modified Eagles Medium 1X (DMEM) (41965-039, Gibco, Life Technologies), supplemented with 10% fetal bovine serum (FBS) (S 0615, Merck), 1% AntibioticAntimycotic (AA; P06-07300, PAN Biotech) and 50 μ g/mL Gentamicin (15750-060, Gibco, Life Technologies). Cell cultures were maintained at 37°C in a humidified environment of 5% CO₂. Cells were detached with 0.05% Trypsin-EDTA 1X (25300-054, Invitrogen, Thermo Fisher Scientific) at 37°C and splitted to new plates according to the experimental procedure.

For experimental conditions cells were cultured with 100 μ M Propranolol (P8688, Sigma Aldrich) and 160 and 200 μ M SeChry, for 16 hours (h).

SeChry@PURE_{G4} synthesis

Selenium-containing chrysin (SeChry) was synthesized following a reported protocol (I. L. Martins *et al.*, 2015). After purification, the formation of the product was confirmed by ¹H NMR. ¹H NMR (CDCl3, 400 MHz) δ (ppm): 7.96 (2H, d, *J*= 8.0 Hz), 7.76 (1H, s), 7.61 (1H, t, *J*= 8.0 Hz), 7.52 (2H, t, *J*= 8.0 Hz), 6.51 (1H, d, *J*= 4.0 Hz), 6.46 (1H, d, *J*= 4.0 Hz). Polyurea dendrimer generation four (PURE_{G4}) was obtained using our supercritical-assisted polymerization protocol (Restani *et al.*, 2012). SeChry was encapsulated in PURE_{G4} nanoparticles following our protocol (Kunsang *et al.*, 2010). Briefly, SeChry (6.5 mg) was added to an aqueous solution (10 mL) of PURE_{G4} (125 mg) and stirred overnight. Then, the aqueous solution was extracted with chloroform (CHCl₃) to remove non-encapsulated or surface bound SeChry. No SeChry was found in the CHCl₃ extracts (control by thin layer chromatography; TLC), thus confirming a full encapsulation. The release profile follows the usual profile reported for this nanodelivery system (Restani *et al.* 2015).

Cell death analysis by flow cytometry

To analyze the effects of Propranolol and SeChry@PURE_{G4} on cell death, HUVECs $(5x10^4 \text{ cells/well})$ and MDA-MB-231 $(5x10^4 \text{ cells/well})$ were seeded in 24-well plates. After exposure to the experimental conditions, supernatants and cells were collected and centrifuged at 155 *x g* for 5 minutes (min). Cell pellets were incubated with 0.5 µL FITC-labeled Annexin V (640906, BioLegend) in Annexin V binding buffer 1X (10 mM Hepes (pH 7.4; 391333, Millipore), 0.14 M sodium chloride (NaCl; 106404, Merck), 2.5 mM calcium chloride (CaCl₂; 449709, Sigma Aldrich) and incubated at room temperature for 15 min, in dark. After incubation, cells were rinsed in 200 µL 1X Phosphate-buffered saline (PBS) / 0.1% (v/w) Bovine serum albumin (BSA) and centrifuged at 155 *x g* for 2 min. The remaining pellet was resuspended in 200 µL of annexin V binding buffer 1X and 2.5 µL of 50 µg/mL propidium iodide (PI; P4170, Sigma Aldrich Aldrich) and analyzed by flow cytometry (FACScalibur – Becton Dickinson). *FlowJo X* v10.0.7 software (*https://www.flowjo.com/*) was used to analyze data.

Reactive oxygen species (ROS) quantification by flow cytometry

HUVECs ($5x10^4$ cells/well) and MDA-MB-231 cells ($5x10^4$ cells/well) were plated in 24-well plates. The intracellular ROS were detected in cell pellets incubated with 10 µM DCF-DA probe (D6883, Sigma Aldrich) at 37°C for 30 min. The acquisition was performed with FACScalibur (Becton Dickinson) and data were analyzed with *FlowJo X* v10.0.7 software (*https://www.flowjo.com/*).

Lipid peroxides quantification by flow cytometry

HUVECs ($5x10^4$ cells/well) and MDA-MB-231 cells ($5x10^4$ cells/well) were plated in 24-well plates. After experimental conditions, cells were incubated with 2 µM C11-Bodipy 581/591 (D3861, Invitrogen), for 30 min at 37 °C in dark. Excessive dye was removed by washing with 2% FBS-1X PBS and cell pellets were resuspended in 2% FBS-1X PBS for the acquisition by flow cytometry (FACScalibur – Becton Dickinson). *FlowJo X* v10.0.7 software (*https://www.flowjo.com/*) was used to analyze data.

Quantification of H₂S in cell homogenates

HUVECs ($5x10^5$ cells/well) and MDA-MB-231 HUVECs ($5x10^5$ cells/well) were seeded in 6-well plates and cultured in the experimental conditions, for 16 h. After, cells were scrapped in 1X PBS and centrifuged at 210 *x g* for 5 min. The cell pellet was homogenized in NP40 lysis buffer (1% NP40, 150 mM NaCl, 50 mM Tris-Cl, pH 8.0) on ice for 30 min and centrifuged for 5 min at 20,000 *x g* 4 °C. Cell homogenates (20 µL) were incubated in black 96-well plates with 80 µL of 10 µM 7-Azido-4-Methylcoumarin probe (AzMC, L511455, Sigma Aldrich). The protein concentration was determined with Bradford method using protein assay dye reagent concentrate (500-0006, Bio Rad). The final H₂S measurements were normalized to total protein concentration and to a blank sample (cellular lysates without probe). H₂S production was monitored following fluorescent signal of AzMC (355 nm/460 nm) every 30 min for 2 h, in a VIKTOR3 instrument from *PerkinElmer/Wallac 1420 Software (version 3.0)*.

Immunofluorescence for VE-Cadherin

For VE-Cadherin (VE-Cad) immunodetection, HUVECs $(1x10^5 \text{ cells/well})$ were cultured in 24-well plate with glass slides coated with 0.2% gelatin, until the formation of a confluent monolayer that was posteriorly exposed to the experimental conditions, for 16 h. After fixation with 2% paraformaldehyde, for 15 min at 4°C, and blocking with 3% bovine serum albumin (BSA)- 1X PBS (w/v), cells were incubated with anti-VE-Cad (1:50 in 3% BSA-0.1% triton X-100- 1X PBS (w/v/v); AF938, R&D), for 2 h at room

temperature, followed by an incubation with the secondary antibody (Alexa Fluor 488 donkey anti-goat, 1:500 in 3% BSA-0.1% triton X-100-PBS; A11055, Thermo Fisher Scientific), for 2 h at room temperature. Slides were mounted in VECTASHIELD media with DAPI (4'-6-diamidino-2-phenylindole; H-1200, Vector Labs) and examined by standard fluorescence microscopy, using an Axio Imager.Z1 microscope (Zeiss) with a CytoVision® software. The quantification of VE-Cad junctional gaps was performed using *ImageJ* software (*imagej.nih.gov/ij/*).

Statistical analysis

All data were analyzed using student's t-test, one-way ANOVA or two-way ANOVA in GraphPad Prism 7 software (*www.graphpad.com/*). The assays were performed with at least 2 biological replicates *per* condition and the differences were determined statistically significant at p value < 0.05.

Results

SeChry@PURE_{G4} alone and in combination with Propranolol has different effects in cancer cells and ECs

The efficacy of Sechry@PURE_{G4} (Fig V.1) plus Propranolol dual-effect therapy was tested, in order to verify if this strategy would be highly selective and cytotoxic to cancer cells, as our team recently showed (Santos *et al.*, 2019); and if it would act on ECs and contribute for the stabilization of already existing ECs networks, as demonstrated in chapter IV.



Figure V. 1 SeChry@PURE_{G4}- nanoformulation.

Representation of the nanoformulation, in which SeChry (chemical representation in purple color) is encapsulated in generation four polyurea dendrimer (cartoon representation in black color; PURE_{G4}). PURE dendrimers are a drug delivery system with increased biocompatibility and biodegradability and with low toxicity (Pires et al. 2016). SeChry formulation results from the replacement of the oxygen atom of the carbonyl moiety of 2 by a selenium (Se, in red color) atom in Chrysin (5,7-dihydroxylflavone; in purple color), a flavon derivate from the plant polyphenols with anti-inflammatory and anti-tumoral properties.

Hence, we tested the SeChry@PURE_{G4} effect with and without Propranolol in triple negative breast cancer cells (MDA-MB-231) and in ECs (HUVECs). Propranolol induced a modest 1.4- fold increase in ECs death comparing to control, while in cancer cells its

effect increased 1.9-fold cell death (Fig V.2), meaning that Propranolol exposure almost duplicated cancer cell death in comparison with the control. The two tested SeChry@PURE_{G4} concentrations (160 and 200 μ M) significantly promoted cancer cell death, mainly when combined with Propranolol (Fig V.2 A). Interestingly, the levels of HUVECs death were not altered by 160 μ M SeChry@PURE_{G4} and only a slight increase was observed with 200 μ M SeChry@PURE_{G4} (Fig V.2 B), being these levels increased under Propranolol combined exposure (Fig V.2 B). The results confirmed the anti-tumoral SeChry@PURE_{G4} effect and their differential consequences in malignant cells *vs* ECs.



Figure V. 2 SeChry@PURE_{G4} plus Propranolol (Prop) increase cancer cell death, indicating that this strategy has anti-tumoral effects.

A) SeChry@PURE_{G4} (160 μ M and 200 μ M) exposure promoted cancer cell death (MDA-MB-231), being this effect boosted by Prop. B) ECs (HUVECs) were more resistant to SeChry@PUREG₄ -induced cell death, even under Prop exposure. In graphs the dashed line represents the control condition. All data are normalized to the control condition and represented as mean ± SD. *p<0.05, **p<0.01, ****p<0.0001.

Propranolol potentiates the effects of oxidative stress induced by SeChry@PURE_{G4} in cancer cells, while in ECs Propranolol exerts its antioxidant properties

Regarding the effect of SeChry@PURE_{G4} exposure in the intracellular ROS levels, in cancer cells the combination of SeChry@PURE_{G4} and Propranolol induced a synergistic increase in ROS levels, while in HUVECs the addition of Propranolol had the opposite effect (Fig V.2 A and B), re-enforcing the previously observed antioxidant role of Propranolol in ECs (chapter IV). Accordingly, the ROS-induced lipid peroxides levels increased in MDA-MB-231 (Fig V.3 C), but not in HUVECs (Fig V.3 D), upon SeChry@PURE_{G4}, with or without Propranolol. Interestingly, in ECs, the antioxidant properties of Propranolol seem to be mediated by an increase in hydrogen sulfide (H₂S) levels (chapter IV), however, in MDA-MB-231 Propranolol did not increase the levels of H₂S (Fig V.3 E). The antioxidant H₂S role is supported by the fact that in cancer cells

Propranolol exposure, which has no impact in H_2S levels, it exerts a synergistic effect in the generation of ROS and lipid peroxides induced by SeChry@PURE_{G4} (Fig V.3 A and C).



Figure V. 3 The combination of SeChry@PUREG₄ and Propranolol (Prop) mediates the generation of oxidative stress in cancer cells, while in ECs the antioxidant Prop properties revert the ROS levels induced by SeChry@PUREG₄.

A-D) Contrarily to HUVECs, in MDA-MB-231 Prop alone increased intracellular ROS (DCF-DA) and lipid peroxides (11C-Bodipy) levels and it did not revert the generation of ROS-induced lipid peroxidation induced by SeChry@PURE_{G4}. E) In MDA-MB-231 Prop did not affect the levels of the antioxidant H₂S (in contrast to the increase of H₂S levels upon Prop observed in HUVECs – shown in chapter IV), indicating that the selective antioxidant Prop effects in ECs were mediated by H₂S. In graphs the dashed line represents the control condition. All data are normalized to the control condition and represented as mean ± SD. *p<0.05, **p<0.01, ***p<0.001, ****p<0.0001.

SeChry@PURE_{G4} and Propranolol exposure does not affect vascular integrity

HUVECs exposed to SeChry@PURE_{G4}, with or without Propranolol, presented a stable monolayer with reduced VE-Cad intercellular junctional gaps (Fig V.4), indicating that SeChry@PURE_{G4} did not affect vascular permeability. Together, the results suggest that SeChry@PURE_{G4} plus Propranolol could be an interesting strategy for cancer treatment, targeting both cancer cells and ECs. In cancer cells, SeChry@PURE_{G4} and Propranolol would have anti-tumoral effects through the promotion of cell death mediated by a ferroptosis, whereas in ECs, Propranolol would impair oxidative stress-induced

mechanisms, impairing ECs hyperactivation and promoting stability (chapter IV), which in turn might decrease transendothelial cancer cell migration and impair metastasis.



Figure V. 4 SeChry@PUREG₄ does not impact the generation of VE-Cadherin (VE-Cad) intercellular junctional gaps.

A) The panel shows representative images (scale: 10 μ m) of VE-Cad (green) intercellular junctional gaps (arrows). B) SeChry@PURE_{G4} had no effect in the number of VE-Cad gaps, reinforcing the potential use of this nanoformulation, in combination with Propranolol (Prop). All data are normalized to the control condition and represented as mean ± SD. *p<0.05, **p<0.01, ***p<0.001, ****p<0.0001.

Discussion

The conventional drugs used in cancer treatment have low selectivity against cancer cells and cause toxicity in normal cells (Cleeland *et al.*, 2012; Laviano *et al.*, 2012). The development of new strategies to overcome the limitations of the conventional cancer chemotherapy urges. The abovementioned increased selectivity and sensitivity of Se compounds and derivates for cancer cells, allied with their anti-tumoral properties, makes them promising candidates for cancer therapeutics (Weekley *et al.*, 2013; Fernandes and Gandin, 2015; Chaiswing *et al.*, 2018; Gandin *et al.*, 2018).

Se compounds are active players in redox regulation through the modulation of ROS levels (Muecke *et al.*, 2010). In cells, the balance between the generation and the elimination of ROS plays a pivotal role in physiological processes, however excess free radical species and the disruption of normal cellular homeostasis by redox signaling promote pathological processes (Tafani *et al.*, 2016; Kumari *et al.*, 2018; Milkovic *et al.*, 2019). One of the proposed anti-tumoral mechanism of some Se compounds is the generation of oxidative stress, in which the generation of superoxide (O_2^-), hydrogen peroxide (H_2O_2) and hydroxyl (OH·) radicals promotes cancer cell death (Jackson and Combs, 2008).

In cancer cells, contrarily to normal cells, the selenophosphate synthetase 2 (SEPHS2), an enzyme of the selenocysteine biosynthesis pathway, is essential for cell survival (Carlisle *et al.*, 2020). SEPHS2 is critical for selenide detoxification, a product of selenocysteine biosynthesis, and its expression is often elevated in breast cancer cells (Carlisle *et al.*, 2020). In line, some Se derivates interfere with the Se uptake, selenocysteine biosynthesis and with the production of selenoproteins, such as GPX4, therefore exerting cytotoxic effects and impairing cancer cell protection against ferroptosis (Singh *et al.*, 2014; Martins *et al.*, 2015; Rauf *et al.*, 2015; Carlisle *et al.*, 2020).

A previous study of our group showed that in ovarian cancer cells SeChry prompts glutathione (GSH) depletion and inhibits the action of the H₂S-generating enzyme cystathionine beta synthase (CBS), which in turn promotes cancer cell death (Santos *et al.*, 2019).

Given their drug delivery properties in several cancer cell models, the use of dendrimers drug-carriers such as polyurea dendrimers (PURE), emerge as a promising strategy for cancer treatment. The use of this strategy will overcome the chemotherapeutic non-specific distribution, the toxicity in non-malignant tissues and the low fraction of the drugs reaching the tumor (Castro et al., 2018; Dias et al., 2020). Dendrimers-based strategies showed in vitro anti-cancer activity against cancer cell lines from breast and lung adenocarcinomas and glioblastoma (Huang and Wu, 2018). Considering the aforementioned anti-tumoral and the pro-oxidant properties of SeChry (Martins et al. 2015), the anti-cancer effect of SeChry@PURE_{G4} nanoparticles (Fig V.1) (Martins et al., 2015; Santos et al., 2019) and the anti-angiogenic and antioxidant properties of Propranolol in ECs (chapter III and IV), here we explored the effect of SeChry@PURE_{G4} in combination with Propranolol in two core components of a malignant tumor: cancer cells and ECs. The breast cancer cells, MDA-MB-231, were more sensitive to SeChry@PURE_{G4} than HUVECs, presenting higher cell death levels that increased upon the co-exposure with Propranolol (Fig V.2). Our results pointed out that SeChry@PURE₆₄ induced cancer cells ferroptotic death, since it increased the generation of intracellular ROS and the concomitant accumulation of lipid peroxides (Fig V.3 A and C), features described as characteristics of ferroptosis mediated-cell death (Friedmann et al., 2014; Linkermann et al., 2014; Yang et al., 2014; Yu et al., 2015; Lei et al., 2019; Li et al., 2020). In HUVECs, SeChry@PURE_{G4} has no effect on the generation of lipid peroxides (Fig V.3 C), reinforcing the previous evidence showing that SeChry has an increased selectivity index to cancer cells (Martins et al., 2015).

Interestingly, in MDA-MB-231 cells, Propranolol alone is able to increase cancer cell death (Fig V.2 A), demonstrating that in addition to its role in preventing ECs

hyperactivation (chapter IV), Propranolol could also promote cancer cells death. Contrarily to the observed in HUVECs, in MDA-MB-231, Propranolol did not display antioxidant features, since the levels of ROS and ROS-induced lipid peroxides increased upon Propranolol exposure (Fig V.3 A-D), indicating that Propranolol can enhance ferroptosis cell death in cancer cells, but not in ECs. In chapter IV, we showed that antioxidant properties of Propranolol in ECs are mediated by an increase in the levels of hydrogen sulfite (H₂S), a gasomitter described as being as potent as GSH in detoxification processes, (Olas, 2017; Shefa *et al.*, 2018). However, in MDA-MB-231 the levels of H₂S did not increase under the presence of Propranolol (Fig V.3 E). Considering that in cancer cells SeChry exposure lead to GSH depletion (Santos et al., 2019) and that Propranolol exerted pro-oxidant features (Fig V.3 A and B), the dual administration of SeChry@PURE_{G4} and Propranolol promoted oxidative stress-induced cancer cell death (Fig V.2 A), namely ferroptosis, while ECs benefit from the antioxidant Propranolol properties, preventing oxidative stress (Fig V.3 B and C).

The adherens junctions constitute strong adhesion structures between adjacent ECs, predominantly via the transmembrane protein VE-cadherin (VE-Cad). Besides its role in maintaining endothelium integrity, VE-cad is responsible for the control of vascular permeability (Aghajanian et al., 2008; Wallez and Huber, 2008). In chapter IV, we demonstrate that Propranolol is able to normalize ECs leakiness mediated by ROSinduced lipid peroxides, indicating that Propranolol besides its role in preventing ECs hyperactivation, it also stabilizes established ECs structures through the inhibition of VE-Cad intercellular junctional gaps. In turn, less VE-Cad intercellular junctional gaps favors endothelium integrity that in cancer context impairs cancer extravasation and promotes the delivery of chemotherapeutic agents. Interestingly, in cancer, Se administration delays the development of various tumors via inhibition of VEGF expression and further angiogenesis, suggesting their putative anti-angiogenic applicability in tumor angiogenesis and in other pathological angiogenesis-mediated disorder (Mousa et al., 2004; Stupin et al., 2017). In HUVECs, SeChry@PUREG4 did not affect the formation of VE-Cad intercellular junctional gaps (Fig V.4), suggesting that SeChry@PURE_{G4} does not compromise vessels stability. However, the putative anti-angiogenic potential of this dual strategy through the prevention of ECs hyperactivation and further blood vessels formation should be explored in the future.

Together, the results demonstrated that SeChry@PURE_{G4} plus Propranolol administration is a promising strategy for cancer treatment (Fig V.5), since this combination is able to induce cancer cell death through ferroptosis, while avoiding the formation of a leakier vasculature, which ultimately impairs cancer cell intravasation and

metastasis, as well as it improves drugs delivery and consequently enhances chemotherapy efficacy.



Figure V. 5 The combination of SeChry@PURE_{G4} nanoparticles and Propranolol (Prop) is unraveled as a potential anti-cancer therapy.

Sehry@PURE_{G4} induces cancer cell death mediated by pro-oxidative features (increased ROS and ROSinduced lipid peroxides levels and GSH depletion), being this effect potentiated by the action of Prop. In ECs, Prop through its antioxidant properties stabilizes ECs junctions which prevents the formation of a leakier vasculature. In turn, vessels stability is pivotal for impairing metastasis and improving the delivery of chemotherapeutic agents, tackling the remaining cancer cells that are not affected by oxidative stressinduced cancer cell death mediated by SeChry@PURE_{G4} and Prop.

Chapter VI

General discussion Final remarks Future perspectives

General discussion

A better understanding of the mechanisms underlying tumor angiogenesis will open new perspectives on how it is regulated. Since the first evidence of the role of angiogenesis in cancer, by Folkman et al., 1971, several researchers developed strategies to abolish the nutrients and oxygen supply of the cancer cells by decreasing the vessels formation and avoiding the formation of new ones (Folkman, 1971; Vasudev and Reynolds, 2014). So far, most of the Food and Drug Administration (FDA) approved anti-angiogenic agents for cancer treatment rely on targeting vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) signaling pathway, however and since those strategies are inefficient in cancer patients, a new generation of drugs appeared. These drugs aim to tackle simultaneously the VEGF signaling pathway and other pro-angiogenic pathways and have been developed as an attempt to overcome drug resistance, due to adaptive and compensatory mechanisms (Taylor et al., 2003; Casanovas et al., 2005; Crawford et al., 2009; Holohan et al., 2013; D. Li et al., 2014; Michaelsen et al., 2018). In clinical settings, the use of anti-angiogenic therapies, alone and in combination with conventional cancer therapy, improves the disease outcome of cancer patients. In the other hand, some patients do not have additional benefits (Abdalla et al., 2018), revealing that the precise mechanisms involved in the regulation of tumor angiogenesis remain unclear. Given those strategies in cancer patients are far from the successes obtained in pre-clinical settings, a new paradigm emerges as some studies suggested that the abrogation of blood supply will restrict drug delivery (e.g. cytotoxic and cytostatic agents) to the tumor, decreasing their clinical efficacy (Rohlenova et al., 2018). The development of new strategies to restore tumor vessel normalization, instead of strategies to destroy it, will increase the penetration of therapeutic agents into the tumor, improving the efficacy of drugs (Carmeliet and Jain, 2011a). This thesis gives new insights on understanding alternative players in tumor angiogenesis and the mechanisms involved in tumor neovessels formation and purposes the development of new anti-angiogenic and antitumoral dual-therapeutic approaches.

Monocytes functioning as endothelial progenitor cells (EPCs) and endothelial cells (ECs) activation by a ferroptosis-like mechanism underlies tumor angiogenesis: novel perspectives in the mechanisms involved in angiogenesis

Tumor neovessels are characterized by being unorganized and leaky, due to the hyperactivation of the pro-angiogenic signaling cascades (Lugano *et al.*, 2020). In

addition to the release of pro-angiogenic factors by the tumor microenvironment (TME), the metabolic remodeling of cancer cells and cancer associated-stromal cells and hypoxia drives the generation of a pro-oxidant microenvironment, that works synergistically with the release of pro-angiogenic factors in the promotion of tumor angiogenesis, triggering ECs activation that is characterized in vitro by increased proliferation, migration and tube formation (Brand et al., 2004; Dewhirst et al., 2008; Coso et al., 2012; Lassègue et al., 2012; Schito and Semenza, 2016; De Sá Junior et al., 2017). Reactive oxygen species (ROS) have a role in a number of cellular processes and although high levels of ROS lead to DNA and cellular damage, they also play a role in cell signaling contributing for the regulation of several cellular processes. The concept of 'homeostatic ROS levels' versus 'pathologic ROS levels' is raising and replacing the old dogma stating that ROS are prejudicial and toxic for the cells. In cancer context, the generation of ROS in the TME is involved in the angiogenic switch, allowing tumor angiogenesis (Kim and Byzova, 2014; Panieri and Santoro, 2015; Chen et al., 2018; Huang and Nan, 2019). In fact, the angiogenic switch in tumors allows the passage of a low invasive and poorly vascularized tumor to a highly invasive and vascularized tumor (North et al., 2005; Baeriswyl and Christofori, 2009). During this process, a switch in the equilibrium between positive and negative angiogenic regulators triggers a proangiogenic EC activation and further tumor angiogenesis (North et al., 2005; Baeriswyl and Christofori, 2009). However, it is thought that this switch involves more than an imbalance between positive and negative regulators, being pointed that endothelial progenitor cells (EPCs) may also be a factor working on this switch. Conceptually EPCs are essential in the repair of damaged vessels and in the maintenance of endothelium integrity (Richardson and Yoder, 2011; Yoder, 2012; Yuan et al., 2017), however the relevance of their contribution in tumor vessels is not completely clear. Although, in most studies have been presumed that only the activation of preexisting ECs proliferation accounts for tumor neovessels' formation, the EPCs-derived ECs may also be incorporated into growing tumor neovessels (North et al., 2005; Baeriswyl and Christofori, 2009). In fact, EPCs have been underestimated as contributors for tumor angiogenesis, in part due to the lack of a molecular signature to identify EPCs, however some studies suggested that increased VEGF levels favor the differentiation of hematopoietic stem cells towards EPCs lineages and enhance their recruitment into the tumor vasculature (Asahara et al., 1999; Gill et al., 2001; Hattori et al., 2001). Considering that monocytes arises from hematopoietic stem cells; their recruitment and paracrine involvement during neovascularization processes are already known in cancer and they are able to differentiate into non-macrophagic cell types, depending on the stimuli (Fujiyama et al., 2003; Zhao et al., 2003; Elsheikh et al., 2005; Seta and Kuwana,

2007, 2010). Hence, we speculated that monocytes are misjudged EPCs and account for tumor angiogenesis. In the present thesis, we demonstrated in different contexts that monocytes act as EPCs. Our results showed that monocytes exposed to pro-angiogenic stimulation were able to differentiate into ECs and were incorporated into blood vessels *in vivo*, contributing for vessels repair and the angiogenic switch and further tumor angiogenesis.

In ECs the major sources of ROS are the NADPH oxidase that is activated by various pro-angiogenic factors (e.g. VEGF) and by hypoxia. The ROS derived from this oxidase are involved in VEGFR2 autophosphorylation and in the activation of several redox signaling pathways that triggers the induction of transcription factors and genes involved in angiogenesis (North et al., 2005; Santoro, 2018). In fact, the activation of redoxdependent signaling pathways by endogenous or exogenous ROS leads to the transcription of genes involved in angiogenesis that therefore stimulate ECs proliferation, migration and tubular morphogenesis (Stone and Collins, 2002; Ushio-Fukai and Nakamura, 2008). In an in vivo tumor model, the administration of the thiol antioxidant N-acetylcysteine (NAC) attenuates EC invasion and inhibits angiogenesis (Cai et al., 1999). Moreover, the ROS production by the TME is involved in the differentiation of monocytes into tumor-associated macrophages (TAMs), in which the continuous administration of the antioxidant butylated hydroxyanisole (BHA) suppresses tumorigenesis in mouse cancer models (Zhang et al., 2013). Our study describes the differentiation route of monocytes into ECs induced by ROS, pointing out that ROS can promote angiogenesis by inducing the differentiation of monocytes into ECs. Our study is in agreement with other studies showing that the continuous exposure to ROS associates with decreased pluripotency of stem cells and additionally they prove a further promotion of their MAPK/ERK-dependent differentiation towards cardiomyogenic and vascular cell lineages (Ji et al., 2010; Sauer and Wartenberg, 2005; Valko et al., 2007). Also, the pro-vasculogenic effects of PDGF in embryoid bodies is mediated by ROS generation, resulting in the activation of ERK1,2 mediated signaling cascades (Lange et al., 2009).

In addition to the novelty of monocytes functioning as EPCs and the relevance of ROS in the promotion of this differentiation pattern, we speculate that other ROS-dependent pathways could also be involved in the angiogenic switch and angiogenesis. Due to the regulation of ferroptosis by pro-angiogenic genes, as angiopoietin-like 4 (ANGPTL4) (Dixon *et al.*, 2012; Xie *et al.*, 2016; Yang *et al.*, 2020), we hypothesized that a non-lethal ferroptosis-like mechanism could be involved in ECs activation. The activation of ferroptosis is triggered by the accumulation of lipid peroxides in an iron-dependent ROS generation process due to the failure of the glutathione peroxidase 4 (GPX4) scavenging

system, and although most of the studies supports the role of ferroptosis as a type of cell death, its non-lethal effects can regulate physiological and pathophysiological processes, as cell proliferation, survival, invasion, and migration (Friedmann Angeli et al., 2014; Linkermann et al., 2014; Yang et al., 2014; Yu et al., 2015; Sakai et al., 2017; Lei et al., 2019; Li et al., 2020; Y. Wang and Tang, 2019). In fact, we observed that the ferroptosis at a non-lethal levels recapitulates the pathophysiological features of tumor angiogenesis by promoting EC hyperactivation, characterized by increased proliferation, migration and vessel-like structure formation and triggering the formation of a leakier vasculature with increased VE-Cad junctional gaps, concomitantly with glutathione (GSH) depletion indicating the abrogation of GPX4 activity. These alterations favored cancer cell adhesion and transendothelial cancer cell migration. It is known that ROS levels driven by intermittent hypoxia activates HIF1 α expression that in turn promotes vessels permeability by inducing VE-Cad cleavage (Harki et al., 2019), suggesting that the activation of HIF1 α modulates VE-Cad remodeling, controlling vascular permeability. Maybe, the ferroptosis-like mechanism promoting ECs activation could be regulated by HIF1 α :VEGF signaling axis. The putative activation of HIF1 α by ferroptosis in ECs could also lead to the production and further release of VEGF and other pro-angiogenic factors that stimulate the recruitment and the differentiation pattern of monocytes into ECs, contributing for the expansion of the vascular network. In fact, we observed in a child with cerebral cavernous malformation (CCM) that the levels of VEGF and circulating monocytes sharing monocytic and ECs markers (CD14⁺/CD31⁺) were increased in comparison to healthy donors, suggesting VEGF levels may be involved in monocytes mobilization for vascular CCM lesions that will contribute for the vascular malformations by functioning as EPCs.

Considering that the ferroptosis-like mechanisms and monocytes functioning as EPCs potentiate the angiogenic switch, strategies focused on the abrogation of oxidative-stress related ferroptosis and in monocytes recruitment and further differentiation in the tumor will bring new opportunities to the development of novel anti-angiogenic and anti-cancer strategies.

Repurposing Propranolol for anti-angiogenic and anti-tumoral strategies: novel perspectives for cancer treatment

The repurposing of old drugs for new therapeutic purposes offers an opportunity for cancer treatment, being cost-effective and time-efficient compared to new drugs in development and enabling the rapid clinical translation since the pharmacokinetic, pharmacodynamic and toxicity profiles of those drugs have been already established (Zhang *et al.*, 2020). However, several successful examples of drug repurposing do not

involve the same molecular mechanism underlying its effectiveness in different disease contexts (Moffat et al., 2017). For instance, drugs that were not developed as antiangiogenic agents can be repurposed and used in vascular diseases and cancer. An example is Propranolol, a non-selective β -blocker currently used in the treatment of some vascular tumors, due to its inhibitory effect of angiogenesis, which has been correlated with the inhibition of HIF1 α expression (Chim *et al.*, 2012; Chen *et al.*, 2017). In our study, we also showed that Propranolol impairs ECs activation and rescues the ferroptosis-like phenotype needed for ECs activation. The reversion of the ferroptosis by Propranolol seems to be related to the increased production of the antioxidant hydrogen sulfide (H₂S). It is known that the activity of HIF1 α , a master regulator of angiogenesis, is enhanced by ROS, thus the stimulation of H₂S production by Propranolol can interfere with HIF1 α activity, as it was described for the antioxidant vitamin D (Gao *et al.*, 2007). Moreover, the exposure to antioxidants and free radical scavengers impairs ROSinduced ECs permeability and loss of junctional integrity mediated by VE-Cad cleavage driven by HIF1 α (Lum and Roebuck, 2001; Aghajanian *et al.*, 2008; Harki *et al.*, 2019). Propranolol, maybe through H_2S , besides preventing ECs activation-induced by the ferroptosis-like mechanism it also, reverts the generation of VE-Cad intercellular junctional gaps, abrogating the pro-metastatic ECs phenotype that favors cancer cells intravasation to the vessels. The exogenous administration of antioxidants exert an inhibitory effect on neovascularization and may abrogate the ROS-induced impairment of endothelial barrier, suggesting that their application in therapy might impair excessive angiogenesis and normalize the existing vasculature (Radomska-Lesniewska et al., 2017). In fact, our results pointed that the antioxidant Propranolol properties, maybe through H₂S production, the abrogates the oxidative stress-related ferroptosis and normalizes the vasculature. Another explanation for the anti-angiogenic Propranolol properties can be the fact that the β -adrenergic signaling pathway drives the metabolic shift of ECs to aerobic glycolysis, mediated by HIF1 α . Thus upon Propranolol exposure, the interference with HIF1 α activity in ECs by Propranolol could induce glycolysis inhibition, a vital metabolic pathway in ECs activation and rapid vascularization (De Bock et al., 2013). Interestingly, the antioxidant properties mediated by H_2S levels are EC specific since we observed that in cancer cells Propranolol did not promote an increase in the H_2S levels and shows anti-tumoral effects, by inducing the generation of ROS and lipid peroxides and ultimately leading to cancer cell death. Moreover, the exposure to Propranolol, although has no effect in the *in vitro* differentiation pattern of monocytes into ECs, in the CCM patient it decreases the levels of circulating CD14⁺/CD31⁺ monocytes and VEGF in peripheral blood. These results indicate that, perhaps, the abrogation of HIF1 α activity in ECs and the induction of cancer cell death by Propranolol abrogates the release of VEGF that, in turn, might impair the levels of circulating monocytes, inhibiting its contribution for tumor angiogenesis. In fact, together these results showed that Propranolol has a promising applicability in cancer treatment, not only by its antiangiogenic properties but also by its anti-tumoral effects.

Some studies pointed that the normalization of the tumor vasculature will improve the prognosis of cancer patients, because less permeable vessels will improve the delivery of chemotherapeutic agents and impair cancer cells spread. Interestingly, simvastatin, a statin with antioxidant properties, has been showed to reduces hypoxia-induced endothelium leakage and decreased ROS-induced HIF1 α and VEGF expression, attenuating VEGF-derived tumor vessel hyperpermeability and improving cisplatin and cyclophosphamide efficacy (Chen et al., 2013). In a theoretical scenario, cancer treatment might rely on multi-mechanisms targeting strategies focused on the induction of cancer cells death and in the promotion of tumor vascular regression events. At the same time, these strategies will transform the remaining vessels into a more functional vascular network with decreased permeability, promoting drug delivery and impairing metastasis. Cancer cells under a certain threshold have adaptive antioxidant mechanisms controlling oxidative stress, however above of this threshold, ROS accumulation disrupts redox homeostasis and causes severe damage in cancer cells, ultimately leading to cell death (Moloney and Cotter, 2018). Given these results, strategies to enhance lethal ROS production in cancer cells have a promising anti-cancer effect. As referred, the antioxidant Propranolol properties mediated by H₂S levels are ECs specific, so we take advantage of Propranolol properties to develop a strategy using the pro-oxidant selenium-chrysin loaded in dendrimers (SeChry@PURE_{G4} nanoparticles) and induce cancer cells death through ferroptosis and Propranolol to impair ECs activation and induce vessel normalization. This strategy showed a promising application for cancer treatment, tackling cancer cell death through ferroptosis while avoiding the formation of a leakier vasculature, which ultimately impairs cancer cell extravasation and metastasis and improves drugs delivery. Furthermore, the normalized vasculature could be pivotal for the delivery of chemotherapeutic agents to induce cancer cells death in the remaining cancer cells that did not respond SeChry@PUREG4 nanoparticles.

Final remarks

In this thesis we aimed to contribute to a better knowledge of the mechanisms involved in tumor angiogenesis. We investigated alternative players and mechanism(s) that contribute for tumor angiogenesis and we have, for the first time, unraveled the role of monocytes as EPCs and their contribution for tumorigenesis, by differentiating into ECs and being incorporated into the vessels structure (Figure VI.1 A). Moreover, the oxidative stress pushes the differentiation route of monocytes towards ECs.

In addition, we showed that a ROS-induced ferroptosis-like mechanism is pivotal for the hyperactivation of ECs and for the formation of leakier vessel-like structures, typical of tumor neovessels, driving the formation of an unstable and permeable neovasculature, favoring cancer cells dissemination and metastasis (Figure VI.1 A). Moreover, our findings support the repurpose of Propranolol as part of anti-cancer and anti-angiogenic clinical strategies. We showed that Propranolol impairs the ferroptosislike-induced ECs hyperactivation and improves the anti-cancer effects of the pro-oxidant SeChry-PURE_{G4} nanoformulation. In addition, it prevents the formation of leakier vascular structures, impairing metastatic disease and contributes for a better delivery of drugs (Figure VI.1 B). Our results pointed out that the clinical efficacy of Propranolol in the treatment of CCM patients could be monitored by the levels of circulating CD14⁺/CD31⁺monocytes and VEGF in peripheral blood (Figure VI.1 B), opening new perspectives for a novel therapeutic drug monitoring tool to support clinical decisions of the management of the chronic and unpredictable CCM disease.

This thesis provides insights on additional mechanisms regulating tumor angiogenesis, it unravels the role of monocytes as EPCs and crucial players during this process, and opens new perspectives for the development of alternative anti-angiogenic drugs and for the design of multitargeted strategies that simultaneously tackle cancer cells and tumor neovessels (Figure VI.1).



Figure VI. 1 Taking advantage of the differential oxidative stress response of cancer cells and endothelial cells (ECs).

A) The promotion of the pro-angiogenic ferroptosis-like mechanism, characterized by the accumulation of ROS-induced lipid peroxides and glutathione (GSH) depletion triggers endothelial cells (ECs) hyperactivation and vessel leakiness, which in turn is pivotal for increasing cancer cells migration and intravasation, fostering metastasis. Circulating monocytes, recruited to the tumor, are able to contribute to tumorigenesis by acting as endothelial progenitor cells (EPCs). Upon a pro-angiogenic and pro-oxidant stimulus, monocytes differentiate into EC and are incorporated into neovessels, accounting for tumor angiogenesis. B) The anti-angiogenic effect of Propranolol is mediated by increased levels of the antioxidant H₂S. Propranolol is able to impair the ECs hyperactivation induced by the ferroptosis-like mechanism, to induce vessel normalization through a decrease in intercellular gaps in the vascular endothelial cadherin

(VE-cadherin) junctions in ECs and to decrease the number of circulating CD14⁺/CD31⁺ monocytes. The combined strategy of SeChry@PURE_{G4} with Propranolol has a potential anti-cancer therapy since SeChry@PURE_{G4} induces cancer cell death mediated by pro-oxidative features that are potentiated by Propranolol, while the EC-specific antioxidant properties of Propranolol avoid the generation of oxidative stress, that in turn impairs the generation of a leakier vascular structure and cancer cell extravasation.

Future perspectives

The results obtain during this thesis contributed for a better understanding of the mechanisms involved in tumor angiogenesis, although several open questions deserve to be clarified.

The involvement of the ferroptosis-like mechanism in the promotion of tumor angiogenesis should be further explored *in vivo*. For that purpose, the analysis of ferroptotic-related genes/proteins, using RNA-seq or proteomic analysis, in ECs isolated from murine xenograft tumors should be performed. ECs isolated from tumors and normal tissues (control) and sorted by Fluorescence-Activated Cell Sorting (FACS) would be used for RNA-seq or proteomic analysis. If we detect an upregulation of genes or proteins involved in ferroptosis, such as glutathione synthase (GSS) or GPX4 (Stockwell *et al.*, 2017), in the tumor-associated ECs, this would be a good indication that a ferroptosis-like mechanism is occurring in the tumoral vasculature, *in vivo*. Additionally, these results should be merged with the immunohistological analysis of these tumors in order to confirm that the activation of the ferroptosis-like mechanism is not promoting ECs death, proving that this mechanism at a non-lethal level is involved in tumor angiogenesis.

The anti-cancer efficacy of Propranolol must be addressed *in vivo*, by evaluating tumor growth and metastasis formation. Moreover, in a subsequent experiment and considering the already described anti-ferroptotic properties of Propranolol, we can assess tumor ECs from mice treated with Propranolol and analyze the expression of genes involved in ferroptosis. We expect a downregulation, proving that Propranolol has anti-angiogenic properties in part mediated by the abrogation of ferroptosis in ECs. At the same time, we can use these mice, before sacrifice and analyze the ferroptosis effect in tumor vessel permeability using an *in vivo* vascular permeability assay, such as Evans blue technique or dextran-FITC injections into the mice tail vein.

For a better understanding of the putative applicability of Propranolol as an alternative anti-angiogenic drug, the effects on tumor vasculature regression and normalization should be explored *in vivo*. For that, we can take advantage of a transgenic mouse model (LifeAct mCherry⁺/CDH5.CRE⁺ mice) allied with intravital microscopy coupled to a window chamber technology, which permits a high-resolution imaging *in vivo* in a

temporal manner. Since in the LifeAct mCherry+/CDH5.CRE+ transgenic mice, actin from ECs is fluorescently labelled with mCherry, after tumor implantation (e.g. 4T1 mice cancer cells) it will be possible to monitor tumor neovessels formation. Moreover, using this same technology we can evaluate the effects of Propranolol administration during tumor vasculature formation and regression. Also, it should be examined the effects of Propranolol on cancer progression related-features, such as tumor growth, capacity to form metastasis and microvessel-density, which will help to disclose the role of Propranolol in improving cancer prognosis by interfering with tumor angiogenesis. For this we can take advantage of the transgenic mice and evaluate these parameters. Considering the results that we obtained *in vitro*, we expect that the anti-angiogenic and antioxidant Propranolol properties impair ECs activation and further tumor neovessels development, while in the tumor neovessels already formed it will decrease vessel permeability and their further normalization. The normalization will be essential for a better delivery of chemotherapeutic and cytotoxic agents and to decrease metastasis.

Moreover, considering that we observed that Propranolol administration in a child with CCM decreased the levels of circulating monocytes, a deeper in vivo characterization of the effects of Propranolol on monocytes recruitment to the tumor site should be performed. We can use an in vivo strategy with hCD68GFP monocytes from hCD68GFP reporter mouse, described to express a persistent green fluorescent protein (GFP) expression in both circulating monocytes and tissue macrophages (lqbal et al., 2014). They will be inoculated in a receptor mouse, previously depleted for monocytes using clodronate-loaded liposome (Côté et al., 2013; Danenberg et al., 2002; Z. Jiang et al., 2017). After the tumor inoculation, the levels of circulating GFP+ monocytes during tumor progression in the presence and in the absence of Propranolol should be evaluated to disclose their influence in monocytes circulation. In fact, since we unraveled that monocytes function as EPCs contribute for tumor angiogenesis, Propranolol could also impair tumor angiogenesis not only by acting in ECs but also by inhibiting monocytes recruitment to the tumor. Looking at a more clinical point of view, it should be interesting to perform a retrospective study in cancer patients exposed to Propranolol in order to analyze if a better disease prognosis (Cardwell et al., 2016; Pantziarka et al., 2018; Hiller et al., 2020) was correlated to a decrease in microvessel density, reinforcing a relationship between Propranolol and tumor angiogenesis. Together, those experiments will corroborate the applicability of Propranolol as an alternative anti-angiogenic agent for cancer treatment. Also, the follow-up analysis of blood samples from other patients with vascular tumors treated with Propranolol will be helpful for unravelling the clinical application of using the levels of circulating monocytes and VEGF as a predictive factor for the effectiveness of Propranolol treatment in vascular tumors.

The effect of SeChry@PURE_{G4} in combination with Propranolol strategy should be also explored *in vivo*. Interestingly, our group previously showed that folate (FA)-functionalized SeChry-PURE_{G4} nanoparticles increased its specificity for cancer cells (Santos *et al.*, 2019) since these cells express higher folate receptor levels in comparison to non-cancer cells (Fernández *et al.*, 2018). Considering that, we can optimize our dual-strategy to test *in vivo* by increasing the specificity of SeChry-PURE_{G4} for cancer cells using folate, this would decrease its toxicity in adjacent non-cancer cells. For this we can use mice bearing xenograft tumors and treat them with SeChry-PURE_{G4}-FA in the presence or absence of Propranolol. Using these mice, we will monitor tumor growth and vascular permeability (using Evans blue or dextran-FITC) and analyze tumor necrosis and cancer cells proliferation and tumor vasculature (vessel structure and density). If significant differences were observed, we can assess survival of mice from the different groups.

Together, those experiments will be helpful to unravel *in vivo* the role of ferroptosis on tumor angiogenesis and the putative applicability of Propranolol as an alternative antiangiogenic drug as well as their impact in monocytes circulation, that eventually will contribute to tumor angiogenesis by acting as EPCs.

References

- Abdalla AME, Xiao L, Ullah MW, Yu M, Ouyang C, and Yang G (2018) Current challenges of cancer anti-angiogenic therapy and the promise of nanotherapeutics *Theranostics*.
- Adams RH, and Alitalo K (2007) Molecular regulation of angiogenesis and lymphangiogenesis *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol* **8**, 464–478.
- Aggarwal V, Tuli HS, Varol A, Thakral F, Yerer MB, Sak K, ... Sethi G (2019) Role of reactive oxygen species in cancer progression: Molecular mechanisms and recent advancements *Biomolecules* 9, 735.
- Aghajanian A, Wittchen ES, Allingham MJ, Garrett TA, and Burridge K (2008) Endothelial cell junctions and the regulation of vascular permeability and leukocyte transmigration *J Thromb Haemost* **6**, 1453–1460.
- Ahmad A, Khan F, Mishra RK, and Khan R (2019) Precision Cancer Nanotherapy: Evolving Role of Multifunctional Nanoparticles for Cancer Active Targeting *J Med Chem* 62, 10475–10496.
- Akers A, Al-Shahi Salman R, Awad IA, Dahlem K, Flemming K, Hart B, ... Tamargo RJ (2017) Synopsis of guidelines for the clinical management of cerebral cavernous malformations: Consensus recommendations based on systematic literature review by the angioma alliance scientific advisory board clinical experts panel *Clin Neurosurg* 80, 665–680.
- Al-Majed AA, Bakheit AHH, Abdel Aziz HA, Alajmi FM, and AlRabiah H (2017) Propranolol In *Profiles of Drug Substances, Excipients and Related Methodology* (Vol. 42, pp. 287–338).
- Al-Wadei HAN, and Schuller HM (2009) Nicotinic receptor-associated modulation of stimulatory and inhibitory neurotransmitters in NNK-induced adenocarcinoma of the lungs and pancreas J Pathol 218, 437–45.
- Alam AHMK, Hossain ASMS, Khan MA, Kabir SR, Reza MA, Rahman MM, ... Sadik MG (2016) The antioxidative fraction of white mulberry induces apoptosis through regulation of p53 and NFκB in EAC cells *PLoS One* **11**, e0167536.
- Alam MM, Lal S, FitzGerald KE, and Zhang L (2016) A holistic view of cancer bioenergetics: mitochondrial function and respiration play fundamental roles in the development and progression of diverse tumors *Clin Transl Med* 5, 3.
- Albertolle ME, and Peter Guengerich F (2018) The relationships between cytochromes P450 and H2O2: Production, reaction, and inhibition *J Inorg Biochem* **186**, 228–234.
- Alexandre J, Batteux F, Nicco C, Chéreau C, Laurent A, Guillevin L, ... Goldwasser F (2006) Accumulation of hydrogen peroxide is an early and crucial step for paclitaxelinduced cancer cell death both in vitro and in vivo *Int J Cancer* **119**, 41–8.

- Alexandru N, Andrei E, Safciuc F, Dragan E, Balahura AM, Badila E, and Georgescu A (2020) Intravenous Administration of Allogenic Cell-Derived Microvesicles of Healthy Origins Defend Against Atherosclerotic Cardiovascular Disease Development by a Direct Action on Endothelial Progenitor Cells. *Cells* 9.
- Allanore Y, Batteux F, Avouac J, Assous N, Weill B, and Kahan A (2007) Levels of circulating endothelial progenitor cells in systemic sclerosis *Clin Exp Rheumatol* 25, 60–6.
- Allen E, Walters IB, and Hanahan D (2011) Brivanib, a dual FGF/VEGF inhibitor, is active both first and second line against mouse pancreatic neuroendocrine tumors developing adaptive/evasive resistance to VEGF inhibition *Clin Cancer Res* **17**, 5299–310.
- André F, Bachelot T, Campone M, Dalenc F, Perez-Garcia JM, Hurvitz SA, ... Baselga J (2013) Targeting FGFR with dovitinib (TKI258): Preclinical and clinical data in breast cancer *Clin Cancer Res* **19**, 3693–702.
- Angara K, Borin TF, and Arbab AS (2017) Vascular Mimicry: A Novel Neovascularization Mechanism Driving Anti-Angiogenic Therapy (AAT) Resistance in Glioblastoma *Transl Oncol* **10**, 650–660.
- Annabi B, Lachambre MP, Plouffe K, Moumdjian R, and Béliveau R (2009) Propranolol adrenergic blockade inhibits human brain endothelial cells tubulogenesis and matrix metalloproteinase-9 secretion *Pharmacol Res* **60**, 438–45.
- Apra C, Dumot C, Bourdillon P, and Pelissou-Guyotat I (2019a) Could propranolol be beneficial in adult cerebral cavernous malformations? *Neurosurg Rev* **42**, 403–408.
- Aragona CO, Imbalzano E, Mamone F, Cairo V, Lo Gullo A, D'Ascola A, … Mandraffino G (2016) Endothelial progenitor cells for diagnosis and prognosis in cardiovascular disease Stem Cells Int 2016, 8043792.
- Argiris A, Ghebremichael M, Gilbert J, Lee JW, Sachidanandam K, Kolesar JM, ... Forastiere AA (2013) Phase III randomized, placebo-controlled trial of docetaxel with or without gefitinib in recurrent or metastatic head and neck cancer: An eastern cooperative oncology group trial *J Clin Oncol* JCO1900555.
- Arras M, Ito WD, Scholz D, Winkler B, Schaper J, and Schaper W (1998) Monocyte activation in angiogenesis and collateral growth in the rabbit hindlimb *J Clin Invest* **101**, 40–50.
- Arroyo AG, and Iruela-Arispe ML (2010) Extracellular matrix, inflammation, and the angiogenic response *Cardiovasc Res* **86**, 226–35.
- Asahara T, Murohara T, Sullivan A, Silver M, Van Der Zee R, Li T, ... Isner JM (1997) Isolation of putative progenitor endothelial cells for angiogenesis *Science (80-)* **275**, 964–7.

- Asahara T, Takahashi T, Masuda H, Kalka C, Chen D, Iwaguro H, ... Isner JM (1999) VEGF contributes to postnatal neovascularization by mobilizing bone marrowderived endothelial progenitor cells *EMBO J* 18, 3964–72.
- Aspalter IM, Gordon E, Dubrac A, Ragab A, Narloch J, Vizán P, ... Gerhardt H (2015) Alk1 and Alk5 inhibition by Nrp1 controls vascular sprouting downstream of Notch Nat Commun 6, 7264.
- Aspelund A, Robciuc MR, Karaman S, Makinen T, and Alitalo K (2016) Lymphatic System in Cardiovascular Medicine *Circ Res* **118**, 515–30.
- Assi M (2017) The differential role of reactive oxygen species in early and late stages of cancer *Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol* **313**, R646–R653.
- Auguste P, Lemiere S, Larrieu-Lahargue F, and Bikfalvi A (2005) Molecular mechanisms of tumor vascularization *Crit Rev Oncol Hematol* **54**, 53–61.
- Augustin HG, Young Koh G, Thurston G, and Alitalo K (2009) Control of vascular morphogenesis and homeostasis through the angiopoietin - Tie system *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol* **10**, 165–77.
- Avery JC, and Hoffmann PR (2018) Selenium, selenoproteins, and immunity *Nutrients* **10**, 1203.
- Avogaro A, Albiero M, Menegazzo L, De Kreutzenberg S, and Fadini GP (2011) Endothelial dysfunction in diabetes: The role of reparatory mechanisms *Diabetes Care* **34**, S285–S290.
- Avouac J, Juin F, Wipff J, Couraud PO, Chiocchia G, Kahan A, ... Allanore Y (2008) Circulating endothelial progenitor cells in systemic sclerosis: Association with disease severity *Ann Rheum Dis* 67, 1455–60.
- Ayano G (2016) Psychotropic Medications Metabolized by Cytochromes P450 (CYP) 2D6 Enzyme and Relevant Drug Interactions *Clin Pharmacol* **5**, 4–7.
- Azoitei N, Becher A, Steinestel K, Rouhi A, Diepold K, Genze F, ... Seufferlein T (2016) PKM2 promotes tumor angiogenesis by regulating HIF-1aα through NF-κB activation *Mol Cancer* **15**.
- Azzi S, Hebda JK, and Gavard J (2013) Vascular permeability and drug delivery in cancers *Front Oncol* **3**, 211.
- Bachelder RE, Robinson G, Chung J, Wendt MA, Shaw LM, and Mercurio AM (2001) Vascular endothelial growth factor is an autocrine survival factor for neuropilinexpressing breast carcinoma cells *Cancer Res* **61**, 5736–5740.
- Bačić I, Karlo R, Zadro AŠ, Zadro Z, Skitarelić N, and Antabak A (2018) Tumor angiogenesis as an important prognostic factor in advanced non-small cell lung cancer (Stage IIIA). Oncol Lett 15, 2335–2339.
- Baeriswyl V, and Christofori G (2009) The angiogenic switch in carcinogenesis Semin
Cancer Biol 19, 329–37.

- Bagchi D, Sen CK, Bagchi M, and Atalay M (2004) Anti-angiogenic, antioxidant, and anticarcinogenic properties of a novel anthocyanin-rich berry extract formula *Biochem* 69, 75–80.
- Bajenaru ML, Zhu Y, Hedrick NM, Donahoe J, Parada LF, and Gutmann DH (2002) Astrocyte-Specific Inactivation of the Neurofibromatosis 1 Gene (NF1) Is Insufficient for Astrocytoma Formation *Mol Cell Biol* 22, 5100–13.
- Balistreri CR, Buffa S, Pisano C, Lio D, Ruvolo G, and Mazzesi G (2015) Are Endothelial Progenitor Cells the Real Solution for Cardiovascular Diseases? Focus on Controversies and Perspectives *Biomed Res Int* 835934.
- Barleon B, Sozzani S, Zhou D, Weich HA, Mantovani A, and Marme D (1996) Migration of human monocytes in response to vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) is mediated via the VEGF receptor flt-1 *Blood* 87, 3336–3343.
- Barnett FH, Rosenfeld M, Wood M, Kiosses WB, Usui Y, Marchetti V, … Friedlander M (2016) Macrophages form functional vascular mimicry channels in vivo Sci Rep 11, 36659.
- Barron TI, Connolly RM, Sharp L, Bennett K, and Visvanathan K (2011) Beta blockers and breast cancer mortality: A population-based study *J Clin Oncol* **29**, 2635–44.
- Bartneck M, Schrammen PL, Möckel D, Govaere O, Liepelt A, Krenkel O, … Tacke F (2019) The CCR2 + Macrophage Subset Promotes Pathogenic Angiogenesis for Tumor Vascularization in Fibrotic Livers CMGH 7, 371–390.
- Basile DP, and Yoder MC (2014) Circulating and Tissue Resident Endothelial Progenitor Cells *J Cell Physiol* **229**, 10–6.
- Batra S, Lin D, Recinos PF, Zhang J, and Rigamonti D (2009) Cavernous malformations: Natural history, diagnosis and treatment *Nat Rev Neurol* **5**, 659–70.
- Battin EE, and Brumaghim JL (2009) Antioxidant activity of sulfur and selenium: A review of reactive oxygen species scavenging, glutathione peroxidase, and metal-binding antioxidant mechanisms *Cell Biochem Biophys* **55**, 1–23.
- Beatty GL, and Gladney WL (2015) Immune escape mechanisms as a guide for cancer immunotherapy *Clin Cancer Res* **21**, 687–92.
- Beck L, and D'Amore PA (1997) Vascular development: cellular and molecular regulation. *FASEB J* **11**, 365–73.
- Bekes EM, Schweighofer B, Kupriyanova TA, Zajac E, Ardi VC, Quigley JP, and Deryugina EI (2011) Tumor-recruited neutrophils and neutrophil TIMP-free MMP-9 regulate coordinately the levels of tumor angiogenesis and efficiency of malignant cell intravasation *Am J Pathol* **179**, 1455–1470.

Bellon JR, Come SE, Gelman RS, Henderson IC, Shulman LN, Silver BJ, ... Recht A

(2005) Sequencing of chemotherapy and radiation therapy in early-stage breast cancer: Updated results of a prospective randomized trial *J Clin Oncol* **23**, 1934–40.

- Beltrami AP, Barlucchi L, Torella D, Baker M, Limana F, Chimenti S, ... Anversa P (2003) Adult cardiac stem cells are multipotent and support myocardial regeneration *Cell* 114, 763–76.
- Beltran-Camacho L, Jimenez-Palomares M, Rojas-Torres M, Sanchez-Gomar I, Rosal-Vela A, Eslava-Alcon S, ... Durán-Ruiz MC (2020) Identification of the initial molecular changes in response to circulating angiogenic cells-mediated therapy in critical limb ischemia. *Stem Cell Res Ther* **11**, 106.
- Bentley K, Mariggi G, Gerhardt H, and Bates PA (2009) Tipping the balance: Robustness of tip cell selection, migration and fusion in angiogenesis *PLoS Comput Biol* **5**, e1000549.
- Bergers G, and Benjamin LE (2003) Tumorigenesis and the angiogenic switch *Nat Rev Cancer* **3**, 401–410.
- Bergmann CE, Hoefer IE, Meder B, Roth H, van Royen N, Breit SM, ... Buschmann IR (2006) Arteriogenesis depends on circulating monocytes and macrophage accumulation and is severely depressed in op/op mice *J Leukoc Biol* 80, 59–65.
- Berti I, Marchetti F, Skabar A, Zennaro F, Zanon D, and Ventura A (2014) Propranolol for cerebral cavernous angiomatosis: A magic bullet *Clin Pediatr (Phila)* **53**, 189– 90.
- Bhargava P, and Robinson MO (2011) Development of second-generation VEGFR tyrosine kinase inhibitors: Current status *Curr Oncol Rep* **13**, 103–11.
- Bikfalvi A (2004) Platelet factor 4: An inhibitor of angiogenesis *Semin Thromb Hemost* **30**, 379–85.
- Bingle L, Lewis CE, Corke KP, Reed M, and Brown NJ (2006) Macrophages promote angiogenesis in human breast tumour spheroids in vivo *Br J Cancer* **94**, 101–107.
- Biondi A, Persiani R, Cananzi F, Zoccali M, Vigorita V, Tufo A, and D'Ugo D (2010) R0 resection in the treatment of gastric cancer: Room for improvement *World J Gastroenterol* 16, 3358–3370.
- Blanco R, and Gerhardt H (2013) VEGF and Notch in Tip and Stalk Cell Selection *Cold Spring Harb Perspect Med* 1–19.
- Blix ES, Kildal AB, Bertelsen E, Waage A, Myklebust JH, Kolstad A, and Husebekk A (2015) Content of endothelial progenitor cells in autologous stem cellgrafts predict survival after transplantation for multiplemyeloma *Biol Blood Marrow Transplant* 21, 840–7.
- Bonnans C, Chou J, and Werb Z (2014) Remodelling the extracellular matrix in

development and disease Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 15, 786-801.

- Botelho MC, and Alves H (2016) Endothelial Progenitor Cells in Breast Cancer. *Int J Immunother Cancer Res* **2**, 1–2.
- Bottos A, Martini M, Di Nicolantonio F, Comunanza V, Maione F, Minassi A, ... Bardelli A (2012) Targeting oncogenic serine/threonine-protein kinase BRAF in cancer cells inhibits angiogenesis and abrogates hypoxia *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **109**, E353-9.
- Bougaret L, Delort L, Billard H, Lequeux C, Goncalves-Mendes N, Mojallal A, ... Caldefie-Chezet F (2017) Supernatants of Adipocytes From Obese Versus Normal Weight Women and Breast Cancer Cells: In Vitro Impact on Angiogenesis. *J Cell Physiol* 232, 1808–1816.
- Brand MD, Affourtit C, Esteves TC, Green K, Lambert AJ, Miwa S, ... Parker N (2004) Mitochondrial superoxide: Production, biological effects, and activation of uncoupling proteins *Free Radic Biol Med* **37**, 755–767.
- Brandão R, Acker CI, Leite MR, Barbosa NBV, and Nogueira CW (2009) Diphenyl diselenide protects against glycerol-induced renal damage in rats *J Appl Toxicol* **29**, 612–8.
- Bretón-Romero R, and Lamas S (2014) Hydrogen peroxide signaling in vascular endothelial cells *Redox Biol* **2**, 529–534.
- Brisset AC, Isakson BE, and Kwak BR (2009) Connexins in vascular physiology and pathology *Antioxidants Redox Signal* **11**, 267–282.
- Brown JM (1979) Evidence for acutely hypoxic cells in mouse tumours, and a possible mechanism of reoxygenation *Br J Radiol* **52**, 650–656.
- Burbridge MF, Bossard CJ, Saunier C, Fejes I, Bruno A, Léonce S, ... Depil S (2013) S49076 Is a novel kinase inhibitor of MET, AXL, and FGFR with strong preclinical activity alone and in association with bevacizumab *Mol Cancer Ther* **12**, 1749–62.
- Cai H (2005) Hydrogen peroxide regulation of endothelial function: Origins, mechanisms, and consequences *Cardiovasc Res* **68**, 26–36.
- Cai J, Wei J, Li S, Suber T, and Zhao J (2017) AM966, an Antagonist of Lysophosphatidic Acid Receptor 1, Increases Lung Microvascular Endothelial Permeability through Activation of Rho Signaling Pathway and Phosphorylation of VE-Cadherin *Mediators Inflamm* **2017**, 6893560.
- Cai L, Xu S, Piao C, Qiu S, Li H, and Du J (2016) Adiponectin induces CXCL1 secretion from cancer cells and promotes tumor angiogenesis by inducing stromal fibroblast senescence *Mol Carcinog* 55, 1796–1806.
- Cai S, Cheng X, Liu Y, Lin Z, Zeng W, Yang C, ... Li W (2018) EYA1 promotes tumor angiogenesis by activating the PI3K pathway in colorectal cancer *Exp Cell Res* **367**,

37–46.

- Cai T, Fassina GF, Morini M, Aluigi MG, Masiello L, Fontanini G, ... Albini A (1999) Nacetylcysteine inhibits endothelial cell invasion and angiogenesis *Lab Investig* 79, 1151–1159.
- Cairns RA, and Mak TW (2016) The current state of cancer metabolism *Nat Rev Cancer* **16**, 613–614.
- Cantaluppi V, Gatti S, Medica D, Figliolini F, Bruno S, Deregibus MC, ... Camussi G (2012) Microvesicles derived from endothelial progenitor cells protect the kidney from ischemia-reperfusion injury by microRNA-dependent reprogramming of resident renal cells *Kidney Int* 82, 412–27.
- Carbone C, Piro G, Merz V, Simionato F, Santoro R, Zecchetto C, ... Melisi D (2018) Angiopoietin-like proteins in angiogenesis, inflammation and cancer *Int J Mol Sci* **19**, 1–22.
- Cardwell CR, Pottegård A, Vaes E, Garmo H, Murray LJ, Brown C, ... Bennett K (2016) Propranolol and survival from breast cancer: A pooled analysis of European breast cancer cohorts *Breast Cancer Res* **18**, 119.
- Carlisle AE, Lee N, Matthew-Onabanjo AN, Spears ME, Park SJ, Youkana D, ... Kim D (2020) Selenium detoxification is required for cancer-cell survival *Nat Metab* **2**, 603– 611.
- Carmeliet P (2003) Angiogenesis in health and disease Nat Med 9, 653-60.
- Carmeliet P (2005a) Angiogenesis in life, disease and medicine Nature 438, 932-6.
- Carmeliet P (2005b) VEGF as a key mediator of angiogenesis in cancer *Oncology* **69**, 4–10.
- Carmeliet P, Ferreira V, Breier G, Pollefeyt S, Kieckens L, Gertsenstein M, ... Nagy A (1996) Abnormal blood vessel development and lethality in embryos lacking a single VEGF allele *Nature* **380**, 435–439.
- Carmeliet P, and Jain RK (2011a) Molecular mechanisms and clinical applications of angiogenesis *Nature* **473**, 298–307.
- Carmeliet P, and Jain RK (2011b) Principles and mechanisms of vessel normalization for cancer and other angiogenic diseases *Nat Rev Drug Discov* **10**, 417–27.
- Carmeliet P, Lampugnani MG, Moons L, Breviario F, Compernolle V, Bono F, ... Dejana E (1999) Targeted deficiency or cytosolic truncation of the VE-cadherin gene in mice impairs VEGF-mediated endothelial survival and angiogenesis *Cell* 98, 147– 57.
- Casanovas O, Hicklin DJ, Bergers G, and Hanahan D (2005) Drug resistance by evasion of antiangiogenic targeting of VEGF signaling in late-stage pancreatic islet tumors *Cancer Cell* **8**, 299–309.

- Cascone T, and Heymach J V. (2012) Targeting the angiopoietin/Tie2 pathway: Cutting tumor vessels with a double-edged sword? *J Clin Oncol* **30**, 441–4.
- Cassetta L, Fragkogianni S, Sims AH, Swierczak A, Forrester LM, Zhang H, ... Pollard JW (2019) Human Tumor-Associated Macrophage and Monocyte Transcriptional Landscapes Reveal Cancer-Specific Reprogramming, Biomarkers, and Therapeutic Targets *Cancer Cell* **35**, 588–602.
- Castaman G, Giacomelli SH, Jacobi PM, Obser T, Budde U, Rodeghiero F, ... Haberichter SL (2012) Reduced von Willebrand factor secretion is associated with loss of Weibel-Palade body formation *J Thromb Haemost* **10**, 951–8.
- Castro RI, Forero-Doria O, and Guzmán L (2018) Perspectives of dendrimer-based nanoparticles in cancer therapy *An Acad Bras Cienc* **90**, 2331–2346.
- Cavalheiro S, do Amaral Campos HG, and da Costa MDS (2016) A case of giant fetal intracranial capillary hemangioma cured with propranolol *J Neurosurg Pediatr PED* **17**.
- Caveda L, Martin-Padura I, Navarro P, Breviario F, Corada M, Gulino D, ... Dejana E (1996) Inhibition of cultured cell growth by vascular endothelial cadherin (cadherin-5/VE-cadherin) J Clin Invest 98, 886–893.
- Chaffer CL, and Weinberg RA (2011) A perspective on cancer cell metastasis *Science* (80-) **331**, 1559–64.
- Chaiswing L, Clair WHS, and Clair DKS (2018) Redox Paradox: A Novel Approach to Therapeutics-Resistant Cancer *Antioxidants Redox Signal* **29**, 1237–1272.
- Chakroborty D, Goswami S, Basu S, and Sarkar C (2020) Catecholamines in the regulation of angiogenesis in cutaneous wound healing *FASEB J* **00**, 1–10.
- Chang YS, di Tomaso E, McDonald DM, Jones R, Jain RK, and Munn LL (2002) Mosaic blood vessels in tumors: Frequency of cancer cells in contact with flowing blood *Proc Natl Acad Sci* 97, 14608–14613.
- Chaudhari P, Ye Z, and Jang Y-Y (2014) Roles of Reactive Oxygen Species in the Fate of Stem Cells *Antioxid Redox Signal* **20**, 1881–1890.
- Chen Haiming, Campbell RA, Chang Y, Li M, Wang CS, Li J, ... Gui D (2011) Pleiotrophin produced by multiple myeloma induces transdifferentiation of monocytes into vascular endothelial cells: a novel mechanism of Pleiotrophin produced by multiple myeloma induces transdifferentiation of monocytes into vascular endothelial cells *Blood* **113**, 1992–2002.
- Chen Hongyu, Liu D, Yang Z, Sun L, Deng Q, Yang S, ... Guo N (2014a) Adrenergic signaling promotes angiogenesis through endothelial cell-tumor cell crosstalk *Endocr Relat Cancer* **21**, 783–95.
- Chen J, Tang D, Wang S, Li QG, Zhang JR, Li P, ... Wang DR (2014b) High expressions

of galectin-1 and VEGF are associated with poor prognosis in gastric cancer patients *Tumor Biol* **35**, 2513–2519.

- Chen L, Zhou X, Fan LX, Yao Y, Swenson-Fields KI, Gadjeva M, ... Li X (2015) Macrophage migration inhibitory factor promotes cyst growth in polycystic kidney disease *J Clin Invest* **125**, 2399–2412.
- Chen Qing, and Massagué J (2012) Molecular pathways: VCAM-1 as a potential therapeutic target in metastasis *Clin Cancer Res* **18**, 5520–5525.
- Chen Qishan, Wang Q, Zhu J, Xiao Q, and Zhang L (2018) Reactive oxygen species: key regulators in vascular health and diseases *Br J Pharmacol* **175**, 1279–1292.
- Chen TG, Zhong ZY, Sun GF, Zhou YX, and Zhao Y (2011) Effects of tumour necrosis factor-alpha on activity and nitric oxide synthase of endothelial progenitor cells from peripheral blood *Cell Prolif* **44**, 352–9.
- Chen Y, Zhang S, Peng G, Yu J, Liu T, Meng R, ... Wu G (2013) Juncendothelial NO synthase and reactive oxygen species mediated effect of simvastatin on vessel structure and function: Pleiotropic and dose-dependent effect on tumor vascular stabilization *Int J Oncol* **42**, 1325–36.
- Chen YZ, Bai N, Bi JH, Liu XW, Xu GQ, Zhang LF, … Huo R (2017) Propranolol inhibits the proliferation, migration and tube formation of hemangioma cells through HIF-1α dependent mechanisms *Brazilian J Med Biol Res* **50**, e6138.
- Cheong SM, Choi H, Hong BS, Gho YS, and Han JK (2012) Dab2 is pivotal for endothelial cell migration by mediating VEGF expression in cancer cells *Exp Cell Res* **318**, 550–7.
- Chim H, Armijo BS, Miller E, Gliniak C, Serret MA, and Gosain AK (2012) Propranolol induces regression of hemangioma cells through HIF-1α-mediated inhibition of VEGF-A Ann Surg 256, 146–16.
- Chittezhath M, Dhillon MK, Lim JY, Laoui D, Shalova IN, Teo YL, ... Biswas SK (2014) Molecular Profiling Reveals a Tumor-Promoting Phenotype of Monocytes and Macrophages in Human Cancer Progression *Immunity* **41**, 815–29.
- Chong HC, Chan JSK, Goh CQ, Gounko N V, Luo B, Wang X, ... Tan NS (2014) Angiopoietin-like 4 Stimulates STAT3-mediated iNOS Expression and Enhances Angiogenesis to Accelerate Wound Healing in Diabetic Mice *Mol Ther* 22, 1593– 1604.
- Chong MSK, Ng WK, and Chan JKY (2016) Concise Review: Endothelial Progenitor Cells in Regenerative Medicine: Applications and Challenges Stem Cells Transl Med 5, 530–538.
- Chopra H, Hung MK, Kwong DL, Zhang CF, and Pow EHN (2018) Insights into endothelial progenitor cells: Origin, classification, potentials, and prospects *Stem*

Cells Int 2018, 9847015.

- Chu H, Sun Y, Gao Y, Guan X, Yan H, Cui X, ... Cheng M (2019) Function of Krüppel like factor 2 in the shear stress induced cell differentiation of endothelial progenitor cells to endothelial cells. *Mol Med Rep* **19**, 1739–1746.
- Chung AS, Lee J, and Ferrara N (2010) Targeting the tumour vasculature: Insights from physiological angiogenesis *Nat Rev Cancer* **10**, 505–14.
- Chung JW, Park CJ, Cha CH, Cho YU, Jang S, Chi HS, ... Seo JJ (2012) A combination of CD15/CD10, CD64/CD33, CD16/CD13 or CD11b flow cytometric granulocyte panels is sensitive and specific for diagnosis of myelodysplastic syndrome *Ann Clin Lab Sci* **42**, 271–80.
- Clark AN, Youkey R, Liu X, Jia L, Blatt R, Day YJ, ... Tucker AL (2007) A1 adenosine receptor activation promotes angiogenesis and release of VEGF from monocytes *Circ Res* 171, 2637–43.
- Clear AJ, Lee AM, Calaminici M, Ramsay AG, Morris KJ, Hallam S, ... Gribben JG (2010) Increased angiogenic sprouting in poor prognosis FL is associated with elevated numbers of CD163+ macrophages within the immediate sprouting microenvironment *Blood* **115**, 5053–6.
- Cleeland CS, Allen JD, Roberts SA, Brell JM, Giralt SA, Khakoo AY, ... Skillings J (2012) Reducing the toxicity of cancer therapy: Recognizing needs, taking action *Nat Rev Clin Oncol* 9, 471–8.
- Cloughesy T, Finocchiaro G, Belda-Iniesta C, Recht L, Brandes AA, Pineda E, ... Shames DS (2017) Randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled, multicenter phase II study of onartuzumab plus bevacizumab versus placebo plus bevacizumab in patients with recurrent glioblastoma: Efficacy, safety, and hepatocyte growth factor and O6-methylguanine-DNA methy *J Clin Oncol* **35**, 343–351.
- Coffelt SB, Tal AO, Scholz A, De Palma M, Patel S, Urbich C, ... Lewis CE (2010) Angiopoietin-2 regulates gene expression in TIE2-expressing monocytes and augments their inherent proangiogenic functions *Cancer Res* **70**, 5270–80.
- Colavitti R, Pani G, Bedogni B, Anzevino R, Borrello S, Waltenberger J, and Galeotti T (2002) Reactive Oxygen Species as Downstream Mediators of Angiogenic Signaling by Vascular Endothelial Growth Factor Receptor-2/KDR *J Biol Chem* 277, 3101–3108.
- Conway EM, Collen D, and Carmeliet P (2001) Molecular mechanisms of blood vessel growth *Cardiovasc Res* **49**, 507–21.
- Cortés M, Sanchez-Moral L, de Barrios O, Fernández-Aceñero MJ, Martínez-Campanario M, Esteve-Codina A, ... Postigo A (2017) Tumor-associated macrophages (TAMs) depend on ZEB1 for their cancer-promoting roles *EMBO J*

36, 3336–33355.

- Coso S, Harrison I, Harrison CB, Vinh A, Sobey CG, Drummond GR, ... Selemidis S (2012) NADPH Oxidases as Regulators of Tumor Angiogenesis: Current and Emerging Concepts Antioxid Redox Signal 16, 1229–1247.
- Côté CH, Bouchard P, Van Rooijen N, Marsolais D, and Duchesne E (2013) Monocyte depletion increases local proliferation of macrophage subsets after skeletal muscle injury *BMC Musculoskelet Disord* **14**, 359.
- Cottrill CM, McAllister RG, Gettes L, and Noonan JA (1977) Propranolol therapy during pregnancy, labor, and delivery: Evidence for transplacental drug transfer and impaired neonatal drug disposition *J Pediatr* **81**, 812–4.
- Coussens LM, Raymond WW, Bergers G, Laig-Webster M, Behrendtsen O, Werb Z, ... Hanahan D (1999) Inflammatory mast cells up-regulate angiogenesis during squamous epithelial carcinogenesis *Genes Dev* **13**, 1382–97.
- Cox EM, Bambakidis NC, and Cohen ML (2017) Pathology of cavernous malformations In Handbook of Clinical Neurology (pp. 267–277).
- Coyle CH, and Kader KN (2007) Mechanisms of H2O2-induced oxidative stress in endothelial cells exposed to physiologic shear stress *ASAIO J* **53**, 17–22.
- Crawford Y, Kasman I, Yu L, Zhong C, Wu X, Modrusan Z, … Ferrara N (2009) PDGF-C Mediates the Angiogenic and Tumorigenic Properties of Fibroblasts Associated with Tumors Refractory to Anti-VEGF Treatment *Cancer Cell* **15**, 21–34.
- Crinò L, and Metro G (2014) Therapeutic options targeting angiogenesis in nonsmall cell lung cancer *Eur Respir Rev* **23**, 79–91.
- Cross MJ, and Claesson-Welsh L (2001) FGF and VEGF function in angiogenesis: Signalling pathways, biological responses and therapeutic inhibition *Trends Pharmacol Sci* **22**, 201–7.
- Cuadrado MJ, Buendía P, Velasco F, Aguirre MA, Barbarroja N, Torres LA, ... López-Pedrera C (2006) Vascular endothelial growth factor expression in monocytes from patients with primary antiphospholipid syndrome *J Thromb Haemost* **4**, 2461–9.
- Cui J, Zhang F, Wang Y, Liu J, Ming X, Hou J, ... Yu B (2016) Macrophage migration inhibitory factor promotes cardiac stem cell proliferation and endothelial differentiation through the activation of the PI3K/Akt/mTOR and AMPK pathways *Int J Mol Med* 37, 1299–1309.
- Curry CV (2015) Differential Blood Count: Reference Range, Interpretation, Collection and Panels.
- Cursiefen C, Chen L, Borges LP, Jackson D, Cao J, Radziejewski C, ... Streilein JW (2004) VEGF-A stimulates lymphangiogenesis and hemangiogenesis in inflammatory neovascularization via macrophage recruitment *J Clin Invest* **113**,

1040–50.

- Danenberg HD, Fishbein I, Gao J, Mönkkönen J, Reich R, Gati I, ... Golomb G (2002) Macrophage depletion by clodronate-containing liposomes reduces neointimal formation after balloon injury in rats and rabbits *Circulation* **106**, 599–605.
- De Berardinis RJ, and Chandel NS (2016) Fundamentals of cancer metabolism *Sci Adv* **2**, e1600200.
- De Bock K, Georgiadou M, Schoors S, Kuchnio A, Wong BW, Cantelmo AR, ... Carmeliet P (2013) Role of PFKFB3-driven glycolysis in vessel sprouting *Cell* **154**, 651–663.
- De Palma M, and Lewis CE (2013) Macrophage regulation of tumor responses to anticancer therapies *Cancer Cell* **23**, 277–86.
- De Sá Junior PL, Câmara DAD, Porcacchia AS, Fonseca PMM, Jorge SD, Araldi RP, and Ferreira AK (2017) The Roles of ROS in Cancer Heterogeneity and Therapy *Oxid Med Cell Longev* **2017**, 2467940.
- De Smet F, Segura I, De Bock K, Hohensinner PJ, and Carmeliet P (2009) Mechanisms of vessel branching: Filopodia on endothelial tip cells lead the way *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol* **29**, 639–649.
- Dejana E (2004) Endothelial cell-cell junctions: Happy together *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol* **5**, 261–70.
- Del Papa N, Quirici N, Soligo D, Scavullo C, Cortiana M, Borsotti C, ... Lambertenghi-Deliliers G (2006) Bone marrow endothelial progenitors are defective in systemic sclerosis Arthritis Rheum 54, 2605–15.
- Delgado-Bellido D, Serrano-Saenz S, Fernández-Cortés M, and Oliver FJ (2017) Vasculogenic mimicry signaling revisited: Focus on non-vascular VE-cadherin *Mol Cancer* 16, 65.
- Deryugina EI, and Quigley JP (2015) Tumor angiogenesis: MMP-mediated induction of intravasation- and metastasis-sustaining neovasculature *Matrix Biol* **May-Jul**, 94–112.
- Deshmane SL, Kremlev S, Amini S, and Sawaya BE (2009) Monocyte Chemoattractant Protein-1 (MCP-1): An Overview *J Interf Cytokine Res* **29**, 313–326.
- Dewhirst MW, Cao Y, and Moeller B (2008) Cycling hypoxia and free radicals regulate angiogenesis and radiotherapy response *Nat Rev Cancer* **8**, 425–37.
- Dias AP, da Silva Santos S, da Silva JV, Parise-Filho R, Igne Ferreira E, Seoud O EI, and Giarolla J (2020) Dendrimers in the context of nanomedicine *Int J Pharm* **573**, 118814.
- Dijkgraaf EM, Heusinkveld M, Tummers B, Vogelpoel LTC, Goedemans R, Jha V, ... Van Der Burg SH (2013) Chemotherapy alters monocyte differentiation to favor generation of cancer-supporting m2 macrophages in the tumor microenvironment

Cancer Res 73, 2480–92.

- Dixon SJ, Lemberg KM, Lamprecht MR, Skouta R, Zaitsev EM, Gleason CE, ... Stockwell BR (2012) Ferroptosis: An Iron-Dependent Form of Nonapoptotic Cell Death Cell 149, 1060–1072.
- Dome B, Timar J, Dobos J, Meszaros L, Raso E, Paku S, ... Tovari J (2006) Identification and clinical significance of circulating endothelial progenitor cells in human nonsmall cell lung cancer *Cancer Res* **66**, 7341–7.
- Domingues G, Fernandes S, Salgado D, Nunes S, Pereira S, Coelho F, ... Serpa J (2015a) Monocytes/macrophages in cancer, from tumor aggressors to vascular components – a new insight for anti-angiogenic therapy In EACR-AACR-SIC Special Conference on Anticancer Drug Action and Drug Resistance from Cancer Biology to the Clinic (pp. 98–99).
- Domingues Germana, Fernandes SG, and Serpa J (2015b) Dynamics of VEGF-A and its Receptors in Cancer Vascularization – An Overview In *Understand cancer: research and treatment* (p. capter 3). iConcept Press.
- Dotan M, and Lorber A (2013) Congestive heart failure with diffuse neonatal hemangiomatosis Case report and literature review *Acta Paediatr Int J Paediatr* **102**, e232-8.
- Dou Q, Chen HN, Wang K, Yuan K, Lei Y, Li K, ... Huang C (2016) Ivermectin induces cytostatic autophagy by blocking the PAK1/Akt Axis in breast cancer *Cancer Res* 76, 4457–69.
- Draganov D, Gopalakrishna-Pillai S, Chen YR, Zuckerman N, Moeller S, Wang C, ... Lee PP (2015) Modulation of P2X4/P2X7/Pannexin-1 sensitivity to extracellular ATP via Ivermectin induces a non-apoptotic and inflammatory form of cancer cell death *Sci Rep* **5**, 16222.
- Duan Y, Zeng L, Li F, Wang W, Li Y, Guo Q, ... Yin Y (2017) Effect of branched-chain amino acid ratio on the proliferation, differentiation, and expression levels of key regulators involved in protein metabolism of myocytes *Nutrition* **36**, 8–16.
- Duarte A, Hirashima M, Benedito R, Trindade A, Diniz P, Bekman E, ... Rossant J (2004) Dosage-sensitive requirement for mouse Dll4 in artery development *Genes Dev* **18**, 2474–2478.
- Eelen G, Zeeuw P De, Treps L, Harjes U, Wong BW, and Carmeliet P (2018) Endothelial Cell Metabolism *Am Physiol Soc* **98**, 3–58.
- Egeblad M, Nakasone ES, and Werb Z (2010) Tumors as organs: Complex tissues that interface with the entire organism *Dev Cell* **18**, 884–901.
- Eggermann J, Kliche S, Jarmy G, Hoffmann K, Mayr-Beyrle U, Debatin KM, ... Beltinger C (2003) Endothelial progenitor cell culture and differentiation in vitro: A

methodological comparison using human umbilical cord blood *Cardiovasc Res* **58**, 478–86.

- Eichmann A, Makinen T, and Alitalo K (2005) Neural guidance molecules regulate vascular remodeling and vessel navigation *Genes Dev* **19**, 1013–21.
- Eklund L, Kangas J, and Saharinen P (2017) Angiopoietin-Tie signalling in the cardiovascular and lymphatic systems *Clin Sci* **131**, 87–103.
- Elliott LA, Doherty GA, Sheahan K, and Ryan EJ (2017) Human tumor-infiltrating myeloid cells: Phenotypic and functional diversity *Front Immunol* **8**, 86.
- Ellis LM, and Hicklin DJ (2008) VEGF-targeted therapy: Mechanisms of anti-tumour activity *Nat Rev Cancer* **8**, 579–91.
- Elsheikh E, Uzunel M, He Z, Holgersson J, Nowak G, and Sumitran-Holgersson S (2005) Only a specific subset of human peripheral-blood monocytes has endothelial-like functional capacity *Blood*.
- Eriksson A, Lennartsson A, and Lehmann S (2015) Epigenetic aberrations in acute myeloid leukemia: Early key events during leukemogenesis *Exp Hematol* **43**, 609– 24.
- Esteban J, Lasa D, and Perez-Modrego S (1965) Detection of cartilaginous tumors with selenium 75 *Radiology* **85**, 149–50.
- Eubank TD, Galloway M, Montague CM, Waldman WJ, and Marsh CB (2003) M-CSF Induces Vascular Endothelial Growth Factor Production and Angiogenic Activity From Human Monocytes J Immunol **171**, 2637–43.
- Fadini GP, Losordo D, and Dimmeler S (2012) Critical reevaluation of endothelial progenitor cell phenotypes for therapeutic and diagnostic use *Circ Res* **110**, 624–637.
- Feitelson MA, Arzumanyan A, Kulathinal RJ, Blain SW, Holcombe RF, Mahajna J, ... Nowsheen S (2015) Sustained proliferation in cancer: Mechanisms and novel therapeutic targets Semin Cancer Biol 35, S25–S54.
- Fernald K, and Kurokawa M (2013) Evading apoptosis in cancer *Trends Cell Biol* **23**, 620–33.
- Fernandes AP, and Gandin V (2015) Selenium compounds as therapeutic agents in cancer *Biochim Biophys Acta Gen Subj* **1850**, 1642–60.
- Fernández-Cortés M, Delgado-Bellido D, and Oliver FJ (2019) Vasculogenic Mimicry: Become an Endothelial Cell "But Not So Much" *Front Oncol* **9**, 803.
- Fernández M, Javaid F, and Chudasama V (2018) Advances in targeting the folate receptor in the treatment/imaging of cancers *Chem Sci* **9**, 790–810.
- Ferrara N, and Adamis AP (2016) Ten years of anti-vascular endothelial growth factor therapy *Nat Rev Drug Discov* **15**, 385–403.

- Ferrara N, Gerber HP, and LeCouter J (2003) The biology of VEGF and its receptors *Nat Med* **9**, 669–76.
- Ferrara N, and Kerbel RS (2005) Angiogenesis as a therapeutic target *Nature* **438**, 967– 74.
- Flemming KD, Graff-Radford J, Aakre J, Kantarci K, Lanzino G, Brown RD, ... Jack CR (2017) Population-based prevalence of cerebral cavernous malformations in older adults: Mayo clinic study of aging JAMA Neurol 74, 801–805.
- Folkman J (1971) Tumor angiogenesis: therapeutic implications. *N Engl J Med* **285**, 1182–1186.
- Folkman J, and Hanahan D (1991) Switch to the angiogenic phenotype during tumorigenesis *Princess Tak Symp* **22**, 339–347.

Folkman Judah (2006) Angiogenesis Annu Rev Med 57, 1–18.

- Frentzas S, Simoneau E, Bridgeman VL, Vermeulen PB, Foo S, Kostaras E, ... Reynolds AR (2016) Vessel co-option mediates resistance to anti-angiogenic therapy in liver metastases Nat Med 22, 1294–1302.
- Frieden IJ, Haggstrom AN, Drolet BA, Mancini AJ, Friedlander SF, Boon L, ... Esterly NB (2005) Infantile hemangiomas: Current knowledge, future directions. Proceedings of a research workshop on infantile hemangiomas *Pediatr Dermatol* 22, 383–406.
- Friedmann Angeli JP, Schneider M, Proneth B, Tyurina YY, Tyurin VA, Hammond VJ, ... Conrad M (2014) Inactivation of the ferroptosis regulator Gpx4 triggers acute renal failure in mice Nat Cell Biol 16, 1180–91.
- Fujiyama S, Amano K, Uehira K, Yoshida M, Nishiwaki Y, Nozawa Y, ... Matsubara H (2003) Bone Marrow Monocyte Lineage Cells Adhere on Injured Endothelium in a Monocyte Chemoattractant Protein-1-Dependent Manner and Accelerate Reendothelialization as Endothelial Progenitor Cells *Circ Res* **93**, 980–9.
- Fukui M, Yamabe N, and Zhu BT (2010) Resveratrol attenuates the anticancer efficacy of paclitaxel in human breast cancer cells in vitro and in vivo Eur J Cancer 46, 1882– 91.
- Fukumura D, and Jain RK (2007) Tumor microvasculature and microenvironment: Targets for anti-angiogenesis and normalization *Microvasc Res* **74**, 72–84.
- Fukumura D, Xavier R, Sugiura T, Chen Y, Park EC, Lu N, ... Seed B (1998) Tumor induction of VEGF promoter activity in stromal cells *Cell* **94**, 715–25.
- Gacche RN (2015) Compensatory angiogenesis and tumor refractoriness *Oncogenesis* **4**, e153.
- Gale NW, Dominguez MG, Noguera I, Pan L, Hughes V, Valenzuela DM, ... Yancopoulos GD (2004) Haploinsufficiency of delta-like 4 ligand results in

embryonic lethality due to major defects in arterial and vascular development *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **101**, 15949–15954.

- Gallipoli P, and Leach M (2007) Gingival infiltration in acute monoblastic leukaemia *Br Dent J* **203**, 507–509.
- Gandin V, Khalkar P, Braude J, and Fernandes AP (2018) Organic selenium compounds as potential chemotherapeutic agents for improved cancer treatment *Free Radic Biol Med* **127**, 80–97.
- Ganmore I, and Achiron A (2017) Cerebral Cavernous Malformations. *N Engl J Med* **377**, 71.
- Gao D, Nolan DJ, Mellick AS, Bambino K, McDonnell K, and Mittal V (2008) Endothelial progenitor cells control the angiogenic switch in mouse lung metastasis *Science* (80-) **1796**, 33–40.
- Gao P, Zhang H, Dinavahi R, Li F, Xiang Y, Raman V, ... Dang C V. (2007) HIF-Dependent Antitumorigenic Effect of Antioxidants In Vivo *Cancer Cell* **12**, 230–8.
- Garg J, Feng YX, Jansen SR, Friedrich J, Lezoualc'h F, Schmidt M, and Wieland T (2017) Catecholamines facilitate VEGF-dependent angiogenesis via β2adrenoceptor-induced Epac1 and PKA activation Oncotarget 8, 44732–44748.
- Garrido-Urbani S, Jemelin S, Deffert C, Carnesecchi S, Basset O, Szyndralewiez C, … Imhof B (2011) Targeting vascular NADPH oxidase 1 blocks tumor angiogenesis through a PPARα mediated mechanism *PLoS One* **6**, e14665.
- Gavard J (2014) Endothelial permeability and VE-cadherin: A wacky comradeship *Cell Adhes Migr* **8**, 158–64.
- Gazzaniga S, Bravo AI, Guglielmotti A, van Rooijen N, Maschi F, Vecchi A, … Wainstok R (2007) Targeting tumor-associated macrophages and inhibition of MCP-1 reduce angiogenesis and tumor growth in a human melanoma xenograft *J Invest Dermatol* **127**, 2031–2041.
- Ge Q, Zhang H, Hou J, Wan L, Cheng W, Wang X, ... Wu X (2018) VEGF secreted by Mesenchymal stem cells mediates the differentiation of endothelial progenitor cells into endothelial cells via paracrine mechanisms *Mol Med Rep* **17**, 1667–1675.
- Geissmann F, Manz MG, Jung S, Sieweke MH, Merad M, and Ley K (2010) Development of monocytes, macrophages, and dendritic cells *Science (80-)* **327**, 656–661.
- Gerber H. P., Kowalski J, Sherman D, Eberhard DA, and Ferrara N (2000) Complete inhibition of rhabdomyosarcoma xenograft growth and neovascularization requires blockade of both tumor and host vascular endothelial growth factor *Cancer Res* **60**, 6253–8.
- Gerber Hans Peter, and Ferrara N (2003) The role of VEGF in normal and neoplastic hematopoiesis *J Mol Med* **81**, 20–31.

Giannotta M, Trani M, and Dejana E (2013) VE-cadherin and endothelial adherens junctions: Active guardians of vascular integrity *Dev Cell* **26**, 441–54.

- Giantonio BJ, Catalano PJ, Meropol NJ, O'Dwyer PJ, Mitchell EP, Alberts SR, ... Benson
 AB (2007) Bevacizumab in combination with oxaliplatin, fluorouracil, and leucovorin
 (FOLFOX4) for previously treated metastatic colorectal cancer: Results from the
 Eastern Cooperative Oncology Group Study E3200 J Clin Oncol 25, 1539–44.
- Giatromanolaki A, Koukourakis MI, Pezzella F, Sivridis E, Turley H, Harris AL, and Gatter KC (2008) Phosphorylated VEGFR2/KDR receptors are widely expressed in B-cell non-Hodgkin's lymphomas and correlate with hypoxia inducible factor activation *Hematol Oncol* 26, 219–224.
- Gibson CC, Zhu W, Davis CT, Bowman-Kirigin JA, Chan AC, Ling J, ... Li DY (2015) Strategy for identifying repurposed drugs for the treatment of cerebral cavernous malformation *Circulation* **131**, 289–99.
- Gill M, Dias S, Hattori K, Rivera ML, Hicklin D, Witte L, ... Rafii S (2001) Vascular trauma induces rapid but transient mobilization of VEGFR2+ AC133+ endothelial precursor cells *Circ Res* 88, 167–74.
- Gimbrone MA, and García-Cardeña G (2016) Endothelial Cell Dysfunction and the Pathobiology of Atherosclerosis *Circ Res* **118**, 620–36.
- Gimbrone MA, Leapman SB, Cotran RS, and Folkman J (1972) Tumor Dormancy in vivo by Prevention of neovascularization *J Exp Med* **136**, 261–276.
- Girard E, Strathdee C, Trueblood E, and Quéva C (2012) Macrophage migration inhibitory factor produced by the tumour stroma but not by tumour cells regulates angiogenesis in the B16-F10 melanoma model *Br J Cancer* **107**, 1498–1505.
- Giuffrè A, and Vicente JB (2018) Hydrogen Sulfide Biochemistry and Interplay with Other Gaseous Mediators in Mammalian Physiology *Oxid Med Cell Longev* **2018**, 1–31.
- Goldstein HE, and Solomon RA (2017) Epidemiology of cavernous malformations *Handb Clin Neurol* **143**, 241–247.
- Gomez-Manzano C, Holash J, Fueyo J, Xu J, Conrad CA, Aldape KD, ... Yung WKA (2008) VEGF Trap induces antiglioma effect at different stages of disease *Neuro Oncol* **10**, 940–5.
- Gorrini C, Harris IS, and Mak TW (2013) Modulation of oxidative stress as an anticancer strategy *Nat Rev Drug Discov* **12**, 931–47.
- Graves LE, Ariztia E V., Navari JR, Matzel HJ, Stack MS, and Fishman DA (2004) Proinvasive properties of ovarian cancer ascites-derived membrane vesicles *Cancer Res* **64**, 7045–9.
- Green CR, Wallace M, Divakaruni AS, Phillips SA, Murphy AN, Ciaraldi TP, and Metallo CM (2016) Branched-chain amino acid catabolism fuels adipocyte differentiation

and lipogenesis Nat Chem Biol 12, 15-21.

- Gross BA, Lin N, Du R, and Day AL (2011) The natural history of intracranial cavernous malformations *Neurosurg Focus* **83**, 56–9.
- Grunewald M, Avraham I, Dor Y, Bachar-Lustig E, Itin A, Jung S, ... Keshet E (2006) VEGF-induced adult neovascularization: recruitment, retention, and role of accessory cells *Cell* **124**, 175–189.
- Gu H, Huang T, Shen Y, Liu Y, Zhou F, Jin Y, ... Wei Y (2018) Reactive Oxygen Species-Mediated Tumor Microenvironment Transformation: The Mechanism of Radioresistant Gastric Cancer Oxid Med Cell Longev 2018, 5801209.
- Guilliams M, Ginhoux F, Jakubzick C, Naik SH, Onai N, Schraml BU, ... Yona S (2014) Dendritic cells, monocytes and macrophages: A unified nomenclature based on ontogeny Nat Rev Immunol 14, 571–578.
- Guo HF, and Vander Kooi CW (2015) Neuropilin functions as an essential cell surface receptor *J Biol Chem* **209**, 29120–29126.
- Ha M, Kim DW, Kim J, Hong CM, Park SM, Woo IA, ... Oh SO (2019) Prognostic role of the beta-2 adrenergic receptor in clear cell renal cell carcinoma *Animal Cells Syst* (Seoul) 23, 365–369.
- Hahn C, and Schwartz MA (2009) Mechanotransduction in vascular physiology and atherogenesis *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol* **10**, 53–62.
- Haider KH, Aziz S, and Al-Reshidi MA (2017) Endothelial progenitor cells for cellular angiogenesis and repair: Lessons learned from experimental animal models *Regen Med* **12**, 969–982.
- Halin S, Rudolfsson SH, Van Rooijen N, and Bergh A (2009) Extratumoral macrophages promote tumor and vascular growth in an orthotopic rat prostate tumor model *Neoplasia* **11**, 177–186.
- Hanahan D, and Folkman J (1996) Patterns and emerging mechanisms of the angiogenic switch during tumorigenesis *Cell* **86**, 353–364.

Hanahan Douglas, and Weinberg RA (2000) The hallmarks of cancer Cell 100, 57–70.

- Hanahan Douglas, and Weinberg RA (2011) Hallmarks of cancer: the next generation. *Cell* **144**, 646–74.
- Hanson B (2016) Necroptosis: A new way of dying? Cancer Biol Ther 17, 899–910.
- Harki O, Gonthier B, Pépin JL, Tamisier R, Faury G, Vilgrain I, and Briançon-Marjollet A (2019) Intermittent hypoxia increases VE-Cadherin cleavage in OSAS through ROS and HIF-1 pathways Arch Cardiovasc Dis Suppl 11, 195–196.
- Harney AS, Arwert EN, Entenberg D, Wang Y, Guo P, Qian BZ, ... Condeelis JS (2015) Real-time imaging reveals local, transient vascular permeability, and tumor cell intravasation stimulated by TIE2hi macrophage–derived VEGFA Cancer Discov 5,

932–43.

- Harney AS, Karagiannis GS, Pignatelli J, Smith BD, Kadioglu E, Wise SC, … Condeelis JS (2017) The selective Tie2 inhibitor rebastinib blocks recruitment and function of Tie2Hi macrophages in breast cancer and pancreatic neuroendocrine tumors *Mol Cancer Ther* **16**, 2486–2501.
- Harris ES, and Nelson WJ (2010) VE-cadherin: at the front, center, and sides of endothelial cell organization and function *Curr Opin Cell Biol* **22**, 651–658.
- Hashimoto H, Sudo T, Maruta H, and Nishimura R (2010) The direct PAK1 inhibitor, TAT-PAK18, blocks preferentially the growth of human ovarian cancer cell lines in which PAK1 is abnormally activated by autophosphorylation at Thr 423. *Drug Discov Ther* **4**, 1–4.
- Hashizume H, Baluk P, Morikawa S, McLean JW, Thurston G, Roberge S, ... McDonald DM (2000) Openings between defective endothelial cells explain tumor vessel leakiness Am J Pathol 156, 1363–80.
- Hato T, Tabata M, and Oike Y (2008) The Role of Angiopoietin-Like Proteins in Angiogenesis and Metabolism *Trends Cardiovasc Med* **18**, 6–14.
- Hattori K, Dias S, Heissig B, Hackett NR, Lyden D, Tateno M, ... Rafii S (2001) Vascular endothelial growth factor and angiopoietin-1 stimulate postnatal hematopoiesis by recruitment of vasculogenic and hematopoietic stem cells *J Exp Med* **193**, 1005– 14.
- He LJ, Xie D, Hu PJ, Liao YJ, Deng HX, Kung HF, and Zhu SL (2015) Macrophage migration inhibitory factor as a potential prognostic factor in gastric cancer *World J Gastroenterol* 21, 9916–9926.
- Heinke J, Patterson C, and Moser M (2012) Life is a pattern: Vascular assembly within the embryo *Front Biosci Elit* **4**, 2269–88.
- Helfinger V, Henke N, Harenkamp S, Walter M, Epah J, Penski C, ... Schröder K (2016)
 The NADPH Oxidase Nox4 mediates tumour angiogenesis *Acta Physiol* 216, 435–446.
- Herbert SP, and Stainier DYR (2011) Molecular control of endothelial cell behaviour during blood vessel morphogenesis *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol* **12**, 551–64.
- Hermes GL, Delgado B, Tretiakova M, Cavigelli SA, Krausz T, Conzen SD, and McClintock MK (2009) Social isolation dysregulates endocrine and behavioral stress while increasing malignant burden of spontaneous mammary tumors *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **106**, 22393–8.
- Hielscher A, Ellis K, Qiu C, Porterfield J, and Gerecht S (2016) Fibronectin deposition participates in extracellular matrix assembly and vascular morphogenesis *PLoS One* **11**, e0147600.

- Hillen F, and Griffioen AW (2007) Tumour vascularization: sprouting angiogenesis and beyond *Cancer Metastasis Rev* **26**, 489–502.
- Hiller JG, Cole SW, Crone EM, Byrne DJ, Shackleford DM, Pang JMB, ... Sloan EK (2020) Preoperative β-blockade with propranolol reduces biomarkers of metastasis in breast cancer: A phase II randomized trial *Clin Cancer Res* 26, 1803–1811.
- Hipólito A, Nunes SC, Vicente JB, and Serpa J (2020) Cysteine Aminotransferase (CAT):
 A Pivotal Sponsor in Metabolic Remodeling and an Ally of 3-Mercaptopyruvate
 Sulfurtransferase (MST) in Cancer *Molecules* 25, 3984.
- Hirschhorn T, and Stockwell BR (2019) The development of the concept of ferroptosis *Free Radic Biol Med* **133**, 130–143.
- Hocevar BA, Smine A, Xu XX, and Howe PH (2001) The adaptor molecule disabled-2 links the transforming growth factor β receptors to the Smad pathway *EMBO J* **20**, 2789–801.
- Holash J, Maisonpierre PC, Compton D, Boland P, Alexander CR, Zagzag D, ... Wiegand SJ (1999) Vessel cooption, regression, and growth in tumors mediated by angiopoietins and VEGF *Science (80-)* **18**, 5356–62.
- Holmes DIR, and Zachary I (2005) The vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) family: Angiogenic factors in health and disease *Genome Biol* **6**, 209.
- Holohan C, Van Schaeybroeck S, Longley DB, and Johnston PG (2013) Cancer drug resistance: An evolving paradigm *Nat Rev Cancer* **13**, 714–26.
- Huang C, Li Z, Li N, Li Y, Chang A, Zhao T, ... Ren H (2018) Interleukin 35 Expression
 Correlates With Microvessel Density in Pancreatic Ductal Adenocarcinoma,
 Recruits Monocytes, and Promotes Growth and Angiogenesis of Xenograft Tumors
 in Mice *Gastroenterology* 154, 675–688.
- Huang CL, Cheng JC, Stern A, Hsieh JT, Liao CH, and Tseng CP (2006) Disabled-2 is a novel αllb-integrin-binding protein that negatively regulates platelet-fibrinogen interactions and platelet aggregation *J Cell Sci* **119**, 4420–30.
- Huang D, and Wu D (2018) Biodegradable dendrimers for drug delivery *Mater Sci Eng* C **90**, 713–727.
- Huang Y-J, and Nan G-X (2019) Oxidative stress-induced angiogenesis *J Clin Neurosci* **63**, 13–16.
- Huang Y, He L, Liu W, Fan C, Zheng W, Wong YS, and Chen T (2013) Selective cellular uptake and induction of apoptosis of cancer-targeted selenium nanoparticles *Biomaterials* **34**, 7106–16.
- Hughes R, Qian BZ, Rowan C, Muthana M, Keklikoglou I, Olson OC, ... Lewis CE (2015) Perivascular M2 macrophages stimulate tumor relapse after chemotherapy *Cancer Res* **75**, 3479–91.

- Hulsurkar M, Li Z, Zhang Y, Li X, Zheng D, and Li W (2017) Beta-adrenergic signaling promotes tumor angiogenesis and prostate cancer progression through HDAC2mediated suppression of thrombospondin-1 Oncogene 36, 1525–1536.
- Huo N, Ichikawa Y, Kamiyama M, Ishikawa T, Hamaguchi Y, Hasegawa S, ... Shimada H (2002) MMP-7 (matrilysin) accelerated growth of human umbilical vein endothelial cells *Cancer Lett* **177**, 95–100.
- Hur J, Yoon CH, Kim HS, Choi JH, Kang HJ, Hwang KK, ... Park YB (2004) Characterization of Two Types of Endothelial Progenitor Cells and Their Different Contributions to Neovasculogenesis Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 24, 288–93.
- Husbeck B, Bhattacharyya RS, Feldman D, and Knox SJ (2006) Inhibition of androgen receptor signaling by selenite and methylseleninic acid in prostate cancer cells: Two distinct mechanisms of action *Mol Cancer Ther* **5**, 2078–85.
- Ii M, Nishimura H, Sekiguchi H, Kamei N, Yokoyama A, Horii M, and Asahara T (2009) Concurrent vasculogenesis and neurogenesis from adult neural stem cells *Circ Res* 105, 860–8.
- Incalza MA, D'Oria R, Natalicchio A, Perrini S, Laviola L, and Giorgino F (2018) Oxidative stress and reactive oxygen species in endothelial dysfunction associated with cardiovascular and metabolic diseases *Vascul Pharmacol* **100**, 1–19.
- Iqbal AJ, McNeill E, Kapellos TS, Regan-Komito D, Norman S, Burd S, ... Greaves DR (2014) Human CD68 promoter GFP transgenic mice allow analysis of monocyte to macrophage differentiation in vivo *Blood* **124**.
- Ito Y, Oike Y, Yasunaga K, Hamada K, Miyata K, Matsumoto S-I, ... Suda T (2003) Inhibition of angiogenesis and vascular leakiness by angiopoietin-related protein 4. *Cancer Res* 63, 6651–7.
- Iwakura A, Shastry S, Luedemann C, Hamada H, Kawamoto A, Kishore R, ... Losordo DW (2006) Estradiol enhances recovery after myocardial infarction by augmenting incorporation of bone marrow-derived endothelial progenitor cells into sites of ischemia-induced neovascularization via endothelial nitric oxide synthase-mediated activation of matrix m *Circulation* **113**, 1605–14.
- Jackson MI, and Combs GF (2008) Selenium and anticarcinogenesis: Underlying mechanisms *Curr Opin Clin Nutr Metab Care* **11**, 718–26.
- Jacob C, Giles GI, Giles NM, and Sies H (2003) Sulfur and Selenium: The Role of Oxidation State in Protein Structure and Function *Angew Chemie Int Ed* **42**, 4742–58.
- Jahangiri A, De Lay M, Miller LM, Shawn Carbonell W, Hu YL, Lu K, ... Aghi MK (2013) Gene expression profile identifies tyrosine kinase c-Met as a targetable mediator of antiangiogenic therapy resistance *Clin Cancer Res* **19**, 1773–83.

- Jain RK (2005) Normalization of tumor vasculature: An emerging concept in antiangiogenic therapy *Science (80-)* **307**, 58–62.
- Jain RK (2014) Antiangiogenesis Strategies Revisited: From Starving Tumors to Alleviating Hypoxia Cancer Cell **26**, 605–22.
- Jain RK, Duda DG, Willett CG, Sahani D V., Zhu AX, Loeffler JS, ... Sorensen AG (2009) Biomarkers of response and resistance to antiangiogenic therapy Nat Rev Clin Oncol 6, 327–38.
- Jain VK (2017) Chapter 1. An Overview of Organoselenium Chemistry: From Fundamentals to Synthesis In *Organoselenium Compounds in Biology and Medicine* (pp. 1–33).
- Jaipersad AS, Lip GYH, Silverman S, and Shantsila E (2014) The role of monocytes in angiogenesis and atherosclerosis *J Am Coll Cardiol* **63**, 1–11.
- Jakobsson L, Franco CA, Bentley K, Collins RT, Ponsioen B, Aspalter IM, ... Gerhardt H (2010) Endothelial cells dynamically compete for the tip cell position during angiogenic sprouting *Nat Cell Biol* **12**, 943–53.
- Ji AR, Ku SY, Cho MS, Kim YY, Kim YJ, Oh SK, ... Choi YM (2010) Reactive oxygen species enhance differentiation of human embryonic stem cells into mesendodermal lineage *Exp Mol Med* **42**, 175–86.
- Jiang BH, and Liu LZ (2008) PI3K/PTEN signaling in tumorigenesis and angiogenesis Biochim Biophys Acta - Proteins Proteomics **102**, 19–65.
- Jiang S, Yang Y, Fang M, Li X, Yuan X, and Yuan J (2016) Co-evolution of tumorassociated macrophages and tumor neo-vessels during cervical cancer invasion *Oncol Lett* **12**, 2625–2631.
- Jiang Z, Zhou Q, Gu C, Li D, and Zhu L (2017) Depletion of circulating monocytes suppresses IL-17 and HMGB1 expression in mice with LPS-induced acute lung injury Am J Physiol - Lung Cell Mol Physiol **312**, L231–L242.
- Jin F, Brockmeier U, Otterbach F, and Metzen E (2012) New insight into the SDF-1/CXCR4 axis in a breast carcinoma model: Hypoxia-induced endothelial SDF-1 and tumor cell CXCR4 are required for tumor cell intravasation *Mol Cancer Res* **10**, 1021–31.
- Jin W, Wu W, Tang H, Wei B, Wang H, Sun J, ... Zhong W (2019) Structure Analysis and Anti-Tumor and Anti-Angiogenic Activities of Sulfated Galactofucan Extracted from Sargassum thunbergii *Mar Drugs* **17**, 52.
- Johnson JA, Herring VL, Wolfe MS, Relling M V, Pharmacy C, Tennessee JAJ, and Jude S (2000) CYP1A2 and CYP2D6 4-Hydroxylate Propranolol and Both Reactions Exhibit Racial Differences 1 *J Pharmacol Exp Ther* **294**, 1099–1105.

Jolly MK, Ware KE, Gilja S, Somarelli JA, and Levine H (2017) EMT and MET: necessary

or permissive for metastasis? Mol Oncol 11, 755-76.

- Josson S, Matsuoka Y, Chung LWK, Zhau HE, and Wang R (2010) Tumor–stroma coevolution in prostate cancer progression and metastasis *Semin Cell Dev Biol* **21**, 26–32.
- Jung S, and Kleinheinz J (2013) Angiogenesis The Key to Regeneration In *Regenerative Medicine and Tissue Engineering* (pp. 453–473). InTech.
- Kabiraj A, Jaiswal R, Singh A, Gupta J, Singh A, and Samadi F (2018) Immunohistochemical evaluation of tumor angiogenesis and the role of mast cells in oral squamous cell carcinoma *J Cancer Res Ther* **14**, 495–502.
- Kajiyama H, Suzuki S, Yoshihara M, Nishino K, Yoshikawa N, Utsumi F, ... Kikkawa F (2018) The possible existence of occult metastasis in patients with ovarian clearcell carcinoma who underwent complete resection without any residual tumours *Oncotarget* **9**, 6298–630.
- Kalluri R (2003) Basement membranes: Structure, assembly and role in tumour angiogenesis *Nat Rev Cancer* **3**, 422–33.
- Kalluri R (2016) The biology and function of fibroblasts in cancer *Nat Rev Cancer* **16**, 582–98.
- Kamihata H, Matsubara H, Nishiue T, Fujiyama S, Tsutsumi Y, Ozono R, ... Iwasaka T (2001) Implantation of bone marrow mononuclear cells into ischemic myocardium enhances collateral perfusion and regional function via side supply of angioblasts, angiogenic ligands, and cytokines *Circulation* **104**, 1046–52.
- Kang KA, Zhang R, Piao MJ, Chae S, Kim HS, Park JH, ... Hyun JW (2012) Baicalein inhibits oxidative stress-induced cellular damage via antioxidant effects *Toxicol Ind Health* 28, 412–21.
- Kaplan RN, Riba RD, Zacharoulis S, Bramley AH, Vincent L, Costa C, ... Lyden D (2005) VEGFR1-positive haematopoietic bone marrow progenitors initiate the premetastatic niche Nature 438, 820–7.
- Karcher JR, and Greene AS (2013) Bone marrow mononuclear cell angiogenic competency is suppressed by a high-salt diet Am J Physiol Physiol 306, C123– C131.
- Karlmark K, Tacke F, and Dunay I (2012) Monocytes in health and disease Minireview *Eur J Microbiol Immunol* **2**, 97–102.
- Karpanen T, Egeblad M, Karkkainen MJ, Kubo H, Ylä-Herttuala S, and Alitalo K (2001) Vascular endothelial growth factor C promotes tumor lymphangiogenesis and intralymphatic tumor growth *Cancer Res* **61**, 1786–90.
- Kasama T, Ohtsuka K, Sato M, Takahashi R, Wakabayashi K, and Kobayashi K (2010) Macrophage Migration Inhibitory Factor: A Multifunctional Cytokine in Rheumatic

Diseases Arthritis 20, 751–62.

- Kaur S, Sehgal R, Shastry SM, McCaughan G, McGuire HM, St de Groth BF, ... Seth D
 (2018) Circulating endothelial progenitor cells present an inflammatory phenotype and function in patients with alcoholic liver cirrhosis *Front Physiol* 9, 556.
- Keighron C, Lyons CJ, Creane M, O'Brien T, and Liew A (2018) Recent advances in endothelial progenitor cells toward their use in clinical translation *Front Med* **5**, 354.
- Kerbel RS (2000) Tumor angiogenesis: Past, present and the near future *Carcinogenesis* **358**, 2039–49.
- Khalkar P, Ali HA, Codó P, Argelich ND, Martikainen A, Arzenani MK, … Fernandes AP (2018) Selenite and methylseleninic acid epigenetically affects distinct gene sets in myeloid leukemia: A genome wide epigenetic analysis *Free Radic Biol Med* **117**, 247–257.
- Khromova N V., Kopnin PB, Stepanova E V., Agapova LS, and Kopnin BP (2009) p53 hot-spot mutants increase tumor vascularization via ROS-mediated activation of the HIF1/VEGF-A pathway Cancer Lett 276, 143–51.
- Kim J (2016) Introduction to cerebral cavernous malformation: A brief review *BMB Rep* **49**, 255–62.
- Kim KJ, Li B, Winer J, Armanini M, Gillett N, Phillips HS, and Ferrara N (1993) Inhibition of vascular endothelial growth factor-induced angiogenesis suppresses tumour growth in vivo Nature 362, 841–4.
- Kim SW, Kim H, Cho HJ, Lee JU, Levit R, and Yoon YS (2010) Human peripheral bloodderived CD31+ cells have robust angiogenic and vasculogenic properties and are effective for treating ischemic vascular disease J Am Coll Cardiol 56, 593–607.
- Kim Y-W, West XZ, and Byzova T V. (2013) Inflammation and oxidative stress in angiogenesis and vascular disease J Mol Med **91**, 323–328.
- Kim YH, Hu H, Guevara-Gallardo S, Lam MTY, Fong SY, and Wang RA (2008) Artery and vein size is balanced by Notch and ephrin B2/EphB4 during angiogenesis *Development* **135**, 3755–64.
- Kim YW, and Byzova T V. (2014) Oxidative stress in angiogenesis and vascular disease *Blood* **123**, 625–31.
- Kimura YN, Watari K, Fotovati A, Hosoi F, Yasumoto K, Izumi H, ... Ono M (2007) Inflammatory stimuli from macrophages and cancer cells synergistically promote tumor growth and angiogenesis *Cancer Sci* **98**, 2009–2018.
- Kiss EA, and Saharinen P (2018) Anti-angiogenic Targets: Angiopoietin and Angiopoietin Receptors In *Tumor Angiogenesis* (pp. 1–24).
- Kloepper J, Riedemann L, Amoozgar Z, Seano G, Susek K, Yu V, ... Jain RK (2016) Ang-2/VEGF bispecific antibody reprograms macrophages and resident microglia

to anti-tumor phenotype and prolongs glioblastoma survival *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **113**, 4476–81.

- Koh YW, Park CS, Yoon DH, Suh C, and Huh J (2014) CD163 Expression was associated with angiogenesis and shortened survival in patients with uniformly treated classical Hodgkin lymphoma *PLoS One* **9**, e87066.
- Kolachala VL, Bajaj R, Wang L, Yan Y, Ritzenthaler JD, Gewirtz AT, ... Sitaraman S V. (2007) Epithelial-derived fibronectin expression, signaling, and function in intestinal inflammation *J Biol Chem* **282**, 32965–73.
- Kong J, Wang F, Zhang J, Cui Y, Pan L, Zhang W, ... Liu P (2018) Exosomes of endothelial progenitor cells inhibit neointima formation after carotid artery injury J Surg Res 232, 398–407.
- Kong L, Yuan Q, Zhu H, Li Y, Guo Q, Wang Q, ... Gao X (2011) The suppression of prostate LNCaP cancer cells growth by Selenium nanoparticles through Akt/Mdm2/AR controlled apoptosis *Biomaterials* **32**, 6515–22.
- Kopetz S, Hoff PM, Morris JS, Wolff RA, Eng C, Glover KY, ... Heymach J V. (2010) Phase II trial of infusional fluorouracil, irinotecan, and bevacizumab for metastatic colorectal cancer: Efficacy and circulating angiogenic biomarkers associated with therapeutic resistance J Clin Oncol 28, 453–9.
- Koppaka V, Thompson DC, Chen Y, Ellermann M, Nicolaou KC, Juvonen RO, ... Vasiliou
 V (2012) Aldehyde Dehydrogenase Inhibitors: a Comprehensive Review of the Pharmacology, Mechanism of Action, Substrate Specificity, and Clinical Application *Pharmacol Rev* 64, 520–539.
- Koppula P, Zhang Y, Zhuang L, and Gan B (2018) Amino acid transporter SLC7A11 / xCT at the crossroads of regulating redox homeostasis and nutrient dependency of cancer Cancer Commun 38, 1–13.
- Kovaleva O V., Samoilova D V., Shitova MS, and Gratchev A (2016) Tumor Associated Macrophages in Kidney Cancer *Anal Cell Pathol* **2016**, 9307549.
- Kowanetz M, and Ferrara N (2006) Vascular Endothelial Growth Factor Signaling Pathways: Therapeutic Perspective *Clin Cancer Res* **12**, 5018–5023.
- Krebs LT, Shutter JR, Tanigaki K, Honjo T, Stark KL, and Gridley T (2004) Haploinsufficient lethality and formation of arteriovenous malformations in Notch pathway mutants *Genes Dev* **18**, 2469–2473.
- Kumar S, and Jack R (2006) Origin of monocytes and their differentiation to macrophages and dendritic cells *J Endotoxin Res* **12**, 278–84.
- Kumari S, Badana AK, Murali Mohan G, Shailender G, and Malla RR (2018) Reactive Oxygen Species: A Key Constituent in Cancer Survival *Biomark Insights* **13**, 1177271918755391.

- Kunsang Y, David BM, MILTON HJ, Zhihao F, and Tacey V (2010) Multifunctional Forms of Polyoxazoline Copolymers and Drug Compositions Comprising the Same.
- Kutikhin AG, Sinitsky MY, Yuzhalin AE, and Velikanova EA (2018) Shear stress: An essential driver of endothelial progenitor cells *J Mol Cell Cardiol* **118**, 46–69.
- Lampugnani MG, Zanetti A, Corada M, Takahashi T, Balconi G, Breviario F, ... Dejana E (2003) Contact inhibition of VEGF-induced proliferation requires vascular endothelial cadherin, β-catenin, and the phosphatase DEP-1/CD148 *J Cell Biol* **161**, 793–804.
- Lamy S, Lachambre MP, Lord-Dufour S, and Béliveau R (2010) Propranolol suppresses angiogenesis in vitro: Inhibition of proliferation, migration, and differentiation of endothelial cells *Vascul Pharmacol* **53**, 200–8.
- Lange S, Heger J, Euler G, Wartenberg M, Piper HM, and Sauer H (2009) Plateletderived growth factor BB stimulates vasculogenesis of embryonic stem cell-derived endothelial cells by calcium-mediated generation of reactive oxygen species *Cardiovasc Res* **81**, 159–68.
- Lassègue B, San Martín A, and Griendling KK (2012) Biochemistry, physiology, and pathophysiology of NADPH oxidases in the cardiovascular system *Circ Res* **110**, 1364–1390.
- Laviano A, Molfino A, and Fanelli FR (2012) Cancer-treatment toxicity: Can nutrition help? *Nat Rev Clin Oncol* **9**, 605.
- Le Jan S, Amy C, Cazes A, Monnot C, Lamandé N, Favier J, ... Germain S (2003) Angiopoietin-Like 4 Is a Proangiogenic Factor Produced during Ischemia and in Conventional Renal Cell Carcinoma Am J Pathol 162, 1521–1528.
- Léauté-Labrèze C, de la Roque ED, Hubiche T, Boralevi F, Thambo J-B, and Taïeb A (2008) Propranolol for Severe Hemangiomas of Infancy *N Engl J Med* **358**, 2649–51.
- Leblanc GG, Golanov E, Awad IA, and Young WL (2009) Biology of vascular malformations of the brain *Stroke* **40**, e694-702.
- Lee CK, Lee ME, Lee WS, Kim JM, Park KH, Kim TS, ... Rha SY (2015) Dovitinib (TKI258), a multi-target angiokinase inhibitor, is effective regardless of KRAS or BRAF mutation status in colorectal cancer *Am J Cancer Res* **5**, 72–86.
- Lee H-P, Wang S-W, Wu Y-C, Lin L-W, Tsai F-J, Yang J-S, ... Tang C-H (2020) Soyacerebroside inhibits VEGF-facilitated angiogenesis in endothelial progenitor cells *Food Agric Immunol* **31**, 193–204.
- Lee HP, Lin CY, Shih JS, Fong YC, Wang SW, Li TM, and Tang CH (2015) Adiponectin promotes VEGF-A-dependent angiogenesis in human chondrosarcoma through PI3K, Akt, mTOR, and HIF-α pathway *Oncotarget* **6**, 36746–36761.

- Lee HW, Choi HJ, Ha SJ, Lee KT, and Kwon YG (2013) Recruitment of monocytes/macrophages in different tumor microenvironments *Biochim Biophys Acta* 1835, 170–179.
- Leek RD, Lewis CE, Whitehouse R, Greenall M, Clarke J, and Harris AL (1996) Association of macrophage infiltration with angiogenesis and prognosis in invasive breast carcinoma *Cancer Res* 56, 4625–9.
- Lehúede C, Dupuy F, Rabinovitch R, Jones RG, and Siegel PM (2016) Metabolic plasticity as a determinant of tumor growth and metastasis *Cancer Res* **76**, 5201–8.
- Lei P, Bai T, and Sun Y (2019) Mechanisms of ferroptosis and relations with regulated cell death: A review *Front Physiol* **10**, 139.
- Levitzki A (2013) Tyrosine Kinase Inhibitors: Views of Selectivity, Sensitivity, and Clinical Performance *Annu Rev Pharmacol Toxicol* **53**, 161–85.
- Lewerenz J, Hewett SJ, Huang Y, Lambros M, Gout PW, Kalivas PW, ... Smith SB (2013) The Cystine / Glutamate Antiporter System x c - in Health and Disease : From Molecular Mechanisms Antioxid Redox Signal 18, 522–555.
- Lewis CE, De Palma M, and Naldini L (2007) Tie2-expressing monocytes and tumor angiogenesis: Regulation by hypoxia and angiopoietin-2 *Cancer Res* **67**.
- Lewis DF V, Modi S, Dickins M, Limited D, and Road P (2002) Structure-activity relationship for human cytochrome P450 substrates and inhibitors *Drug Metab Rev* **34**, 69–82.
- Li D, Xie K, Ding G, Li J, Chen K, Li H, ... Fang J (2014) Tumor resistance to anti-VEGF therapy through up-regulation of VEGF-C expression *Cancer Lett* **346**, 45–52.
- Li J, Cao F, Yin H liang, Huang Z jian, Lin Z tao, Mao N, ... Wang G (2020) Ferroptosis: past, present and future *Cell Death Dis* **11**, 88.
- Li J, Zhang YP, and Kirsner RS (2003) Angiogenesis in wound repair: Angiogenic growth factors and the extracellular matrix *Microsc Res Tech* **60**, 107–14.
- Li Y, Liu J, Zhao Z, Wen L, Li H, Ren J, and Liu H (2018) Correlation between circulating endothelial progenitor cells and serum carcinoembryonic antigen level in colorectal cancer *Acta Biochim Biophys Sin (Shanghai)* **50**, 307–312.
- Liekens S, De Clercq E, and Neyts J (2001) Angiogenesis: Regulators and clinical applications *Biochem Pharmacol* **61**, 253–70.
- Lieu CH, Tran H, Jiang ZQ, Mao M, Overman MJ, Lin E, ... Kopetz S (2013) The Association of Alternate VEGF Ligands with Resistance to Anti-VEGF Therapy in Metastatic Colorectal Cancer *PLoS One* **8**, e77117.
- Lim S, Hosaka K, Nakamura M, and Cao Y (2016a) Co-option of pre-existing vascular beds in adipose tissue controls tumor growth rates and angiogenesis *Oncotarget* **7**,

38282-38291.

- Lim SY, Yuzhalin AE, Gordon-Weeks AN, and Muschel RJ (2016b) Targeting the CCL2-CCR2 signaling axis in cancer metastasis *Oncotarget* **7**, 28697–710.
- Limbourg FP, Takeshita K, Radtke F, Bronson RT, Chin MT, and Liao JK (2005) Essential role of endothelial Notch1 in angiogenesis *Circulation* **111**, 1826–1832.
- Linkermann A, Skouta R, Himmerkus N, Mulay SR, Dewitz C, De Zen F, ... Krautwald S (2014) Synchronized renal tubular cell death involves ferroptosis *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **111**, 16836–41.
- Liu Yingying, Fang S, Sun Q, and Liu B (2016) Anthelmintic drug ivermectin inhibits angiogenesis, growth and survival of glioblastoma through inducing mitochondrial dysfunction and oxidative stress *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* **480**, 415–421.
- Liu Yiping, Cui Y, Shi M, Zhang Q, Wang Q, and Chen X (2014) Deferoxamine promotes MDA-MB-231 cell migration and invasion through increased ros-dependent HIF-1α accumulation *Cell Physiol Biochem* **33**, 1036–46.
- Lo M, Wang YZ, and Gout PW (2008) The xc- cystine/glutamate antiporter: A potential target for therapy of cancer and other diseases *J Cell Physiol* **215**, 593–602.
- Lohela M, Bry M, Tammela T, and Alitalo K (2009) VEGFs and receptors involved in angiogenesis versus lymphangiogenesis *Curr Opin Cell Biol* **21**, 154–65.
- Longati P, Jia X, Eimer J, Wagman A, Witt MR, Rehnmark S, … Heuchel RL (2013) 3D pancreatic carcinoma spheroids induce a matrix-rich, chemoresistant phenotype offering a better model for drug testing *BMC Cancer* **13**, 95.
- Lopes-Coelho F, Gouveia-Fernandes S, and Serpa J (2018) Metabolic cooperation between cancer and non-cancerous stromal cells is pivotal in cancer progression *Tumor Biol* **40**, 1010428318756203.
- Lopes-Coelho F, Silva F, Gouveia-Fernandes S, Martins C, Lopes N, Domingues G, ... Serpa J (2020) Monocytes as Endothelial Progenitor Cells (EPCs), Another Brick in the Wall to Disentangle Tumor Angiogenesis *Cells* **9**, 107.
- López-Jiménez A, García-Caballero M, Medina MÁ, and Quesada AR (2013) Antiangiogenic properties of carnosol and carnosic acid, two major dietary compounds from rosemary *Eur J Nutr* **52**, 85–95.
- Lowenthal DT, Saris SD, Packer J, Haratz A, and Conry K (1984) Mechanisms of action and the clinical pharmacology of beta-adrenergic blocking drugs *Am J Med* **77**, 119– 127.
- Lu V, Dahan P, Ahsan FM, Patananan AN, Roy IJ, Torres A, ... Teitell MA (2019) Mitochondrial metabolism and glutamine are essential for mesoderm differentiation of human pluripotent stem cells *Cell Res* 29, 596–598.
- Lugano R, Ramachandran M, and Dimberg A (2020) Tumor angiogenesis: causes,

consequences, challenges and opportunities Cell Mol Life Sci 77, 1745–1770.

- Lugano R, Vemuri K, Yu D, Bergqvist M, Smits A, Essand M, … Dimberg A (2018) CD93 promotes β1 integrin activation and fibronectin fibrillogenesis during tumor angiogenesis *J Clin Invest* **128**, 3280–3297.
- Lum H, and Roebuck KA (2001) Oxidant stress and endothelial cell dysfunction Am J Physiol - Cell Physiol **280**, C719-41.
- Luo F, Wu P, Chen J, Guo Y, Wang J, Li X, and Fang Z (2018) ANGPTL3 possibly promotes cardiac angiogenesis through improving proangiogenic ability of endothelial progenitor cells after myocardial infarction *Lipids Health Dis* **17**, 184.
- Luo H, Wang F, Bai Y, Chen T, and Zheng W (2012) Selenium nanoparticles inhibit the growth of HeLa and MDA-MB-231 cells through induction of S phase arrest *Colloids Surfaces B Biointerfaces* **94**, 304–8.
- Lutgendorf SK, DeGeest K, Dahmoush L, Farley D, Penedo F, Bender D, ... Cole SW (2011) Social isolation is associated with elevated tumor norepinephrine in ovarian carcinoma patients *Brain Behav Immun* **25**, 250–5.
- Lyden D, Hattori K, Dias S, Costa C, Blaikie P, Butros L, ... Rafii S (2001) Impaired recruitment of bone-marrow-derived endothelial and hematopoietic precursor cells blocks tumor angiogenesis and growth Nat Med 7, 1194–201.
- Madonna R, and De Caterina R (2015) Circulating endothelial progenitor cells: Do they live up to their name? *Vascul Pharmacol* **67–69**, 2–5.
- Magrini E, Villa A, Angiolini F, Doni A, Mazzarol G, Rudini N, ... Cavallaro U (2014) Endothelial deficiency of L1 reduces tumor angiogenesis and promotes vessel normalization *J Clin Invest* **134**, 4335–50.
- Mahalingam D, Patel M, Sachdev J, Hart L, Halama N, Ramanathan R, ... Tsimberidou A (2016) Safety and efficacy analysis of imalumab, an anti-oxidized macrophage migration inhibitory factor (oxMIF) antibody, alone or in combination with 5fluorouracil/leucovorin (5-FU/LV) or panitumumab, in patients with metastatic colorectal cancer (mCRC) *Ann Oncol* 27, ii105.
- Maisonpierre PC, Suri C, Jones PF, Bartunkova S, Wiegand SJ, Radziejewski C, ... Yancopoulos GD (1997) Angiopoietin-2, a natural antagonist for Tie2 that disrupts in vivo angiogenesis *Science (80-)*.
- Makanya AN, Hlushchuk R, and Djonov VG (2009) Intussusceptive angiogenesis and its role in vascular morphogenesis, patterning, and remodeling *Angiogenesis* **12**, 113–23.
- Malinda KM (2009) In vivo matrigel migration and angiogenesis assay. *Methods Mol Biol* **467**, 287–294.

Malinverno M, Corada M, Ferrarini L, Formicola L, Marazzi G, Sassoon D, and Dejana

E (2017) Peg3/PW1 Is a Marker of a Subset of Vessel Associated Endothelial Progenitors *Stem Cells* **35**, 1328–1340.

- Mandriota SJ, Jussila L, Jeltsch M, Compagni A, Baetens D, Prevo R, … Pepper MS (2001) Vascular endothelial growth factor-C-mediated lymphangiogenesis promotes tumour metastasis *EMBO J* 20, 672–82.
- Mangano K, Mazzon E, Basile MS, Marco R Di, Bramanti P, Mammana S, … Nicoletti F (2018) Pathogenic role for macrophage migration inhibitory factor in glioblastoma and its targeting with specific inhibitors as novel tailored therapeutic approach *Oncotarget* 9, 17951–17970.
- Maniotis AJ, Folberg R, Hess A, Seftor EA, Gardner LMG, Pe'er J, … Hendrix MJC (1999) Vascular channel formation by human melanoma cells in vivo and in vitro: Vasculogenic mimicry *Am J Pathol* **155**, 739–52.
- Manuneedhi Cholan P, Cartland S, and Kavurma M (2017) NADPH Oxidases, Angiogenesis, and Peripheral Artery Disease *Antioxidants* **6**, 56.
- Marcelo KL, Goldie LC, and Hirschi KK (2013) Regulation of endothelial cell differentiation and specification *Circ Res* **112**, 1272–87.
- Marmé D (2018) Tumor Angiogenesis: A Key Target for Cancer Therapy Oncol Res Treat **41**, 164.
- Martin AW (2011) Immunohistology of Non-Hodgkin Lymphoma In *Diagnostic Immunohistochemistry* (pp. 156–188).
- Martinez-Outschoorn U E, Pavlides S, Sotgia F, and Lisanti MP (2011) Mitochondrial Biogenesis Drives Tumor Cell Proliferation *Am J Pathol* **178**, 1949–1952.
- Martinez-Outschoorn Ubaldo E., Lin Z, Trimmer C, Flomenberg N, Wang C, Pavlides S,
 ... Lisanti MP (2011) Cancer cells metabolically "fertilize" the tumor microenvironment with hydrogen peroxide, driving the Warburg effect: Implications for PET imaging of human tumors *Cell Cycle* 10, 2504–2520.
- Martins C, Fonseca I, Roque L, Pereira T, Ribeiro C, Bullerdiek J, and Soares J (2005) PLAG1 gene alterations in salivary gland pleomorphic adenoma and carcinoma expleomorphic adenoma: A combined study using chromosome banding, in situ hybridization and immunocytochemistry *Mod Pathol* **18**, 1048–55.
- Martins IL, Charneira C, Gandin V, Ferreira Da Silva JL, Justino GC, Telo JP, ... Antunes AMM (2015) Selenium-containing chrysin and quercetin derivatives: Attractive scaffolds for cancer therapy J Med Chem 58, 4250–4265.
- Masiero M, Simões FC, Han HD, Snell C, Peterkin T, Bridges E, ... Buffa FM (2013) A core human primary tumor angiogenesis signature identifies the endothelial orphan receptor ELTD1 as a key regulator of angiogenesis *Cancer Cell* **24**, 229–41.

Mathieu J, and Ruohola-Baker H (2017) Metabolic remodeling during the loss and

acquisition of pluripotency Dev 144, 541-551.

- Mazereeuw-Hautier J, Hoeger PH, Benlahrech S, Ammour A, Broue P, Vial J, ... Bodemer C (2010) Efficacy of propranolol in hepatic infantile hemangiomas with diffuse neonatal hemangiomatosis *J Pediatr* **157**, 340–2.
- Mazzieri R, Pucci F, Moi D, Zonari E, Ranghetti A, Berti A, ... De Palma M (2011) Targeting the ANG2/TIE2 Axis Inhibits Tumor Growth and Metastasis by Impairing Angiogenesis and Disabling Rebounds of Proangiogenic Myeloid Cells *Cancer Cell* **19**, 512–26.
- Mazzone M, Dettori D, Leite de Oliveira R, Loges S, Schmidt T, Jonckx B, … Carmeliet P (2009) Heterozygous Deficiency of PHD2 Restores Tumor Oxygenation and Inhibits Metastasis via Endothelial Normalization *Cell* **136**, 839–851.
- McKenney JK, Weiss SW, and Folpe AL (2001) CD31 expression in intratumoral macrophages: A potential diagnostic pitfall *Am J Surg Pathol* **25**, 1167–73.
- Meiser J, Schuster A, Pietzke M, Voorde J Vande, Athineos D, Oizel K, ... Vazquez A (2018) Increased formate overflow is a hallmark of oxidative cancer *Nat Commun* 9, 1368.
- Meiser J, Tumanov S, Maddocks O, Labuschagne CF, Athineos D, Van Den Broek N,
 ... Vazquez A (2016) Serine one-carbon catabolism with formate overflow *Sci Adv* **2**, e1601273.
- Mellick AS, Plummer PN, Nolan DJ, Gao D, Bambino K, Hahn M, ... Mittal V (2010) Using the transcription factor inhibitor of DNA binding 1 to selectively target endothelial progenitor cells offers novel strategies to inhibit tumor angiogenesis and growth *Cancer Res* **70**, 7273–82.
- Michaelsen SR, Staberg M, Pedersen H, Jensen KE, Majewski W, Broholm H, ... Hamerlik P (2018) VEGF-C sustains VEGFR2 activation under bevacizumab therapy and promotes glioblastoma maintenance *Neuro Oncol* **20**, 1462–1474.
- Milkovic L, Cipak Gasparovic A, Cindric M, Mouthuy PA, and Zarkovic N (2019) Short Overview of ROS as Cell Function Regulators and Their Implications in Therapy Concepts *Cells* **8**, 793.
- Miller F, Kentsis A, Osman R, and Pan ZQ (2005a) Inactivation of VHL by tumorigenic mutations that disrupt dynamic coupling of the pVHL hypoxia-inducible transcription factor-1α complex *J Biol Chem* **280**, 7985–7996.
- Miller KD, Chap LI, Holmes FA, Cobleigh MA, Marcom PK, Fehrenbacher L, ... Rugo HS (2005b) Randomized phase III trial of capecitabine compared with bevacizumab plus capecitabine in patients with previously treated metastatic breast cancer *J Clin Oncol* 23, 792–9.
- Miquel J, Bruneau B, and Dupuy A (2014) Successful treatment of multifocal

intracerebral and spinal hemangiomas with propranolol *J Am Acad Dermatol* **70**, e83–e84.

- Mishima E, Sato E, Ito J, Yamada KI, Suzuki C, Oikawa Y, ... Abe T (2020) Drugs repurposed as antiferroptosis agents suppress organ damage, including aki, by functioning as lipid peroxyl radical scavengers *J Am Soc Nephrol* **31**, 280–296.
- Miyamoto Y, Suyama T, Yashita T, Akimaru H, and Kurata H (2007) Bone marrow subpopulations contain distinct types of endothelial progenitor cells and angiogenic cytokine-producing cells *J Mol Cell Cardiol* **43**, 627–35.
- Moccia F, Dragoni S, Poletto V, Rosti V, Tanzi F, Ganini C, and Porta C (2014) Orai1 and Transient Receptor Potential Channels as Novel Molecular Targets to Impair Tumor Neovascularization in Renal Cell Carcinoma and other Malignancies Anticancer Agents Med Chem 14, 296–312.
- Moffat JG, Vincent F, Lee JA, Eder J, and Prunotto M (2017) Opportunities and challenges in phenotypic drug discovery: An industry perspective *Nat Rev Drug Discov* **16**, 531–543.
- Moldovan L, Moldovan NI, Sohn RH, Parikh SA, and Goldschmidt-Clermont PJ (2000) Redox changes of cultured endothelial cells and actin dynamics *Circ Res* **86**, 549– 57.
- Moldovan NI (2002) Role of monocytes and macrophages in adult angiogenesis: a light at the tunnel's end *J Hematother Stem Cell Res* **11**, 179–194.
- Moloney JN, and Cotter TG (2018) ROS signalling in the biology of cancer *Semin Cell Dev Biol* **80**, 50–64.
- Montenegro FS, Correia M, Muccillo F, Souza Silva CGE, and De Lorenzo A (2018) Associations between endothelial progenitor cells, clinical characteristics and coronary restenosis in patients undergoing percutaneous coronary artery intervention *BMC Res Notes* **11**, 278.
- Moreno-Smith M, Lee SJ, Chunhua L, Nagaraja AS, He G, Rupaimoole R, ... Sood AK (2013) Biologic effects of dopamine on tumor vasculature in ovarian carcinoma *Neoplasia (United States)* **15**, 502–10.
- Mortimer J, Zonder HB, and Pal SK (2012) Lessons learned from the bevacizumab experience *Cancer Control* **19**, 309–16.
- Moschetta M, Mishima Y, Sahin I, Manier S, Glavey S, Vacca A, ... Ghobrial IM (2014)
 Role of endothelial progenitor cells in cancer progression *Biochim Biophys Acta -Rev Cancer* 1846, 26–39.
- Moschovi M, Alexiou GA, Stefanaki K, Tourkantoni N, and Prodromou N (2010) Propranolol Treatment for a Giant Infantile Brain Cavernoma *J Child Neurol* **25**, 653–5.

- Mou Y, Wang J, Wu J, He D, Zhang C, Duan C, and Li B (2019) Ferroptosis, a new form of cell death: Opportunities and challenges in cancer *J Hematol Oncol* **12**, 34.
- Mousa SA, Mohamed S, O'Connor L, and Block E (2004) Sulfur- and Selenium-Containing Compounds Derived from Natural and Synthetic Sources in Angiogenesis Modulation. *Blood* **104**, 3924.
- Muecke R, Schomburg L, Buentzel J, Kisters K, and Micke O (2010) Selenium or no selenium-that is the question in tumor patients: A new controversy *Integr Cancer Ther* **9**, 136–41.
- Muenst S, Läubli H, Soysal SD, Zippelius A, Tzankov A, and Hoeller S (2016) The immune system and cancer evasion strategies: Therapeutic concepts *J Intern Med* 279, 541–62.
- Murakami M, Nguyen LT, Zhang ZW, Moodie KL, Carmeliet P, Stan R V., and Simons M (2008) The FGF system has a key role in regulating vascular integrity *J Clin Invest* **118**, 3355–66.
- Murakami M, and Simons M (2008) Fibroblast growth factor regulation of neovascularization *Curr Opin Hematol* **15**, 215–20.
- Murayama T, Tepper OM, Silver M, Ma H, Losordo DW, Isner JM, ... Kalka C (2002) Determination of bone marrow-derived endothelial progenitor cell significance in angiogenic growth factor-induced neovascularization in vivo *Exp Hematol* **30**, 967– 72.
- Murdoch C, Muthana M, Coffelt SB, and Lewis CE (2008) The role of myeloid cells in the promotion of tumour angiogenesis *Nat Rev Cancer* **8**, 618–31.
- Nagano M, Yamashita T, Hamada H, Ohneda K, Kimura KI, Nakagawa T, ... Ohneda O (2007) Identification of functional endothelial progenitor cells suitable for the treatment of ischemic tissue using human umbilical cord blood *Blood* **110**, 151–60.
- Nakayama F, Nishihara S, Iwasaki H, Kudo T, Okubo R, Kaneko M, ... Narimatsu H (2001) CD15 Expression in Mature Granulocytes is Determined by α1,3-Fucosyltransferase IX, but in Promyelocytes and Monocytes by α1,3-Fucosyltransferase IV J Biol Chem 276, 16100–6.
- Navarrete MG, Hernández AD, Collado-Ortiz MA, Salinas-Lara C, and Tena-Suck ML (2014) Brain vascular lesions: A clinicopathologic, immunohistochemistry, and ultrastructural approach *Ann Diagn Pathol* **18**, 193–8.
- Nespereira B (2003) Vitamins C and E downregulate vascular VEGF and VEGFR-2 expression in apolipoprotein-E-deficient mice *Atherosclerosis* **171**, 67–73.
- Nevskaya T, Bykovskaia S, Lyssuk E, Shakhov I, Zaprjagaeva M, Mach E, ... Nassonov
 E (2008) Circulating endothelial progenitor cells in systemic sclerosis: relation to
 impaired angiogenesis and cardiovascular manifestations. *Clin Exp Rheumatol*

26:4, 21–9.

- Ni HZ, Liu Z, Sun LL, Zhou M, Liu C, Li WD, and Li XQ (2019) Metformin inhibits angiogenesis of endothelial progenitor cells via MIR-221-mediated p27 expression and autophagy *Future Med Chem* **11**, 2263–2272.
- Nishihira J (2000) Macrophage migration inhibitory factor (MIF): Its essential role in the immune system and cell growth *J Interf Cytokine Res*.
- Nishizuka I, Ichikawa Y, Ishikawa T, Kamiyama M, Hasegawa S, Momiyama N, ... Shimada H (2001) Matrilysin stimulates DNA synthesis of cultured vascular endothelial cells and induces angiogenesis in vivo *Cancer Lett* **173**, 175–82.
- Niu Z, Shi Q, Zhang W, Shu Y, Yang N, Chen B, ... Shen P (2017) Caspase-1 cleaves PPARγ for potentiating the pro-tumor action of TAMs *Nat Commun* **8**, 766.
- Nogueras S, Merino A, Ojeda R, Carracedo J, Rodriguez M, Martin-Malo A, ... Aljama P (2008) Coupling of endothelial injury and repair: An analysis using an in vivo experimental model Am J Physiol - Hear Circ Physiol 294, H708-13.
- Nolan DJ, Ciarrocchi A, Mellick AS, Jaggi JS, Bambino K, Gupta S, ... Mittal V (2007) Bone marrow-derived endothelial progenitor cells are a major determinant of nascent tumor neovascularization *Genes Dev* 21, 1546–58.
- Norden AD, Schiff D, Ahluwalia MS, Lesser GJ, Nayak L, Lee EQ, ... Wen PY (2015) Phase II trial of triple tyrosine kinase receptor inhibitor nintedanib in recurrent highgrade gliomas *J Neurooncol* **121**, 297–302.
- North S, Moenner M, and Bikfalvi A (2005) Recent developments in the regulation of the angiogenic switch by cellular stress factors in tumors *Cancer Lett* **18**, 1–14.
- Nowak-Sliwinska P, Alitalo K, Allen E, Anisimov A, Aplin AC, Auerbach R, ... Griffioen AW (2018) Consensus guidelines for the use and interpretation of angiogenesis assays Angiogenesis 21, 425–532.
- Nowak K, Rafat N, Belle S, Weiss C, Hanusch C, Hohenberger P, and Beck GC (2010) Circulating endothelial progenitor cells are increased in human lung cancer and correlate with stage of disease *Eur J Cardio-Thoracic Surg* **37**, 758–63.
- Nucera S, Biziato D, and de Palma M (2011) The interplay between macrophages and angiogenesis in development, tissue injury and regeneration *Int J Dev Biol* **55**, 49.
- Nunes SC, Lopes-Coelho F, Gouveia-Fernandes S, Ramos C, Pereira SA, and Serpa J (2018a) Cysteine boosters the evolutionary adaptation to CoCl2mimicked hypoxia conditions, favouring carboplatin resistance in ovarian cancer *BMC Evol Biol* **18**, 97.
- Nunes SC, Ramos C, Lopes-Coelho F, Sequeira CO, Silva F, Gouveia-Fernandes S, ... Serpa J (2018b) Cysteine allows ovarian cancer cells to adapt to hypoxia and to escape from carboplatin cytotoxicity *Sci Rep* 8, 9513.

- Ohno S, Ohno Y, Suzuki N, Kamei T, Koike K, Inagawa H, ... Inoue M (2004) Correlation of histological localization of tumor-associated macrophages with clinicopathological features in endometrial cancer *Anticancer Res* **24**, 3335–3342.
- Okamoto T, Usuda H, Tanaka T, Wada K, and Shimaoka M (2019) The functional implications of endothelial gap junctions and cellular mechanics in vascular angiogenesis *Cancers (Basel)* **11**, 237.
- Okochi-Takada E, Hattori N, Tsukamoto T, Miyamoto K, Ando T, Ito S, ... Ushijima T (2014) ANGPTL4 is a secreted tumor suppressor that inhibits angiogenesis Oncogene 33, 2273–2278.
- Okuno Y, Nakamura-Ishizu A, Otsu K, Suda T, and Kubota Y (2012) Pathological neoangiogenesis depends on oxidative stress regulation by ATM *Nat Med* **18**, 1208–1216.
- Olas B (2017) Hydrogen Sulfide as a "Double-Faced" Compound: One with Pro- and Antioxidant Effect *Adv Clin Chem* **78**, 187–196.
- Olingy CE, Dinh HQ, and Hedrick CC (2019) Monocyte heterogeneity and functions in cancer *J Leukoc Biol* **106**, 309–322.
- Olma E, Fernandes AP, Hebert C, Rundlöf AK, Larsen EH, Danielsson O, and Björnstedt M (2009) Extracellular thiol-assisted selenium uptake dependent on the X c- cystine transporter explains the cancer-specific cytotoxicity of selenite *Proc Natl Acad Sci* U S A **106**, 11400–5.
- Orimo A, Gupta PB, Sgroi DC, Arenzana-Seisdedos F, Delaunay T, Naeem R, ... Weinberg RA (2005) Stromal fibroblasts present in invasive human breast carcinomas promote tumor growth and angiogenesis through elevated SDF-1/CXCL12 secretion Cell **121**, 335–48.
- Osman I, Wan L, Hu G, Zheng Z, and Zhou J (2020) GFAP (Glial Fibrillary Acidic Protein)-Positive Progenitor Cells Contribute to the Development of Vascular Smooth Muscle Cells and Endothelial Cells. *Arter Thromb Vasc Biol* ATVBAHA120314078.
- Padfield GJ, Tura-Ceide O, Freyer E, Barclay GR, Turner M, Newby DE, and Mills NL (2013) Endothelial progenitor cells, atheroma burden and clinical outcome in patients with coronary artery disease *Heart* **99**, 791–8.
- Padys P, Fouque L, Le Duff M, D'Hervé D, and Poulain P (2015) Propranolol during pregnancy for large chorioangioma *Med Hypotheses* **85**, 513–4.
- Pang RWC, and Poon RTP (2006) Clinical implications of angiogenesis in cancers *Vasc Health Risk Manag* **2**, 97–108.
- Panieri E, and Santoro MM (2015) ROS signaling and redox biology in endothelial cells Cell Mol Life Sci **72**, 3281–3303.

- Pantziarka P, Bryan BA, Crispino S, and Dickerson EB (2018) Propranolol and breast cancer—a work in progress *Ecancermedicalscience* **12**.
- Park C, Choi EO, Kim GY, Hwang HJ, Kim BW, Yoo YH, ... Choi YH (2019) Protective effect of baicalein on oxidative stress-induced DNA damage and apoptosis in RT4-D6P2T schwann cells *Int J Med Sci* 16, 8–16.
- Park SY, Kang JH, Jeong KJ, Lee J, Han JW, Choi WS, ... Lee HY (2011) Norepinephrine induces VEGF expression and angiogenesis by a hypoxia-inducible factor-1α protein-dependent mechanism *Int J Cancer*.
- Park WH (2013) The effects of exogenous H2O2 on cell death, reactive oxygen species and glutathione levels in calf pulmonary artery and human umbilical vein endothelial cells *Int J Mol Med* **31**, 471–6.
- Park YG, Choi J, Jung HK, Kim B, Kim C, Park SY, and Seol JW (2017) Baicalein inhibits tumor progression by inhibiting tumor cell growth and tumor angiogenesis Oncol *Rep* 38, 3011–3018.
- Pashkovskaia N, Gey U, and Rödel G (2018) Mitochondrial ROS direct the differentiation of murine pluripotent P19 cells *Stem Cell Res* **30**, 180–191.
- Pasquier E, Street J, Pouchy C, Carre M, Gifford AJ, Murray J, ... Kavallaris M (2013)
 B-blockers increase response to chemotherapy via direct antitumour and antiangiogenic mechanisms in neuroblastoma *Br J Cancer* **108**, 2485–94.
- Pastushenko I, and Blanpain C (2019) EMT Transition States during Tumor Progression and Metastasis *Trends Cell Biol* **29**, 212–226.
- Payne SJL, and Jones L (2011) Influence of the tumor microenvironment on angiogenesis *Futur Oncol* **7**, 395–408.
- Pedragosa J, Miró-Mur F, Otxoa-de-Amezaga A, Justicia C, Ruíz-Jaén F, Ponsaerts P, ... Planas AM (2020) CCR2 deficiency in monocytes impairs angiogenesis and functional recovery after ischemic stroke in mice *J Cereb Blood Flow Metab* 271678X20909055.
- Peichev M, Naiyer AJ, Pereira D, Zhu Z, Lane WJ, Williams M, ... Rafii S (2000) Expression of VEGFR-2 and AC133 by circulating human CD34+ cells identifies a population of functional endothelial precursors *Blood* **95**, 952–8.
- Pelosi E, Castelli G, and Testa U (2014) Endothelial progenitors *Blood Cells, Mol Dis* **52**, 186–94.
- Peterson TE, Kirkpatrick ND, Huang Y, Farrar CT, Marijt KA, Kloepper J, ... Jain RK (2016) Dual inhibition of Ang-2 and VEGF receptors normalizes tumor vasculature and prolongs survival in glioblastoma by altering macrophages *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **113**, 4470–5.

Phng LK, and Gerhardt H (2009) Angiogenesis: A Team Effort Coordinated by Notch

Dev Cell 16, 196–208.

- Planas-Paz L, Strilić B, Goedecke A, Breier G, Fässler R, and Lammert E (2012) Mechanoinduction of lymph vessel expansion *EMBO J* **31**, 788–804.
- Plano D, Baquedano Y, Ibánez E, Jiménez I, Palop JA, Spallholz JE, and Sanmartín C (2010) Antioxidant-prooxidant properties of a new organoselenium compound library *Molecules* 15, 7292–312.
- Plein A, Fantin A, Denti L, Pollard JW, and Ruhrberg C (2018) Erythro-myeloid progenitors contribute endothelial cells to blood vessels *Nature* **562**, 223–228.
- Plummer NW, Zawistowski JS, and Marchuk DA (2005) Genetics of cerebral cavernous malformations *Curr Neurol Neurosci Rep* **5**, 391–6.
- Pöschl E, Schlötzer-Schrehardt U, Brachvogel B, Saito K, Ninomiya Y, and Mayer U (2004) Collagen IV is essential for basement membrane stability but dispensable for initiation of its assembly during early development *Development* **131**, 1619–28.
- Potente M, Gerhardt H, and Carmeliet P (2011) Basic and therapeutic aspects of angiogenesis *Cell* **146**, 873–87.
- Potente M, and Mäkinen T (2017) Vascular heterogeneity and specialization in development and disease *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol* **18**, 477–494.
- Powe DG, Voss MJ, Zänker KS, Habashy HO, Green AR, Ellis IO, and Entschladen F (2010) Beta-blocker drug therapy reduces secondary cancer formation in breast cancer and improves cancer specific survival. *Oncotarget* 1, 628–38.
- Prenen H, and Mazzone M (2019) Tumor-associated macrophages: a short compendium *Cell Mol Life Sci* **76**, 1447–1458.
- Presta M, Dell'Era P, Mitola S, Moroni E, Ronca R, and Rusnati M (2005) Fibroblast growth factor/fibroblast growth factor receptor system in angiogenesis *Cytokine Growth Factor Rev* **16**, 159–78.
- Prieto-Bermejo R, and Hernández-Hernández A (2017) The Importance of NADPH Oxidases and Redox Signaling in Angiogenesis *Antioxidants* **6**, 32.
- Proneth B, and Conrad M (2019) Ferroptosis and necroinflammation, a yet poorly explored link *Cell Death Differ* **26**, 14–24.
- Pugh CW, and Ratcliffe PJ (2003) Regulation of angiogenesis by hypoxia: Role of the HIF system *Nat Med* **9**, 677–84.
- Qin M, Guan X, Zhang Y, Shen B, Liu F, Zhang Q, ... Jiang Y (2018) Evaluation of ex vivo produced endothelial progenitor cells for autologous transplantation in primates *Stem Cell Res Ther* **9**, 14.
- Radomska-Lesniewska DM, Balan BJ, and Skopinski P (2017) Angiogenesis modulation by exogenous antioxidants *Cent Eur J Immunol* **42**, 370–376.
- Rahimi N (2012) The ubiquitin-proteasome system meets angiogenesis Mol Cancer Ther

11, 538–48.

- Rahmanto AS, and Davies MJ (2012) Selenium-containing amino acids as direct and indirect antioxidants *IUBMB Life* **64**, 863–71.
- Rak J, Mitsuhashi Y, Sheehan C, Tamir A, Viloria-Petit A, Filmus J, ... Kerbel RS (2000) Oncogenes and tumor angiogenesis: Differential modes of vascular endothelial growth factor up-regulation in ras-transformed epithelial cells and fibroblasts *Cancer Res* **60**, 490–8.
- Rao S, Lobov IB, Vallance JE, Tsujikawa K, Shiojima I, Akunuru S, ... Lang RA (2007) Obligatory participation of macrophages in an angiopoietin 2-mediated cell death switch *Development* **134**, 4449–58.
- Rauf A, Khan R, Raza M, Khan H, Pervez S, De Feo V, ... Mascolo N (2015) Suppression of inflammatory response by chrysin, a flavone isolated from Potentilla evestita Th. Wolf. in silico predictive study on its mechanistic effect *Fitoterapia* **103**, 129–35.

Rayman MP (2000) The importance of selenium to human health Lancet 356, 233-41.

- Raza MH, Siraj S, Arshad A, Waheed U, Aldakheel F, Alduraywish S, and Arshad M (2017) ROS-modulated therapeutic approaches in cancer treatment *J Cancer Res Clin Oncol* **143**, 1789–1809.
- Rebelo SP, Pinto C, Martins TR, Harrer N, Estrada MF, Loza-Alvarez P, ... Brito C (2018)
 3D-3-culture: A tool to unveil macrophage plasticity in the tumour microenvironment *Biomaterials* 163, 185–197.
- Recchioni R, Marcheselli F, Antonicelli R, Lazzarini R, Mensà E, Testa R, ... Olivieri F (2016) Physical activity and progenitor cell-mediated endothelial repair in chronic heart failure: Is there a role for epigenetics? *Mech Ageing Dev* 159, 71–80.
- Reed RL, Cheney CB, Fearon RE, Hook R, and Hehre FW (1974) Propranolol therapy throughout pregnancy: a case report *Anesth Analg* **53**, 214.
- Rehman J, Li J, Orschell CM, and March KL (2003) Peripheral blood "endothelial progenitor cells" are derived from monocyte/macrophages and secrete angiogenic growth factors *Circulation* **107**, 1164–1169.
- Reinhard M, Schuchardt F, Meckel S, Heinz J, Felbor U, Sure U, and Geisen U (2016) Propranolol stops progressive multiple cerebral cavernoma in an adult patient *J Neurol Sci* **367**, 15–7.
- Restani RB, Conde J, Pires RF, Martins P, Fernandes AR, Baptista P V., ... Aguiar-Ricardo A (2015) POxylated Polyurea Dendrimers: Smart Core-Shell Vectors with IC 50 Lowering Capacity *Macromol Biosci* **15**, 1045–1051.
- Restani RB, Morgado PI, Ribeiro MP, Correia IJ, Aguiar-Ricardo A, and Bonifácio VDB (2012) Biocompatible Polyurea Dendrimers with pH-Dependent Fluorescence Angew Chemie Int Ed 51, 5162–5165.

- Rezaei M, Cao J, Friedrich K, Kemper B, Brendel O, Grosser M, ... Schnittler HJ (2018) The expression of VE-cadherin in breast cancer cells modulates cell dynamics as a function of tumor differentiation and promotes tumor–endothelial cell interactions *Histochem Cell Biol* **149**, 15–30.
- Rhodes JM, and Simons M (2007) The extracellular matrix and blood vessel formation: Not just a scaffold: Angiogenesis Review Series *J Cell Mol Med* **11**, 176–205.
- Ribatti D, Nico B, Crivellato E, and Vacca A (2007) Macrophages and tumor angiogenesis *Leukemia* **21**, 2085–2089.
- Richardson MR, and Yoder MC (2011) Endothelial progenitor cells: Quo Vadis? *J Mol Cell Cardiol* **50**, 266–72.
- Rigamonti N, Kadioglu E, Keklikoglou I, Rmili CW, Leow CC, and de Palma M (2014) Role of angiopoietin-2 in adaptive tumor resistance to VEGF signaling blockade *Cell Rep* **8**, 696–706.
- Risau W (1997) Mechanisms of angiogenesis Nature 386, 671-4.
- Ritter MR, Reinisch J, Friedlander SF, and Friedlander M (2006) Myeloid cells in infantile hemangioma *Am J Pathol* **168**, 621–8.
- Roberts AB, and Sporn MB (1989) Regulation of endothelial cell growth, architecture, and matrix synthesis by TGF-β *Am Rev Respir Dis* **140**, 1126–8.
- Rohlenova K, Veys K, Miranda-Santos I, Bock K De, and Carmeliet P (2017) Endothelial Cell Metabolism in Health and Disease *Trends Cell Biol* 1–13.
- Rohlenova K, Veys K, Miranda-Santos I, De Bock K, and Carmeliet P (2018) Endothelial Cell Metabolism in Health and Disease *Trends Cell Biol* **28**, 224–236.
- Rosa RM, Moura DJ, Romano e Silva AC, Saffi J, and Pêgas Henriques JA (2007) Antioxidant activity of diphenyl diselenide prevents the genotoxicity of several mutagens in Chinese hamster V79 cells *Mutat Res - Genet Toxicol Environ Mutagen* 631, 44–54.
- Rotter A, and de Oliveira ZNP (2017) Infantile hemangioma: pathogenesis and mechanisms of action of propranolol *JDDG J Der Dtsch Dermatologischen Gesellschaft* **15**, 1185–1190.
- Rowland K, Yeo WW, Ellis SW, Chadwick IG, Haq I, Lennard MS, and Jackson PR (1994) Inhibition of CYP2D6 activity by treatment with propranolol and the role of 4-hydroxy propranolol *Br J Clin Pharmacol* **38**, 9–14.
- Royer C, Guay-Bégin A-A, Chanseau C, Chevallier P, Bordenave L, Laroche G, ... Durán-Ruiz MC (2020) CX3CL1/CX3CR1-signalling in the CD9/S100β/SOX2positive adult pituitary stem/progenitor cells modulates differentiation into endothelial cells. *Histochem Cell Biol* **11**, 106.
- Rui X, Pan HF, Shao SL, and Xu XM (2017) Anti-tumor and anti-angiogenic effects of
Fucoidan on prostate cancer: Possible JAK-STAT3 pathway *BMC Complement Altern Med* **17**, 378.

- Sakai O, Yasuzawa T, Sumikawa Y, Ueta T, Imai H, Sawabe A, and Ueshima S (2017) Role of GPx4 in human vascular endothelial cells, and the compensatory activity of brown rice on GPx4 ablation condition *Pathophysiology* 24, 9–15.
- Sallee JL, Wittchen ES, and Burridge K (2006) Regulation of cell adhesion by proteintyrosine phosphatases II. Cell-cell adhesion *J Biol Chem* **281**, 16189–92.
- Sanmartin C, Plano D, and Palop J (2008) Selenium Compounds and Apoptotic Modulation: A New Perspective in Cancer Therapy *Mini-Reviews Med Chem* 8, 1020–31.
- Sans V, de la Roque ED, Berge J, Grenier N, Boralevi F, Mazereeuw-Hautier J, ... Leaute-Labreze C (2009) Propranolol for Severe Infantile Hemangiomas: Follow-Up Report *Pediatrics* **124**, e423–e431.
- Santoro MM (2018) Fashioning blood vessels by ROS signalling and metabolism *Semin Cell Dev Biol* **80**, 35–42.
- Santos I, Ramos C, Mendes C, Sequeira CO, Tomé CS, Fernandes DGH, ... Serpa J (2019) Targeting Glutathione and Cystathionine β-Synthase in Ovarian Cancer Treatment by Selenium–Chrysin Polyurea Dendrimer Nanoformulation *Nutrients* **11**, 2523.
- Sasaki M, North PE, Elsey J, Bubley J, Rao S, Jung Y, ... Arbiser JL (2019) Propranolol exhibits activity against hemangiomas independent of beta blockade *Npj Precis Oncol* **3**, 27.
- Sastry KSR, Karpova Y, Prokopovich S, Smith AJ, Essau B, Gersappe A, ... Kulik G (2007) Epinephrine protects cancer cells from apoptosis via activation of cAMPdependent protein kinase and BAD phosphorylation *J Biol Chem* 282, 14094–100.
- Sato M, Kusumi R, Hamashima S, Kobayashi S, Sasaki S, Komiyama Y, ... Sato H (2018) The ferroptosis inducer erastin irreversibly inhibits system xc- and synergizes with cisplatin to increase cisplatin's cytotoxicity in cancer cells *Sci Rep* 8, 968.
- Satoh K, Godo S, Saito H, Enkhjargal B, and Shimokawa H (2014) Dual roles of vascularderived reactive oxygen species-With a special reference to hydrogen peroxide and cyclophilin A- *J Mol Cell Cardiol*.
- Sauer H, and Wartenberg M (2005) Reactive oxygen species as signaling molecules in cardiovascular differentiation of embryonic stem cells and tumor-induced angiogenesis *Antioxidants Redox Signal* **7**, 1423–34.
- Schafer ZT, Grassian AR, Song L, Jiang Z, Gerhart-Hines Z, Irie HY, ... Brugge JS (2009) Antioxidant and oncogene rescue of metabolic defects caused by loss of

matrix attachment Nature 461, 109–113.

- Schinagl A, Thiele M, Douillard P, Völkel D, Kenner L, Kazemi Z, ... Kerschbaumer RJ (2016) Oxidized macrophage migration inhibitory factor is a potential new tissue marker and drug target in cancer *Oncotarget* 7, 73486–73486.
- Schito L, and Semenza GL (2016) Hypoxia-Inducible Factors: Master Regulators of Cancer Progression *Trends in Cancer* **1136**, 71–85.
- Schmeisser A, Garlichs CD, Zhang H, Eskafi S, Graffy C, Ludwig J, ... Daniel WG (2001) Monocytes coexpress endothelial and macrophagocytic lineage markers and form cord-like structures in Matrigel® under angiogenic conditions *Cardiovasc Res* 49, 671–680.
- Schoenfeld N, Epstein O, Nemesh L, Rosen M, and Atsmon A (1978) Effects of propranolol during pregnancy and development of rats. I. Adverse effects during pregnancy *Pediatr Res* **12**, 747–50.
- Schuller HM, Al-wadei HAN, Ullah MF, and Plummer HK (2012) Regulation of pancreatic cancer by neuropsychological stress responses: A novel target for intervention *Carcinogenesis* 33, 191–6.
- Seano G, and Jain RK (2020) Vessel co-option in glioblastoma: emerging insights and opportunities *Angiogenesis* **23**, 9–16.
- Seidmann L, Suhan T, Unger R, Gerein V, and Kirkpatrick CJ (2014) Transient CD15positive endothelial phenotype in the human placenta correlates with physiological and pathological fetoplacental immaturity *Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol* **180**, 172–9.
- Selenius M, Hedman M, Brodin D, Gandin V, Rigobello MP, Flygare J, ... Fernandes AP (2012) Effects of redox modulation by inhibition of thioredoxin reductase on radiosensitivity and gene expression *J Cell Mol Med* **16**, 1593–605.
- Semenza GL (2000) HIF-1: Mediator of physiological and pathophysiological responses to hypoxia *J Appl Physiol* **88**, 1474–80.
- Semrad TJ, Kim EJ, Tanaka MS, Sands J, Roberts C, Burich RA, ... Mack PC (2017) Phase II study of dovitinib in patients progressing on anti-vascular endothelial growth factor therapy *Cancer Treat Res Commun* **10**, 21–26.
- Sennino B, and McDonald DM (2012) Controlling escape from angiogenesis inhibitors *Nat Rev Cancer* **12**, 699–709.
- Serpa J (2020) Metabolic Remodeling as a Way of Adapting to Tumor Microenvironment (TME), a Job of Several Holders In *Advances in Experimental Medicine and Biology* (pp. 1–34).
- Seta N, and Kuwana M (2007) Human circulating monocytes as multipotential progenitors *Keio J Med* **56**, 41–7.

- Seta N, and Kuwana M (2010) Derivation of multipotent progenitors from human circulating CD14+ monocytes *Exp Hematol* **38**, 557–63.
- Shafique E, Torina A, Reichert K, Colantuono B, Nur N, Zeeshan K, ... Abid MR (2017) Mitochondrial redox plays a critical role in the paradoxical effects of NAPDH oxidase-derived ROS on coronary endothelium *Cardiovasc Res* **113**, 234–246.
- Sharifpanah F, Saliu F, Bekhite MM, Wartenberg M, and Sauer H (2014) β-adrenergic receptor antagonists inhibit vasculogenesis of embryonic stem cells by downregulation of nitric oxide generation and interference with VEGF signalling *Cell Tissue Res* **358**, 443–452.
- Sharma A, Trivedi NR, Zimmerman MA, Tuveson DA, Smith CD, and Robertson GP (2005) Mutant V599EB-Raf regulates growth and vascular development of malignant melanoma tumors *Cancer Res* 65, 2412–21.
- Shefa U, Kim MS, Jeong NY, and Jung J (2018) Antioxidant and Cell-Signaling Functions of Hydrogen Sulfide in the Central Nervous System Oxid Med Cell Longev 2018, 1873962.
- Shen Y, Li S, Wang X, Wang M, Tian Q, Yang J, ... Yang J (2019) Tumor vasculature remolding by thalidomide increases delivery and efficacy of cisplatin. J Exp Clin Cancer Res 38, 427.
- Shenkar R, Shi C, Austin C, Moore T, Lightle R, Cao Y, ... Awad IA (2017) RhoA kinase inhibition with fasudil versus simvastatin in murine models of cerebral cavernous malformations *Stroke* 48, 187–194.
- Shenoy AK, and Lu J (2016) Cancer cells remodel themselves and vasculature to overcome the endothelial barrier *Cancer Lett* **380**, 534–544.
- Shibuya M (2011) Vascular Endothelial Growth Factor (VEGF) and Its Receptor (VEGFR) Signaling in Angiogenesis: A Crucial Target for Anti- and Pro-Angiogenic Therapies Genes and Cancer 2, 1097–1105.
- Shibuya M, and Claesson-Welsh L (2006) Signal transduction by VEGF receptors in regulation of angiogenesis and lymphangiogenesis *Exp Cell Res* **12**, 549–60.
- Shim WSN, Ho IAW, and Wong PEH (2007) Angiopoietin: A TIE(d) balance in tumor angiogenesis *Mol Cancer Res* **5**, 655–65.
- Shojaei F, Wu X, Malik AK, Zhong C, Baldwin ME, Schanz S, ... Ferrara N (2007) Tumor refractoriness to anti-VEGF treatment is mediated by CD11b +Gr1+ myeloid cells *Nat Biotechnol.*
- Shojaei F, Zhong C, Wu X, Yu L, and Ferrara N (2008) Role of myeloid cells in tumor angiogenesis and growth *Trends Cell Biol* **18**, 372–8.
- Siegel RL, Miller KD, and Jemal A (2019) Cancer statistics, 2019 CA Cancer J Clin 69, 7–34.

- Siemerink MJ, Klaassen I, van Noorden CJF, and Schlingemann RO (2013) Endothelial Tip Cells in Ocular Angiogenesis: Potential Target for Anti-Angiogenesis Therapy *J Histochem Cytochem* **61**, 101–115.
- Siemerink MJ, Klaassen I, Vogels IMC, Griffioen AW, Van Noorden CJF, and Schlingemann RO (2012) CD34 marks angiogenic tip cells in human vascular endothelial cell cultures *Angiogenesis* **15**, 151–163.
- Simpson KD, Templeton DJ, and Cross J V. (2012) Macrophage Migration Inhibitory Factor Promotes Tumor Growth and Metastasis by Inducing Myeloid-Derived Suppressor Cells in the Tumor Microenvironment *J Immunol* **189**, 5533–40.
- Singh M, Kaur M, and Silakari O (2014) Flavones: An important scaffold for medicinal chemistry *Eur J Med Chem* **84**, 206–39.
- Sliwinska PN, Alitalo K, Allen E, Anisimov A, Aplin AC, Auerbach R, ... Bender RHF (2018) Consensus guidelines for the use and interpretation of angiogenesis assays *Springer*.
- Soucek L, Lawlor ER, Soto D, Shchors K, Swigart LB, and Evan GI (2007) Mast cells are required for angiogenesis and macroscopic expansion of Myc-induced pancreatic islet tumors *Nat Med* **13**, 1211–8.
- Spallholz JE, Shriver BJ, and Reid TW (2001) Dimethyldiselenide and methylseleninic acid generate superoxide in an in vitro chemiluminescence assay in the presence of glutathione: Implications for the anticarcinogenic activity of L-selenomethionine and L-Se-methylselenocysteine *Nutr Cancer* **40**, 34–41.
- Sparmann A, and Bar-Sagi D (2004) Ras-induced interleukin-8 expression plays a critical role in tumor growth and angiogenesis *Cancer Cell* **6**, 447–58.
- Stacker SA, and Achen MG (2013) The VEGF signaling pathway in cancer: The road ahead *Chin J Cancer* **32**, 297–302.
- Stacker SA, Caesar C, Baldwin ME, Thornton GE, Williams RA, Prevo R, ... Achen MG (2001) VEGF-D promotes the metastatic spread of tumor cells via the lymphatics *Nat Med* 7, 186–9.
- Stamenkovic I (2003) Extracellular matrix remodelling: The role of matrix metalloproteinases *J Pathol* **200**, 448–64.
- Stantic M, Sakil HAM, Zirath H, Fang T, Sanz G, Fernandez-Woodbridge A, ... Wilhelm MT (2015) TAp73 suppresses tumor angiogenesis through repression of proangiogenic cytokines and HIF-1α activity *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **112**, 220– 225.
- Stati T, Musumeci M, Maccari S, Massimi A, Corritore E, Strimpakos G, ... Marano G (2014) β-blockers promote angiogenesis in the mouse aortic ring assay J Cardiovasc Pharmacol 64, 21–7.

- Steinbichler TB, Kral F, Reinold S, and Riechelmann H (2014) Chondrosarcoma of the nasal cavity in a patient with Maffucci syndrome: case report and review of the literature World J Surg Oncol 12, 387.
- Stetler-Stevenson WG (1999) Matrix metalloproteinases in angiogenesis: A moving target for therapeutic intervention *J Clin Invest* **103**, 1237–41.
- Stockwell BR, Friedmann Angeli JP, Bayir H, Bush AI, Conrad M, Dixon SJ, ... Zhang DD (2017) Ferroptosis: A Regulated Cell Death Nexus Linking Metabolism, Redox Biology, and Disease Cell 171, 273–285.
- Stone JR, and Collins T (2002) The role of hydrogen peroxide in endothelial proliferative responses *Endothel J Endothel Cell Res* **9**, 231–238.
- Storch CH, and Hoeger PH (2010) Propranolol for infantile haemangiomas: insights into the molecular mechanisms of action *Br J Dermatol* **163**, 269–274.
- Stott SL, Richard L, Nagrath S, Min Y, Miyamoto DT, Ulkus L, ... Maheswaran S (2010) Isolation and characterization of circulating tumor cells from patients with localized and metastatic prostate cancer *Sci Transl Med* 2, 25ra23.
- Stricker TP, Dumin JA, Dickeson SK, Chung L, Nagase H, Parks WC, and Santoro SA (2001) Structural Analysis of the α2 Integrin I Domain/Procollagenase-1 (Matrix Metalloproteinase-1) Interaction *J Biol Chem* **276**, 29375–81.
- Stupin A, Cosic A, Novak S, Vesel M, Jukic I, Popovic B, ... Drenjancevic I (2017) Reduced dietary selenium impairs vascular function by increasing oxidative stress in sprague-dawley rat aortas Int J Environ Res Public Health 14, 591.
- Stuttfeld E, and Ballmer-Hofer K (2009) Structure and function of VEGF receptors *IUBMB Life* **61**, 915–922.
- Subramani T, Yeap SK, Ho WY, Ho CL, Omar AR, Aziz SA, ... Alitheen NB (2014) Vitamin C suppresses cell death in MCF-7 human breast cancer cells induced by tamoxifen J Cell Mol Med 18, 305–13.
- Suchting S, Freitas C, Le Noble F, Benedito R, Bréant C, Duarte A, and Eichmann A (2007) The Notch ligand Delta-like 4 negatively regulates endothelial tip cell formation and vessel branching *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **104**, 3225–30.
- Sudo K, Sato K, Sakamoto S, Hasegawa Y, Asano M, Okuda Y, ... Ito H (2017) Association Between Endothelial Progenitor Cells and Treatment Response in Non-Squamous Non-small Cell Lung Cancer Treated with Bevacizumab. *Anticancer Res* 37, 5565–5571.
- Sun H, Zhu MS, Wu WR, Shi X De, and Xu LB (2014a) Role of anti-angiogenesis therapy in the management of hepatocellular carcinoma: The jury is still out *World J Hepatol* 6, 830–5.
- Sun T, Zhang YS, Pang B, Hyun DC, Yang M, and Xia Y (2014b) Engineered

nanoparticles for drug delivery in cancer therapy *Angew Chemie - Int Ed* **53**, 12320–64.

- Sun Y, Zheng Y, Wang C, and Liu Y (2018) Glutathione depletion induces ferroptosis, autophagy, and premature cell senescence in retinal pigment epithelial cells *Cell Death Dis* **9**, 753.
- Szatrowski TP, and Nathan CF (1991) Production of large amounts of hydrogen peroxide by human tumor cells. *Cancer Res* **51**, 794–8.
- Tafani M, Sansone L, Limana F, Arcangeli T, De Santis E, Polese M, ... Russo MA (2016) The Interplay of Reactive Oxygen Species, Hypoxia, Inflammation, and Sirtuins in Cancer Initiation and Progression Oxid Med Cell Longev 2016, 3907147.
- Takeshita K, Satoh M, li M, Silver M, Limbourg FP, Mukai Y, ... Liao JK (2007) Critical role of endothelial Notch1 signaling in postnatal angiogenesis *Circ Res* **100**, 70–78.
- Tal R, Dong D, Shaikh S, Mamillapalli R, and Taylor HS (2019) Bone-marrow-derived endothelial progenitor cells contribute to vasculogenesis of pregnant mouse uterus *Biol Reprod* **100**, 1228–1237.
- Tanaka S, Ueno T, Ishiguro H, Morita S, and Toi M (2017) The lack of increases in circulating endothelial progenitor cell as a negative predictor for pathological response to neoadjuvant chemotherapy in breast cancer patients *Precis Oncol* 1, 6.
- Tang N, Wang L, Esko J, Giordano FJ, Huang Y, Gerber HP, ... Johnson RS (2004) Loss of HIF-1α in endothelial cells disrupts a hypoxia-driven VEGF autocrine loop necessary for tumorigenesis *Cancer Cell* 6, 485–95.
- Taraboletti G, D'Ascenzo S, Giusti I, Marchetti D, Borsotti P, Millimaggi D, ... Dolo V (2006) Bioavailability of VEGF in tumor-shed vesicles depends on vesicle burst induced by acidic pH 1 Neoplasia 8, 96–103.
- Tata M, Tillo M, and Ruhrberg C (2015) Neuropilins in Development and Disease of the Nervous System In Neural Surface Antigens: From Basic Biology Towards Biomedical Applications (pp. 65–75).
- Taylor AP, Rodriguez M, Adams K, Goldenberg DM, and Blumenthal RD (2003) Altered tumor vessel maturation and proliferation in placenta growth factor-producing tumors: Potential relationship to post-therapy tumor angiogenesis and recurrence *Int J Cancer* **105**, 158–64.
- Teleanu RI, Chircov C, Grumezescu AM, and Teleanu DM (2019) Tumor Angiogenesis and Anti-Angiogenic Strategies for Cancer Treatment *J Clin Med* **9**, 84.
- Teo ST, Yung YC, Herr DR, and Chun J (2009) Lysophosphatidic acid in vascular development and disease *IUBMB Life* **61**, 791–799.
- Thomas M, and Augustin HG (2009) The role of the angiopoietins in vascular

morphogenesis Angiogenesis 12, 125–37.

- Thyagarajan A, and Sahu RP (2018) Potential Contributions of Antioxidants to Cancer Therapy: Immunomodulation and Radiosensitization Integr Cancer Ther **17**, 210– 216.
- Torisu H, Ono M, Kiryu H, Furue M, Ohmoto Y, Nakayama J, ... Kuwano M (2000) Macrophage infiltration correlates with tumor stage and angiogenesis in human malignant melanoma: possible involvement of TNFalpha and IL-1alpha *Int J Cancer* 85, 182–188.
- Trédan O, Galmarini CM, Patel K, and Tannock IF (2007) Drug resistance and the solid tumor microenvironment *J Natl Cancer Inst* **99**, 1441–54.
- Tseng CP, Huang CH, Tseng CC, Lin MH, Hsieh JT, and Tseng CH (2001) Induction of disabled-2 gene during megakaryocyte differentiation of K562 cells *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 285, 129–35.
- Udi J, Wider D, Kleber M, Ihorst G, Müller A, Wäsch R, and Engelhardt M (2011) Early and mature endothelial progenitors and VEGFR2+-cells in multiple myeloma: Association with disease characteristics and variation in different cell compartments *Leuk Res* **35**, 1265–8.
- Unger RE, Krump-Konvalinkova V, Peters K, and James Kirkpatrick C (2002) In vitro expression of the endothelial phenotype: Comparative study of primary isolated cells and cell lines, including the novel cell line HPMEC-ST1.6R *Microvasc Res* **64**, 384–97.
- Urbich C, Aicher A, Heeschen C, Dernbach E, Hofmann WK, Zeiher AM, and Dimmeler S (2005) Soluble factors released by endothelial progenitor cells promote migration of endothelial cells and cardiac resident progenitor cells *J Mol Cell Cardiol* **39**, 733–42.
- Urbich C, and Dimmeler S (2004) Endothelial progenitor cells: Characterization and role in vascular biology *Circ Res* **14**, 318–22.
- Urbich C, Heeschen C, Aicher A, Dernbach E, Zeiher AM, and Dimmeler S (2003) Relevance of Monocytic Features for Neovascularization Capacity of Circulating Endothelial Progenitor Cells *Circulation* **108**, 2511–2516.
- Ushio-Fukai M, and Nakamura Y (2008) Reactive oxygen species and angiogenesis: NADPH oxidase as target for cancer therapy *Cancer Lett* **266**, 37–52.
- Valko M, Leibfritz D, Moncol J, Cronin MTD, Mazur M, and Telser J (2007) Free radicals and antioxidants in normal physiological functions and human disease *Int J Biochem Cell Biol* **39**, 44–84.
- Valls AF, Knipper K, Giannakouri E, Sarachaga V, Hinterkopf S, Wuehrl M, ... Schmidt T (2019) VEGFR1+ metastasis-associated macrophages contribute to metastatic

angiogenesis and influence colorectal cancer patient outcome *Clin Cancer Res* **25**, 5674–5685.

- Van Cutsem E, Tabernero J, Lakomy R, Prenen H, Prausová J, Macarulla T, … Allegra C (2012) Addition of aflibercept to fluorouracil, leucovorin, and irinotecan improves survival in a phase III randomized trial in patients with metastatic colorectal cancer previously treated with an oxaliplatin-based regimen *J Clin Oncol* **30**, 3499–506.
- Van de Veire S, Stalmans I, Heindryckx F, Oura H, Tijeras-Raballand A, Schmidt T, ... Carmeliet P (2010) Further Pharmacological and Genetic Evidence for the Efficacy of PIGF Inhibition in Cancer and Eye Disease *Cell* **141**, 178–90.
- Van Huyen JPD, Smadja DM, Bruneval P, Gaussem P, Dal-Cortivo L, Julia P, ... Emmerich J (2008) Bone marrow-derived mononuclear cell therapy induces distal angiogenesis after local injection in critical leg ischemia *Mod Pathol* **21**, 837–46.
- van Wetering S, van Buul JD, Quik S, Mul FPJ, Anthony EC, ten Klooster JP, ... Hordijk
 PL (2002) Reactive oxygen species mediate Rac-induced loss of cell-cell adhesion
 in primary human endothelial cells *J Cell Sci* **115**, 1837–1846.
- Vassalli G (2019) Aldehyde Dehydrogenases: Not Just Markers, but Functional Regulators of Stem Cells *Stem Cells Int* **2019**, 3904645.
- Vasudev NS, and Reynolds AR (2014) Anti-angiogenic therapy for cancer: Current progress, unresolved questions and future directions *Angiogenesis* **17**, 471–494.
- Veith A, and Moorthy B (2018) Role of cytochrome P450s in the generation and metabolism of reactive oxygen species *Curr Opin Toxicol* **7**, 44–51.
- Venneri MA, De Palma M, Ponzoni M, Pucci F, Scielzo C, Zonari E, ... Naldini L (2007) Identification of proangiogenic TIE2-expressing monocytes (TEMs) in human peripheral blood and cancer *Blood* **109**, 5276–85.
- Wallez Y, and Huber P (2008) Endothelial adherens and tight junctions in vascular homeostasis, inflammation and angiogenesis *Biochim Biophys Acta - Biomembr* **1778**, 794–809.
- Wang B, and Zhou S-F (2009) Synthetic and natural compounds that interact with human cytochrome P450 1A2 and implications in drug development. *Curr Med Chem* **16**, 4066–4218.
- Wang F, Wang YQ, Cao Q, Zhang JJ, Huang LY, Sang TT, ... Chen SY (2013) Hydrogen peroxide induced impairment of endothelial progenitor cell viability is mediated through a FoxO3a dependant mechanism *Microvasc Res* **90**, 48–54.
- Wang H, Zhang J, and Yu H (2007) Elemental selenium at nano size possesses lower toxicity without compromising the fundamental effect on selenoenzymes:
 Comparison with selenomethionine in mice *Free Radic Biol Med* 42, 1524–33.

Wang J, Li G, Wang Y, Tang S, Sun X, Feng X, ... Liu P (2015) Suppression of tumor

angiogenesis by metformin treatment via a mechanism linked to targeting of HER2/HIF-1 α /VEGF secretion axis *Oncotarget* **6**, 44579-44592.

- Wang JC, Li XX, Sun X, Li GY, Sun JL, Ye YP, ... Liu PJ (2018) Activation of AMPK by simvastatin inhibited breast tumor angiogenesis via impeding HIF-1α-induced proangiogenic factor *Cancer Sci* **109**, 1627–1637.
- Wang SS, Cen X, Liang XH, and Tang YL (2017) Macrophage migration inhibitory factor: A potential driver and biomarker for head and neck squamous cell carcinoma Oncotarget 8, 10650–10661.
- Wang X, Zhao X, Wang K, Wu L, and Duan T (2013) Interaction of monocytes/macrophages with ovarian cancer cells promotes angiogenesis in vitro *Cancer Sci* **104**, 516–523.
- Wang Y, and Tang M (2019) PM2.5 induces ferroptosis in human endothelial cells through iron overload and redox imbalance *Environ Pollut* **254**, 112937.
- Warren CM, Ziyad S, Briot A, Der A, and Iruela-Arispe ML (2014) A ligand-independent VEGFR2 signaling pathway limits angiogenic responses in diabetes *Sci Signal* **7**, ra1.
- Weekley CM, Aitken JB, Finney L, Vogt S, Witting PK, and Harris HH (2013) Selenium metabolism in cancer cells: The combined application of XAS and XFM techniques to the problem of selenium speciation in biological systems *Nutrients* 5, 1734–56.
- Wehland M, Bauer J, Magnusson NE, Infanger M, and Grimm D (2013) Biomarkers for anti-angiogenic therapy in cancer *Int J Mol Sci* **14**, 9338–64.
- Wei C, Yang C, Wang S, Shi D, Zhang C, Lin X, ... Xiong B (2019) Crosstalk between cancer cells and tumor associated macrophages is required for mesenchymal circulating tumor cell-mediated colorectal cancer metastasis *Mol Cancer* 18, 64.
- Wei Y, Zhou F, Zhou H, Huang J, Yu D, and Wu G (2018) Endothelial progenitor cells contribute to neovascularization of non-small cell lung cancer via histone deacetylase 7-mediated cytoskeleton regulation and angiogenic genes transcription *Int J Cancer* 143, 657–667.
- Weinberg F, Ramnath N, and Nagrath D (2019) Reactive Oxygen Species in the Tumor Microenvironment: An Overview. *Cancers (Basel)* **11**, E1191.
- West XZ, Malinin NL, Merkulova AA, Tischenko M, Kerr BA, Borden EC, ... Byzova T V.
 (2010) Oxidative stress induces angiogenesis by activating TLR2 with novel endogenous ligands *Nature* 467, 972–976.
- Wheeler KC, Jena MK, Pradhan BS, Nayak N, Das S, Hsu CD, ... Nayak NR (2018) VEGF may contribute to macrophage recruitment and M2 polarization in the decidua *PLoS One* **13**, e0191040.

Wiessman M, Leshem D, Yeshurun M, Yavin H, Iakobishvilli Z, Raanani P, ... Vaturi M

(2019) Dysfunctional endothelial progenitor cells in patients with Hodgkin's lymphoma in complete remission *Cancer Med* **8**, 305–310.

- Wilke H, Muro K, Van Cutsem E, Oh SC, Bodoky G, Shimada Y, ... Ohtsu A (2014) Ramucirumab plus paclitaxel versus placebo plus paclitaxel in patients with previously treated advanced gastric or gastro-oesophageal junction adenocarcinoma (RAINBOW): A double-blind, randomised phase 3 trial *Lancet Oncol* **15**, 1224–35.
- Willenborg S, Lucas T, Van Loo G, Knipper JA, Krieg T, Haase I, ... Eming SA (2012) CCR2 recruits an inflammatory macrophage subpopulation critical for angiogenesis in tissue repair *Blood* **120**, 613–25.
- Wilson LA, Gemin A, Espiritu R, and Singh G (2005) ets-1 is transcriptionally upregulated by H2O2 via an antioxidant response element *FASEB J* **19**, 2085–2087.
- Wilting J, and Chao TI (2015) Integrated Vascular Anatomy In *PanVascular Medicine,* Second Edition (pp. 193–241).
- Wong Helen P.S., Ho JWC, Koo MWL, Yu L, Wu WKK, Lam EKY, ... Cho CH (2011) Effects of adrenaline in human colon adenocarcinoma HT-29 cells *Life Sci* 88, 1108–12.
- Wong Helen Pui Shan, Yu L, Lam EKY, Tai EKK, Wu WKK, and Cho CH (2007) Nicotine promotes colon tumor growth and angiogenesis through β-adrenergic activation *Toxicol Sci* **358**, 321–326.
- Wu H, Xu JB, He YL, Peng JJ, Zhang XH, Chen CQ, ... Cai SR (2012) Tumor-associated macrophages promote angiogenesis and lymphangiogenesis of gastric cancer J Surg Oncol 106, 462–468.
- Wu Y, Hooper AT, Zhong Z, Witte L, Bohlen P, Rafii S, and Hicklin DJ (2006) The vascular endothelial growth factor receptor (VEGFR-1) supports growth and survival of human breast carcinoma *Int J Cancer* **119**, 1519–29.
- Wüstehube J, Bartol A, Liebler SS, Brütsch R, Zhu Y, Felbor U, ... Fischer A (2010) Cerebral cavernous malformation protein CCM1 inhibits sprouting angiogenesis by activating DELTA-NOTCH signaling *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **107**, 12640–5.
- Wyckoff JB, Wang Y, Lin EY, Li JF, Goswami S, Stanley ER, ... Condeelis J (2007) Direct visualization of macrophage-assisted tumor cell intravasation in mammary tumors *Cancer Res* 67, 2649–56.
- Xia C, Meng Q, Liu LZ, Rojanasakul Y, Wang XR, and Jiang BH (2007) Reactive oxygen species regulate angiogenesis and tumor growth through vascular endothelial growth factor *Cancer Res* **67**, 10823–30.
- Xia Y, Wei Y, Li ZY, Cai XY, Zhang LL, Dong XR, ... Wu G (2019) Catecholamines contribute to the neovascularization of lung cancer via tumor-associated

macrophages Brain Behav Immun 81, 111–121.

- Xiao Y, Li X, Cui Y, Zhang J, Liu L, Xie X, ... Liu Z (2014) Hydrogen peroxide inhibits proliferation and endothelial differentiation of bone marrow stem cells partially via reactive oxygen species generation *Life Sci* **112**, 33–40.
- Xie Y, Hou W, Song X, Yu Y, Huang J, Sun X, ... Tang D (2016) Ferroptosis: process and function *Cell Death Differ* **23**, 369–379.
- Xu J, and Shi GP (2014) Vascular wall extracellular matrix proteins and vascular diseases *Biochim Biophys Acta Mol Basis Dis* **1842**, 2106–2119.
- Xu W, Qian J, Zeng F, Li S, Guo W, Chen L, ... Deng F (2019) Protein kinase Ds promote tumor angiogenesis through mast cell recruitment and expression of angiogenic factors in prostate cancer microenvironment J Exp Clin Cancer Res 38, 114.
- Yadav AR, and Mohite SK (2020) Cancer-A silent killer: An overview Asian J Pharm Res 10.
- Yadav L, Puri N, Rastogi V, Satpute P, and Sharma V (2015) Tumour angiogenesis and angiogenic inhibitors: A review *J Clin Diagnostic Res* **9**, XE01–XE05.
- Yamaguchi J ichi, Kusano KF, Masuo O, Kawamoto A, Silver M, Murasawa S, ... Asahara T (2003) Stromal cell-derived factor-1 effects on ex vivo expanded endothelial progenitor cell recruitment for ischemic neovascularization *Circulation* **107**, 1322–8.
- Yanagisawa-Miwa A, Uchida Y, Nakamura F, Tomaru T, Kido H, Kamijo T, ... Ito H (1992) Salvage of infarcted myocardium by angiogenic action of basic fibroblast growth factor Science (80-) 257, 1401–3.
- Yancopoulos GD, Davis S, Gale NW, Rudge JS, Wiegand SJ, and Holash J (2000) Vascular-specific growth factors and blood vessel formation *Nature* **407**, 242–8.
- Yang J, Li G, Bao K, Liu W, Zhang Y, and Ting W (2019) Ropivacaine inhibits tumor angiogenesis via sodium-channel-independent mitochondrial dysfunction and oxidative stress *J Bioenerg Biomembr* **51**, 231–238.
- Yang M, and Vousden KH (2016) Serine and one-carbon metabolism in cancer *Nat Rev Cancer* **16**, 650–62.
- Yang WH, Huang Z, Wu J, Ding CKC, Murphy SK, and Chi JT (2020) A TAZ-ANGPTL4-NOX2 axis regulates ferroptotic cell death and chemoresistance in epithelial ovarian cancer *Mol Cancer Res* **18**, 79–90.
- Yang WS, Sriramaratnam R, Welsch ME, Shimada K, Skouta R, Viswanathan VS, ... Stockwell BR (2014) Regulation of ferroptotic cancer cell death by GPX4 *Cell* **156**, 317–331.
- Yang X, Liaw L, Prudovsky I, Brooks PC, Vary C, Oxburgh L, and Friesel R (2015) Fibroblast Growth Factor Signaling in the Vasculature *Curr Atheroscler Rep* **17**,

509.

- Yang Y, Huang F, Ren Y, Xing L, Wu Y, Li Z, ... Xu C (2009) The anticancer effects of sodium selenite and selenomethionine on human colorectal carcinoma cell lines in nude mice Oncol Res 18, 1–8.
- Ye S fu, Yang Y, Wu L, Ma W wei, and Zeng HH (2017) Ethaselen: a novel organoselenium anticancer agent targeting thioredoxin reductase 1 reverses cisplatin resistance in drug-resistant K562 cells by inducing apoptosis *J Zhejiang Univ Sci B* 18, 373–382.
- Yoder MC (2012) Human endothelial progenitor cells Cold Spring Harb Perspect Med 2.
- Yoder MC, Mead LE, Prater D, Krier TR, Mroueh KN, Li F, ... Ingram DA (2007) Redefining endothelial progenitor cells via clonal analysis and hematopoietic stem/progenitor cell principals *Blood* **109**, 1801–9.
- Yoon CH, Hur J, Park KW, Kim JH, Lee CS, Oh IY, ... Kim HS (2005) Synergistic neovascularization by mixed transplantation of early endothelial progenitor cells and late outgrowth endothelial cells: The role of angiogenic cytokines and matrix metalloproteinases *Circulation* **112**, 1618–27.
- Yoshimoto M, Waki A, Yonekura Y, Sadato N, Murata T, Omata N, ... Fujibayashi Y (2001) Characterization of acetate metabolism in tumor cells in relation to cell proliferation: Acetate metabolism in tumor cells *Nucl Med Biol* **28**, 117–22.
- Yoshimura T (2018) The chemokine MCP-1 (CCL2) in the host interaction with cancer: A foe or ally? *Cell Mol Immunol* **15**, 335–345.
- Yu D, Sun X, Qiu Y, Zhou J, Wu Y, Zhuang L, ... Ding Y (2007) Identification and clinical significance of mobilized endothelial progenitor cells in tumor vasculogenesis of hepatocellular carcinoma *Clin Cancer Res* **13**, 3814–24.
- Yu Y, Xie Y, Cao L, Yang L, Yang M, Lotze MT, ... Tang D (2015) The ferroptosis inducer erastin enhances sensitivity of acute myeloid leukemia cells to chemotherapeutic agents *Mol Cell Oncol* **2**, e1054549.
- Yuan J jing, Yang J, Sun S lei, Zhang R, and Xu Y ming (2017) Endothelial Progenitor Cells' Classification and Application in Neurological Diseases *Tissue Eng Regen Med* 14, 327–332.
- Yuan TL, and Cantley LC (2008) PI3K pathway alterations in cancer: Variations on a theme *Oncogene* **27**, 5497–510.
- Yue W, Pi QM, Zhang WJ, Zhou GD, Cui L, Liu W, and Cao Y (2010) Platelet endothelial cell adhesion molecule-1, stage-specific embryonic Antigen-1, and Flk-1 mark distinct populations of mouse embryonic stem cells during differentiation toward hematopoietic/endothelial cells *Stem Cells Dev* **19**, 1937–48.
- Yun SH, Sim EH, Goh RY, Park JI, and Han JY (2016) Platelet activation: The

mechanisms and potential biomarkers *Biomed Res Int* 201, 9060143.

- Yuneva MO, Fan TWM, Allen TD, Higashi RM, Ferraris D V., Tsukamoto T, ... Bishop JM (2012) The metabolic profile of tumors depends on both the responsible genetic lesion and tissue type *Cell Metab* **15**, 157–70.
- Zabramski JM, Kalani MYS, Filippidis AS, and Spetzler RF (2016a) Propranolol Treatment of Cavernous Malformations with Symptomatic Hemorrhage *World Neurosurg* **88**, 631–639.
- Zabramski JM, Kalani MYS, Filippidis AS, and Spetzler RF (2016b) Propranolol Treatment of Cavernous Malformations with Symptomatic Hemorrhage *World Neurosurg* **88**, 631–639.
- Zahalka AH, Arnal-Estapé A, Maryanovich M, Nakahara F, Cruz CD, Finley LWS, and Frenette PS (2017) Adrenergic nerves activate an angio-metabolic switch in prostate cancer *Science (80-)*.
- Zaimy MA, Saffarzadeh N, Mohammadi A, Pourghadamyari H, Izadi P, Sarli A, ... Tavakkoly-Bazzaz J (2017) New methods in the diagnosis of cancer and gene therapy of cancer based on nanoparticles *Cancer Gene Ther* **24**, 233–243.
- Zentilin L, Tafuro S, Zacchigna S, Arsic N, Pattarini L, Sinigaglia M, and Giacca M (2006) Bone marrow mononuclear cells are recruited to the sites of VEGF-induced neovascularization but are not incorporated into the newly formed vessels *Blood* **107**, 3546–5.
- Zetter BR (2008) The scientific contributions of M. Judah Folkman to cancer research *Nat Rev Cancer* **8**, 647–654.
- Zhang H., Ye YL, Li MX, Ye SB, Huang WR, Cai TT, ... Li J (2017) CXCL2/MIF-CXCR2 signaling promotes the recruitment of myeloid-derived suppressor cells and is correlated with prognosis in bladder cancer Oncogene 36, 2095–2104.
- Zhang Hong, Vakil V, Braunstein M, Smith ELP, Maroney J, Chen L, ... Batuman OA (2005) Circulating endothelial progenitor cells in multiple myeloma: Implications and significance *Blood* **105**, 3286–94.
- Zhang Hongwei, Ye YL, Li MX, Ye SB, Huang WR, Cai TT, ... Durán-Ruiz MC (2020) Oral propranolol in prevention of severe retinopathy of prematurity: a systematic review and meta-analysis *Perinatology* **11**, E1191.
- Zhang P, Goodrich C, Fu C, and Dong C (2014) Melanoma upregulates ICAM-1 expression on endothelial cells through engagement of tumor CD44 with endothelial E-selectin and activation of a PKCα-p38-SP-1 pathway *FASEB J* **28**, 4591–4609.
- Zhang Yan, Choksi S, Chen K, Pobezinskaya Y, Linnoila I, and Liu ZG (2013) ROS play a critical role in the differentiation of alternatively activated macrophages and the occurrence of tumor-associated macrophages *Cell Res* **23**, 898–914.

- Zhang Yanan, Liu J, Wang S, Luo X, Li Y, Lv Z, … Ye Q (2016) The DEK oncogene activates VEGF expression and promotes tumor angiogenesis and growth in HIF-1α-dependent and -independent manners *Oncotarget* **7**, 23740–23756.
- Zhang Z, Zhou L, Xie N, Nice EC, Zhang T, Cui Y, and Huang C (2020) Overcoming cancer therapeutic bottleneck by drug repurposing *Signal Transduct Target Ther* 5, 113.
- Zhao WN, Xu SQ, Liang JF, Peng L, Liu HL, Wang Z, ... Lou JN (2016) Endothelial progenitor cells from human fetal aorta cure diabetic foot in a rat model *Metabolism* 65, 1755–1767.
- Zhao Yicheng, and Li W (2019) Beta-adrenergic signaling on neuroendocrine differentiation, angiogenesis, and metastasis in prostate cancer progression Asian J Androl 21, 253–259.
- Zhao Yong, Glesne D, and Huberman E (2003) A human peripheral blood monocytederived subset acts as pluripotent stem cells *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **100**, 2426– 31.
- Zhao YY, Gao XP, Zhao YD, Mirza MK, Frey RS, Kalinichenko V V., ... Malik AB (2006) Endothelial cell-restricted disruption of FoxM1 impairs endothelial repair following LPS-induced vascular injury J Clin Invest **116**, 2333–43.
- Zhou H, Li Q, Cao G, Ling H, Dai H, and Chen X (2014) Successful treatment of diffuse neonatal hemangiomatosis with propranolol: a case report *JDDG J Der Dtsch Dermatologischen Gesellschaft* **12**, 625–8.
- Zhou Tao, Yang Y, Chen Q, Xie L, and Li J (2019) Glutamine Metabolism Is Essential for Stemness of Bone Marrow Mesenchymal Stem Cells and Bone Homeostasis *Stem Cells Int* 1–13.
- Zhou Tingyang, Prather ER, Garrison DE, and Zuo L (2018a) Interplay between ROS and antioxidants during ischemia-reperfusion injuries in cardiac and skeletal muscle *Int J Mol Sci* **19**, 417.
- Zhou X, Zhou R, Zhou H, Li Q, Hong J, Meng R, ... Li Z (2018b) ETS-1 Induces Endothelial-Like Differentiation and Promotes Metastasis in Non-Small Cell Lung Cancer Cell Physiol Biochem 45, 1827–1839.
- Zhu C, Chrifi I, Mustafa D, Van Der Weiden M, Leenen PJM, Duncker DJ, … Cheng C (2017) CECR1-mediated cross talk between macrophages and vascular mural cells promotes neovascularization in malignant glioma Oncogene 36, 5356–5368.
- Zhu D, Shen Z, Liu J, Chen J, Liu Y, Hu C, ... Li Y (2016) The ROS-mediated activation of STAT-3/VEGF signaling is involved in the 27-hydroxycholesterol-induced angiogenesis in human breast cancer cells *Toxicol Lett* **264**, 79–86.

Zhuo L, Theis M, Alvarez-Maya I, Brenner M, Willecke K, and Messing A (2001) hGFAP-

cre transgenic mice for manipulation of glial and neuronal function in vivo *Genesis* **31**, 85–94.

- Ziebart T, Blatt S, Günther C, Völxen N, Pabst A, Sagheb K, ... Lambrecht T (2016) Significance of endothelial progenitor cells (EPC) for tumorigenesis of head and neck squamous cell carcinoma (HNSCC): possible marker of tumor progression and neovascularization? *Clin Oral Investig* **20**, 2293–2300.
- Zimna A, and Kurpisz M (2015) Hypoxia-Inducible factor-1 in physiological and pathophysiological angiogenesis: Applications and therapies *Biomed Res Int* 549412.
- Zumsteg A, and Christofori G (2009) Corrupt policemen: Inflammatory cells promote tumor angiogenesis *Curr Opin Oncol* **21**, 60–70.